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Ref_No Title Description Date 

C/AR/2/99 

Plans: Chapel Brow Council 

school, proposed drainage 

scheme 

County Architect, Booth. Also 

plan of school dated 1907 

Possible ref of 158/2/2 and 

158/3/3 respectively. 2 plans. 

1907-1925 

C/H/14/2/3 

Plan: Proposed improvement of 

junction between A591 and 

A594 at Bothel 

Cumberland County Council 

Highways. 2x plans 
1955 

C/H/14/2/4 
Plan: Improvement Cockermouth 

to Thursby Road A595 

4x plans. From Belle Vue to 

Bothel part 3 
1959 

C/H/14/2/5 

Plan: Proposed Improvement at 

Belle Vue, Cockermouth to 

Carlisle A595 

survey and sections. 25 plans 1957 

C/H/14/2/6 Plan: Ireby -Torpenhow Road Plans and sections. 9 plans. 1958 

C/H/14/2/7 

Plan: Proposed improvement 

Bothel to Cocker Bridge in 

Cockermouth A595 

Cockbridge part 2 No.7. 4 plans. 1956 

C/H/14/2/8 
Plan: Flooding at Blennerhasset 

(U10) 
Drain Cross Section. 3 plans. 1957 

C/H/14/2/9 
Plan: Camerton Hospital towards 

Broughton Moor 

Longitudinal cross section. 4 

plans. 
1951 

C/H/14/2/10 
Plan: Survey at Yewtree Hall, 

Lorton. Road no.U66 (U3) 
 [c1950] 

C/H/14/2/11 
Plan: Cockermouth to Carlisle, 

A595 

Improvement from Belle Vue to 

Bothel part 2. Surveyor FL 

Broughton. 7 plans. 

1968 

C/H/14/2/12 
Plan: Motorway M6 plan relating 

to Carlisle Bypass section 
 1968 

C/H/14/2/13 

Plan: A66 High Briery, to 

Threlkeld section, reinforcement 

details 

 1972 

C/H/14/2/14 
Plan: A595 Road improvement 

from Moota to the Turkey Farm 
20 plans 1961 

C/H/14/2/15 
Plan: A595 Improvement, Belle 

Vue to Bothel 
CH195/1,2,3,4,5 CH164/1,2,3 1960 

C/H/14/2/16 

Plan: Motorway, Birmingham, 

Preston, Penrith and Carlisle M6 

Motorway, Penrith Bypass 

section at Eamont Bridge 

 c1967 

C/H/14/2/17 
Plans: London to Carlisle, 

Inverness Trunk Road, Dualing 
10 plans 1967 



of carriageways from Kingstown 

Mossband A74 

C/TCP/2/1/1 
Plan: Tree Preservation Order, 

Bolton Hall Estate 
 1951 

CA/C/3/762 

Plan of proposed land to be 

acquired for extension to 

cemetery 

 1933 

CA/C/6/790 
Plan of Crosby Aerodrome, 

airfield lighting final installation 
 Jun 1976 

CA/C/6/792 
Carlisle Extension Bill, map of 

proposed revised boundaries 
 1949-1950 

CA/C/17/36 
Plan: Carlisle city showing 

electoral wards 
 undated 

[c1900] 

CA/E/1/475 

Tullie House: City of Carlisle, 

Ironwork blueprints fullsize, 

including garden gate, main 

entrance etc. 

30 plans 1893 

CA/E/1/947 

Public Sewerage Works, Carlisle 

City surveyed for Board of 

Health 

Surveyed by Richard Asquith. 1853 

CA/E/1/1274 

Plans: Tullie House - Masons 

instructions, windows and 

curators cottage 

10 plans 1893 

CA/E/1/1275 

Plans: City of Carlisle. Proposed 

Public Library, Museum and Art 

Gallery, incl Science and Art 

School 

20 plans 1890-1893 

CA/E/1/1276 
Plans: Tullie House floor plans; 

Elevation of Tullie House 

City Surveyor N. Howard Smith. 

80 plans 
1895 

CA/E/2/16 Plans: Eden Bridge widening 

Details intermediate archives and 

piers. Drawing number 6. Percy 

Dalton. Cross sections of River 

Eden, key showing where the 

gauges are taken, Etterby area, 31 

items. Eden Bridge Widening. 

Mawney Road Bridge parapet 

railing. City Engineer, Percy 

Dalton.17x plans. Eden Bridge 

Widening. Cross sections of 

Bridge Water Road. City 

Engineer, Percy Dalton. 15x 

plans. Eden Bridge Widening, 

including Subway. Percy Dalton. 

20x plans. Eden Bridge 

Widening, including Subway. 

Percy Dalton. 30x plans. Eden 

Bridge Widening, including 

Subway. Percy Dalton. 20x plans. 

Eden Bridge Widening, including 

Subway. End Arches Spandrils, 

intermediate arches and piers and 

proposed elevation. (nice plans) 

Percy Dalton. 20x plans. Eden 

1930-1932 



Bridge Widening. 1x plan? Plus 

paperwork. Eden Terrace, plan 

and elevation. (What is now 

known as Japanese Gardens, 

North end of Bridge) Thomas 

Mawson. 

CA/E/2/17/1 
Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Station 
Civil engineer Henry C Marks. [1920s] 

CA/E/2/17/2 

Plans: City of Carlisle, 

Electricity Generating Station, 

Willowholme (Blueprints) 

Henry Marks (engineer). [c1930] 

CA/E/2/17/3 

Plans: City of Carlisle, 

Electricity Generating Station, 

Willowholme (Tracing) 

30 plus plans 1923 

CA/E/2/17/4 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/5 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station, (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/6 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station, (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/7 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station, (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/8 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/9 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/10 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/11 
Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Sewage Works 
20 plans. [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/12 
Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Sewage Works 
20 plans. [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/13 
Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Sewage Works 
20 plans. [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/14 
Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Sewage Works 
20 plans. [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/15 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/16 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 



CA/E/2/17/17 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/18 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/19 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/20 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/21 
Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Sewage Works 
 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/22 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/23 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/24 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/25 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/26 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/27 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/28 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/29 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/30 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/31 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/32 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/33 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 



CA/E/2/17/34 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/35 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/36 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/37 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/38 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/39 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/40 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/41 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/42 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/43 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/17/44 

Plans: City of Carlisle, Willow 

Holme Electricity Generating 

Station (Blueprints) 

 [circa 1930] 

CA/E/2/18 
Plans: City of Carlisle 

Corporation Properties 

City surveyor W.Howard Smith. 

Corporation properties and USA 

properties marked on. 

Nov 1890 

CA/E/2/19 

Plans: Land at Botcherby 

available for Industrial 

Development 

Percy Dalton. 3x plans. 32.25 

acres. 
1940 

CA/E/2/20 

Plan: City of Carlisle Covered 

Market, seating accomodation 

plan 

Percy Dalton. 3x plans 1935 

CA/E/2/21/1 

Plan: City of Carlisle Municipal 

Aerodrome, layout of offices, 

hangar annex 

Percy Dalton 1936 

CA/E/2/21/2 
Plans: Kingstown Aerodrome, 

hangars 
14x plans 1936 

CA/E/2/21/3 Plan: Kingstown Aerodrome 

Plans of existing buildings on site 

and proposed such as 

administrative buildings, club 

house 

undated 

[circa 1950] 



CA/E/2/21/4 
Plans: Site of Kingstown 

Aerodrome 
4x plans 1943-1951 

CA/E/2/21/5 
Paperwork: Kingstown 

Aerodrome Tenders 
 undated 

[circa 1940] 

CA/E/2/21/6 

Plans: Proposals for Aerodrome 

at Stanwix (Kingstown), North 

Wakefield barn 

All pre World War Two. 25 plans 1928-1939 

CA/E/2/21/7 
Plan: Carlisle and District Town 

Planning scheme 
City Map. Percy Dalton 

undated 

[circa 1935] 

CA/E/2/21/8 
Plans: Proposed site of 

Kingstown Aerodrome 
12x plans 

undated 

[circa 1935] 

CA/E/2/21/9 
Plans: Proposed site of 

Kingstown Aerodrome 
20x small plans 

undated 

[circa 1936] 

CA/E/2/21/10 Plans: Kingstown Aerodrome 

Numbered buildings, size of 

building, condition of roof and 

floor, lighting, utilities etc. 

undated 

[circa 1950] 

CA/E/2/21/11 Plans: Kingstown Aerodrome 
Details of construction of airport 

buildings 

undated 

[circa 1950 

CA/E/2/21/12 Plans: Kingstown Aerodrome 

Plans and details of annexes and 

customs accomodation, hangars 

and fixing of lettering for 

Municipal Airport sign. 30x plans 

undated 

[circa 1945] 

CA/E/2/21/13 Plans: Kingstown Aerodrome Proposed new hangar 1936-1937 

CA/E/2/21/14 

Plans: Greymoor - land used as 

landing ground at Kingstown, 

plus schedule 

2 plans. 1934-1935 

CA/E/2/22/1 

Plan: Carlisle Prison Site, 

scheme to widen English Street 

and approach to viaduct 

Percy Dalton. Approx 20x plans. [c1930] 

CA/E/2/22/2 

Plan: Carlisle Prison Site, 

Proposed Shops on English 

Street 

Percy Dalton. 13 plans. [c1930] 

CA/E/2/22/3 
Plan: Carlisle Prison Site, 

Crescent and Court Square 
Mostly railings. 6 plans. [c1930] 

CA/E/2/22/4 
Plan: Carlisle Prison Site, Bush 

Brow 

Details of bridging over Bush 

Brow. 20 plans. 
[c1930] 

CA/E/2/22/5 
Plan: Existing Carlisle 

Prison/Gaol 

Site with foundations, elevations, 

annotated plan of prison and 

Governor's House. Percy Dalton. 

7x plans. 

[c1930] 

CA/E/2/22/6 
Plan: Carlisle Prison Site 

Proposal 
30 plans [c1930] 

CA/E/2/23 
Plan: Plan of the City of Carlisle 

as extended in 1912 
 1912 

CA/E/2/24 

Plan: City of Carlisle, plans of 

green spaces within the environs 

of the city, some now allotment 

areas 

Percy Dalton. 8 plans. 1933 

CA/E/2/25 

Plan: City of Carlisle, clearance 

of Rydal Street with Compulsory 

Purchase and Arbitration papers 

3 plans plus paperwork. 1939 



CA/E/2/26 
Plan: Proposed new car park at 

Old Gas Works 

Ramp details. Victoria Viaduct. 

Percy Dalton 
1946 

CA/E/2/27 
Plan: Area on which army huts 

erected at Sheepmount 
 1939 

CA/E/2/28 

Plan: Proposed community 

centre and recreation ground at 

Petteril Bank 

Percy Dalton. Also includes a 

separate schedule of public open 

spaces, and existing private open 

spaces. 

1930s 

CA/E/2/29 
Plan: Carlisle city and surrounds, 

centre highlighted 
Percy Dalton. [1930s] 

CA/E/2/30 Plans: houses in Carlisle 

Plans of houses including 99 

Greystone Road, 2x Croft Road 

plans, Raffles Newtown Housing 

Scheme, South Henry Street and 

Rydal Street, Proposed pair of 

houses Petteril Road inn 

Upperby, Borough of Blythe (pair 

of houses type M). 

1927-1947 

CA/E/2/31 
Plans: Belah Neighbourhood 

Unit, Housing, Roads & Sewers 
Percy Dalton [c1935] 

CA/E/2/32 Plans: Carlisle City Extension 

In Parliament, in opposition. 

Plotted onto 1901 Ordnance 

Survey map. 

1904 

CA/E/2/33 

Plans: Duke of Devonshire, 

Demesne lands around Lismore 

Street, Hart Street (Broad 

Meadows Farm area) 

7 plans [c1890] 

CA/E/2/34 
Plan: Caldew Bridges, details of 

cutwater 
Engineer Henry C Marks 1924 

CA/E/2/35 

Plans: Proposed draining of 

disused clay pit and plan of 

Pleasure Land Harraby 

[Hammonds Pond?] 

Percy Dalton. 9 plans [c1935] 

CA/E/2/36 
Plans: Carlisle Historical 

Pageant, event ground 
6 plans [c1950] 

CA/E/2/37 

Plan: Caldew Bridge 

Improvements, alterations at 

Devonshire Walk 

Plan no.63. Percy Dalton. 1927 

CA/E/2/38 
Plan: City of Carlisle, proposed 

development of Harraby 
Percy Dalton 1934 

CA/E/2/39 

Plan: St Nicholas Bridge, LNER 

and LMS agreement, conveyance 

of land, for widening of bridge 

 1927 

CA/E/2/40 
Plan: Drainage Plan of 

Cavendish Mount 
John Little Sanitary Engineer 1897 

CA/E/2/41 

Plan: Widening of the Caldew 

Bridge, plan showing Bridge 

Street to Irish Brow Gate, to 

cover river Caldew and railway 

lines 

 1920 

CA/E/2/42 
Plan: Transport routes into 

Carlisle 
Percy Dalton 1941 



CA/E/2/43 
Plan: mixed plans of road and 

bridge sections 

Bridges unidentified. Road 

section includes Abbey Street. 

[c1900-

1950] 

CA/E/7/17 
Plans: proposed school site 

Botcherby 

Percy Dalton. 4 plans with 

schedule. 
1939 

CA/E/12/26 Plan: Carlisle Main Sewers 
Marked onto 25 inch Ordnance 

Survey. 
[c1870] 

CA/E/12/27 

Plan: St Cuthbert's Without 

Sewerage Scheme - Harraby, 

Botcherby and Garlands 

Annoted 2nd edition Ordnance 

Survey Map. Schemes 5, 6 and 7. 
post 1901 

CA/E/12/28 
Plan: sewers affected by Carlisle 

Station Act 1873 

Carlisle Urban Sanitary 

Authority, plan of the main 

sewers that will be interfered with 

during the construction of the 

several works under the Carlisle 

Station act 1873. Map contains 

high level of detail for all courts 

between Currock Works and 

Botchergate. 

[c1873] 

CA/E/12/29 
Plan: Public Sewerage Works, 

Carlisle City 

By H C Marks, 1897 - onto 

original survey by W Howard-

Smith. 

1897 

CA/E/12/30 

Plan: City of Carlisle, making up 

of Dukes Road, detailed 

drawings of sewer 

 [c1930] 

CA/E/12/31 
Plan: Harraby Durranhill 

sewerage scheme 

Drawing no.15. Surveyor L.J.A. 

Stow. 
1952 

CA/E/12/32 
Plan: Denton Holme and 

Currock Relief Sewers 
Percy Dalton. 26 plans [c1930] 

CA/E/12/33 
Plan: City of Carlisle, Botcherby, 

Ejector Station 
Henry Marks (engineer) [c1930] 

CA/E/12/34 Plan: Currock Relief Sewers Percy Dalton. 26 plans. [c1935] 

CA/E/12/35 
Plan: Proposed sewer on Wigton 

Road 
 [c1930] 

CA/E/12/36 
Plans: Caldew Valley Relief 

Sewer 
Percy Dalton. 9 plans. [c1930] 

CA/E/12/37 

Plans: Crosby Agricultural 

Drainage to 75 yards strips in 

Crosby 

Map looks like an airport layout - 

may be Crosby-upon-Eden 

airfield. 

1943 

CA/E/12/38 Plan: Harraby Sewerage Water  1950 

CA/E/12/39 
Plan: Upperby, Harraby and 

Caldew Valley sewerage 
20 plans. [c1950] 

CA/E/12/40 
Plan: Plan of existing sewers at 

Etterby 
 1904 

CA/E/13/100 Plan: Linton Street, paving plan 

Shows The Cumberland 

Permanent Building Society (Mr J 

T Graham, agent), The Carlisle 

and Cumberland Building Society 

(Mr James Highland, agent), Mr 

James Beaty, Mr James Little, 

Jane Smith, R G Brice, Mr C J 

20 Apr 

1891 



Ferguson, Mr Samuel Harris 

(agent), Mr Robert Burns (agent) 

CA/E/13/103 
Plan: proposed new building line 

- Stanwix 

Showing Caledonian Railway and 

bridge, Etterby Road including 

Mission Hall, Scaur Bank Road, 

Kingmoor Road, Kingmoor 

Cottages, St Ann's Road and St 

Ann's Hill. Carlisle Rural District 

Council 

1900 

CA/E/13/105 
Proposd new building line plan: 

Stanwix 

Showing Caledonian Railway and 

bridge, Etterby Road including 

Mission Hall, Scaur Bank Road, 

KIngmoor Road, Kingmoor 

Cottages, St Ann's Road and St 

Ann's Hill. Carlisle Rural District 

Council 

1900 

CA/E/13/108 Paving plan: Brook Street 

Showing some named propert 

owners, including: Studholme 

Cartmell (agents), trustees of 

James Metcalfe - Henry 

Higginson (agent), Edwin Page, 

Richard Matthews, Johnstone 

Brothers 

undated 

[circa 20th 

century] 

CA/E/13/109 Plan: Brook Street, paving plan  
undated 

[circa 20th 

century] 

CA/E/13/110 
Plan: Warwick Road, proposed 

improvement and building lines 

Under section 33 Public Health 

Act, 1925 and section Five Roads 

Improvement Act, 1925, 

respectively. Shows River 

Petteril , Durranhill Beck and 

Petteril Bridge. Names property 

owners as: James Little, Robert 

Robinson, Carlisle Steam 

Laundry Company, John 

Shackley, John Brown, Miss 

Emma Archibald, Thomas 

Purves, Edward Jamieson, Robert 

Smith, executors of the late 

Captain Farrer (per Messrs Dixon 

and Mitchell, agents), John 

William Laing and Thomas 

William Wood (executors of the 

late John Wood), John Yates 

(Carlisle Education Committee), 

Star Inn (Carlisle and District 

State Management Scheme), 

Jonathan Winskill Thompson, 

Mrs Hannah Armstrong, Martin 

Casey, Henry Lonsdale, William 

Baty, Ridley Forster and Sons, 

James Millar, Fredeick Alfred 

Claperton, golf club house 

1927 

CA/E/13/111 Plan: Kendal Street repaving No names of property owners 1910 



CA/E/13/113 

Plan: Nook Street, Back 

Jesmond Street and Greystone 

Road 

Showing some named owners and 

agents: 70 Greystone Road - I 

Hall, 72 Greystone Road - R S 

Armstrong, 74 Greystone Road - 

J Whitfield, 76, 78 Greystone 

Road - R Calderwood, 80, 82 

Greystone Road - John Whitfield, 

84, 86, 88, 90, 92 Greystone Road 

- P and J W Hayton (agents). H C 

Marks, surveyor, Carlisle 

undated 

[20th 

century] 

CA/E/13/114 Plan: Rose Street paving 
No names of property owners 

given 
1907 

CA/E/13/115 
Plan and cross section: Howard 

Place, paving plan 

Incompete property owners, listed 

as: F Robinson, G D Over, G 

Brown, Henry Sawyer, J O'Doon, 

J Wilts, H Higginson, R Briggs, 

H Skelton, G T Hetherington, 

Mrs Elizabeth Arbinson, J Serret, 

R Nicholson, W Brown, J 

Malcolm, J Matraver, J P Steel, 

Jane Johnston, J T Graham, 

Thomas R Steel, T Little, G 

Richardson, S Y Smith 

undated 

[circa 20th 

century] 

CA/E/13/116 

Plan: part of Grasmere Street and 

part of Back Beaconsfield Street, 

paving plan 

Shows named property owners 

as : 13, 15, 17, 19, 21, 23 

Grasmere Street - Mr R Irving. 13 

Back Beaconsfield Street - Jos 

Reed. 15, 15 Back Beaconsfield 

Street - B Clayton. 19, 21 Back 

Beaconsfield Street - E L 

Thirlwell. 23 Back Beaconsfield 

Street - Mrs M Potter. Shows 

Thirlmere Street 

undated 

[circa 20th 

century] 

CA/E/13/125 Plan: James Place 

Shows longitidinal sectin, cross 

section and plan of James Place. 

Shows owners as: Mr Armstrong 

(agent), Mrs Wood, Mr Barnes. 

Shows Dacre Street 

1887 

CA/E/13/130 
Plan and section: Back 

Burlington Place, reformation 

Showing Drill Hall and Chapel 

Street. Names property owners 

as: Mr Armstrong, Duke of 

Devonshire, Mrs Hetherington 

(twice), Mrs Carruthers, Mr 

Matthews (twice), Mr Harrington 

(twice), Mr Palmer, Mr Teasdale, 

Mrs Johnston, Mr Wilson, Mr 

Ling, Mr Boyd, Mrs Back[house, 

crossed out], Mr Graham [crossed 

out], Mr Jackson 

13 Dec 

1883 

CA/E/13/138 

Plan: Lowther Street and Spring 

Gardens Lane, proposed frontage 

lines 

Shows Swifts Row, George Street 

and part of Drovers Lane. The red 

line shows the frontage as 

"prescribed by the Corporation on 

25 February 1929 in accordance 

Aug 1929 



with the provisions of section 155 

of the Public Health Act, 1875 

and section 103 of the Carlisle 

Corporation Act, 1897. Fred G 

Webster, town clerk." Percy 

Dalton, city engineer, Carlisle 

CA/E/13/145 
Plan: Back Ashley Street East, 

paving plan 

Showing 6 and 8 Ashley Street 

owned by Alexander Norval,10 

Ashley Street owned by James 

Hardy, 12 Ashley Street owned 

by Elizabeth Graham, 14 Ashley 

Street owned by Arthur 

Middleton. "This is the plan 

referred to in the notice from the 

council of the city of Carlisle 

dated 2 June 1895 calling upon 

owners of property in Back 

Ashley Street East, Caldewgate to 

pave and flag, etc that street or 

part of street". Yellow denotes 

area to be flagged 

1895 

CA/E/13/147 

Plan: Garden Street between 

Grey Street and Orchard Street, 

reformation 

Names property owners as: W H 

Maloy, George Rayson, Jno 

Waugh, D C Wilson, Edward 

Peel, Joseph Metcalfe, F Forster, 

W Clarke, John Creighton, Jno 

Smith, G Wilde, James Millar. 

Morley, city surveyor, Carlisle 

1876 

CA/E/13/148 

Plan: Victoria Road and 

Durranhill Road, improvements 

and building lines 

Shows Star Inn on the corner of 

Warwick Road (Carlisle-

Brampton road). Percy Dalton, 

surveyor 

1933 

CA/E/13/151 
Plan: Blackfriars Street, 

proposed improvement 

Showing St Cuthbert's Church, St 

Mary's Church, Green Market, 

Cross in Market Place and Steel 

Monument. Shows St Cuthbert's 

Lane, Newbank Lane, Barwise 

Court, Ferguson's Lane, Highland 

Laddie Lane, English Street, 

Devonshire Street, Blackfriars 

Street and Bank Street. Name all 

property owners on Castle 

Street/Green Market/Market 

Place and Blackfriars Street 

Apr 1899 

CA/E/13/154/1 Plan: Carlisle 

Showing Port Road, Hope's 

Court, Lewthwaite's Square, Carr 

and Company Limited, Holy 

Trinity Church, public house [The 

Jovial Sailor unnamed], LNER 

railway, Ashley Street. L J A 

Stow, city engineer, Carlisle 

undated 

[circa 20th 

century] 

CA/E/13/154/2 Plan: Carlisle 
Showing Infirmary Street, Mark's 

Court, Hope's Court, 

undated 

[circa 20th 

century] 



Lewthwaite's Square, Port Road, 

Ashley Street and Caldcotes 

CA/E/13/156 
Plan: Botcherby Old Road 

showing proposed frontage line 

Showing site of Board School 

(Brook Street, Greystone Road), 

Botcherby Mill, Mill Race. 

Property owners named as: Mr 

John Norman Robinson, Cargo, 

Messrs Iredale, Messrs Dobinson 

and Watson (agents), Mr James 

Graham, The Cumberland Union 

Banking Company, Mr Robert 

Irvine, Mrs Margaret Hilton. W 

Hewer Smith, city surveyor, 

Carlisle. "The red line shows the 

line of frontage as prescribed by 

the Corporation on 15 January 

1891 in accordance with the 

provisions of section 155 of the 

Public Health Act 1875 and 

section 103 of the Carlisle 

Corporation Act 1887." Coloured 

plan 

30 Sep 

1890 

CA/E/13/160 
Plan: English Damside and 

Backhouse Walk 

Shows Browns Court, Fawcett 

Court, West Walls, Victoria 

Viaduct, grain shed and goods 

station. Percy Dalton, city 

engineer, Carlisle 

22 Mar 

1916-18 

Apr 1945 

CA/E/13/165 
Plan: Blackfriars Street, 

proposed improvement 

Showing St Cuthbert's Church, 

Green Market, Cross in Market 

Place and Steel Monument. 

Shows St Cuthbert's Lane, 

Newbank Lane, Barwise Court, 

Ferguson's Lane, Highland 

Laddie Lane, English Street, 

Devonshire Street and Bank 

Street. Name all property owners. 

Coloured plan 

11 Dec 

1890 

CA/E/13/170 Plan: Proposed Sands car park 

Percy Dalton. Showing the cattle 

market, Newmarket Road and 

Newark Terrace. 

[c1930] 

CA/E/13/171 

Plan: Carlisle City, Municipal 

Housing scheme for 12 houses in 

pairs, Belah Estate 

contract no.2 1946 

CA/E/13/172 
Plan: Proposed reconstruction of 

part of Vallum at Stanwix 
Percy Dalton 1937 

CA/E/13/173 
Plan: Millholme Terrace Estate, 

roads and sewers 
(drawing no.1) Percy Dalton. [c1930] 

CA/E/13/174 
Plan: Contour Map of land 

behind Wigton Road 
 [20th 

century] 

CA/E/13/175 
Plan: Flagging of part of Etterby 

Street 
2 plans. Percy Dalton. 1930 



CA/E/13/176 

Plan: Carlisle and Distict Town 

Planning Scheme - Street cross 

sections 

Percy Dalton. 4 items [c1930] 

CA/E/13/177 

Plan: Proposed line of road from 

Durranhill junction to Warwick 

Road 

Percy Dalton. 2 plans [c1930] 

CA/E/13/178 
Plans: City of Carlisle, Proposed 

widening of Wigton Road 
Percy Dalton. 4 plans. [c1936] 

CA/E/13/179 

Plans: Carlisle road 

improvements - Wigton Road, 

Petteril Bank Road, Botchergate, 

Victoria Place and [Castleway?] 

Percy Dalton. 6 plans. [c1935] 

CA/E/13/180 

Plans: Harraby Neighbourhood 

Unit Estate, cross sections of 

road 

4 plans 1948-1950 

CA/E/13/181 

Plans: Proposed 40 foot street, 

connecting Fisher Street and 

Castle Street. Unidentified 

Assembly room plan 

5 plans. 1924 

CA/E/13/182 

Plan: Carlisle City, Proposed 

new streets and widenings, with 

schedule 

 1937 

CA/E/13/183 

Plan: Inclinations, Grey, 

Harraby, Edward, Barrack, 

Fusehill, Blencowe, Randall, 

Cumberland and Westmorland 

Street 

 [c1900] 

CA/E/13/184 Plan: Making up of Dukes Road 

With sections and elevations, and 

alterations to Trinity School (Zero 

Path). Percy Dalton. 2 plans. 

1944 

CA/E/13/185 
Plans: Transect of Warwick 

Road 

Showing Municipal Boundary in 

1912. 2 plans 
[c1920] 

CA/E/13/186 
Plan: Warwick Road 

Improvement 
Percy Dalton [c1935] 

CA/E/13/187 
Plan: Proposed widening of 

Durranhill Road 
 [c1936] 

CA/E/13/188 
Plans: Proposed flagging of 

Blackwell Road 
Percy Dalton. 2 plans 1948 

CA/E/13/189 

Plans: City of Carlisle, proposed 

improvement of junction of 

Corporation Road and 

Rickergate 

Percy Dalton 1935 

CA/E/13/190 
Plan: Proposed Improvement to 

Durranhill Road 
Percy Dalton [c1930] 

CA/W/6/216 
Geltsdale Water Scheme, intakes 

and storage 

Route of the pipe from Leach's 

Spring and Upper/Lower 

Tarnmownath. Size: 230cm x 

200cm. 

undated 

[circa1905] 

CA/W/6/217 
Geltsdale Water Scheme: 

Tarnmonath Fell 
 [c1905] 



CA/W/6/218 

Geltsdale Water Scheme: 

suggested supply for Brampton 

District 

 [c1905] 

CB/CU/Acc.H8629/1 
Plan: A591 Proposed footpath 

Snaithwaite to Fisher Place 
2 plans [c1980] 

CB/CU/Acc.H8629/2 

Plan: Southfield/Moorclose 

schools, details of link path 

between the schools 

2 plans 1984 

CB/CU/Acc.H8629/3 

Plan: Section for Drainage, Long 

Mikle - Sea View, Scales (C306) 

C7 (51) 

 [c1980] 

CB/CU/Acc.H8629/4 

Plan: CCC Highways and 

Bridges Dept, Proposed 

widening and Diversion at 

Bothel 

Surveyor G. Lockwood. 4 plans. 1935 

CB/E/2011122/1 Extra-District annual summaries 

Children attending school in 

Cumbria with home address 

outside Cumbria, and children 

from Cumbria attending school in 

other counties. Statistical annual 

summaries only. 

1973-1987 

CB/E/2011122/2 
Extra District - regulation and 

policy 

Decision not to accept out-county 

charges for Cumbria children 
1975 

CB/H/1/7/41 

Plan: A66 Chapel Brow to 

Barons Cross improvement (Fitz 

cottage) 

Details of river training wall. 2 

plans. 
1975 

CB/H/1/7/42 

Plans: M6 Motorway, Thrimby 

to Hackthorpe section, 

Harrowstwead Bridge 

Renewal of mesh frames. 2 plans 1982 

CB/H/1/9/1 Plan: Ravenstonedale Bypass Scandale bridge, A685. 5 plans. 1979 

CB/H/1/10/1 
Plans: Appleby Bypass, Penrith - 

Middlesborough trunk road 

Including Bond Gate Moor 

Bridge. 25 plans. 
1978 

CB/S/2003051/1 

Social Services Trust Funds: A 

summary of Funds held in Trust 

within the Social Services 

 Sep 1988 

CB/S/2003051/2 
Committees: Centenary of 

County Councils Working Group 
 Aug 1988-

Jul 1989 

CB/S/2003051/3 Carlisle Property Study  Feb 1988 

CB/S/2003051/4 

Admin: Other Departments. 

Education: Special Schools 

Information Statements 

 Oct 1975-

Nov 1987 

CB/S/2003051/5 

Report: Comprehensive Review 

of Services in the Region for 

Difficult Children and their 

Families 

Second Report of the Operations 

Group - Phase 1. North (No 1 

Area) Children's Regional 

Planning Committee 

Oct 1982 

CB/S/2003051/6 
Establishments: Kendal Property 

Study 
 Jul 1988-

Jun 1989 

CB/S/2003051/7 
Establishments: Barrow, Market 

Street (New Premises) 
 Feb 1987-

Oct 1991 

CB/S/2003051/8 
Establishments: Barrow Property 

Study 
 Dec 1988-

Feb 1990 



CB/S/2003051/9 
C.R.P.C. Main Officers 

(Directors) Working Party 
 Nov 1981-

Nov 1982 

CB/S/2003051/10 

C.R.P.C. The Future of 

Observation and Assessment 

Centres 

 Dec 1980-

Mar 1982 

CB/S/2003051/11 
Expenditure Ceilings: Effect on 

Service 
 May 1976-

Aug 1991 

CB/S/2003051/12 
Conferences and Meetings: 

CVLO Meetings 
 Oct 1981-

Jun 1990 

CB/S/2003051/13 Staff Meetings: South Division  Apr 1980-

Apr 1989 

CB/S/2003051/14 Meeting with Geriatricians  Oct 1974-

Dec 1977 

CB/S/2003051/15 Research: Annual Returns  Mar 1972-

May 1990 

CB/S/2003051/16 

Department of Health and Social 

Security: Social Services 

Inspectorate 

 May 1988-

Jun 1989 

CB/S/2003051/17 Health Advisory Service  Aug 1980-

Oct 1989 

CB/S/2003051/18 30 Raiselands Road, Carlisle Children's home 
Jun 1976-

Oct 1989 

CB/S/2003051/19 
The Grange Community Home, 

Botcherby 
Children's home 

Apr 1985-

Feb 1988 

CB/S/2003051/20 
Elderly. Woodlands, Distington: 

Elderly Mentally Infirm 
 Nov 1974-

Nov 1991 

CB/S/2003051/21 
H[ealth] A[dvisory] S[ervice] 

Report (pocket file) 
 Jun 1983-

Oct 1986 

CB/S/2003051/22 

Department of Health and Social 

Security: Social Services 

Inspectorate 

 Jan 1990-

Jun 1991 

CB/S/2003051/23 West Cumbria Health Authority  Jan 1978-

May 1989 

CB/S/2003051/24 

Department of Health and Social 

Security: S.S.I. Visit to Services 

for the Elderly in South Cumbria 

 Sep 1986-

Mar 1988 

CB/S/2003051/25 

Cumbria Area Health Authority 

(no longer in existence after re-

organisation) File renamed 

Health Authorities General 

 Mar 1981-

Dec 1994 

CB/S/2003051/26 Social Services Inspectorate  Nov 1975-

Apr 1991 

CB/S/2003051/27 East Cumbria Health Authority  Jan 1987-

Dec 1994 

CB/S/2003051/28 West Cumbria Health Authority  Sep 1988-

Dec 1991 

CB/S/2003051/29 South Cumbria Health Authority  Apr 1987-

Dec 1990 

CB/S/2003051/30 14 Lesh Lane, Barrow  Jun 1976-

Jun 1987 



CB/S/2003051/31 Dallington, Barrow  May 1983-

Sep 1990 

CB/S/2003051/32 Abbey House, Barrow  Mar 1974-

Nov 1990 

CB/S/2003051/33 
Elderly: Closure of Abbey 

House, Barrow 
 Jun 1983-

Apr 1985 

CB/S/2003051/34 15 Tyne Road, Barrow  Jun 1976-

Jan 1985 

CB/S/2003051/35 
Community Homes: Dunlop 

House, Barrow 
 Feb 1974-

Nov 1984 

CB/S/2003051/36 

Residential Services, 71 

Wastwater Avenue, Workington: 

monthly visiting reports, 

correspondence re staff, children 

and administration 

 Oct 1975-

Nov 1986 

CB/S/2003051/37 
Beacon Hill Cottage, Fell Lane, 

Penrith: use of property 
 Apr 1988-

May 1990 

CB/S/2003051/38 

Community Homes, 21 Huntley 

Avenue, Penrith: monthly 

visiting reports, correspondence 

re staff, children and 

administration 

 Aug 1976-

Jun 1990 

CB/S/2003051/39 

Residential Services, 

Morningside, Milnthorpe: 

monthly visiting reports, 

correspondence re staff, children 

and administration 

 Dec 1974-

Nov 1989 

CB/S/2003051/40 

Community Homes, Crag Bank, 

Grange over-Sands: monthly 

visiting reports, correspondence 

re staff, children and 

administration, inventories, 

disposal of property, copy 

conveyance by Cumbria County 

Council, 1987 

 Jul 1974-

Oct 1987 

CB/S/2003051/41 

Residential Services, 1 Meade 

Road, Carlisle: monthly visiting 

reports, correspondence re staff, 

children and administration 

Children's home 
Jun 1976-

Jun 1989 

CB/S/2003051/42 

Residential Services, 54 

Westrigg Road, Carlisle: 

monthly visiting reports, 

correspondence re staff, children 

and administration 

Children's home 
Oct 1975-

Jan 1987 

CB/S/2003051/43 

Community Homes, Scotby 

House, Scotby, Carlisle: monthly 

visiting reports, correspondence 

re staff, children and 

administration 

Children's home 
Sep 1975-

Jul 1985 

CB/S/2003051/44 
Mill House Observation and 

Assessment Centre, Carlisle: 
 Sep 1983-

Oct 1991 



review/inspection reports, use of 

property 

CB/S/2003051/45 

Community Homes: Leaside, 

Wigton: monthly visiting reports, 

correspondence re staff, children 

and administration 

Children's home 
Jul 1986-

Jan 1990 

CB/S/2003051/46 

Homes for the Elderly, Grisedale 

Croft, Alston: administration of 

property, visitors' rota reports 

 Sep 1974-

Oct 1986 

CB/S/2003051/47 

Homes for the Elderly: The 

Towers, Skinburness: 

administration and disposal of 

premises 

 Aug 1974-

Sep 1992 

CB/S/2003051/48 

Newbarns House Adolescent 

Home, Ewan Close, Lesh Lane, 

Barrow in Furness: plans, 

monthly inspection reports, 

correspondence re staff, children 

and administration 

 Jan 1970-

Dec 1986 

CB/S/2003051/49 

Newbarns House Adolescent 

Home, Ewan Close, Lesh Lane, 

Barrow in Furness: inspection 

reports, correspondence re staff, 

children and administration 

 Dec 1986-

Jul 1989 

CB/S/2003051/50 

Pelham House, Calderbridge: 

closure of premises and disposal 

of property 

 Mar 1984-

Nov 1988 

CB/S/2003051/51 Orton Park Adolescent Home  Oct 1984-

Dec 1990 

CB/S/2003051/52 
Orton Park: Internal Audit 

Report 
 Sep 1983-

Mar 1986 

CB/S/2003051/53 
Community Home: Wensum 

Lea, Barrow 
 Sep 1974-

Oct 1990 

CB/S/2003051/54 
Hostel for Teenagers: Eden 

Street, Carlisle 
PERSONAL INFORMATION 

Jun 1969-

Jun 1981 

CB/S/2003051/55 
Hostel for Mentally 

Handicapped: Peat Lane, Kendal 
 Jul 1975-

Aug 1987 

CB/S/2003051/56 
Hostel for the Mentally Ill, 

Carlisle 
Buildings 

Jan 1975-

Mar 1978 

CB/S/2003051/57 Tarn House Hostel, Barrow  May 1975-

Sep 1988 

CB/S/2003051/58 
Group Home for Mentally Ill: 50 

Scattergate Green, Appleby 
 Aug 1976-

Sep 1978 

CB/S/2003051/59 

Combe House Residential 

Property. Home for the Elderly, 

Walney: Central Drive, Barrow-

in-Furness 

 Nov 1980-

Jul 1989 

CB/S/2003051/60 
Hostel for Teenagers, 47-49 

Hartington Street, Barrow 
 Sep 1974-

Jun 1977 

CB/S/2003051/61 
Tarn House Hostel: Special Care 

Protest Meeting and Staff 
 Aug 1981-

Aug 1984 



Reinforcement. Further 

Representation by Tarn House 

Staff re Special Care (folder) 

CB/S/2003051/62 

Homes for the Elderly, Lapstone 

House, Millom: plans, 

administration of property, 

visitors' rota reports 

 Nov 1967-

Apr 1989 

CB/S/2003051/63 

Home for the Elderly, Maudes 

Meadow, Kendal: administration 

of property, visitors' rota reports, 

Mardale Church communion 

plate 

 Jan 1975-

May 1991 

CB/S/2003051/64 

Inspection report: Orton Park 

Community Home with 

Education, Wigton Road, 

Carlisle 

Department of Health and Social 

Security Social Security 

Inspectorate (Northern Region). 

Cumbria CC Social Services 

Department. 

Mar 1986 

CB/S/2003051/65 

Home for the Elderly, Howard 

Holme, Kendal: visitors' rota 

reports, administration and 

disposal of premises 

 Mar 1975-

May 1991 

CB/S/2003051/66 

Homes for the Elderly, Castle 

Mount, Egremont: 

administration of property, 

visitors' rota reports 

 May 1977-

Mar 1988 

CB/S/2003051/67 

Elderly: Edenside, Appleby: 

administration of property, 

visitors' rota reports 

 Sep 1974-

Feb 1988 

CB/S/2003051/68 

Registered Residential 

Establishment: Hesketh Lodge, 

Barrow 

 Jul 1981-

Aug 1987 

CB/S/2003051/69 

Registered Residential 

Establishment: Westerley, 

Grange-over-Sands 

 Nov 1979-

Dec 1988 

CB/S/2003051/70 
Elderly: Rocklea, Barrow-in-

Furness 
 Oct 1974-

Feb 1988 

CB/S/2003051/71 
[Millwood Home, Barrow-in-

Furness] Proposed Development 
 Jul 1987-

Mar 1988 

CB/S/2003051/72 
Colton House, Colton, Nr. 

Ulverston 
 Jun 1982-

Feb 1989 

CB/S/2003051/73 
Other Establishments: Barrows 

Green, Kendal (Dr. Barnardo s) 
 Sep 1974-

Jan 1991 

CB/S/2003051/74 

Establishments. Hostel for 

Mentally Ill: Fairview, Bransty, 

Whitehaven 

 Jun 1974-

Nov 1987 

CB/S/2003051/75 
Registered Homes: Steelfield 

Hall, Gosforth 
 Mar 1977-

Dec 1985 

CB/S/2003051/76 
Brownber Hall, Newbiggin-on-

Lune, Kirkby Stephen 
 Feb 1975-

Aug 1988 

CB/S/2003051/77 
Registered Home: Lake District 

Cheshire Home, Holehird, 
 Jan 1978-

Aug 1991 



Windermere (Private Registered 

Homes) 

CB/S/2003051/78 
Hostels for the Mentally 

Handicapped: Barrow 
 [1970s-

1990s] 

CB/S/2003051/79 
Hostels for the Mentally 

Handicapped: Allerdale 
 [1970s-

1990s] 

CB/S/2003051/80 
Hostels for the Mentally 

Handicapped: Copeland. 
 [1970s-

1990s] 

CB/S/2003051/81 

Two Group Homes for Mentally 

Handicapped Adults: Allerdale 

and Copeland Districts 

 Jan 1973-

Jan 1990 

CB/S/2003051/82 Eskdale House, Longtown  Jan 1975-

Jun 1989 

CB/S/2003051/83 
Elderly: Elizabeth Welsh House, 

Carlisle 
 Oct 1974-

Sep 1988 

CB/S/2003051/84 Homes for the Elderly General  Apr 1988-

Apr 1990 

CB/S/2003051/85 
Unstaffed Group Home: 103 

Oakwood Road, Ulverston 
 Jan 1985-

Mar 1991 

CB/S/2003051/86 
Home for the Elderly: Derwent 

Lodge, Cockermouth 
 Oct 1974-

Jun 1988 

CB/S/2003051/87 
Home for the Elderly: 

Inglewood, Wigton 
 Jun 1974-

Jun 1988 

CB/S/2003051/88 Elderly: Lime House, Wetheral  Sep 1975-

Jun 1991 

CB/S/2003051/89 

21 Huntley Avenue, Penrith: 

Home for Mentally Handicapped 

Children 

 Apr 1983-

Oct 1988 

CB/S/2003051/90 Elderly: Parkside, Maryport  Jan 1975-

Oct 1989 

CB/S/2003051/91 
Elderly: Richmond Park, 

Workington 
 Nov 1974-

Jul 1991 

CB/S/2003051/92 Bridge House, Flookburgh  Jun 1978-

Jul 1991 

CB/S/2003051/93 
Homes for the Elderly: Pow 

Beck House 
 Jun 1974-

Apr 1990 

CB/S/2003051/94 
West Point House, Walney, 

Barrow 
 Oct 1974-

Feb 1988 

CB/S/2003051/95 
Information booklet: Botcherby 

Family Centre[1970s] 
 [1980s] 

CB/S/2003051/96 53 Sandgate, Kendal  Nov 1989 

CB/S/2003051/97 

South East Highgate, Kendal: 

Proposed Housing for 

Handicapped Persons (Land 

adjoining Day Centre) 

 Sep 1979-

Dec 1982 

CB/S/2003051/98 

Bungalow for Severely Mentally 

and Physically Handicapped 

Adults, Victoria Road, Ulverston 

 Sep 1986-

Oct 1988 

CB/S/2003051/99 
Black Butts Lane, Barrow 

(Unstaffed Group Home) 
 Oct 1985-

Aug 1988 



CB/S/2003051/100 
Dovenby Hall Hospital, 

Cockermouth 
 Oct 1980-

Nov 1989 

CB/S/2003051/101 

Homes for the Elderly: 

Dentholme, Cleator Moor: 

opening, rota visit reports, 

operational papers 

 May 1974-

Oct 1986 

CB/S/2003051/102 
Elderly Care Homes: Riverside 

House, Kendal, rota visit reports 
 Nov 1980-

May 1987 

CB/S/2003051/103 

Private Registered Home: 

Redlands, High Knott Road, 

Arnside 

 Sep 1981-

May 1987 

CB/S/2003051/104 
Private Registered Home: 

Millfield, Keswick 
 Sep 1983-

Nov 1988 

CB/S/2003051/105 

Establishment for the Mentally 

Disordered: Moresdale Hall, 

Lambrigg, Nr. Kendal 

 Jul 1975-

Nov 1976 

CB/S/2003051/106 

Registered Residential 

Establishments: Pengarth, 

Ashmount Road, Grange-over-

Sands 

 Aug 1987-

Sep 1988 

CB/S/2003051/107 

Private and Voluntary 

Residential Care Homes for the 

Elderly Group 

 Mar-Aug 

1986 

CB/S/2003051/108 

Hostels for the Mentally 

Handicapped: St. Stephen s 

Hostel, Carlisle 

 Ag 1974-

Feb 1990 

CB/S/2003051/109 
Mentally Handicapped: 

Mirehouse, Whitehaven 
 Jun 1976-

Aug 1983 

CB/S/2003051/110 Greengate House, Barrow  May 1974-

Feb 1980 

CB/S/2003051/111 Mentally Handicapped Children  Oct 1980-

Apr 1987 

CB/S/2003051/112 

Mentally Handicapped (Short 

Term Fostering Scheme) Respite 

Care 

 Jan 1978-

Nov 1991 

CB/S/2003051/113 
Blind: Cumbria Industries for the 

Disabled 
 Nov 1982-

Dec 1988 

CB/S/2003051/114 Aldingham Hall  Oct 1977-

Jun 1984 

CB/S/2003051/115 
Other Establishments: St. Marks, 

Natland, Nr. Kendal 
 Apr 1974-

Apr 1982 

CB/S/2003051/116 

 The Rising Tide : Developing 

Services for Mental Illness in 

Old Age 

 Jan-Aug 

1983 

CB/S/2003051/117 
Multi Purpose Day Centre, 

Newtown Road, Penrith 
 Jan 1982-

Oct 1984 

CB/S/2003051/118 
Official Opening of the Edington 

Centre, Penrith (folder) 
 Oct 1980-

Mar 1981 

CB/S/2003051/119 
Kendal Day Centre: Official 

Opening 
 Nov 1980-

Mar 1981 



CB/S/2003051/120 

Residential Day Centres: 

Proposed Day Centre, Maryport 

(Solway House) 

 Oct 1981-

Sep 1988 

CB/S/2003051/121 Residential Day Centre: Alston  Feb 1979-

Mar 1980 

CB/S/2003051/122 
Residential Services: Health 

Centre, Appleby 
 Jan 1966-

Oct 1978 

CB/S/2003051/123 Shap Day Centre  Nov 1977-

Dec 1978 

CB/S/2003051/124 

Registered Homes: Ashley 

House, Beetham Road, 

Milnthorpe 

 Nov 1985-

Jul 1987 

CB/S/2003051/125 

Private Registered Home: Hazel 

Bank Rest Home, Yanwath, 

Penrith 

 Feb 1985-

Jul 1988 

CB/S/2003051/126 

Private Registered Home: The 

Old Vicarage, Allithwaite, 

Grange-over-Sands 

 Dec 1983-

Aug 1987 

CB/S/2003051/127 
Residential Home: The Hollies, 

Main Street, Brampton 
 Mar 1986-

Nov 1987 

CB/S/2003051/128 

Residentials: St. Gregory s 

House, Preston Patrick, Nr. 

Kendal 

 Jan 1985-

May 1988 

CB/S/2003051/129 Day Centre, Frizington  Sep 1980-

Dec 1987 

CB/S/2003051/130 

Residential Day Centres: St. 

Michael s Day Centre, 

Workington 

 Sep 1982-

May 1989 

CB/S/2003051/131 
Mentally Handicapped: Mental 

Health Development 
 Jan 1988-

Mar 1991 

CB/S/2003051/132 Mentally Ill: Dementia  May 1986-

Feb 1988 

CB/S/2003051/133 
Day Centres: Irish Street, 

Whitehaven 
 Nov 1980-

Feb 1991 

CB/S/2003051/134 
Standing Group on Provision for 

Under Fives 
 Aug 1982-

Oct 1987 

CB/S/2003051/135 Provision of Gypsy Sites  Dec 1977-

Jun 1986 

CB/S/2003051/136 
Children: Intermediate 

Treatment 
 Dec 1986-

Jan 1989 

CB/S/2003051/137 

Getting Mentally Handicapped 

People out of Hospital: Royal 

Albert Hospital. Children 

 Apr 1985-

Feb 1988 

CB/S/2003051/138 

Getting Mentally Handicapped 

People out of Hospital: Royal 

Albert 

 Jun 1986-

Sep 1988 

CB/S/2003051/139 

Community Placement Scheme 

for Mentally Ill Adults or those 

recovering from a Mental Illness 

 Aug-Oct 

1985 

CB/S/2003051/140 Homeless: Accommodation  Jan 1978-

Oct 1987 



CB/S/2003051/141 

W. Mark-Bell, Architects  

Brief: Special Care Unit, 

Kingstown Adult Training 

Centre, Carlisle (folder) 

 Jun 1978 

CB/S/2003051/142 
Residentials: 

Medications/Nursing Care 
 Apr 1979-

Sep 1990 

CB/S/2003051/143 
Pre-School Playgroups 

Association: Finance 
 Sep 1985- 

Apr 1990 

CB/S/2003051/144 
Magistrates Court, Workington 

plus Whitehaven 
 Apr 1975-

Mar 1990 

CB/S/2003051/145 

Report: Annual Review of 

Services to Children and Young 

People and Their Families 

Cumbria Social Services Dec 1987 

CB/S/2003051/146 

Report: Towards Greater 

Independence for the Elderly - 

Implications for Management 

 Nov 1980 

CB/S/2003051/147 

Paper: Issues arising from the 

SWS Report, published October 

1984 of the study of very elderly 

people and SSDs 

 Jan 1985 

CB/S/2003051/148 

Pre-School Playgroups Advisory 

Panels: 1. Copeland Dec 1979   

Sept 1982 2. South Lakeland Feb 

1980   May 1984 3. Barrow Jan 

1980   Aug 1983 Minutes of 

meetings 

 1979-1984 

CB/S/2003051/149 

Training Centres and Day 

Centres: Orgill Family Centre 

Proposed at Egremont 

 Mar 1988-

Jun 1989 

CB/S/2003051/150 
Proposed Day Centres: Arnside 

and Sedbergh 
 Apr 1985-

Sep 1987 

CB/S/2003051/151 

Pre-School Playgroups Advisory 

Panels: 1. Carlisle Jan 1980   

May 1982 2. Allerdale Jan 1980 

  July 1982 3. Eden Jan 1979   

June 1984 Minutes of meetings 

 1979-1984 

CB/S/2003051/152 
Mini Day Centre: Distington 

Church Hall 
 Jun 1983-

Feb 1984 

CB/S/2003051/153 
Blind: Rehabilitation and 

Training (Employment) 
 Oct 1974-

Sep 1985 

CB/S/2003051/154 
Proposed Health Centre, 

Sedbergh 
 Sep 1983-

Jun 1984 

CB/S/2003051/155 
Mentally Handicapped Pilot 

Projects 
 Feb 1984-

Mar 1991 

CB/S/2003051/156 Mental Health Review Tribunals  Jun 1974-

May 1991 

CB/S/2003051/157 
Cumbria Adolescent Placement 

Scheme C.A.P.S. 
 May 1983-

Aug 1988 

CB/S/2003051/158 Home Care General  Sep 1984-

Oct 1991 



CB/S/2003051/159 
Croftlands Home for the 

Mentally Ill, Botcherby, Carlisle 
 Sep 1982-

Jan 1988 

CB/S/2003051/160 Professional Foster Parents  May 1975-

Sep 1987 

CB/S/2003051/161 
Pilot Day Fostering Scheme in 

Copeland 
 May 1978-

May 1988 

CB/S/2003051/162 
Immigrants: Ugandan Asians, 

Vietnamese refugees 
 Aug 1974-

Jun 1986 

CB/S/2003051/163 
Cumbria Alcohol Advisory 

Service 
 Dec 1983-

May 1991 

CB/S/2003051/164 Foster Parents General  Jan 1981-

Jul 1991 

CB/S/2003051/165 

Getting Mentally Handicapped 

out of Hospital: East Cumbria 

Health Bids 

 Jun 1986-

Aug 1988 

CB/S/2003051/166 
Adoption Resource Exchange: 

Case File 
 Sep 1979-

Jun 1983 

CB/S/2003051/167 Cumbria Adoption Agency  Aug 1979-

Aug 1990 

CB/S/2003051/168 Adoption Agency Procedures  Jan 1984-

Jul 1989 

CB/S/2003051/169 
British Agencies for Adoption 

and Fostering 
 Mar 1987-

Mar 1991 

CB/S/2003051/170 
British Agencies for Adoption 

and Fostering: Cases 
 Aug 1980-

Aug 1984 

CB/S/2003051/171 
Intermediate Treatment: Edmond 

Castle 
 Oct 1973-

May 1981 

CB/S/2003051/172 
Quarterly Adoption and 

Fostering Meetings: minutes 
 Jun 1982-

Apr 1987 

CB/S/2003051/173 
Cumbria Association of Pre-

School Playgroups: minutes 
 May 1974-

Nov 1985 

CB/S/2003051/174 
Family Placement Officers: 

minutes of meetings 
 Jul 1983-

Nov 1988 

CB/S/2003051/175 
Intermediate Treatment: 

Voluntary Bodies 
 Jan 1989-

Jun 1992 

CB/S/2003051/176 
Preventive Intermediate 

Treatment Courses/Projects 
 Jan 1981-

Oct 1987 

CB/S/2003051/177 Adoption Agencies  Feb 1981-

Nov 1990 

CB/S/2003051/178 Adoption General  Mar 1984-

Dec 1991 

CB/S/2003051/179 Adoption General  Jan 1981-

Mar 1984 

CB/S/2003051/180 Marchesi Centre, Windermere  Jan 1973-

Apr 1990 

CB/S/2003051/181 
Westmorland Association for 

Social and Moral Welfare 
 Oct 1974-

Mar 1985 

CB/S/2003051/182 
Citizens  Advice Bureau: 

Barrow 
 Dec 1974-

Feb 1980 



CB/S/2003051/183 
Westmorland Society [for] 

Mentally Handicapped 
 Dec 1974-

Sep 1985 

CB/S/2003051/184 
Barrow-in-Furness Society for 

Mentally Handicapped Children 
 Sep 1974-

Nov 1988 

CB/S/2003051/185 
Community Development Work: 

Care in the Community 
 Apr 1985-

May 1990 

CB/S/2003051/186 
Community Development/Work: 

Deprivation 
 Dec 1988-

Feb 1989 

CB/S/2003051/187 Guardian Ad Litem General  Dec 1986-

Jul 1991 

CB/S/2003051/188 Age Concern: Grants  Oct 1979-

Nov 1990 

CB/S/2003051/189 

Age Concern: Grants. Reports: 

Report on Work of Age Concern 

in Cumbria in 1987/88 plus 

Forecast of Developments in 

1988/89 

 Jan 1987-

Dec 1989 

CB/S/2003051/190 Citizens  Advice Bureau  Oct 1975-

Jul 1987 

CB/S/2003051/191 
Community Development/Work: 

Community Areas 
 Feb 1988-

Oct 1989 

CB/S/2003051/192 Policies Working Group 1980  Apr-May 

1980 

CB/S/2003051/193 
Cumbria Pre-Retirement 

Committee 
 May 1974-

Jun 1980 

CB/S/2003051/194 

Joint Cumbria Probation 

Service/NACRO Youth 

Opportunity Programme 

 Jan 1980-

Sep 1987 

CB/S/2003051/195 
Community Development and 

Community Work 
 Jun 1980-

Sep 1990 

CB/S/2003051/196 Family Policy  Aug 1984-

Jul 1988 

CB/S/2003051/197 Age Concern General  Sep 1986-

Dec 1989 

CB/S/2003051/198 

Action Resource Centre, 81 High 

Street, Cleator Moor: disposal of 

property 

 Jul 1977-

Nov 1978 

CB/S/2003051/199 

Community Support for the 

Elderly: minutes of meetings, 

memoranda and circulars 

 Jun 1978-

Jul 1988 

CB/S/2003051/200 

C.V.L.O. (Community and 

Voluntary Services Liaison 

Officer) Reports: 1. Carlisle Nov 

1980   Oct 1987 2. Allerdale 

Jan 1981   July 1985 3. Eden 

Apr 1981   Aug 1988 

 Nov 1980-

Aug 1988 

CB/S/2003051/201 

C.V.L.O. (Community and 

Voluntary Services Liaison 

Officer) Reports: 1. Copeland 

Aug 1980   Nov 1988 2. South 

 Aug 1980-

Nov 1988 



Lakeland Jan 1981   Jan 1988 

3. Barrow June 1983   Oct 1984 

CB/S/2003051/202 
Age Concern: Carlisle and Eden 

Forum 
 Feb 1974-

Jul 1989 

CB/S/2003051/203 
Age Concern: South Lakeland 

and Barrow 
 Apr 1974-

Jan 1989 

CB/S/2003051/204 Age Concern: South West Forum  
May 1974-

Dec 1990 

CB/S/2003051/205 Help the Aged  Jan 1974-

Aug 1991 

CB/S/2003051/206 

Report On Work of Age Concern 

in Cumbria in 1987/88 and 

Forecase of Developments in 

1988/89 

 Apr 1980-

Dec 1991 

CB/S/2003051/207 

Portia Trust: Correspondence 

and papers regarding its 

activities in Cumbria 

 Apr 1975-

Jul 1985 

CB/S/2003051/208 

Multiple Sclerosis Society: 

minutes of meetings and 

correspondence mainly with 

Cumbrian branches (West 

Cumberland/West Cumbria, 

Westmorland, Penrith) 

 Dec 1973-

Mar 1985 

CB/S/2003051/209 

Women's Royal Voluntary 

Service (WRVS): Cumbria 

WRVS annual reports, 

correspondence and memoranda 

on services in Cumbria 

 Nov 1980-

Mar 1994 

CB/S/2003051/210 
Voluntary Action Cumbria: 

Grant Aid 
 Dec 1980-

Dec 1988 

CB/S/2003051/211 
Charities: National Children s 

Home 
 Jan 1986-

Dec 1990 

CB/S/2003051/212 
Council for Voluntary Action: 

South Lakeland 
 Mar 1974-

Jun 1990 

CB/S/2003051/213 
Voluntary Action Cumbria: 

Agenda and Minutes 
 Jan 1985-

Jun 1990 

CB/S/2003051/214 
Voluntary Action Cumbria: 

Copeland 
 Mar 1988-

Mar 1989 

CB/S/2003051/215 
Carlisle Council for Voluntary 

Service 
 Aug 1974-

Dec 1988 

CB/S/2003051/216 Aid for Women  Feb 1975-

Aug 1984 

CB/S/2003051/217 
Kendal Voluntary Old People s 

Welfare Committee 
 Apr 1974-

May 1990 

CB/S/2003051/218 
National Association of Youth 

Clubs 
 Feb 1975-

Dec 1987 

CB/S/2003051/219 Cumbria County Scout Council  Jun 1974-

Jul 1987 

CB/S/2003051/220 

Diocese of Lancaster Catholic 

Child Welfare Society (Adoption 

Agency) 

 Jun 1987-

Sep 1989 



CB/S/2003051/221 

Spastics  Society: 

correspondence, including visit 

of HRH Duchess of Gloucester 

to Scalesceugh Home 

 Feb 1981-

Apr 1991 

CB/S/2003051/222 
Barrow Voluntary Welfare 

Circle 
 Oct 1978-

May 1991 

CB/S/2003051/223 

Cumbria: Guides to Statutory 

and Voluntary Organisations in 

Barrow, Carlisle and Copeland 

Districts (booklets) 2. Cumbria: 

A Guide to Statutory and 

Voluntary Organisations in 

Copeland 3. Cumbria: A Guide 

to People and Services Who 

Care. Barrow Distric 

 May 1988 

DB 40/GLASS 

NEGATIVES/1 

Glass plate negatives of Cowan 

and Sheldon cranes 

Two large glass plate negatives of 

unidentified cranes 
undated 

DB 132/24/1 Cash book  1925-1930 

DB 262 
James Irving, stockbroker, 

Carlisle 

Bundle of approximately 200 

letters and other communications 

all addressed to James Irving, a 

Carlisle stockbroker, from private 

clients requesting advice on the 

purchse of shares and bonds, 

others from commercial 

correspondents including mining 

companies, railway developers 

and banks regarding share prices 

and investments, and some from 

agents and brokers mostly in 

London. James Irving traded at 3 

Post Office Court, English Street, 

Carlisle. 

1865 

DB 263 
Thorn Farm, Stainton, Penrith 

belonging to J H L Thompson 

Attested Herd Register, 1953-

1961; receipt and payment books 

with livestock valuations at the 

rear (2), 1949-1983; VAT 

register, 1973-1990. 

1949-1990 

DB 264 

Thomas Hodgson, Architect and 

Builder, 27 Station Road, 

Keswick 

Financial ledgers (30) showing 

wages and receipts. 
1878-1953 

DBS/6/1/15 Sale poster for Bascodyke  1866 

DBS/6/1/52 
Anns Hill Estate Bridekirk near 

Cockermouth 
photograph of exterior 1895 

DCART/B/PLANS/1 
Plan: Estates of Cumrew and 

Turnbury 
 undated 

[circa 1840] 

DCART/B/PLANS/2 
Plan: Nether Denton, Glebe 

allotments 

Annotated 1st edition Ordnnace 

Survey maps 

undated 

[circa 1880] 

DEC 18/11/1/Accn 

H16326 [UNLISTED] 
Unlisted accession 

Accounts, financial statements, 

minutes of committee meetings, 

correspondence and application 

forms. 

2004-2021 



DFCURC 6 United Reformed Church, Silloth 

Minute book, 1980-1985; plans of 

the church [undated] and the 

proposed church hall including 

building specification, 1885; 

account books (2), 1932-1949 and 

1968-1986; minutes of Adult 

Club Committee meetings, 1947-

1978; Women's Guild cash books 

(2), 1930-1989; Women's Guild 

minute books, 1956-1960 and 

1962-1992; minutes of Women's 

Guild annual general meetings, 

1973-1992; Sunday School 

attendance register, 1965-1985; 

Sunday School League 

certificates, 1944; visitors' book, 

1959-2019; register of baptisms, 

1883-2022; Church roll, 1992, 

Adherents roll, 1992; certificates 

of transference, 1985-1998; 

Churches Trust for Cumbria 

Building Survey Report, 2015; 

building plans for disabled toilets, 

1959, minutes of Church 

meetings, Church Elders' 

meetings, and North Cumbria 

Group meetings, 1993-2023; 

paper on 'What churches should 

preserve', [undated]; Centenary 

souvenir brochure, 1984; 

Diamond Jubilee souvenir 

brochure, 1944; newsletters; 

Church Mission statement, 2015; 

Church Profile, [circa 2000]; Old 

Time Music H 

1885-2023 

DHG/235 
Fragments of records [NOT FIT 

FOR PRODUCTION] 

5 fragments. Possibly relating to 

Howard v Duke of Norfolk case 

or Barony of Burgh. 

[1683?] 

DHUD/10/8 Land Tax material   

DLONS/L/5/3/2/22/18 

Plan of the Whalemoor 

Tenement in the Manor of 

Lowther 

Unfinished draft. Size: 53cm x 

76cm. Endorsed Whale Moor and 

Baxter rash. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/22/19 

Plan of the allotments upon 

Hackthorpe common and New 

Close 

Scale: 3 chains to 1 inch. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/33/37 Plan of Lowther Park 

Sketch plan including the church, 

castle, village, and farm 

buildings. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/33/38 

Plan of enclosed and common 

lands belonging to the Earl of 

Lonsdale 

Enclosed land is shaded yellow 

and common land is shaded 

green. Based on a third edition 

ordnance survey map. Area 

covered is a 5 mile radius of 

Lowther Castle. Includes an 

1925-1929 



extract from the conveyance to 

Lowther Estates Limited, dated 

July 1929, detailing copy 

restrictions in favour of Lowther 

Castle and land retained. 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/57/1 
Plan of Warnel Demesne in the 

parish of Sebergham 

Plan includes the River Calder, 

Sebergham Bridge, mill 

buildings, the road from Heskett 

to Warnel, Holme House, Warnel 

Hall, Grassing House, High 

House, and Side House. All fields 

have boundaries and acreages. A 

corresponding reference table 

explains minerals in the area, 

where coal has been worked, the 

position of dykes, trial pitts, areas 

of freestone and areas of 

limestone. There are also various 

pencil annotation including a note 

dated 19th October 1818 which 

reads copy given to Edward 

Mandale, the lessee, to be 

returned at expiration of lease. 

Scale: 4 chains to 1 inch. Size: 

56cm x 72cm. 

1818 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/57/2 
Plan of Warnel Demesne in the 

parish of Sebergham 

Plan includes the River Calder, 

and the road from Heskett to 

Warnel. Fields are numbered and 

marked with boundaries. There is 

a corresponding schedule which 

provides the names of fields and 

acreages: Orchard Gardens, 

Grassing Bottem, Calf Garth, 

Beggars Chair, Low and High 

Brow Close, North and South 

Low Grassing, North and South 

Middle Grassing, North and 

South High Grassing, Square 

Close, High Nooks, Rye Close, 

Cross Lands, Long Dales, Little, 

Low, and Great Caufless Hill, 

Hempgarth Acre, Lane, Side 

Close, Thistle Close, Whinney 

Closes, Shepherd Field, Ashes, 

Ashes Plain, Aikenhow Hill, Rays 

Close, North and South Bone 

Close, Calf Closes, North and 

South Springs, High and Low 

Rash, Church Gate, Calfhill Plain, 

Low Meadow, Langhams, 

Nichols Close, High and Low 

Holm, Bogg Close, Black Beck, 

Wood, Island, Mill Close, 

Bleachfield. There is a further 

reference table which includes the 

1796 



names of properties: Warnel Hall, 

Grassing House, High House, 

Side House, Mill, Mill House, 

and Sebergham Bridge. Scale: 4 

chai 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/57/3 Plan of Warnell Denesne 

Sketch plan which includes the 

River Caldew, Sebergahm 

Bridge, mill buildings, roads and 

pathways. Field boundaries are 

shiwn but there are no field 

names or acreages. Size: 78cm 

48cm. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/58/1 
Plan of Wharton demesne and 

parks 

Plan of the fields surrounding 

Wharton Hall. Includes the 

buildings of Wharton Hall, the 

River Eden and woodland and 

trees. Fields are all numbered and 

a corresponding table provides 

field names and acreages: The 

Low Park, Hall Crofts, Pump 

Hill, New House Park, High 

Summer Pasture, Low Summer 

Pasture, Myre Close, Hungerell, 

Soppgill, Lammer Syde, Hall 

Garden and Lane. Total acreage: 

643 acres. scale: 20 poles to 1 

inch. Size: 82cm x 73cm. 

1638 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/58/2 Plan of Wharton Hall 

Ground floor plan of Wharton 

Hall. Each room has a letter 

which is listed in a seperate 

schedule and provides details of 

the length and breadth of each 

room measured in feet as well as 

the room name: nursery, old 

chamber, blew chamber, drawing 

room, dining room, halls, pantry, 

kitchen, hall window, porch, gate 

room, chapel, and church. Scale: 

4 yards to 3 cm. Size: 83cm x 

64cm. 

undated 

[pre 1715] 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/58/3 Plan of Wharton demesne 

Surveyed by John Flintoff. Plan 

includes the River Eden, the 

buildings of Wharton Hall, road 

to Mallerstang, road to Kirkby 

Stephen, and woodland areas. All 

fields are numbered and named 

but do not show acreages: Low 

Park, Great Orchard, View Park, 

Corn Close, Pasture Brow, 

Lamerside Pasture, Heads Wood 

Pasture, Ash Bank, Mire Close, 

Hungerhill Pasture, Landry 

Bottom, Great and Little White 

Brackan, Pasture Bottom, Out 

1768 



Ring, Park Close. Size: 56cm x 

67cm. 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/59/1 

Plan of the estate of Wigton Hall 

belonging to Mrs Mawd 

Matthews 

Surveyed by Robert Harker. The 

plan shows Wigton Hall with 

block buildings, back yard, court 

yard, gardens and orchard. The 

river is marked as well as the mill 

race and road leading to Wigton. 

Fields have bounadries and are 

named: Black Burns Ellers, 

Crofts, Clarks Close, Home 

Close, High Laws, Black Burns 

High Laws, Great and Little Sour 

Flat, Little, Near and Far West 

End Field, Parkers Croft, Little 

Ellers, Kill Croft. 

1750 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/60/1 Plan of Swarthmoor Hall 

Plan includes block buildings of 

the hall, the surrounding fields, 

woodland, orchard, and the roads 

from Ulverston to Dalston and to 

Mountbarrow. All fields are 

named: Little Boushay, Bull 

Copy, Great Boushay, Great 

Deagley, Old Wife Close, and 

High Meadow. There is a 

corresponding schedule which 

details the use of each field 

(arable, woodland, or pasture), as 

well as acreage). Adjacent 

landowners include: Mr Fleming, 

Cartmel Fell Church, Benson 

Harrison and Company, and Mr 

Dean. Fields have different 

coloured boundaries: pink, blue, 

orange, and green. Size: 59cm x 

47cm. 

undated 

[18th 

century] 

DLONS/L/5/3/2/60/2 

Plan of an estate called 

Swarthmoor Hall belonging to 

Mr W L Dickinson 

Surveyed by Jonathan Stanwix. 

Plan includes Swarthmoor Hall, 

the surrounding fields, Levy 

Beck, and the roads from Dalton 

to Ulverston, to Dragley Beck, 

and to Mountbarrow. Fields are 

named, marked with acreages 

(total acreage of the estate: 103 

acres, 3 roods and 2 perches), and 

have different colour boundaries: 

Low Bridge Meadow, Barney 

Field, Great Boushay, Little and 

Great Dragley, High Meadow, 

Old Wife Close, Bull Copy, Lime 

Kiln Field, and Long Dales. 

Adjacent landowners/occupiers: 

Richard Towers, Mr Dean, Mr 

Miller, Poor of Ulverston, 

1827 



William Town, Mr Fleming, and 

Benson Harrison and Company. 

Scale: 3 chains to 1 inch. Size: 

58cm x 45cm. 

DLONS/W/10R/1/1 
Arlecdon Common enclosure 

plan 

Land divided in to plots with 

visible boundaries, acreages, and 

the names of owner/occupiers: 

David Jackson, Henry Jackson, 

Jonathan Bowman, William 

Wilson, Thomas Southward, 

Bishop of Chester, Joseph Steele, 

Agnes Armistead, Richard 

Armistead, Thomas Leathes, 

Darley Wilson, Josias Peeil, 

Jeremiah Rowling, John Skelton, 

Peter Hodgson, Jonathan Wilson, 

Bishop of Chester, Jeremy 

Danson, Thomas Mirehouse, 

William Frear, John Wood, 

Reverend Jonathan Dixon, Earl of 

Lonsdale, Andrew Spittal, 

William Dale, John Jackson, 

Abraham Little, William 

Atkinson, William Rogers, 

Thomas Hodgson, Lancelot 

Dickinson, Frances Watson, John 

Watson, William Wood, Margaret 

and William Dickinson. Adjacent 

land: Mieen, William Wood, and 

Whilli Moor Common. Scale: 4 

chains to 1 inch. Size: 71cm x 

1822 

DLONS/W/10R/1/2 
Plan of land in Arlecdon alloted 

to Salter Hall 

Includes Dub Hall Gill Quarry, 

road from Arlecdon, road to 

Asby, road to Lamplugh. There 

are 3 lots, each marked with 

acreage. Adjacent landowners 

include: Mr Jonathan Wilson, Mr 

and Mrs Watson, Mr Jackson, Mr 

P Wilson, Messrs Jackson. Size: 

49cm x 34cm. There is an 

additional tracing titled Salter 

Hall with numbered plots only. 

Scale 8 chains to 1 inch. Size: 

28cm x 34cm. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/1/3 
Tracing of a plan of Whillimoor 

and Weddiker Royalties 

Plan Weddiker Rigg, Arlecdon 

Moor, and Whillimoor Common 

showing areas of mining 

royalties. Red indicates the 

royalty is 'puffered' and green 

indicates the royalty is held by the 

surface owner. Plan includes the 

River Keekle, Walk Mill, 

Whillimoor Foot, Morley Park, 

Dub Hall, Oakdale Cottage, The 

undated 

[19th 

century] 



Parsonage, fair ground, High 

Lees, Asby, Arlecdon, Kirkland 

Howe. 

DLONS/W/10R/1/4 
Plan of Low and Middle Leys 

Estates 

Second edition OS map with 

shading and annotations: pink - 

ancient freehold lands; blue - land 

enfranchised on 8th May 1810; 

green - allotments formerly 

common lands and enclosed by 

award dated 12th July 1823. The 

centre line of any wall or fence 

seperating of the above lands 

shall be taken to be the boundary 

between the respective owners of 

the royalties underlying such 

lands. Surveyed by E Mawson, 

land agent. 

Nov 1917 

DLONS/W/10R/1/5 

Plans of Asby Estate situate in 

the parishes of Arlecdon and 

Lamplugh 

Two second edition OS maps, 

sheet LXII 14 with details of a 

memorandum. Samuel Lindow 

Burns Lindow is the owner of the 

surface of the lands edged pink 

(with attached schedule detailing 

acreages) but owner of the 

mineral rights in only certain 

parts of that land together with 

the Earl of Lonsdale. To avoid 

future disputes regarding these 

rights it has been agreed that 

Samuel Lindow Burns Lindow 

shall be the owner of 2 undivided 

third parts or shares of the mines 

and minerals and the Earl of 

Lonsdale the owner of 1 third 

part. Signatures of both parties. 

Jun 1919 

DLONS/W/10R/2/1 
Plan of Broughton, Dearham, 

and Ellenborough Commons 

Plan of common land with green 

boundary line. Includes; Cook's 

Pit, Green Gill Head, Standing 

Stone, Pealmore Tarn, Harker 

Tarn, Manksmans Cross, 

Scalegill Arm, Dyke Nook, road 

from Cockermouth to Maryport. 

Scale: 100 yards to 1 inch. 

Sep 1818 

DLONS/W/10R/2/2 
Plan of Broughton Common 

enclosure 

Plan includes the village of Little 

Broughton, Great Broughton, 

Stock Moor, Henney Gate, and 

Woodside. Individual plots are 

numbered with acreage, the name 

of the owner/occupier and the 

reason why they were allocated 

the land. Names include: George 

Whittaker, Vicar of Bridekirk, 

William Fletcher, John Pattinson, 

John Whittaker, Joseph Wilson, 

undated 

[circa 1829] 



William Wilson, Samuel Ruston, 

Earl of Egremont, Adjacent land: 

Ribton Common, Seaton 

Common, Flimby Common, 

Dearham Common, Ellenborough 

Lands. 

DLONS/W/10R/3/1 
Sketch of Mr Shaw's property at 

Bootle 

Contains detail of various becks 

and fells: Bootle Fell, Whicham 

Fell, Swinside Dale Fell, Black 

Comb, Thwaites Fell, Grass Gill 

Beck, Hen Toe Beck, White 

Comb Beck, Lodder Beck, Black 

Comb Beck, Groop Fell, 

Swinside Beck, Black Beck, 

Bootle Beck, Head of Seary Sike, 

Hunter Ford, Black Barrow Beck, 

Fleet Beck, Far End, Broom, Fell 

Side, Hall Foss, Groops, White 

Hall, Gill Fore Slack, Ballys, Mill 

Hall, Beck Side and Whole Beck. 

Mr Shaw's land : Intack, Little, 

Midle and Great Grass Holmes. 

Copied Mr Wheatley's survey, 

1768. 

1828 

DLONS/W/10R/3/2 Copy plan of Bootle Fell 

Contains detail of various becks 

and fells: Bootle Fell, Grass Gill 

Beck, Hunter Ford, Buck Barrow 

Beck, Bootle Beck, Buck Barrow 

Cragg, Fleet Beck, Stoneside, 

Little Paddy Cragg, Black Dyke, 

Swinside, Trinity Well, Thwaites 

Fell, 130 acres (bordered red) of 

disputed ground bewteen Bottle 

and Thwaites people. Land 

owners include: John Hodgson, 

John Smith of Hining House, 

John Smith of Ford House, Mr 

Sands, Thomas Whitteridge, 

Edward Ellenstone, William 

Shaw. Plots of land named: New 

Close, Brew, Brew Head, Walton 

Bottom, Fell Side Field, Cracken 

Thwaite, Calf Close, Peas Croft, 

Bley Mere, High Field, Red Hill, 

Fell Gate, Crofts, Fell Side, Great 

Grass, Little Grass, out Side. 

1828 

DLONS/W/10R/3/3 
Plan of Bootle and Waberthwaite 

Enclosure 

Manors of Bootle, and Corney 

and Middleton Place are 

seperated by a red boundary line. 

Plan aslo includes the 

Whitehaven and Furness Junction 

Railway, the River Esk, parish of 

Muncaster, various carriage, drift 

and occupation roads, Hassocks 

1869 



Road, Gatecote Tarn, Brighouise 

in the parish of Muncaster, road 

from Ravenglass, road to Bootle, 

White Beck Bridge, Bootle 

Tileworks, Irish Sea and 

Eskmeals Station. Based on an 

OS map, scale 25 inches to 1 

mile. 

DLONS/W/10R/4/1 

Plan of the Manor of Calder in 

the several parishes of St John's, 

Ponsonby, Gosforth, Haile and 

St Bees 

Surveyed by John Howard. Land 

shaded pink and bordered 

represents land belonging to the 

Earl of LonsdaleMajority of fields 

are named and show acreage: Inn 

Meadow, Park, High Moulton, 

Low Moulton Knotts, Sturds, 

Cow Pasture, High Ruff Field, 

Low Ruff Field, Little Field, Cow 

Pasture, High Meadow, North and 

South Low Meadows, High 

Holm, New Close, Far Field, 

Holm, Pound Close, Kemp Garth, 

North Meadow, South Meadow, 

High Field, North and South 

Flasco, High and Low Wood, Inn 

Field, Hawarth Lees, Moor Ing, 

Blagland, Near and Far Leefield, 

Broad Grass Head, Moorhow, 

Corn Close, Croft, Park, Hill, 

Calf Close, New Close, North and 

South Moor Close, New House 

Croft, Long Ing, Long Dale 

Bolton, Low Field, Middle Field, 

High Park, High Abbot Croft, 

Low Abbot Croft, Low Park, 

High and Low Intack, High and 

Low Croft, Low and High 

Whinns, Thompsons Lees, Wood 

Tops, Farr Field, High Wood, 

Great Wood, House Field, 

Broughton Holm, High, middle 

and Low Tip Braids, High, 

Middle and Low Meadow, High 

Leas, South Leas, North Le 

1793 

DLONS/W/10R/5/1 
Plan of the Township of 

Camerton 

Surveyed by W Graythorn. All 

plots of land are numbered but no 

corresponding schedule to detail 

acreages, land use, field names or 

the names of owner/occupiers. 

Some buildings are coloured red 

and include Camerton Hall, 

Camerton Far, Green Gill Pitt, 

Sarah and Frances Pitts. Plan 

includes the River Derwent, 

Holden Wood Beck, and the road 

to Flimby. Size: 90cm x 77cm. 

1841 



DLONS/W/10R/6/1 Montreal Estate, Cleator Moor 

Variety of second edition 

ordnance survey maps showing 

the Montreal Estate. Plan 1 shows 

the estate divided in to 7 lots, 

each lot shaded a different colour 

but with no accompanying 

schedule to ecplain the scheme, 

August 1916. Plan 2 shows 4 

distinct areas: area 1 shaded pink 

denotes land held in iron ore and 

coal leases; area 2 edged and 

hatched in grey denotes land held 

in coal lease; area 3 edged and 

hatched grey and yellow is land 

held in joint coal leases; area 4 

edged pink denotes land that is 

not held in Messrs. Parkins' 

Royalty, August 1916. A third 

plan shows parts of the estate 

shaded in green, pink and grey 

but with no accompanying 

schedule to explain the scheme, 

undated. Two further plans 

showing pole lines. 

1916 

DLONS/W/10R/6/2 
Cleator Moor Brewing Company 

Limited 

Plan showing proposed 

alterations and additions to the 

Ships Launch Inn, Egremont. 

Includes a ground floor plan and 

3 sections. Drawn by R R 

Cornforth for Messrs. Jennings 

Brewery. Proposed alterations to 

Commercial Hotel for Cleator 

Moor Brewing Company Limited. 

Includes a ground floor plan and a 

section. Copy letter to Mr Calder 

of the Cleator Moor Brewing 

Company Limited regarding 

alterations to the Dukes Head, 

Bridgefoot. 

Mar 1941 

DLONS/W/10R/7/1 
Cockermouth and Workington 

Water 

Plans and sections of intended 

works, schedule of land, and 

parliamentary bill. 

1878 

DLONS/W/10R/7/2 Plan of Cockermouth Moor 

Plan showing individial plots of 

land surrounding the town of 

Cockermouth. All plost include 

acreage and the names of some 

landowners including: Andrew 

Green, Jeremiah Spencer, Joseph 

Steel, John Pingney, Mr Wood, 

John Stoddard, Major Senhouse, 

William Rudd, Lancaster 

Dodgson, William Procter, 

Richard Benson, Miss France, 

and Mrs Wheatley. Plan shows 

undated 

[19th 

century] 



the Rivers Cocker and Derwent, 

roads from Brigham, Lorton, 

Eaglesfield, and Lamplugh to 

Cockerrmouth, the workhouse, 

tannery, wood mill, and Rubby 

Banks Mill. 

DLONS/W/10R/7/3 

Plan of Reverend John Benson's 

and Lord Egremont's common 

near Cockermouth 

Plan shows the neighbouring 

commons of Embleton and 

Setmurthy, the road from 

Cockermouth leading on to the 

old road to Bassenthwaite, and 

the road through Embleton and 

Bassenthwaite to Keswick. Scale: 

3 chains to 1 inch. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/8/1 West Cumberland 

Two ordnance survey maps of 

West Cumberland (sheets 53 and 

54). Areas shaded pink with 

names of land owners/occupiers 

annotated on plan. Names 

include: Messrs. Lindow, 

Reverend J Sewthwaite, J Sewell, 

S Doddson, J Atkinson, J Watson, 

W Dickinson, C Mossop, D 

Rogers, T Dixon, Late J L Raper, 

Lord Leconfield, Mr Dickinson, P 

Dodgson, Miss Falcon, Rector of 

Dean, J Sumpton, Mer Harrison, 

Salkeld and Mossop, Reverend J 

H Dixon, H T Tandy, Reverend 

Dalton, Stanley Dodgson, G 

Bowman, Lord Lonsdale, J 

Graham, J Wood, J Jenkinson, 

Mrs Davidson, J Benn, Misses 

Dickensen, Mr Ainsworth, Mrs 

Rawling, H Kitchen, Reverend 

Jonlkes, Miss Simon, T Willan, J 

Brandthwaite. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/8/2 

Geological map showing 

minerals in Cumberland, 

Westmorland and Lancashire 

North of the Sands 

Minerals include gypsum, azoic 

schist, yellow sandstone, 

millstone grit, carboniferous 

limestone, magnesium limestone, 

protozoic limestone, coal 

measures, new and old red 

sandstone, limestone shale, and 

basalt. 

1852 

DLONS/W/10R/9/1 
Plan of Ennerdale Dale 

allotments, Dean 

Annotated 3rd edition ordnance 

survey map. 
1925 

DLONS/W/10R/10/1 Plan of Dearham royalties 

Plan showing royalties belonging 

to George Carruthers, the Earl of 

Lonsdale and D B Dykes. Plan 

also includes the road to Gilcrux, 

a mill, Ron Beck, Dunglinson's 

Pit, Steel and Company Pit, 

various block buildings and 

1840 



woodland areas. Scale: 25 inches 

to 1 mile. 

DLONS/W/10R/10/2 Plan of Rosegill royalties 

Plan and tracing based on first 

edition ordnance survey sheets 

XLV 2 and 3. Area shaded pink 

represents the Rosegill Royalty. 

Also includes the River Ellen, 

Maryport Carlisle Railway, 

Derwent Branch Railway. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/10/3 Plans of Dearham royalties 

Plans with various parcels of land 

shaded blue. These are all marked 

as free[hold]. Plan A includes 

Harker, Sepulchre Beck, 

Lonsdale Place, railway line from 

Broughton Colliery to Dearham 

Bridge, Blooming Heather, 

Moorside, Colliery Row, and 

Hayborough. Plan B includes 

Maryport and Carlisle Railwy, 

River Ellen, Dearham Mill, Gill 

Beck, Kirkborough. Main 

landowners identified as Lord 

Lonsdale, Whitmore land under 

Senhouse and Dean and Chapter. 

1872 

DLONS/W/10R/10/4 Plans of Dearham royalties 

Two plans of Dearham Manor 

with numbered plots of land. the 

plans are accompanied by a 

schedule detailing the acreage of 

each plot and a summary of total 

holdings respectively by Lord 

Lonsdale and Senhouse, Dean 

and Chapter, Whitmore land 

under Senhouse, and ancient 

freehold (shaded green). Plan A 

includes Harker, Blooming 

Heather, Colliery Row, and 

Hayborough. Plan B includes 

Hayborough and Kirkborough. 

1872 

DLONS/W/10R/10/5 Draft plans of Dearham royalties 

Two second edition ordnance 

survey maps showing areas of 

land distinguished by being edged 

in red, and coloured red, blue, and 

purple. The draft plans have 

annotations in pencil which 

suggest royalties held by the 

Dean and Chapter, Lord 

Lonsdale, Curwen and Senhouse 

families. There is a seperate 

schedule with a list of tenants 

who hold land by customary 

indenture the terms of which can 

be found in an extract from 

enfranchisement dated 2nd 

August 1832 from William Earl 

undated 

[early 20th 

century] 



of Lonsdale to John Bell of 

Ellenborough. 

DLONS/W/10R/10/6 Plan of Dearham royalties 

Second edition ordnance survey 

map showing the location of 

royalties. Relevant areas have a 

pink outline. Some plots are 

numbered and some are shaded 

grey. There is no corresponding 

schedule to indicate land 

occupation/ownership. 

1906 

DLONS/W/10R/10/7 

Plans and schedule of lands in 

the Parish of Dearham held by 

the Dean and Chapter of Carlisle 

as a parcel of the Manor of 

Lorton 

Four second edition ordnance 

survey maps showing areas of 

land distinguished by being 

coloured or edged in red. Each 

map is signed by Anthony Nichol 

Bowman, Clerk to the Dean and 

Chapter of Carlisle and Steward 

to the Manor of Lorton; and 

James Gibson Dees, Agent to the 

Earl of Lonsdale. Land 

owners/occupiers included in the 

schedule: Joseph Christopherson, 

Sir Henry Fletcher (Raw Hall 

Estate), Jonathan Lawson, Joseph 

Peat, Philip Nelson, Maryport and 

Carlisle Railway Company, Ann 

Wilson, John Wilson, Jeremiah 

Wilson, and Peter Winder. 

Jun 1908 

DLONS/W/10R/11/1 
Plans of Distington Limestone 

Quarry 

Two identical plans showing rock 

excavated adjoining Lord 

Lonsdale's royalty from 

November 30th 1878 to June 1st 

1888. Plans show location of 3 

royalties: Walker''s Trustees 

Royalty, Lord Lonsdale's 

Royalty, and Glebe Royalty. 

There is a footnote stating that 

limestone rock excavated from 

Glebe Royalty is equivalent to 84, 

591 tons. Surveyed by Pickering 

and Crompton, Whitehaven. 

Scale: 20 feet to 1 inch. 

1888 

DLONS/W/10R/11/2 

Plans of the Globe Hotel, 

Distington for the Cleator Moor 

Brewery Company 

Three architectural plans: 1) 

Existing ground floor; 2) 

proposed alterations to the ground 

floor; 3) ground and first floor 

plans (existing and with 

alterations) as well as front and 

side elevations. Scale: 8 feet to 1 

inch. 

circa 1940 

DLONS/W/10R/11/3 

Plan of the common and waste 

land within the Manor of 

Distington 

Plan showing land divided and 

alloted by the Commissioners 

appointed by Act of Parliament. 

Individual plots of land marked 

1767-1768 



showing acreage and the name of 

the owner/occupier: Thomas 

Simpson, Sir James Lowther, Sir 

Gilfred Lawson, L Crosthwaite, 

James Cragg, Mary Wilkinson, 

Jonathan Rudd, Jonathan 

Grayson, James Scott, Ann 

Crosthwaite, William Hewitt, 

Jonathan Fearon, James Gilliat, 

Anthony Watkins, Peter Gale, 

Thomas Hudson, John Cowman, 

Anthony Hodgson, Edward 

Wells, Richard Harrison, William 

Studdard, William Dickinson, 

John Crosthwaite, Elston 

Cowman, Fawcett Troughter, 

Isaac Stephenson, John and Mary 

Frears, John Allason, John Fisher, 

Joseph Fisher, Isaac Grayson, 

Elizabeth Grayson, Benjamin 

Gilliat, John Rudd, Anthony 

Walker, John and William 

Dickinson, Ephraim Banks, 

George Blakeney, Caleb Fell, 

Thomas Waite, Benjamin Banks, 

Anthony Priestman, John Dixon, 

John Fearson, Joseph Barwise, 

Anthony Dickinson. There are 2 

insets. First a plan of Lowca 

Moor with the following named 

owners/occupiers: John Cros 

DLONS/W/10R/12/1 
Plans of Snekyeat Farmhouse, 

Eaglesfield 

Pencil drawings detailing various 

parts of the building architecture 

including: roof chineys and 

elevation of stack; eaves, 

spouting and gabels to the main 

roof; window jambs, heads and 

sills; plansd and elevations of the 

front porch. 

circa 1897 

DLONS/W/10R/13/1 

Plan of proposed alterations and 

additions to the Ships Launch 

Inn, Egremont 

Drawn by R Cornforth, Architect 

for Messrs Jennings Brewery. 

Includes ground floor plan and 

sections. 

1941 

DLONS/W/10R/13/2 

A survey of the several 

customary tenements within the 

parish of Egremont held under 

Mr Gale 

Thwe rivers and green and yellow 

line circumventing the plan show 

the parish border. A computation 

of some of the common land; 

Bigrigg Moor, Starkald Common, 

Spring Lane, Long Moor and 

Green Moor equates to 252 acres. 

The names of other 

owner/occupiers identified in a 

schedule but corresponding to 

plots of land shaded blue: Daniel 

undated 

[late 18th 

century] 



Dixon, Mrs Senhouse, Anthony 

Grayson Tailor, Thomas 

Nicholson, James Scott, Mr 

Parker, William Barwise, John 

Bragg Maltster, Joseph Tyson, 

Thomas Benson, Henry Dixon, 

William Pearson, Bragg Butcher, 

John Grayson, Thomas Dixon, 

William Nicholson, William 

Gaitskill. 

DLONS/W/10R/13/3 
Plan of Snellings Mire and 

Harper Moor Enclosure 

A working plan of allotments. 

Plots numbered 1-40 with 

acreages. 

undated 

[18th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/13/4 
Tracing from plan of lands near 

Moor Row, Egremont 

Plan details numbered plots of 

land with acreages. Field names 

are listed in 2 schedules. Mr 

Hartley's Farm: House and 

garden, maedow, Near Moor, Far 

Moor, Back Croft, White Croft, 

Jockey Dale, Low Gutterby, 

South and North Gutterby, Dods 

Close, High Oldster, Low 

Oldster, Blackmire. Mr Benson's 

Farm: House and garden, 

meadow, near Moor, Far Moor, 

High Moor, Back Croft, White 

Croft, Three Nook Close, 

Sepulchre Field, Dods Close. 

Scale: 2 chains to 1 inch. 

1737 

DLONS/W/10R/14/1 Plans of Embleton Common 

Four plans showing the division 

of Embleton Common into plots 

which include the name of the 

owner/occupier and acreage.   

Plan 1: Robert Storey, Mary 

Fearon, John Turnbull, Thomas 

Fearon, john Thompson, Henry 

Fisher, John Bolton, William 

Winder.   Plan 2: William Rudd, 

Reverend Jiohn Benson, Robert 

Benson, John Newlands, Pearson 

Morrison, Ann Sutton, Joseph 

Fisher. Plan also includes quarry 

land, the road from Cockermouth 

to Keswick, and the Cokermouth 

boundary.   Plan 3: Earl of 

Egremont, Embleton Church, 

James Fisher, William Winder, 

William Thompson, John 

Hodgson, Pearson Morrison, 

Richard Dawson, John Wilson, 

Joseph Clark, Reverend Simpson, 

John Irving, John Rothery, Mary 

Steele, George Rook, John 

Yeowart. Plan also includes 

1828 



ancient enclosures, quarry land, 

Stanley Hall, the road from 

Cockermouth to Keswick and the 

Embleton and Setmurthy 

boundary.   Plan 4: John Rook, 

Mr Rudd, Allinson Crosthwaite, 

Wilfred Carter, John Dawson, 

John Hutchinson, John Peile, 

Isaac Thompson, Anabaptists, 

Robert Benson, Walte 

DLONS/W/10R/14/2 
Plan of Beckbank Estate 

belonging to John Westray 

Plan includes the road from 

Peilwike to Wythop Mill, the road 

from Wythop to Cockermouth, 

block buildings, and surrounding 

fields with a red border. Field 

names include: Birkett Mire, 

High Croft, Far Fleet Banks, High 

Meadow, Near Fleet Banks, 

Wedger Close, Smill Dales, 

Peatmire, Great Cap Mire, Little 

Cap Mire, and Burns. There is a 

corresponding schedule which 

lists and totals the acreage of ech 

plot. Scale: 4 chains to 1 inch. 

1829 

DLONS/W/10R/15/1 

Plan of John Bowman's 

customery lands held in the 

Township of Ennerdale to be 

enfranchised 

The estate is shaded pink and all 

plots are numbered and assigned 

a quantity [value] in a 

corresponding schedule. 

1893 

DLONS/W/10R/15/2 
Plans of allotments in Ennerdale 

Fell 

Four plans showing land in 

Ennerdale Fell. Plan 1 provides 

an overview of the area with land 

to the south and south west of 

Ennerdale Lake shaded pink with 

a pink border and yellow. Land to 

the north and south east of the 

lake is shaded pink but without a 

pink border. This area is sub-

divided and some areas are 

detailed in further plans. Plan A 

covers the area Great Gable, 

Brandreth, Kirk Fell and Hay 

Stacks. Plot 64 contains 1256 

acres and 1/14th part of the 

residue of this land is to be 

enclosed in right and interest in 

the soil. Plan B covers the area 

High Stile, High Crag, Scarth 

Gap, Pillar, Proud Knott, and 

White Pike. Plot 63 contains 1460 

acres and is claimed for houses 

and land in the parish of 

Lamplugh, amounting to 695 

acres, namely Stock Moor Hall. 

There is an additional instruction 

1863 



to fence the west side of allotment 

63 against allotments 62 and 65. 

Plan C covers the area Banna 

Fell, White Oak, Gavel Fell, and 

Crossdale. This plan includes a 

schedule of allotments in lieu of 

tithes and tells us 

DLONS/W/10R/16/1 

Plan showing Royalties abutting 

upon the high water mark, 

Flimby 

Six inch Ordnance Survey sheet 

showing the location of Royalties 

which have been shaded in colour 

to denote ownership. The Earl of 

Lonsdale shaded yellow, Mr 

Curwen shaded blue, Mr Walker 

shaded red, Mr Senhouse shaded 

orange, and unknown shaded 

grey. 

1907 

DLONS/W/10R/16/2 

Plan showing landowners whose 

land abuts upon the high water 

mark, Flimby 

Six inch Ordnance Survey sheet 

showing land ownership. The 

Earl of Lonsdale's land is shaded 

yellow, Mr Curwen's land is 

shaded blue, Mr Walker's land is 

shaded red, Mr Senhouse's land is 

shaded green, and land belonging 

to Mr Twentyman and otghers is 

shaded grey. 

1908 

DLONS/W/10R/16/3 
Plans of woodland areas at 

Whitecroft, Flimby 

Coloured plans showing 

woodland areas, tree felling 

activity (oak and ash) and 

ownership of land and hedges. 

Plan one (2): The red dots denote 

oak trees cut by Mr Allanby. The 

black dots denote ash trees cut by 

Mr Allanby. The blue dots denote 

ash trees growing in the hedges. 

The hedge coloured brown 

belongs to Sir James Lowther. 

Plan two (2): The red dots denote 

oak trees cut past season by Mr 

Alloaby. The black dots denote 

oak trees cut at different times by 

Robert Twentyman. The blue dots 

denote oak trees in the hedge cut 

some time ago by Jonathan 

Hitchinson and purchased from 

him by Mr Allonby. The hedge 

coloured red belongs to Mr Craik. 

The hedge coloured yellow 

belongs to Mr Allanby. The cross 

symbol appearing in fields 

belonging to Iona Bowman 

denote the presence of Mear 

Stones. 

undated 

[circa 1800] 



DLONS/W/10R/16/4 
Plan of land exchanged between 

Mr Wilson and Lord Lonsdale 

Tracing of 25 inch Ordnance 

Survey map, showing plots of 

land owned by Mr Wilson (plots 

61, 64, 82, 85) and Lord Lonsdale 

58, 61, 84). There is an attached 

draft memo which incudes 

acreages of each plot and a 

description of the land. There is 

also a note which states that plot 

61 was acquired by Lord 

Lonsdale from Mr Senhouse by 

exchange. The plan also shows 

Risedale Beck, Flimby Cottage, 

New House, Scot's View, and the 

road from Flimby to Maryport. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/16/5 Plan of Flimby enclosure 

Plan of the enclosed lands with an 

accomanying schedule. Each plot 

is numbered and the schedule 

provides information about the 

nature of the land, and the 

acreage of each plot. There is a 

likst of the main claimants: Earl 

of Lonsdale, J Curwen, Mr 

Alonby, Miss Craik, Mr 

Twentyman, H Senhouse, Mary 

Blailock, Mr Bowman, Mr Fell, J 

Hayton, Mr Brown, and the 

Church. Dwelling houses are also 

marked with owners/occupiers 

named: Sarah Smith, Reverend 

William Mawson, Mary Allan, J 

Paitson, M Wilkinson, E 

Wilkinson, Metty M Cune, Miss 

Wilkinson, Jonathan Wilkinson, 

John Scurr, Gibson, John Bell, 

Thomas Dodgson, Mary Addison, 

Jane Wilson, Mr Inman, Martha 

Messenger, Mr Tate, Mrs Craggs, 

Joseph Archibald. 

Sep 1850 

DLONS/W/10R/17/1 
Plan of common and waste lands 

in the Manor of Flimby 

Three plans (2 draft versions) 

showing the enclosure of land in 

Flimby. Each plot of land is 

numbered, shows the acreage, and 

the name of the owner/occupier. 

Names include: Heirs of H 

Jackson (by purchase from the 

commissioners), Lord Lonsdale 

( Lord of the Manor), John 

Bowman, John Fletcher, Ann 

Brocklebank, Lord Bishop of 

Chester, John Yeats, John Bragg, 

Sir Frederick Fletcher Vane, 

Joseph Steel, William Madders, 

Mr Beeby, Thomas Dixon, 

Thomas Southward, William 

1805-1806 



Foster, Hannah Steel, Isaac 

Dixon, John Piper, Dinah 

Towerson, Thomas Sanderson, 

Joshua Southward. The final 

version has 2 keys. One to show 

the location of public quarries and 

public watering places. The 

second shows the location of 

various public and occupation 

roads including: road from 

Egremont to Arlecdon, road to 

Kill Yeat, road from Arlecdon to 

to Whitehaven, road from 

Arlecdon to Hoggate, Cringle Gill 

Road, Foulmart Hill Road, 

Kirskela Road, Kirskela Dyke 

Road, Dyke Nook and Yeathouse 

Road, Winder Road, Mowbray 

and Lanchey Road, Frizington 

DLONS/W/10R/17/2 
Plans showing Frizington, 

Bowthorn and Lowhouse Mill 

Three second edition ordnance 

survey maps, annotated to show 

the Hartley and Mitchell Dawson 

Royalties as well as areas that 

have been subject to drainage and 

irrigation. 

undated 

[circa 1900] 

DLONS/W/10R/18/1 Gilgarran 

Three National Grid maps 

detailing plots of land 

surrounding the village of 

Gilgarran. The plots have been 

highlighted and shaded in various 

colours with some pencil 

annotations including numbers. 

There is no corresponding 

schedule. 

undated 

[circa 1950] 

DLONS/W/10R/20/1 Plan of Hallsanton Farm 

Plan of farm for Mr Gaitskell, 

including annotations to identify 

the prupose of various buildings: 

gin, stable, fodder gang, ox stalls, 

byre, bull house, implement shed. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/21/1 
Plan of fireclay workings, 

Harrington 

Coloured plan detailing the high 

and low water marks at Spring 

tides, Whitehaven Junction 

Railway, old tramway, Andrew's 

Gill, Micklam Pit, Cunning 

Wood, and the workings of the 

fireclay mine. 

undated 

[circa 1870] 

DLONS/W/10R/21/2 Street plans of Harrington 

Plan for Harrington Urban 

District Council.for making up 

Archer Street, including a cross 

section of the road. Scale 6 feet to 

1 inch. Surveyed by J Shackley. 

Two identical plans showing 

sections for proposed street 

improvements in Harrington: 

1900 



Henry Street from Quat Street, 

Christian Street from Quay Street, 

Stanley Street and Stanley 

Square, Edie Street, through from 

Bridge along Quay Street, 

through William Street, end of 

Quay Street, though Lime Road 

and Church Road, through Station 

Street, through Ellarbank and the 

top of Church Road, through 

Moorclose Road. Surveyed by C 

W Eaglesfield. Scale: 8 feet to 1 

inch. 

DLONS/W/10R/22/1 
Plan showing the division of 

Kelton and Winder Commons 

Plan showing individual plots of 

land which are numbered and 

show acreage and the name of 

each owner/occupier: Trustees of 

D Dickinson, Thomas Bowman, 

John Dixon, Thomas Furnass, 

John Irving, Thomas Mirehouse, J 

Jackson Gill, I Mirehouse, Sarah 

Sealby, Reverend T Harrison, 

John Skelton, H Frears, William 

Fears, William Peile, Thomas 

Hodgson, Jeremiah Rowling, Earl 

of Lonsdale, John Jackson, John 

Wood. There is a seperate 

schedule detailing the acreage 

against each plot number. 

1822 

DLONS/W/10R/22/2 
Rowrah and Kelton Fell Mineral 

Railway plans and sections 

Surveyed by William Turner and 

Strongitharm. 
1873 

DLONS/W/10R/22/3 Kelton Limstone Royalty 

A 6 inch Ordnance Survey map 

showing the royalty (shaded 

yellow). A further plan showing 

the area in further detail including 

the quarry and lime kiln which 

covers an area of approximately 

27 acres. There is an 

accompanying memo from 

Whitehaven Castle which 

suggests that Mr Simpson is to 

have first refusal subject to 

certain conditions yet to be 

agreed. There will be no further 

action until the rates charged by 

the Rowrah and Kelton Fell 

Railway for carriage to 

Harrington have been confirmed. 

1889 

DLONS/W/10R/23/1 
Plans for a proposed bungalow 

for Mrs J M Harris, Keswick 

Two colour plans on tracing 

paper detailing the floor plan and 

elevation of a 3 bedroom 

bungalow. 

1940 

DLONS/W/10R/24/1 
Draft survey of the roads from 

Lamplugh Hall to 

Survey includes the villages of 

Dean, Branthwaite, Mockerkin, 
undated 



Wythmoresough leading to 

Workington and to Livision Gate 

leading to Whitehaven 

Ullock, and Lamplugh; and the 

commons of Arlecdon, 

Distington, and Dean. Scale: 80 

chains to 1 mile. 

DLONS/W/10R/25/1 
Plan of the proposed alterations 

and additions to Hall Cat, Lowca 

Property of J A Alexander. 

Includes a ground plan, chamber 

plan, south and west elevations, 

and sections. 

1896 

DLONS/W/10R/26/1 
Plans and sections of the 

Maryport and Carlisle Railway 

Includes 2 maps showing the 

railway's junction with the 

Newcastle and Carlisle Railway 

and a report to help raise capital 

to fund the build. 

circa 1835 

DLONS/W/10R/26/2 

Plans of the Ellenborough 

Housing Scheme, Maryport for 

the North East Housing 

Association Limited 

Includes cross sections and details 

of roads, details of manholes, 

layout of roads and sewers. 

1940 

DLONS/W/10R/27/1 Plan of Millom Sands 

Plan shows river embankments, 

brook diversions and drains along 

part of the River Duddon, New 

Marsh, Old Marsh, Dunner 

Holme, roads to Broughton, to 

Ulverston and from Ravenglass. 

undated 

[18th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/27/2 

Plan showing the allocation of 

allotments following the 

enclosure of the common land on 

Arnaby Marsh and Powe House 

Bank 

Plan includes the River Duddon, 

the embankment erected by the 

Earl of Lonsdale, the border with 

Lancashire, and Millom Park. 

Plots of land are shaded in colour 

to denote ownership. There is a 

schedule with 3 columns. 1) 

Names of proprietors: Earl of 

Lonsdale, John Lewthwaite, 

Reverend Mr Myers, John Myers, 

Mr Amthony Cragg, Mr George 

Postlethwaite, Reverend Mr 

Brocklebank, Mr John Lowther, 

Mr William Walker, Mr William 

Hodgson, Mr John Hunter, 

William Hunter's heirs, Reverend 

Mr Kitchen, George and John 

Wylde, Mr William Stable, 

Messrs Anthony Shepherd (Junior 

and Senior), Reverend Mr 

Borrowdale, Mr Thomas Kirby's 

heirs, Mr John Matson, Mr 

Samuel Clementson, Reverend 

Mr Bolton, Mr Robert Atkinson, 

Mr Thomas Whennarah, Mr 

Matthew Coward, Mr John 

Danson, Ulpha Chapel, Mr 

William Noble, Vicar of Millom, 

Mr Robert Greenwood, Mr John 

Grice, Mr Robert Troughton, 

Widow Troughton, Mr Robert 

1832 



Bell, Mr J Dobson, Mr J Jackson, 

Mr Ferd Hunter, Mr Robert 

Askew, Han Grardner, William 

Troughton, John Myers, Henry 

Kendall, 

DLONS/W/10R/27/3 

Tithe awards and plans for 

Upper Millom, Lower Millom, 

Thwaites and Ulpha 

 1850 

DLONS/W/10R/27/4 

Plans of proposed cottages 

arranged in blocks of 4 for the 

Hodbarrow Mining Company 

Includes groubnd plans, 

elevations and cross sections. 

Scale: 8 feet to 1 inch. 

1871 

DLONS/W/10R/27/5 

Plan and award for the exchange 

of glebe land between Lord 

Lonsdale and the Vicar of 

Millom 

A schedule details the acreage of 

the 3 plots: Vicarage Meadow, 

Great Cross Field, and Cragg 

Field. 

1872 

DLONS/W/10R/27/6 
Plan of land belonging to the 

Hodbarrow Mining Company 

Plan has been shaded to denote 

ownership of land. The area 

shaded red is land belonging to 

the Earl of Lonsdale. The area 

shaded yellow is Steel Green 

Mains, the area shaded green is 

Steel Green Estate, the area 

shaded blue is Whitriggs Close 

Estate, and the area shaded brown 

is Oxenbows Estate. The estate 

belongs to the Hodbarrow Mining 

Company. The plan also includes 

the sea embankment, high water 

mark, Red Hills Limestone 

Quarry, the old road from the 

shore to Millom, Whitriggs Close, 

Haverigg Pool, Concrete Square, 

Haverigg, Hodbarrow Farm 

House, Steel Green Farm House, 

light house, Annie Lowther Pit, 

Office Pit, Barratt Pitt, Arnold 

Pit, Turner Pit, Jackson Pit, No.1 

Pit, Rock Pit and William 

Bradley's Brick Yard. Scale: 

25.34 inches to 1 mile. There is 

an appendix which describes the 

geological makeup of the area 

and discusses magnetic surveys. 

1886 

DLONS/W/10R/28/1 
Proposed allocation of land for 

new farms at Mockerkin 

Two tracings showing plots of 

land that have been numbered and 

shaded. Green - Mr Wright's 

Farm, Brown - Low Farm, and 

pink - Mr Wren's Farm. There are 

also 3 annotated first edition 

ordnance survey maps which 

detail the field names that have 

been allocated to the 3 farms. 

Names include: Holedale Pasture, 

Oak Bank, Far Tarn Banks, Near 

undated 

[circa 1865] 



Tarn Banks, Far Wet Broom, 

Brisco Brow, Beck Snary, 

Dancing Pasture, High Ing, 

Middle Pasture, Smithy Pasture, 

pasture Gate, Near and Far 

Thorrow, Low and High 

Thorrow, Rough Pasture, Middle 

Pasture, Far Pasture, High and 

Low Pasture, Green Gate, Long 

Pasture, Old Pasture, Warkness, 

Lamb Garth, Far Close, Warkness 

Ing, Near Wet Broom, Tarn 

Meadow, Green Dyke, Little Oak 

Close, Tom Close, Kiln Dale, 

Great Oak Close, Broad Ing, 

Croft Dale, Near Mockerkin, 

Badgeletter, Low and High New 

Close, Stubs, Greystone Rigg, 

Honey Pot, Hempet How, Back 

Bramray, Far Bramray, Crroks, 

Crook Mires. 

DLONS/W/10R/29/1 

Plan of that part of Moresby 

Common alloted to the 

parishoners of Moresby 

Individual plots contain a letter, 

the name of the owner/occupier 

and the acreage. This information 

is summarised in a schedule. 

Names include: Reverend C 

Huddleston, Reverend William 

Watts, Mr Peter Gale, Mr John 

Steel, Richard Piper, Jane 

Grayson, William Dickinson, 

Henry Jackson, Joseph Fisher, 

Terrence MacDonald, Anthony 

Benn, Miss Martha Dudley, Isaac 

Stephenson, Allen Wilson, 

Thomas Hartley, Musgrove 

Briscoe, Japhat Winder, William 

Whinneray, Edward Lund, 

Martha Dudley, Mary Taylor, 

Elizabeth Simpson, Elinor 

Dickinson, William Kilner, 

Anthony Hodgson, William 

Allison, Mary Walker, Henry 

Ivison, Richard Bowman. Plan 

also includes the public road 

leading from Distington towards 

Egremont, road to Keekle from 

Moresby, cross road between 

Egremont Road and the Pinfold 

Road, Pinfold Road leading from 

Went Head to Lilly Banks, Farm 

Lands Road, road from Aikbank 

Gate to Westhead, road to the 

public moss, ground left for a 

road from Lanchey Gill through 

1763 



the ground alotted to Anthony 

Benn in to the ground approp 

DLONS/W/10R/29/2 Plans of Rosehill Estate 

Plan 1) Based on Ordnance 

Survey map, scale 6 inches to 1 

mile. Plan includes 16 seperate 

lots which have either a coloured 

border or have been shaded. 

Block buildings have been 

coloured red with the following 

properties named: Summer Hill, 

Bonny, Farmlands, Gillhead, 

Tivoli, Rose Hill, Millgrove, 

High Commongate, Moresby 

House, Roseneath, The High, and 

Towlow. Land owners include: 

Earl of Lonsdale, Joseph Dalzell, 

William Burnyeat, and Mrs 

Graham. The road from 

Whitehaven to Cockermouth, the 

road from Hensingham to 

Distington, and the Cleator and 

Junction Railway are marked.   

Plan 2) Based on Ordnance 

Survey map, scale 25 inches to 1 

mile. Plan includes 13 seperate 

lots which have either a coloured 

border or have been shaded. 

Block buildings have been 

coloured red with the following 

properties named: Summer Hill, 

Farmlands, Gillhead, Tivoli, Rose 

Hill, and Towlow. Land owners 

include: Earl of Lonsdale, Joseph 

Dalzell, William Burnyeat, and 

Mrs Graham. The road from 

Hensingham to Distington, and 

the Cleato 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/29/3 Plan of Moresby Common 

Plan includes Moresby Common, 

Preston Common, Sands Closes, 

and Round Close, with a schedule 

to confirm the aceage of each 

area, boundary lines between 

Distington and Moresby 

Commons and Moresby and 

Preston Commons, River Keekle, 

Castle Rig Pit, Water Gin Pit, and 

adjacent landowners. Scale 8 

chains to 1 inch. 

undated 

[18th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/29/4 
Plan of Millgrove Estate, 

Moresby 

Plan detailing land belonging to 

the estate, shaded green with a 

darker green border. Further 

annotations in red which denote 

any areas of fencing belongong to 

the estate. Block buildings are 

1881 



shaded pink and include 

Gillbrow, Millgrove, Towlow, 

Greengate, Roseneath, 

Goosegreen, and Moresby Pit. 

Roads and drive ways are shown 

as well as woodland. Scale 50.7 

inches to 1 mile. 

DLONS/W/10R/29/5 

Plan of that part of Moresby 

Common alloted to the 

parishoners of Moresby 

Individual plots contain the name 

of the owner/occupier and the 

acreage. Names include: 

Reverend C Huddleston, 

Reverend William Watts, Mr 

Peter Gale, Mr John Steel, 

Richard Piper, Jane Grayson, 

William Dickinson, Henry 

Jackson, Joseph Fisher, Terrence 

MacDonald, Anthony Benn, Miss 

Martha Dudley, Isaac 

Stephenson, Allen Wilson, 

Thomas Hartley, Musgrove 

Briscoe, Japhat Winder, William 

Whinneray, Edward Lund, 

Martha Dudley, Mary Taylor, 

Elizabeth Simpson, Elinor 

Dickinson, William Kilner, 

Anthony Hodgson, William 

Allison, Mary Walker, Henry 

Ivison, Richard Bowman. Plan 

also includes the public road 

leading from Distington towards 

Egremont, road to Keekle from 

Moresby, cross road between 

Egremont Road and the Pinfold 

Road, Pinfold Road leading from 

Went Head to Lilly Banks, Farm 

Lands Road, road from Aikbank 

Gate to Westhead, road to the 

public moss, ground left for a 

road from Lanchey Gill through 

the ground alotted to Anthony 

Benn in to the ground 

appropriated to Sir James 

Lowther. There is an inset table 

whi 

1763 

DLONS/W/10R/29/6 Plan of Rosehill Estate 

Royalty belonging to Mr Gilfred 

William Hartley is shaded pink. 

Adjacent owners include the Earl 

of Lonsdale, Mr John Hartley, 

and Mr Harriman. Block 

buildings have been coloured red 

and include Farm Lands, Rose 

Hill, and Tivola. The plan also 

shows a network of main band 

coal workings. There are roads 

from Whitehaven, from 

1841 



Rothmore, from Scilly Banks, to 

Gill Brow and to Goose Green. 

DLONS/W/10R/29/7 Plan of Rosehill Estate 

Plan 2) Based on Ordnance 

Survey map, scale 25 inches to 1 

mile. Plan includes 13 seperate 

lots which have either a coloured 

border or have been shaded. 

Block buildings have been 

coloured red with the following 

properties named: Summer Hill, 

Farmlands, Gillhead, Tivoli, Rose 

Hill, and Towlow. Land owners 

include: Earl of Lonsdale, Joseph 

Dalzell, William Burnyeat, and 

Mrs Graham. The road from 

Hensingham to Distington, and 

the Cleator and Junction Railway 

are marked. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/29/8 Plan of Moresby Common 

Individual plots containing the 

name of the owner/occupier and 

the acreage. Names include: 

Reverend C Huddleston, 

Reverend William Watts, Mr 

Peter Gale, Mr John Steel, 

Richard Piper, Jane Grayson, 

William Dickinson, Henry 

Jackson, Joseph Fisher, Terrence 

MacDonald, Anthony Benn, Isaac 

Stephenson, William Whinneray, 

Edward Lund, Mrs Dudley, 

William Kilner, Anthony 

Hodgson, William Allison, Mary 

Walker, Henry Ivison, and 

Richard Bowman. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/29/9 Plan of Moresby Common 

Plan shows the boundary line to 

Disington Common, the River 

Keekle, the boundary line to 

denote Sir James Lowther's land, 

Sands Closes, Round Close, 

Rothmire, Gill Head, Blearbank, 

Goosegreen, Middlegill, 

Lucashow, Adam Gillhead, 

Huntinghow, Akebank, 

Scabb'dhill, Ston'd Horse Close, 

Silly Banks, parcels of land 

marked as either moss or dry 

ground and adjacent land owners. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/30/1 Plan of Bramley Estate, Mosser 

Property of William Mosser. Plan 

shows various plots of land 

belonging to the estate and 

include a schedule which 

summarises the field name and 

acreage. Names include: 

Homestead and Yards, Plantation, 

1863 



Stackyard, Orchard, Bull 

Coppice, Little Brow, Great 

Brow, Whinney Brow, Banks 

Close, Far Meadow, Wood, Well 

close, New Meadow, Little Field, 

New Close, Fangs Stile, Bramley, 

Long Gaps, Rash Dale, Long 

Croft, Mire Dyke. All fences 

coloured red belong to the estate. 

All fences coloured green belong 

to the adjacent proprietor. 

DLONS/W/10R/31/1 Plan of Parton foreshore 

Plan shows the foreshaw which 

comprises sand banks, plate 

rocks, ridges, loose stones, breast 

wall, part of the village, and the 

stone quarry. Also includes a 

series of measurements to convey 

the depth of the water at various 

points along the shore at low and 

high tide. There are 2 cross 

sections to illustrate the 

measurements from points A to B 

and points C to D. Surveyed by 

W Gaythorpe. Scale: 15 feet to 1 

inch. 

1829 

DLONS/W/10R/32/1 Plan of How Estate, Seascale 

Plan shows the division of land in 

the estate. John Sherwen's portion 

coloured green, John Walker's 

portion coloured red, John 

Tyson's portion coloured yellow, 

A B steward's portion coloured 

blue. All parcels of land show the 

acreage. Scale: 4 chains to 1 inch. 

1854 

DLONS/W/10R/33/1 

Plan of an intended port in the 

Manor of Seaton belonging to 

Sir James Lowther 

Plan shows the River Derwent, 

high and low water marks, port 

entrance, basin, docks, graving 

docks, light house, officer's 

house, the canal, Low Cloffocks, 

and Priestgate Marsh. Includes a 

seperate estimate of building 

costs. 

undated 

[18th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/33/2 

Plan of an intended port in the 

Manor of Seaton belonging to 

Sir James Lowther 

Plan shows the River Derwent, 

high and low water marks, port 

entrance, basin, docks, graving 

docks, light house, officer's 

house, the canal, Low Cloffocks, 

and Priestgate Marsh. 

undated 

[18th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/33/3 

Plan of an intended port in the 

Manor of Seaton belonging to 

Sir James Lowther 

Plan shows the River Derwent, 

port entrance, basin, docks, 

graving docks, light houses, the 

canal, low water mark at Neap 

tides, low water mark at Spring 

tides. 

undated 

[18th 

century] 



DLONS/W/10R/33/4 Plan of Seaton Common 

Plan showing royalty boundaries. 

Green line is the boundary 

claimed by Seaton, red dotted line 

is the boundary claimed by 

Flimby, black dotted line is the 

boundary claimed by Broughton. 

Additional note explaining that 

point A markd on the Pielmoor 

Hill side was the north west 

boundary of Camerton ground 

running southerly to the low 

corner of Sewell's House, and 

north to the high side of Henry 

Brown's holes. Scale: 4 chains to 

1 inch. 

1802 

DLONS/W/10R/33/5 Draft plan of Seaton Common 

Showing Country Pit and Harker 

Tarn. Plan in poor condition, 2 

halves. 

1818 

DLONS/W/10R/33/6 
Plan of Seaton, Camerton, 

Ribton and Flimby Commons 

Plan showing Greengill Head, 

Cooks Pit, Harry Browns Holes, 

Standing Stone, Pealmore Tarn, 

Crook Dyke Nook, Douker Tarn, 

Scalegill Arm, Monksman Cross, 

and Aygill Head. Scale: 100 yards 

to 1 inch. 

1818 

DLONS/W/10R/33/7 Draft plan of Seaton Common 

Includes Douker Tarn, Agill 

Head, Mancemans Cross, Cooks 

Pit, Sealgill Arm, Peatmore Tarn, 

Stanmiston, 

undated 

[circa 1818] 

DLONS/W/10R/33/8 Plan of the Manor of Seaton 

Plan shows numbered plots (1-

354) which are detailed in a 

schedule to convey acreage and 

ownership. Names inclue the Earl 

of Lonsdale, Mr Sawrey, 

Reverend Mr Lowery, Mr B 

Thompson, Mr I Peat Junior, Mr 

Joseph Parkins, Mr Joseph 

Pattinson Senior, Mr Joseph 

Pattinson Junior, Mr William 

Gaitskell, Mr Robert Kelsick, Mrs 

Yeowart, Ralph Cook, Mr 

Watman, Mr William Shilton, Mr 

Thomas Bowman, Mr Hudson, 

Mr Robert Bacon, Mrs Ruth 

Edkins, Mr Thomas Briggs, Mrs 

Sarah Peat, Mr Martin Wilson, 

Mr Thomas Parker, Mr George 

Tomlinson, Mr Joseph Shilton, 

Mr John Greyrigs, Mr John 

Hellon, Mr William Wilson, Mr 

Allinson Crosthwaite, Mr I Bone, 

Mr John Johnston, Mr William 

Thompson, Mr Joseph 

Thompson, Mr William Bennett, 

1822 



Mr James Bigland, Mrs Martha 

Wilson, Mr John Wallace, Mr 

Steel, Mrs Marshall, Mr Winder, 

Mr Thomas Cartmer, Mr 

Westray, mr Edwards, Mr Hugh 

Maines, Mr James Edkins, Mr 

Henry Fisher, Mr William 

Wallace, Mrs Clementson, Mr 

John Peat, Mr Lumston, Mrs Ann 

Brown, Mr Peter Collins, Mr 

James Lawrence. Plan also incl 

DLONS/W/10R/33/9 
Draft plan of Seaton and Flimby 

Commons 

Plan includes Douker Tarn, 

Salkeld Stangs, Wise's House, 

Dyke Nook, Aygill Head, 

Pealmore Hill, Pealmore Tarn, 

Harry Brown's Holes and 

Monksman Cross. 

1822 

DLONS/W/10R/33/10 
Plan of Seaton royalties near 

High Seaton 

Second edition ordnance survey 

map annotated with 4 parcels of 

land (3 coloured and 1 with 

shaded boundary) amounting to a 

total of 236 acres. 

undated 

[circa 1900] 

DLONS/W/10R/34/1 

Plan showing the division of 

land in High Sea Banks, Low 

Sea Banks, High Water Whinns, 

and Low Water Whinns, 1793 

and 1883 

Plan based on first edition 

ordnance survey map, annotated 

to show the division of land on 

either side of the sea banks. Land 

is divided into parcels with 

different coloured boundaries and 

the name of the owner/occupier. 

High Sea Banks 1793 and 1883 - 

land divided in to twelfths. Low 

Sea Banks, High Water Whinns, 

and Low Water Whinns - land 

divided in to nineteenths. Plan 

also includes part of the Irish Sea, 

the River Calder, High Sellafield, 

Low Sellafield, Sellafield Banks, 

Lingy Lands, Sellafield Tarn, 

Starling Castle, salmon fisheries, 

Watch Hill, Windscale Nook, 

Whitehaven and Furness Junction 

Railway.    

undated 

[circa 1880] 

DLONS/W/10R/35/1 Plan of Stainburn Demesne 

Plots are numbered and a 

corresponding schedule details 

the name of each field and 

acreage: Far Fitt, Middle Fitt, 

Little Fitt, Island, Top Banks 

Wood, Top Banks, New Close, 

Demesne Field, Prior How, 

Spring Wood, House Long Garth, 

Great Lans, Cragg's Close, Hills. 

Plan also includes the road to 

Cockermouth and Workington, 

the River Derwent, the border of 

1762 



Stainburn Common and 

woodland areas. Scale: 66 feet to 

1 chain. 

DLONS/W/10R/35/2 Plan of Stainburn Common 

Surveyed by John Norman. Plan 

includes 2 boundary lines which 

show the area of land disputed by 

Clifton and the area of land 

determined by the Commissioner 

to belong to Clifton. The road 

from Whitehaven to 

Cockermouth is shown along with 

an intended new road to 

Stainburn. Attached is a second 

plan which details the roads set 

out upon Great and Little Clifton 

Common including the road from 

Whitehaven to Cockermouth and 

the road from Workington to 

Cockermouth which passes 

through Great Clifton. 

Jul 1816 

DLONS/W/10R/35/3 
Allotments upon Stainburn 

Common enclosures 

Copied from the Commissioner's 

plan. Plots are numbered and a 

corresponding schedule details 

the name of the owner/occupier 

and acreage: Mary Askew, Jane 

Bacon, John Curwen, Thomas 

Fishburn, Margaret Fletcher, 

Mary Graves, John Iredale, Earl 

of Lonsdale, Henry Salkeld, 

Joseph Whiteside, Richard 

Whiteside, Reverend Peter How, 

William Smith, Joyce Wilson. 

Plan also includes the road from 

Working ton Cockermouth 

passing through Stainburn and the 

road from Whitehaven to 

Cockermouth. Scale: 6 chains to 1 

inch. 

1818 

DLONS/W/10R/35/4 Plan of part of Stainburn Manor 

Plan shows the edge of the River 

Derwent, road from Workington 

to Stainburn, areas of woodland, 

Sunny Brow, a windmill, and Tan 

Pits. Scale: 2 chains to 1 inch. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/36/1 
Plan showing the land from 

Moresby to St Bees 

Plan divided in to distinct areas: 

town of Whitehaven, Parton 

Harras Moor, Moresby, St Bees 

demesne, Woodhouse, Ribton, 

Barrowmouth, Sandwith, and 

Corkikle (several tenements held 

under the Deanery of Somerset 

and others). Plots of land within 

each area are numbered or 

lettered, but there is no 

corresponding schedukle to 

1812 



denote ownership or acreage. 

There is a seperate inset to show 

land held under the Free 

Grammar School. The plan also 

includes the road to 

Cockermouth, the highway to St 

Bees, Fleswick Bay, North 

Heads, South Heads. 

DLONS/W/10R/36/2 Plan of St Bees Moor 

Plots are numbered and inckude 

the names of the owner/occupier 

with acreage. These details are 

contained in a corresponding 

schedule: Governors of the 

Grammar School, Earl of 

Lonsdale, Edmund Irton, James 

Spedding, Robert Benson, 

William Fox, James Hale, John 

Smith Senior, William Jackson, 

William Richardson, Jane 

Marley, John Walker Senior, 

Mary Barrass, Nicholson Cragg, 

Sarah Dickinson, Hugh Shepherd, 

Jane Preston, Anthony 

Thompson, James John Johnston, 

Mary Messenger, Catherine Fox, 

Daniel Douglas, Abigail Jackson, 

Elizabeth Marley, William and 

Thomas Noble, Mary Noble, 

Isaac Skelton, Sarah Moor, 

Messrs Coulthard and Bell, 

Nicholas Fleming, John Watson, 

Mark Nicholson, John Hodgson, 

John Herd, Christopher Wilson, 

Loving Hale, Christopher Leech, 

George Park, Daniel Combe, 

Joseph Leech, Jane Marley, Isaac 

Thompson, James Blythe, 

Thomas Pickering, Thomas 

Noble, and John Herd. Plan 

includes various public watering 

places: Taylor Tarn, Ivy Tarn, at 

Ellergill and Morleys. 

1812 

DLONS/W/10R/36/3 

Railway sections showing the 

ownership of land near 

Whitehaven 

Plan includes 3 sections of the 

wear, described as datum line 3.0 

below Top Stone of Sluce at Sea 

Mill. This line of section is 

coloured pink and black on the 

plan. The railway line and station 

is partially shaded in pink, and 

the road to Whitehaven is shown 

as well as Poe Beck, the Sea Mill, 

St Bees and St Bees Abbey. Plots 

of land are numbered, and some 

include the nmame of the 

owner/occupier: Major Spedding, 

Oct 1849 



Thomas Noble, John Haile, Earl 

of Lonsdale, Jonathan Herd, Bella 

Richardson, Captin Wilcock, 

William Whitehead, John Noble, 

Reverend R Parkinson, Jonathan 

Fletcher, Doctor Fox, late Francis 

Smith, and Richard Jackson. 

DLONS/W/10R/37/1 

Plan of tramway in the 

townships of Sandwith and 

Preston Quarter 

 1887-1893 

DLONS/W/10R/38/1 
Plan of Weddacre [Weddicar] 

Common 

Plan includes the roads from 

Hensingham, to Keekle Bank, to 

Arlecdon and to Brownrigg; 

Keekle Beck, Dubb Beck, Acre 

Walls, Croft End, Boggles, Walk 

Mill, and Loska. Covers an area 

of 606 acres, 2 roods and 26 

perches. Scale: 6 chains to 1 inch. 

1803 

DLONS/W/10R/38/2 
Plan of Weddiker [Weddicar] 

Common 

clan includes the roads from 

Hensingham, to Keekle Bank, to 

Arlecdon and to Brownrigg; and 

Keekle Beck. The whole contents 

of the common cover an area of 

521 acres, 1 rood and 13 perches. 

Scale: 4 chains to 1 inch. Land 

divided in to parcels to show 

ownership by Mr Harrisman, Mr 

Steele and Lord Lonsdale. 

1808 

DLONS/W/10R/39/1 

Plan of Whillimoor Common 

and Enclosures in the Parish of 

Arlecdon 

Surveyed by J Howard. Plan 

showing the allocation of 

common land, summarised in a 

table. Total area of common land: 

666 acres. Enclosures allocated to 

John Raney, Cleator Glebe, Peter 

Hodgson, Daniel Hutchinson, 

Jospeh Dickinson, Reverend Mr 

Littlebank, late Thomas 

Thompson, John Steele, Mr Caux, 

Mr Williamson, Miss Wilson, 

Lord Lonsdale, Mr Wooley, Mr 

John Dickinson, Mr Boadle, 

Henry Wood, Mr Daniel Douglas, 

Mrs Jackson, and John Wilson. 

Plan includes the River Keekle, 

Dub Beck, Roads to Arlecdon and 

road to Whitehaven. Scale: 4 

chains to 1 inch. 

May 1819 

DLONS/W/10R/39/2 

Plan of Whillimoor Common 

and Enclosures in the Parish of 

Arlecdon 

Plan showing the allocation of 

common land. Two distinct areas 

shaded in yellow and pink. The 

area shaed yellow (Low Park, 

Blenket Brows, Greenfield, 

Redgates, High Park, Wether 

Close and Thacdales) represents 

May 1819 



land belonging to Lord Lonsdale. 

Plan includes the River Keekle, 

Dub Beck, Roads to Arlecdon and 

road to Whitehaven. Block 

buildings are also identified: 

Whillimoor Head, Cold Rose, 

Green Spot, Sand Bed, 

Blacklands, Middle Town, Lower 

and \Higher Toothill, Cockshot, 

Startoes, Bullfitz, Whillimoor 

Foot, Crofts, Rowten Syke, and 

Brownrigg. Scale: 6 chains to 1 

inch. 

DLONS/W/10R/40/1 
Plan of titheable land in the 

parish of Whitbeck 

Land divided into individual plots 

numbered 1-244. There are some 

pencil annotations giving the 

acreage of some plots. There is no 

accompanyingh schedule to 

provide further detail. Buildings 

include Gutterby, Way Side, 

Gatehouse, hospital, Mill House, 

Thompson's House, Low House, 

Townend Hall, Annaside, Wood 

House, church, and parsonage. 

undated 

[circa 1840] 

DLONS/W/10R/41/1 
Plan showing the East Prospect 

of Whitehaven 

Plan includes the harbour, main 

pier, light house, new mole, 

merchants' key, countermole, 

hurrys for shipping of coal, sugar 

house, main waggon way, coal 

pits, waggon way to Saltom, 

bowling green, Custom House, 

market place, old church, King 

George's Church, Presbyterian 

Meeting House, Quaker Meeting 

House, Two Rope Walks, road to 

Egremont, Sir James Lowther's 

house and gardens, his granary 

and alms houses for poor colliers 

and their widows, bottle works, 

copperas works, fire engine, Isle 

of Man, and St Bees Head. 

1738 

DLONS/W/10R/41/2 

Plan of the Port or Harbout of 

Whitehaven showing the 

disposition of the ordnance 

ordered for its protection and 

defence 

Plan shows the location of gun 

batteries and includes the corner 

of Jackadandy Hill, Sopery Work 

House, Snuffery, ship builders' 

yards, Sugar House yard and 

bulwork, Old Tongue, New 

Tongue, Old Pier Head, New Pier 

Head, and Tom Hird Mole. One 

of the plans includes a letter from 

John Wooler to Sir James 

Lowther and the other Trustees 

for the Port or Harbour of 

Whitehaven. 

1762 



DLONS/W/10R/41/3 

Plan and sections of a battery for 

13 guns with a guardhouse, 

storehouse and gunners' barracks 

near Jackadandy, Whitehaven 

The copy plan includes a 

description of the furniture and 

necessaries for each building. The 

guardhouse must be provided 

with a guard bed, deals, grate 

racks and pins to hold the arms 

and accoutrements of the guard; 1 

set of fire shovel, poker and 

tongs; 1 coal tub; 1 table; and 3 or 

4 forms. The storehouse is to be 

provided with racks, brackets, 

shelves and pins convenient for 

the store and implements 

necessary for the service of the 

battery. The gunner's room with 1 

bedstead, 1 fire grate, 1 set of fire 

shovel, poker and tongs, 1 coal 

tub, 1 table, 1 trivet, and 1 form. 

The matrosses barrock with 3 

bedsteads, 1 fire grate and trivet, 

1 coal tub, 1 set of fire shovel, 

poker and tongs, 1 table, and 3 

forms with cupboard and shelves. 

1762 

DLONS/W/10R/41/4 
Plan of the Town and Harbour of 

Whitehaven 

Surveyed by J Howard. Plan 

includesMr Hogarth's buildings, 

Huntington Meeting, Guinea 

Warehouse, Presbyterian 

Meeting, Bank, Low Brewery, 

Play House, George's Market, 

New Market, Quaker Meeting, 

Roman Catholic Chapel, 

Methodist Meeting, Anabaptist 

Meeting, Workhouse, High 

Brewery, and Mr McBride's 

Brewery. 

1790 

DLONS/W/10R/41/5 

Plan and section of the new 

Coach Road to Whitehaven 

Castle 

Passing through Lonsdale Place 

Cutting, St James Cutting and Ice 

House Cutting. 

Jul 1846 

DLONS/W/10R/41/6 

Plan showing the location of 

miners' cottages from Parton 

down the coast to Mirehouse 

All block accommodation is 

shaded red. The plan also 

includes the locations of pits, 

mineral railway, London and 

North Western Railway, gas 

works, Brantsy Station, Grand 

Hotel, shipbuilding yard, North 

Beach, South Beach, Inner 

Harbour, Outer Harbour, South 

Coal Depot and Office, Glass 

House Yard and Colliery Baths. 

undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/41/7 

Plan of the Township of 

Whitehaven in the Parish of St 

Bees 

Plan includes the new north pier, 

north wall, mbulwark, outer 

harbour, new quay, old quay, new 

tongue, old tongue, building yard, 

timber yard, amd all the 

1847 



residential streets with individual 

properties numbered and outlined 

in red. 

DLONS/W/10R/41/8 
Ground plan of Hensingham 

Chapel, Whitehaven 

Plan of sittings with alterations 

since 1859 and as existing in 

1879 shown in pencil. There is an 

inset schedule with monetary 

values allocated to certain 

sittings, 1-36. Scale: 15 feet to 1 

inch. 

1879 

DLONS/W/10R/41/9 
Ground plan of St James' 

Church, Whitehaven 

Plan with sittings shaded pink to 

denote pews allocated to Lord 

Lonsdale. There is a schedule 

with the names of people who 

have the Earl's permission to 

occupy these sittings: H Bentley, 

W J Armstrong, J K Metcalf, A 

W Wilson. Approved by the vicar 

and church wardens. 

Jun 1886 

DLONS/W/10R/41/10 

Plan of the proposed extension to 

the boundary of Whitehaven 

town and harbour 

Plan shows the current boundaries 

of the Urban Sanitary District, 

Parliamentary Borough and the 

proposed Urban Sanitary District. 

Wards are shaded different 

colours and include: St Nicholas, 

Whit, Harbour, New Town, 

Preston Quarter, Hensinham, St 

James, Parton, and Moresby. 

Scale: 6 inches to 1 mile. 

1890 

DLONS/W/10R/41/11 

Plan and sections of the intended 

railway from Whitehaven to 

Maryport 

Includes several enlarged plans of 

St Bees, Moresby, Preston 

Quarter, Parton, Harrington and 

Workington. 

undated 

[circa 1840] 

DLONS/W/10R/41/12 

Plans and sections relating to the 

construction of Whitehaven Post 

Office 

Including details of the cornice, 

frieze, tiled floor, and pediments. 

undated 

[1890s] 

DLONS/W/10R/41/13 

Plan and sections of the 

proposed road and incline to 

High Quarry, Whitehaven 

Brickworks 

 1915 

DLONS/W/10R/41/14 

Plan showing proposed changes 

to the harbour area in 

Whitehaven 

Chcnages include a proposed wet 

dock, removal of the north wall, 

new road to the beach, and 

removal of part of the bulwark. 

there is a schedule which details 

the acreage of certain areas 

numbered on the plan. 

undated 

DLONS/W/10R/41/15 

Plan showing areas of land, 

foreshore and undersea which 

have been leased for mining 

purposes 

Blue: foreshore and undersea 

lease dated May 1914; green: St 

Bees underlease dated May 1914; 

violet: Rottington lease dated 

March 1917; pink: Rottington 

supplemental lease dated August 

undated 

[1930s] 



1925; yellow: Parton surrendered 

April 1932. 

DLONS/W/10R/41/16 
Plans annexed to draft deeds of 

exchange 

Three identical plans showing the 

dimensions of undersea mine 

workings near Parton. These 

plans were annexed to a draft 

deed of exchange sent in March 

1934 by the Official Solicitor 

(Commissioners of Crown Lands) 

to Messrs Ellis and Ellis. 

1934 

DLONS/W/10R/41/17 

Plan showing the entry points 

and route for cable used by a 

loader for moving coal along 

Whitehven Harbour 

 
undated 

[19th 

century] 

DLONS/W/10R/41/18 

First edition Ordnance Survey 

maps of Whitehaven town and 

harbour 

 1865 

DLONS/W/10R/42/1 

Plan of the Harbour of 

Workington and the works 

proposed for the improvement of 

the same 

Works include a stone pier, pile 

work for diverting and 

maintaining the channel of the 

river, gravel bed to be removed 

and a new quay to be built, an 

addition of 340 yards to the 

Merchants' Quay and 240 yards to 

the South Quay, a quay to join the 

North Quay and Seaton Wharf, 

and a small sluice for stopping the 

water. 

1777 

DLONS/W/10R/42/2 

Plan and section of Workington 

Harbour showing work to be 

performed in excavating a 

proposed cut to form a new west 

channel for the River Derwent 

Section shows the depth to which 

the new cut is to be excavated. 

Plan indicates the area where the 

new channel is intended, and the 

area where the excavated gravel 

is to be deposited and trimmed to 

the level of 16 feet below datum. 

Surveyed by Thomas Blane. 

1857 

DLONS/W/10R/42/3 

Plan and section of the main 

sewerage scheme for the District 

of North Side, Borough of 

Workington 

 1908 

DLONS/W/10R/42/4 

Longitudinal elevation and 

section of the 18 inch diameter 

cast iron outfall pipe for the 

North Side sewerage scheme, 

Borough of Workington 

 1908 

DLONS/W/10R/42/5 

Plan for a mess room and 

cleaning block, Workington Iron 

and Steel Company 

Scheme A: proposed conversion 

of existing blowing engine house 

to mess room and cleansing 

block. Scheme B: proposed mess 

room and cleansing block. 

Designed by R R Cornforth, 1 

Lorton Street, Cockermouth. 

1941 



DLONS/W/10R/42/6 

Plans for a proposed garage and 

car park at Winscales, near 

Workington 

 Apr 1941 

DMH/2/1/1/31 Supporting records: Garristown 

Includes copy will of John 

Graham of Brampton (1779); 

legal opinion from Mr Wallace 

1775; copy of DMH/2/1/1/4; 

extract from will of John Graham; 

damaged fragment of deed - may 

or may not relate to this property 

but with will of John Graham. 

1770s 

DMH/2/1/1/32 Legal papers: Garristown 

Correspondence and legal papers 

relating to dispute around Robert 

Mounsey's purchase of 

Garristown from William 

Hutchinson. 

1806-1814 

DMH/2/1/9/9 
Conveyance: house and garden 

at Todhills 

Between 1) Robert Heysham 

Mounsey of Carlisle, gentleman 

and 2) Andrew Miller of 

Rockcliffe, labourer. 

Consideration: £40. Cottage 

house with out offices and garden 

at Todhills. 

11 Nov 

1857 

DMH/2/1/17/15 
Correspondence and notes: Lee 

End, Rockcliffe 

Draft conveyance, 

correspondence and notes 

regarding sale of cottage at Lee 

End. 

1878 

DMH/2/1/20/8/11 
Quitclaim: Hamilton's Close, 

Cross. 

Between 1) Christopher Davison 

of Carlisle, son and heir of 

Christopher Davison of Cargo, 

yeoman (who was the son and 

heir of George Davison, late of 

Cross, Rockcliffe, yeoman and 2) 

Hannah Usher. Recites previous 

deeds. Consideration: further £17 

on the mortgage sum previously 

advanced. Messuage and 

tenement at Cross called 

Hamilton's Close. 

1 Jan 1737 

DMH/2/1/24/18 
Bargain and sale: house, garden 

and land at Rockcliffe 

Between 1) James Hewet of 

Rockcliffe, carrier and rebecca 

his wife and 2) William Bell of 

Rockcliffe, miller. Consideration: 

£30. House, garden and piece of 

ground adjoining measuring half 

an acre. Manor of Rockcliffe. 

Customary rent: 6 pence. 

Formerly part of Blacklock's 

tenement. 

14 Feb 

1756 

DMH/2/1/24/19 deed 

Between 1) William Strong of 

Peterborough, esquire and 2) 

William Bell of Rockcliffe, miller 

and 3) Isaac Strong of 

Peterborough, gentleman. 

2 Aug 1759 



Consideration: £30. House, garth 

and land at Rockcliffe. Abuttals 

listed. Manor of Rockcliffe. 

Customary rent: 6 pence. With 

deed wrapper previously housing 

DMH/2/1/24/18-19. 

DMH/2/1/38/2 

Correspondence and copy 

records: land adjoining the River 

Eden 

 1807-1808 

DMH/2/1/41/2 Plans: The Bitt 

Plan with description showing the 

boundary between Sir James 

Graham's marsh lands at Green 

bed and Mr Mounsey's adjoining 

uninclosed marsh land at 

Garristown as surveyed by Robert 

Graham 11 Jul 1798. 

1798 

DMH/2/1/41/3 Conveyance: The Bitts 

Between 1) the Lords 

Commissioners for the Admiralty 

and 2) Sir Richard James Graham 

of Netherby, baronet and 3) Lady 

Jane Hermione Graham, widow 

of the late Frederick Ulric 

Graham and 4) Hugh Graham of 

Bucknell Manor, Bicester, esquire 

and 5) James Reginald Graham of 

Scaurbank, Longtown and 6) 

Hilda Georgiana Faber, formerly 

Graham, of 14 Grosvenor Square, 

Middlesex and 7) Martin Ridley 

Smith of 1 Lombard Street, 

London and 8) George William 

Mounsey Heysham of 

Castletown. Saltmarsh called the 

Bitt or the Bitts on the southern 

bank of the River Esk opposite 

the Mossband Hall estate. 

Consideration: £625 plus 

agreement detailed on 

conveyance. Plan on deed. With 

letter confirming receipt of 

money. 

15 Dec 

1904 

DMH/2/1/41/4 Correspondence: The Bitt 

Correspondence relating to the 

purchase of The Bitt (also known 

as The Bitts). Also includes: 

abstract of title, requisitions on 

title, copy of agreement for sale, 

draft conveyance, tracing from 

1798 plan. 

1890s-

1900s 

DMH/2/1/72/6 

Supporting papers and 

correspondence: Hall Town 

Farm purchase 

Includes correspondence, 

covenant to produce lease, 

document list, declaration of Rev 

Calvert, draft conveyance, 

evidence of title copy documents, 

requisitions on title. 

1880s 



DMH/2/9/1/3 

Correspondence and notes 

relating to letting and sale of 

Sandhills, Burley 

 1909-1912 

DMH/3/2/2/8 
James Heysham: inventory and 

valuation of silver 

Durrans Hill property at 

Castletown. 
19 Jan 1920 

DMH/3/3/3/3 

Supprting notes and 

correspondence: George William 

Mounsey-Heysham will trust 

Includes list of Trust investments. 

early 20th 

century-

1928 

DMH/4/10/7 
Correspondence: Mounsey v 

Relph fishing case 
 1846 

DMH/5/3/1/2/3 
Rent accounts and rate 

deductions 
 1904-1906 

DMH/5/3/3/8 
Account book: GW Mounsey-

Heysham to J Maxwell 
Blacksmith. 1902-1912 

DMH/5/5/15 
Trust by lease and release: John 

Forster's estate 

Attested copy. Between 1) John 

Forster of Heathlands, Rockcliffe, 

gentleman and 2) John Atkinson 

of Brackenthwaite, Cumrew, 

gentleman and John Beaty of 

Rockcliffe, gentleman and Ann 

Forster and Jane Forster of 

Heathlands, spinsters. Extensive 

estate in the parishes of 

Kirkandrews upon Esk, 

Bewcastle, Arthuret. Longtown, 

and land at Heathlands, 

Rockcliffe. 

19-20 Mar 

1817 

DMH/5/9/1/2/8 
Award: compensation for 

damage by railway company 

The Caledonian Railway 

Company and George Gill 

Mounsey. 

22 Jun 1850 

DMH/5/11/1/3/4 File: rights of fisheries 

Notes, correspondence, printed 

papers, press cuttings. Eden, Esk 

and fisheries general. 

1880-1900s 

DMH/5/11/1/4/3 
Legal papers: Carlisle 

Corporation at Bowness 
 1767-1769 

DMH/5/11/2/1/2 
Shooting agreements: Rockcliffe 

Marsh 
 1880s-1910 

DMH/5/14/1/1 Volume: Tithes Fire Insurances 

Information on insurances/tithes 

at: Blackford; The Height - 

Caldbeck and Sebergham; 

Bulman Hill tithes; Kirklington; 

Capon Dyke. Also contains 

correspondence and press 

cuttings. 

1880s-1900 

DMH/5/14/2/8 Rockcliffe and Blackford tithes  1920 

DMH/5/14/2/9 Summaries of tithes 
Includes list of tithes on fields 

and farms 

19th 

century 

DMH/6/3/4 
Inventory: WJM Gubbins's 

furniture at Old Hall 
Typed inventory. 1922 

DMH/6/3/5 

Inventory: Miss Mounsey-

Heysham's list of things at 

Castletown 

Typed inventory. [1920s] 



DMH/10/3/1/6 

Copy of instrument of [1314-

1315] from the registers of 

Carlisle 

"touching the appropriation 

of...convert of worke in 

Yorkshire" 

1588 

DMH/10/3/1/7 Survey of houses and glebe lands 

Places referenced: Dalston, 

Stanwix, Kirkandrews, Overton 

alias Orton, Bowness, Glasson, 

Cardurnock, Burgh by Sands, 

Thursby, Aikton, Kirkbampton, 

Irdington, Castle Carrock, 

Denton, Brampton, Crosby, 

Cliburn, Clifton, Bampton in 

Westmorland, Brougham, Dufton, 

St Lawrence in Appleby, St 

Michael in Appleby, Musgrave, 

Warcop, Overton, Newbiggin, 

Askham, Ormside, Shap, Brough 

under Stainmore, Barton, 

Patterdale, Martindale, Crosby 

Ravensworth, Crosby Garrett, 

Kirkby Thore, Penrith, 

Melmerby, Kirkland, Dacre, 

Kirkoswald, Ainstable, Little 

Selkeld, Addingham, Lazonby, 

Skelton, Allerby, Croglin, 

Edenhall, Langwathby, Hutton, 

Wigton, Caldbeck, Udale, 

Bromfield, Kirkbride, Holme 

Cultram, Torpenhow, Bolton, 

Isel, Bridekirk, Dearham, 

Gilcrux, Plumbland, Crosthwaite 

parish. Note at end of volume 

dated 13 Aug 1678 states that it 

was found amongst the papers 

and records of the see of Carlisle 

at Rose Castle in 1664 - the writer 

believes it to be a copy of a 

survey delivered to John May, 

Bishop of Carlisle. Bound in olde 

1580 

DMH/10/3/9 Accounts: Overseers of the Poor 

Correspondence between the 

Bishop of Carlisle and the 

Overseers of the Poor regarding 

expenditure on the poor in the 

following parishes: Caldbeck, St 

Michael in Appleby alias 

Bongate, Ormside, Cliburn. 

1696 

DMH/10/6/24 

Volume: copy charters, 

inquisitions and other records 

relating to Gilsland 

Written by William Howard. 

With loose notes on the Bible 

book of Matthew in back of 

volume. 

12 

September 

1612 

DMH/10/9/27 
Volume: Heysham family 

silhouettes 

Feature silhouette cut outs of: 

William Sayre, Mrs Mary 

Heysham, John HGibbons, Mary 

Heysham, Margaretta Heysham, 

[c1820s] 



Robert Heysham Junior, 

Hamilton Heysham. 

DMH/11/1/2 Correspondence: family history 

Covers: coat of arms, Dr 

Heysham, William Mounsey 

(1589). 

1870-1912 

DMIL/Mounsey/153/548 
Sale particulars for Naworth 

Gilsland Estate 

Being the northern portion of the 

Naworth Estates, by direction of 

the Right Honourable the Twelfth 

Earl of Carlisle, M.C. 

Auctioneers: Messrs Joseph M 

Richardson and Son, Cecil Street, 

Carlisle. Agricultural freehold 

property, 7 farms near Brampton, 

1 with vacant possession 

(Whitehead Farm), and 6 subject 

to tenancies (Moscow, Desoglin, 

Highstead Ash, Snowdon Close, 

Tercrosset, and Palmer Hill). For 

sale by public auction in the 

County Hotel, Carlisle. 

Oct 1963 

DPH/1/82/1 Road Haulage Questionnaire 

Questionnaire (with replies) 

re:career of John Watt of J and W 

Watt Ltd, road hauliers, London 

Road, Carlisle 

1979 

DPH/1/111/1 
Photocopy of deed to Crosby 

House, Crosby-on-Eden 

Release by the brothers and 

sisters of the Reverend John 

Stamper, of the city of Carlisle, to 

strengthen his title to the estate 

left in their father's will (their said 

brother having duly long since 

paid the £1500 therein named). 

Recital begins with the probate 

will (dated 1831) of their father 

the Reverend Thomas Lowry, 

Doctor of Divinity, of High 

Crosby, vicar of Crosby-on-Eden, 

who died 9 December 1832; 

states that Barbara (his widow) 

died on 12 January 1845. The 

brothers and sisters were: Richard 

Lowry, of Greengill, parish of 

Penrith, gentleman; Thomas 

Lowry, of Rotoaria, New 

Zealand, gentleman (Rotoaria is 

near Rotorua, see witnesses 

abodes below); Joseph Stamper 

Lowry, of city of Carlisle, 

gentleman; Jane Lowry, widow; 

Mary Williamson Lowry and 

Elizabeth Lowry, spinsters, of 

Greengill, parish of Penrith. The 

estate is described as freehold and 

customary houses and lands at 

High Crosby, parish of Crosby-

18 May 

1852 



on-Eden. Freehold house and 

lands, ex James Dalton's, rent 4s, 

6d; ex-customary (enfranchised in 

1 

DPH/1/149/1 Lowther family pedigree Drawn by Richard Hall, archivist 
[20th 

century] 

DRC/8/12(a) Birkby tithe map Crosscanonby Parish 1844 

DRC/8/17(a) Blencogo tithe map Bromfield Parish 1840 

DRC/8/19(b) 
Bolton Highquarter tithe map 

and award 
 1840-1843 

DRC/8/19(c) Bolton Highquarter tithe award  1840-1843 

DRC/8/112 Lanercost tithe map and award   

DRC/8/136 
Mungrisdale tithe map and 

award 
 1846-1847 

DRC/8/150 Penrith tithe map and award   

DRC/18/1957 N-W/909b 

Pennington, St. Michael's and 

The Holy Angels: General 

alterations 

As follows: coloured drawing of 

lantern design 
Nov 1956 

DRC/36/Accn H16280 
Diocesan Board of Finance 

(unlisted) 

Carlisle Diocesan Board of 

Finance Limited: minutes and 

papers of the Finance Committee, 

2002-2018 and the Annual 

General Meeting, 1975-2017. 

Minutes and papers of further 

committees and groups including: 

Maintenance Committee, Trust 

Committee, Pastoral Account 

Committee, Standing Committee, 

Executive Committee, 

Publications Committee, 

Churches Together in Cumbria, 

Cumbrian Ecumenical Executive 

Council, Council for Partnership 

of World Mission, Diocesan 

Stewardship Council, 1947-2007. 

1947-2018 

DS 67/3/1 Log book  Jan 1863-

Nov 1880 

DS 89/4/8 
Digital photograph: the 

Creighton School 

Whole school photograph. (digital 

photograph of original taken in 

2023). 

Oct 1962 

DSO 96/83/Acc: 

H16290/unlisted 
Cumbria Scouts 

Papers relating to Plumpton Cubs, 

Cumbria North and East Division. 

Includes a scrapbook of activities 

and outings, newsletters, minutes 

of meetings, Fund Raising 

Committee Management Plan, t-

shirt, and neckerchief. 

1976-1995 

DSO 140/2/16 Site in Egremont 

Detail on the plans suggest 

ground with areas of cobbles, 

brown and grey clay, natural 

gravel, masonry, ashy deposits 

and a possible hearth. 

1983 



DSO 216/7/1/Accn: 

H16237 
Hayton WI 

Carlisle Parish Halls Condition 

Surveys, 1999-2000; anniversary 

cards; newspaper article, 2019; 

scrapbooks (2) containing 

photographs and score cards for 

entries in the County Events, 

1975-1995; visitors' book, 1934-

1967; A History of Hayton 

Women's Institute, circa 1970; 

articles submitted for inclusion in 

the County Book 'Within Living 

Memory', 1993. 

1970-2019 

DSO 223/5/2/17 Cumberland Show catalogue Programme and schedule. 2022 

DSO 223/5/2/18 Cumberland Show catalogue Programme and schedule. 2023 

DSO 223/5/4/5 
Agricultural and Home 

Industries schedule 
 2023 

DSO 232/Accn H16182 

Raughton Head and District 

Women's Institute (unlisted 

accession) 

Financial statements, 2008-2018 

and account books, 2004-2014. 
2004-2018 

DSO 236/6/1/Acc: 

H16325 [UNLISTED] 
Unlisted accession 

Petty cash account books (2), 

1989-2017; subscription books 

(2), 1979-2018; account books 

(7), 1992-2019; annual financial 

statements, 1992-2017; 

photographs of events including 

the Bonnie Prince Charlie 

Pageant, 250th Anniversary, 

1995-2005. 

1979-2017 

DSO 253/7/2/Accn 

H16205 

Friends of Cumbria Archive 

Service (Accession unlisted) 

Minutes and agendas of the 

meetings of the Committee of 

Trustees, including project 

updates (Victoria County History 

and Borderlands) from Lancaster 

University, programme of events, 

and a copy of the final resolution 

to dissolve the assocation. 

Jan 2022-

Jan 2023 

DSO 367/1/1/1 Committee meeting minute book  Dec 1940-

Dec 1954 

DSO 544 
Boys' Brigade Carlisle and 

District Batallion 

Minutes of the Battalion Council, 

1961-2009; minutes of the Life 

Boys, 1947-1966; minutes of the 

Junior Section, 1967-2000; 

'History of the Carlisle Battalion, 

The Boys' Brigade', 1993; 

scrapbook, 1967-2008; black and 

white photographs; programmes, 

orders of service, official 

documentation and 

correspondence regarding 

centenary events and celebrations, 

1983; New Testament and Book 

of Common Paryer; handbook 

and record of achievement for 

1932-2013 



Christopher Sewell, 1993-1998; 

Jubilee message from Prince 

Arthur of Connaught, 1932; 

various examination and award 

certificates; profiles for various 

battalion leadership roles, head 

office publications including: 

forms of service, parade hymnals, 

drill book, and camp handbook; 

annual reports for the 2nd Carlisle 

Company: 1962-1963, 2006-

2007, and 2007-2008; The Boys' 

Brigade Gazette, October 1958-

July 2013; Steadfast Magazine, 

September 1954; Sure and 

Steadfast Magazine of the Boys' 

Brigade in Singapore, 1955; 

postcards of a portrait of founding 

member Sir William A Smith; 

DSO 545 
Grasmere and Lake District 

Annual Athletic Sports 

Programme of events and list of 

entries. 
Aug 1951 

DSO 546 
Senhouse Museum Trust, 

Maryport 

Agendas and minutes of the 

Management Committee, 

accounts, annual reports, and 

trustee papers. 

1985-2015 

DSO 547 Twelve Men of Wreay 

Account book for Wreay School 

Buildings, 1938-1941; minute 

book of the Trustees' of Miss 

Losh's Foundation, 1906-1955, 

and the School Lands Educational 

Foundation from 1926-1955; 

extract from John Brown's will of 

1763 concerning the School 

Lands Educational Foundation; 

Wreay Library Committee minute 

book, 1920-1952; Wreay Men's 

Club leaflet (2) containing a list 

of committee members and rules, 

1931-1932; receipts including the 

installation of electric lighting in 

the cottage, 1954; bundle of 

letters and receipts regarding the 

school and lands, 1848-1894; 

papers regarding Richard 

Lowthian's Charity and John P 

Fletcher's Benefaction, 1851-

1900. 

1848-1955 

DSO 548 Cantonelle Choir 

Minutes and agendas of 

committee meetings and annual 

general meetings; 

correspondence; financial reports; 

certificates of merit awarded by 

Carlisle and District Music and 

Drama Festival; newsletters; song 

1993-2019 



lists for performances; 

constitution of the choir; Charity 

Commission annual submisions; 

photographs, website content, and 

members' questionnaire. 

DSO 549 
Maryport Natural History 

Society 

Programmes of events, AGM 

minutes, committee minutes, 

Mary's bird poem, 1994; 

Millenium Report; magazine 

articles in Maryport Matters, 

2021-2022; accounts and 

financial statements; 

correspondence, memos and 

emails; constitution, and article 

on 50 years of Maryport Natural 

History Society. 

2000-2023 

DVAN/2/11/1 
Armathwaite Hall and Demesnes 

at Bassenthwaite 
  

DVAN/2/12/3/1 
Recovery, Manor of Threlkeld, 

including watermill 

1) Robert Hughmore Esq. and 

John Asbrigg gent; 2) Richard 

Swynborne, John Ponsonby, John 

Irton, and Joseph Dalston 

1665 

DVAN/2/12/3/2 
Lease and release prior to 

recovery 

Charles Highmore of 

Armathwaite, Parish of 

Bassenthwaite Eaq. to Lancelot 

Simpson of Penrith, gent. with 

co-party Francis Heatley of Staple 

Inn, London, gent. through whom 

the recovery will be suffered, 

Manor of Armathwaite and 

Bewaldeth 

1697 

DVAN/2/12/3/3 The aforesaid recovery  1697 

DVAN/2/12/3/4 
Marriage settlement by Charles 

Highmore on his wife Elizabeth 

Half of the mansion and 

demesnes of Armathwaite. There 

is a seperate schedule attached 

naming the the rooms of the 

mansion and the field names of 

the demesnes. Settled after the 

marriage,. "Halfe of Burthwaite, 

That is to say, The High Lees and 

the Wast ground to the old hedge-

steads that goeth up the West side 

of Rough Burthwaite" 

21 May 

1698 

DVAN/2/12/3/5 

Mortgage for £200 by Charles 

Highmore to James Lowther of 

Whitehaven Esq. 

The capital messuage and 

tenement called Armathwaite 

Hall and the lands called 

Armathwaite demesnes 

1726 

DVAN/2/12/3/6 

Assignment of the mortgage by 

Charles Highmore "late of 

Armathwaite Hall Esq." to one 

of his sons 

His son Benson Highmore of the 

City of Carlisle 
1732 



DVAN/2/12/3/7 

Continuance of the mortgage, 

Benson Highmore to Sir James 

Lowther of Whitehaven 

It is noted "default" having 

occurred in prompt repayment.   2 

July 1744 lease for a year 

between Benson Highmore of 

Carlisle and Henry Barnes of the 

Middle Temple London gent.   17 

Jan 1748 lease for a year from 

Barnes to James Spedding of 

Whitehaven and another 

Highmore to James Spedding for 

the Manor of Armathwaite 

1744-1748 

DVAN/2/12/3/8 
Mortgage for £5000, 

Armathwaite Hall and demesnes 

James Spedding of Armathwaite 

Hall Esq. to Sir William Lowther 

of Whitehaven and bond for the 

same 

1755 

DVAN/2/12/3/9 

Probate of James Spedding of 

Armathwaite Hall Esq. proved at 

York 

Will made 25 Oct 1758. 

Beneficiaries; wife Susannah, son 

John (under 21 years), daughters 

Mary and Susannah,; estate at 

Whitehaven and Armathwaite 

Hall 

26 Jan 1760 

DVAN/2/12/3/10 

Customary bargain and sale of 

an acre of meadow known as 

Munkholme, Manor of 

Armathwaite 

Between Martha Crakell of 

Whitehaven widow and Benjamin 

Wilson of Cockermouth surgeon 

and apothecary, consideration £18 

10s, customary rent 2s, in trust for 

John Spedding Esq. and his heirs 

18 

May1765 

DVAN/2/12/3/11 

Agreement to define the title to 

the Highmore and Spedding 

estates 

Between John Spedding of 

Armathwaite Hall Bassenthwaite 

Esq. and Daniel Highmore of 

Windsor Berks Esq., to define 

estates of Earl's Inn Carlisle and 

Armathwaite Hall (John 

Spedding, Daniel Highmore, the 

latter now of Windson Berks Esq.   

Reciting   1) That Joseph Read of 

Carlisle merchant eldest sonof 

Joseph Read of Carlisle by deed 

poll 7 Nov 1743 released to 

Benson Highmore his brother in 

law (for family affection and for 

'his board, clothes, and lodging 

these twenty years) his claims in 

his late father' estate of the 

mansion house of Earl's Inn "in 

English Street or Botchergate in 

the City of Carlisle", "theretofore 

mortgaged to his late uncle 

Benjamin James in Peckham"   2) 

that the said Joseph (the son) died 

a bachelor, intestate, some years 

after.   3) that the said Benson 

Highmore died in Dec. 1767 

intestate without issue, seised of 

1771 



Earl's Inn and 2 fields called Tile 

Close and Pavy land in Carlisle   

4) that the said Daniel Highmore 

immediately entered on the estate 

as nephew and heir at law and 

adminis 

DVAN/2/12/3/12 

Deed of exchange between Sir 

Gilfrid Lawson of Brayton Bart. 

and John Spedding of 

Armathwaite Hall 

Lawson's field at Burthwaite for a 

5 acre piece of Bassenthwaite 

Common (part of John Spedding's 

allotment) 

14 Feb 

1771 

DVAN/2/12/3/13 
Assignment of James Spedding's 

1755 mortgage 

Sir William Lowther's Executor 

to [Dr] William Brownrigg of 

Ormathwaite, Esq. and Mary his 

wife. The principal sum was 

£5000 

30 July 

1777 

DVAN/2/12/3/14 
Customary bargain and sale for 

5s 

Between John Pirt of 

Bassenthwaite yeo. to John 

Spedding Esq. of a 2 acre close 

called Rowthmire otherwise 

Rowmire, in exchange for John 

Spedding's close called 

Monkholme otherwise 

Mirkholme. Licence to exchange 

same entered in full at foot 

29 Feb 

1779 

DVAN/2/12/3/15 
Assignment of the mortgage and 

bond Dr & Mars Brownrigg 

Sole administrators of John 

Spedding of Whitehaven 

deceased to John Spedding of 

Armathwaite Esq. son of James 

Spedding the younger son of the 

said John Spedding deceased.   

Reciting; that, at Mrs Brownrigg's 

request and "being thereunto also 

moved and induced by the 

veneration and respect which he 

must ever retain for the memory 

of the said John Spedding 

deceased his late much honoured 

father in law", and his affection 

for all the late John's descndants, 

particularly for his nephew the 

present John Spedding party 

thereto, Dr Brownrigg hereby 

"remits" the outstanding £1887 

17s 3d on condition that John pay 

him the £629 5s 9d due for 

Anthony Benn of Hensingham 

Esq. in right of his late wife 

Margaret (formerly Spedding) 

grandaughter and heir at law of 

the said John Spedding deceased 

as a quarter share of the principal, 

the distributive share (£1887 17s 

3d) of the other three-quarters of 

it being due to Mary Brownrigg, 

5 Feb 1780 



the doctor's wife, as 

administrattrix of the said John 

Spedding deceased "agreeable to 

the cus 

DVAN/2/12/3/16 
Lease and release of the 

Armathwaite Hall estate 

For sale forthwith to cover the 

many debtsof John Spedding, he 

"having accepted of a 

Commission in the Army" and 

about to embark for foreign 

service John Spedding to Thomas 

Story of Mirehouse Esq., 

Margaret Spedding of 

Armathwaite, widow and the Rev. 

Isaac Denton of Crosthwaite)   

Estate as follows;   1. 

Armathwaite Hall and lands   2. 

Ouzebridge (messuage and 

tenement)   3. Monkholme 

(messuage and tenement)   4. 

lands (named) in Bassenthwaite   

5. two messuages and lands in 

Bewaldeth (Torpenhow), one of 

them called Bell's Tenement in 

Old Park, Isel, the other having 

formerly belonged to Lancelot 

Fisher   6. Farmhouse and land at 

Old Park, Isel at present farmed 

by Henry and William Bragg   7. 

Birkness or Birkness Closes 

(ancient freehold messuage and 

tenement) in Gaitsgill alias 

Gasgarth in Buttermere township, 

Parish of Lorton   8. Messuage 

and tenement at "Gasgarth on the 

east side of the Rivulet there"   9. 

Lands (named) at "Gasgarth"   10. 

Sheep-heaf and stock of 956 

sheep (details) on Gasgarth Side 

and "Fletwort 

16 Oct 1795 

DVAN/2/12/3/17 

Deed of indemnity and covenant 

to produce documents relating to 

Armathwaite Hall Estate 

Between John Boustead of 

Craven Street London and Sir H. 

R. Vane of Hutton Hall, recites 

indenture dated 5 Jan 1859, 

another dated 19 Nov 1866 

10 Dec 

1866 

DVAN/2/12/4/1 
Papers of Charles Highmore of 

Armathwaite 

a) 1667 will of Robert Highmore 

of Armathwaite. Beneficiaries; 

wife Grace, property at 

Armathwaite and Bewaldeth 

Torpenhow, sons Robert (wife 

Barbary), Thomas and Joseph, 

grandchildren Patricus Highmore, 

Charles Highmore, Christopher 

Highmore, Edward Highmore, 

daughters Judith, Ruth, Barbary, 

1667-1748 



Jane Mary and Martha, does not 

name married daughters   b) 1665 

family tree with later annotation 

showing the crest and family of 

Highmore of Armathwaite   c) 

1742 quitclaim Benson Highmore 

of Carlisle gent. to Henry Barnes 

gent. administrator of Ralph 

Barnes deceased for a debt of 

£560 debt and 50s damages   

d)Mr Highmore's writings lists 

will of Robert 1667; lease and 

release1697; Charles Highmore to 

Lancelot Simpson of Penrith for a 

common recovery and 

exemplification, marriage 

settlement of Charles 21 May 

1698; exemplification of the 

verdict concerning the tythes of 

Burthwaite; 23 Sep 1726 recipt of 

James Lowther acknowledging 

the delivery of these documents   

e) 6 May 1743 another list of 

writings including those abo 

DVAN/2/12/5/1 
Braidness Estate mortgage 

[cancelled] 

Sir F. F. Vane Bart. of 

Armathwaite in the Parish of 

Bassenthwaite to John Jameson of 

Penrith linen and woollen draper, 

Joseph Fallowfield of Penrith 

druggist and grocer, and Thomas 

Hutton of Penrith attorney at law, 

trustee of the will of Jonathan 

Fallowfield late of Penrith 

druggist and grocer deceased, 

mortgage £2000 for hid greehold 

messuages, tenements, inclosures 

etc. at Braidness Bassenthwaite 

by estimation 136 acres late the 

estate of Joshua Lucock Bragg of 

Lorton Esq. deceased 

13 Jul 1813 

DVAN/2/12/6/1 
The Bank North Row 

Bassenthwaite 

8 & 9 Mar 1801 Conveyance by 

lease & release between 1) John 

Bell of North Row Bassenthwaite 

Yeo. and Jane his wife, 2) Martha 

Baaty of Uldale spinster and John 

Slater of Mell Becks 

Bassenthwaite Yeo. and Grace his 

wife, late Mitchinson, (Martha 

and Grace are the joint 

executrixes of the will of 

Jonathan Bell late of Syke 

Bassenthwaite yeo. deceased), 3) 

Richard Atkinson of 

Bassenthwaite Halls gent., 

consideration £400 for all those 

1801 



freehold parcels of land and 

allotments of common called The 

Bank by estimation 8 acres. 

Recites various mortgages and 

arrangements 

DVAN/2/12/7/1 

Deeds delivered by Sir F. F. 

Vane of Armathwaite Hall Bart. 

to Hugh Parkin of Skirsgill 

House Esq. granted in mortgage 

to Catherine Vane spinster 

Signed over to Hugh Parkin to 

secure £7000 in Oct 1801   1781 

probate copy of the will of John 

Spedding   1797 lease for a year 

between Joseph Littledale of 

Grays Inn, Isaac Hindley of 

Baldock Hertford, John Bolton of 

Liverpool, Christopher 

Brockbank of Whitehaven, 

William Brownrigg of 

Armathwaite Bassenthwaite 

Doctor of Physic, Anthony Benn 

of Hensingham , Thomas Strong 

of Mirehouse, Isaac Denton of 

Crosthwaite clerk and John 

spedding of Armathwaite of the 

one part and Sir F.F. Vane of 

Hutton of the other part for the 

Manor of Armathwaite and the 

mansion house call Armathwaite 

Hall at Bassenthwaite   1797 lease 

for a year, similar parties, for 

several farms and lands in the 

parishes of Bassenthwaite, 

Torpenhow and Isel   1797 lease 

for a year, between Shadrack Peat 

of Seaton yeo., Brownrigg, Benn, 

Story, Denton, Spedding and Sir 

F. F. Vane for grounds in the 

parishes of Torpenhow and Isell   

1797 release of seven parts 

between William Brownrigg and 

Anthony Benn together with 

Margaret Spedding (deceased) 

and Ja 

1801-1821 

DVAN/2/14/1/1 
Atkinson's Estate Pye Ing 

Plumpton 

1792 abstract of title of John 

Atkinson to estates at Pye Ing and 

to some parcels of land in Hutton 

Common Field covering 1726-

1786   1 Mar 1793 four 

admittances, Manor of Plumpton 

Joseph Hodgeson of Carlisle gent 

upon surrender of John Atkinson; 

messuage and tenement called 

Armstrongs Tenement customary 

rent £1 4s 8d,messuage and 

tenement called Millers Tenement 

and Story's Parcel situate at 

Blacksikes customary rent £1 3s 

9d, another called Stockells 

1792-1794 



Tenment at Black Sykes cust. rent 

13s 4d and a close called 

Henderson's Pye Ing cust. rent 8s 

2d   30 Mar 1794 mortgage 

between John Atkinson of Pye 

Ing yeoman and Joseph Hodgson 

of Carlisle   3 Jun 1794 

agreement between above parties 

to the absolute sale of Pye Ing 

includes a schedule of the house 

contents included in the sale 

DVAN/2/14/1/2 

Mortgage and subsequent sale of 

Atkinson's Estate Pye Ing 

Plumpton 

1 Mar 1793 Mortgage 

conveyance between 1) John 

Sowerby of Penrith blacksmith, 

2) Thomas Benson of Penrith 

staymaker, 3) John Atkinson of 

Pye Ing yeoman 4) Joseph 

Hodgson of Carlisle gent.   3 Jun 

1794 conveyance between John 

Atkinson and Joseph Hodgson for 

the purchase of the Pye Ing Estate 

1793-1794 

DVAN/2/14/1/3 
Hodgson's Estate Pye Ing 

Plumpton 

25 May 1812 four admittances of 

William Nicholson Hodgson 

eldest son of Joseph Hodgson 

gent deceased to the various parts 

of the Pye Ing Estate   30 Oct 

1819 extract of the Inglewood 

Inclosure Award showing 27 

acres awarded to Joseph Hodgson 

representative of Joseph Hodgson 

the original claimant   c. 1852 

map of exchange of lands 

between W. N. Hodgson Esq. 

M.P., R. W, Saunders Esq. and 

John Gray   31 Dec 1852 

Conveyance by way of exchange 

between Randle Wilkinson 

Sander of Nunwick Hall Esq., 

John Gray of Know Brow yeo. 

and William Nicholson Hodgson 

of Fisher Street House Carlisle 

[coloured plan on reverse] 

1812-1852 

DVAN/2/14/1/4 
Sir H. R. Vane's purchase of Pye 

Ing 

25 Oct 1854 admittance of W. N. 

Hodgson to Haythornes cust. rent 

3s 4d   18 Jul 1864 letter from 

Hodgson indicating the tenancy 

of Pye Ing and the terms   15 Sep 

1864 mortgage between 1) 

William Nicholson Hodgson of 

Newby grange near Carlisle Esq, 

2) Charles Wolley Preedy of 

Hunstanton Norfolk Esq. Charles 

Reynolds Williams and John 

Henry James of 62 Lincoln's Inn 

1854-1877 



Fields Esq. (the mortgagees) to 

secure £1900 with the consent of 

Lord Lonsdale. Lord of the 

Manor of Plumpton and a furtheer 

charge 15 Jun 1870 [contains a 

coloured plan of the estate]   15 

Sep 1864 bond of indmnity 

against claims to dower and 

freebench   8 Feb 1877 four 

admittances of Thomas Hesketh 

Hodgson of Newby Grange upon 

the death of his uncle W. N. 

Hodgson   Draft epitome of the 

title to Pye Ing   1877 schedule of 

deeds to Pye Ing handed to Sir 

Henry R. Vane Bart.   12 Feb 

1877 conveyance Thomas H. 

Hodgson & others to Sir H. R. 

Vane   Plan of the estate 

DVAN/2/14/1/5/1 

Various mortgages Henderson's 

Pye Ing, Pye Ing Head, and 

Stockell's 

3 Jun 1726 conveyance between 

William Armstrong of Pying 

Head and Thomas Hodgson of 

Newton, consideration £50 for 

Henderson's Pying rent 8s 2d 

[mortgage]   16 May 1733 bond 

that William Armstrong borrowed 

of Thomas Cust £70 upon a 

mortgage of Pye Ing customary 

rent £1 3s 9d and another 

Stockell's 13s 4d and a further 

sum of £30   20 Mar 1734 

conveyance between William 

Armstrong of Pye Ing Head, 

Parish of Hesket-in-the-Forest 

yeo. and Henry Mounsey of 

Birdsfield gent. consideration 

£100 for a messuage and 

tenement at Pying Head 

customary rent £1 4s 8d 

[mortgage]   29 Apr 1734 

admittance of Mrs Dorothy 

Pattinson upon the surrender of 

William Armstrong to a messuage 

and tenement customary rent £1 

4s 8d [mortgage]   1775 

admittance of John Atkinson son 

of Thomas Atkinson deceased to 

a close Henderson's Pye Ing at 

Blacksykes customary rent 8s 2d, 

a messuage and tenement called 

Stockell's Tenement rent 13s 4d, 

another called Armstrong's 

Tenement rent £1 4s 8d and 

another called Miller's Tenement 

and Story's Parcel 

1726-1775 



DVAN/2/14/1/5/2 Court case for trespass 

7 Mar 1792 mortgage of Pye Ing 

Head and Henderson's Pye Ing in 

the Manor of Plumpton to secure 

£100 between John Atkinson of 

Pye Ing yeo. and John Sowerby 

of Penrith blacksmith for all the 

customary messuage and 

tenement at Pye Ing customary 

rent £1 4s 8d called Armstrong's 

Tenement and a parcel of land 

called Henderson's Pye Ing rent 

8s 2d. Bond for the same in the 

matter of £200   17 July 1792 

mortgage between John Atkinson 

and Thomas Burn of Penrith yeo. 

to secure £100 for a messuage 

and tenement called Miller's 

Tenement and Storey's Parcel at 

Blacksykes Plumpton cust. rent 

£1 3s 9d and also Stockell's 

Tenement   21 Aug 1792 bond for 

£65 John Atkinson and Isaac 

Longrigg of Hutton bound to 

Joseph Sanderson and John 

Stevenson Preston of Penrith   8 

Jan 1793 bail bonds Isaac 

Longrigg of Grass Knop End in a 

plea of trespass against Joseph 

Sanderson and John Stevenson 

Preston and a similar one for John 

Atkinson on same charge   4 Mar 

1793 bond John Atkinson bound 

to Joseph Hodgson of Carlisle 

gent for £1000 for a 

1792-1794 

DVAN/2/14/1/6 Further parcel of records 

14 Jan 1747 conveyance between 

1) Thomas Westray of Castle 

Sowerby gent. executor of 

Thomas Hodgson of Newton yeo. 

since deceased, , 2) Thomas Cust 

of Penrith sole executor of 

Thomas Cust apothecary his 

father, 3) Henry Mounsey of 

Threlkeld gent. 4) William 

Armstrong of Greenwich Kent 

yeo. 5) Thomas Atkinson of 

Blacksykes yeo. William 

Armstrong being possessed of 

customary messuages and 

tenements at Pye Ing called 

Armstrong's Tenement, Storey's 

Tenement, Milner's Tenement, 

Stockdale's Tenement and a close 

called Henderson's Pye Ing in 

total 60 acres rent £3 9s 11d, 

recites various mortgages, 

1747-1851 



consideration £456 6s 1d paid by 

Atkinson   26 Jul 1758 

conveyance of lands in Hutton 

Common Field between Jeremiah 

Dockeray of Thomas Close yeo. 

and Thomas Atkinson of Pye Ing, 

consideration £33 7s 6d two acres 

and one rood called variously The 

Bank, Garbage, High Hartinflatt 

and Pudding Rigg, rent 3s 11d   

29 Jul 1761 general fine Hutton in 

the Forest admittance of Thomas 

Atkinson to the above property   3 

Jun 1774 admit 

DVAN/2/14/2/1 
Purchase of four parcels of land 

from Elizabeth Whelpdale 

1673 covenant for way to Taylor 

Tenement between John 

Murthwaite of Hutton joiner to 

John Nelson of Hutton shoemaker 

for Taylor Tenement customary 

rent 10s at Blacksyke providing 

he do not occupy any other 

ground   25 May 1749 

conveyance between 1) Elizabeth 

Whelpdale of Penrith spinster, 

Joseph Boak of Yanwath Hall 

Westmorland yeo. and Joseph 

Lowthian of Hutton-in-the-Forest 

yeo. 3) Thomas Murthwaite of 

Blacksykes for 3 roods lying on 

Farr Bank and half an acre called 

Garbish another half acre called 

Burtree cust. rent totals 2s 7d   

1749 admittance of Thomas 

Murthwaite to the above property 

upon the alienation of Elizabeth 

Whelpdale Manor of Hutton-in-

the-Forest   8 Jun 1758 

conveyance betweenJeremiah 

Dockray of Thomas Close Hutton 

and Thomas Murthwaite of 

Blacksikes Hesket, consideration 

£30 for half an acre of land in 

Hutton Common Field and 

another being upon Farr 

Gaingarth in Hutton and one rood 

at Garbridge, customary rent 3s 

1d (abutments given)   1758 

admittance of Thomas 

Murthwaite upon the surrender 

1673-1786 

DVAN/2/14/2/2 
Blacksyke Estate, Murthwaite's 

portion 

5 Jul 1794 conveyance between 

Christopher Thompson of Scotch 

Street Carlisle gent, John Ivison 

of Caldewgate Carlisle drover and 

Isaac Johnson of Unthank 

Skelton, consideration £27 10s 

1794-1811 



mortgage and a further £12 10s 

for Gaingarth   1794 admittance 

of Isaac Johnson upon alienation 

of Christopher Thompson and 

John Ivison for one and a half 

acres called Gaingarth, customary 

rent 1s 9d   13 Jan 1795 

conveyance between Isaac 

Johnson of Unthank skelton yeo. 

and Thomas Murthwaite the 

younger of Penrith, consideration 

£63 for one and a half acres at 

Gaingarth cust. rent 1s 9d   1795 

admittnce for the above property   

28 Apr 1795 conveyance between 

Revd. Thomas Kilner vicar of 

Bampton Westmorland and 

Thomas Murthwaite the younger 

of Penrith innkeeper, 

consideration £21 for half an acre 

at Gaingarth customary rent 4d   

1795 admittance of Thomas 

Murthwaite upon alienation of 

Thomas Kilner for one rood at 

Gaingarth   12 Jul 1811 

admittance of Thomas 

Murthwaite only son of Thomas 

Murthwaite deceased to four 

parcels of land up 

DVAN/2/14/3/1 

Various messuages and 

tenements at Blacksykes and 

Breckonbed 

1672 Manor of Plumpton 

admittance of John Banke and 

Janet his wife to a messuage and 

tenement at Blacksyke [Latin]   

1682 admittance of John Bank 

[Latin]   1685 admittance of John 

Armstrong upon the surrender of 

Thomas Ireland to property at 

Blacksykes Low Field [Latin]   

1688 conveyance between John 

Armstrong of Blacksykes yeo. 

and Robert Wilson, consideration 

£17 for several parcels of land 3 

acres more or less at Blacksykes 

Lowfield and Breckonbed, 

customary rent 6s 8d   1691 The 

above conveyance was a 

mortgage for three years and it 

seems that the property became 

Wilson's after default, it was then 

sold to William Gaitsketh   1691 

admittance of Mabella Robinson 

to a messuage and tenement at 

Blacksyke rend 6s 8d upon the 

death of Robert Robinson her 

father [Latin]   1703 power of 

1672-1720 



attorney from Lancelot Simpson 

of Penrith to John Browne and 

Richard Hinson both of Plumpton 

to surrender his messuage and 

tenement to the use of Thomas 

Mourthwaite of Hutton cust. rent 

4s, late the lands of Robert 

Hutton   1703 bond 

DVAN/2/14/3/2 
Blacksyke & Hasselsyke Estates, 

Gasgarth and Wallas 

28 Feb 1726 William Gasgarth of 

Lowside in Mungrisdale gent. 

appoints John Browne of 

Plumpton Wall his attorney for 

his admittance to several parcels 

of land approx 3 acres at 

Blacksykes Lowfield and 

Brewabed, cust. rent 6s 8d after 

the death of his father and these 

then to be surrendered to John 

Wallis of Blacksykes purchaser, 

consideration £19   1726 bond 

that William Gasgarth will adhere 

to the terms of the agreement with 

John Wallas indemnifying him 

against his mother and uncle 

Robert Wilson   1727 admittance 

of William Gasgarth son and heir 

of William Gasgarth deceased to 

land at Blacksykes Lowfield and 

Brackenbed, customary rent 6s 8d 

[Latin]   1727 admittance of John 

Wallas upon the surrender of 

William Gasgarth [Latin]   14 apr 

1727 receipt for £19 from John 

Wallis to William Gasgarth, 

signed and witnessed by John 

Browne and Richard Wordsworth   

12 Dec 1733 mortgage 

admittance of Ann Watson to 

John Hutton's tenement and 

meadow   26 Oct 1735 John 

Hutton of Hasselsyke yeo. 

appointed John Oliphant of 

Hutton 

1726-1738 

DVAN/2/14/3/3 
Admittances to tenements at 

Blacksikes and Brackenhead 

1763 admittance of Robert Wallas 

heir of John Wallas his father to 

two properties at Blacksikes and 

Brackenhead customary rents 4s 

& 6s 8d   1767 further 

admittances of John Wallas to a 

tenement at Blacksikes rent 6s 8d, 

land at Blacksikes and 

Brackenhead 6s 8d a messuage 

and tenement at Blacksikes 

Lowfield known at Taylor's 

Tenement rent 10s, messuage and 

1763-1800 



tenement at Blacksikes rent 4s 

and a parcel of meadow lying in 

Blacksikes field at Lords Bridge 

End rent 2d   1779 further 

admittances Thomas Sawer of 

Gamblesby upon the surrender of 

John Wallace for a mortgage for 

the above properties to secure 

£350   1788 further admittances 

of John Sawer eldest son and heir 

of Thomas Sawer deceased and 

readmittances of John Wallas, 

then the admittances of Philip 

Bousfield to the properties upon 

the surrender of John Wallas 

[mortgage?]   1800 admittances 

of John Wallas upon the 

surrender of Philip Bousfield and 

the surrender of John Wallas to 

Thomas Murthwaite the younger   

1811 admittance of Thomas 

Murthwaite only son of T 

DVAN/2/14/4/1 

Murthwaite Estate, 

enfranchisement and purchased 

by Sir H. R. Vane 

Jun 1813 Manor of Hutton and 

Middlesceugh, admittance of 

Thomas Murthwaite son of 

Thomas Murthwaite to four 

parcels of land upon far and near 

Gaingarth and Harding Flats cust. 

rent 3s 1d, half an acre upon 

Bourtree and half an acre on 

Garbish rent 1s 4d, three roods 

upon Far Bank rent 1s 3d. A 

further admittance to a rood on 

Gaingarth rent 4d and an acre and 

a half at Gaingarth rent 1s 9d   

Sept 1813 Manor of Plumpton 

admittance of Thomas son of 

Thomas Murthwaite of Penrith 

gent to a messuage and tenement 

at Lowfield rent 10s, another at 

Blacksikes rent £1 4s 4d, another 

at Blacksikes rent 6s 8d, another 

rent 4s, parcels of land at 

Blacksikes and Brackenbed rent 

6s 8d, and meadow at Blacksikes 

rent 2d   1832 Hutton & 

Middlesceugh general fine 

admittance Thomas Murthwaite 

for the four parcels of land   1851 

same manor admittance of John 

Gibson of Kensington near 

Liverpool gent. and Matilda 

Voller Murthwaite upon the gift 

of Thomas Murthwaite deceased   

1813-1877 



1865 Plumpton admittance of 

Matilda Volla Murthwaite of 65 

DVAN/2/14/5/1 
Monkhouse Estate part of 

Howson's Lambsceugh Estate 

a) 28 Feb 1623 conveyance 

Manor of Plumpton between 

William Munckhouse 

[Monkhouse]of Plownton 

[Plumpton] yeo. and Peter 

Murthat of the same yeo. 

consideration £10 for New Close 

lying next to Peter's ground   b) 2 

Dec 1637 conveyance 

betweenWilliam Munkasse 

[Monkhouse] of Plumpton Wall 

carrier and William Musgrave 

alias Sanderson of Plumpton 

Foot,consideration £40 for a 

messuage and tenement at 

Plumpton Lambsceugh Yeats 

customary rent 13s 8d obligation 

attached   c) 25 Mar 1646 

conveyance between William 

Musgrave alias Sanderson and 

Richard Howson of Hutton 

consideration £36 for a messuage 

and tenement at Plumpton Parke 

called Lambsceugh cust. rent 13s 

8d obligation attached   d) 10 Feb 

1680/1 conveyance Plumpton 

between Richard Murthwaite 

clerk now vicar of Gilcrux upon 

the death of Peter Murthwaite 

clerk and John Howson of 

Thomas Close Hutton, 

consideration £25 for his 

messuage and tenement called 

Mathew Hight rent 5s and the 

adjoining New Close rent 3s   e) 

25 Jan 1681 admittance of John 

Howson son of Richard 

1623-1646 

DVAN/2/14/5/2 
Admittances to the Hutton 

portion of the Howson Estate 

a) 16 Apr 1719 Plumpton 

admittance of Thomas Howson 

son and heir of John Howson 

deceased to a messuage and 

tenement rent 13s 4d. Another for 

Matthew Height and New Close 

rent 8s   b) 16 Apr 1730 Manor of 

Plumpton admittance of John 

Howson upon the surrender of 

Samuel Hutton to several parcels 

of land at Black Sykes Field cust. 

rent 3s 4d   c) 5 Jan 1735 Manor 

of Hutton admittance of Jane wife 

of Thomas Howson to a 

messuage and tenement at New 

Rent customary rent 6s 4d   d) 10 

1719-1772 



Aug 1751, 29 Jul 1761, 4 Jun 

1772, 5 Jul 1775 & 14 Aug 1786 

Hutton admittance of John 

Howson to 6 roods upon the 

Banks, 2 roods upon Hoodstone 

and I rood upon Bryson Spotts 

rent 4s   e) 13 Apr 1763 

admittance of John Howson of 

Lambsceugh son of Thomas 

deceased to Lambskeugh rent 13 

4d and Mathew Height rent 8s   f) 

10 Oct 1772 admittance of 

Thomas Howson son and heir of 

John Howson to a messuage and 

tenement called Lambskeugh at 

Black Sykes, rent 13 4d. Another 

for Mathew Height and New 

Close rent 8s. Another for several 

parcels of land at 

DVAN/2/14/5/3 
Howson Estate, inheritance and 

mortgages 

a) 2 Nov 1815 conveyance 

between William Cartner of Field 

Head Hesket and Milla his wife 

and John Howson of Lambsceugh 

Hesket, consideration £73 an acre 

at Garbridge in Hutton Field cust. 

rent 1s 3d   b) 3 Nov 1815 

admittance of John Howson to the 

above field   c) 11 Sep 1826 

admittance of John Howson after 

the death of his father Thomas to 

2 roods upon Hudstone 1 rood 

upon Beyson Spotts 3 roods on 

Bank and 3 roods on the Bank 

rent 4s. 6 Aug 1828 admittance of 

John Howson son of Thomas 

Howson deceased to several 

parcels of land at Blacksykes 

customary rent 3s 4d, another for 

Lambsceugh rent 13s 4d, another 

for Matthew Height and New 

Close rent 8s   d) extract of the 

will of John Howson made4 Jun 

1836 proved 28 Dec 1839, 

estateto eldest son Thomas, other 

children Joseph, Elizabeth, Jane, 

Ann and Mary   e) 12 Feb 1840 

copy of an agreement between 

Thomas Howson and Elizabeth 

Howson both of Lambsceugh 

widow (she being the widow of 

John) to pay her widow's thirds or 

dower of £17 per year   f) 1839 

legacy receipts fo 

1815-1842 

DVAN/2/14/5/4 Howson Estate 
a) 30 Nov 1843 assignment of a 

mortgage & further mortgage 
1843-1866 



between Thomas Howson and 

Sarah Wilkinson to Mary 

Johnston of Penrith widow to 

secure £250 with corresponding 

admittances for the Manor of 

Plumpton rents 8s and 3s 4d   b) 

17 Jan 1851 admittance Manor of 

Hutton of Thomas Howson for 

Beyson Spotts etc. rent 4s   c) 5 

Jun 1854 mortgage 1) Thomas 

Howson of Lambsceugh, 2) 

Thomas Howson of Skelton 

farmer, John Howson of Skelton 

labourer and John Todhunter of 

Motherby Greystoke trustee of 

the will of Ann Howson of 

Skelton deceased, 3) Thomas 

Howson of Skelton eldest son of 

Ann, 4) James Wilkin of Millzes 

Greystoke wood ranger to secure 

£400   d) 5 Jun 1854 admittance 

of James Wilkin rent 13s 4d and 

another for Thomas Howson of 

Skelton farmer rent 13s 4d   e) 7 

Nov 1857 copy probate of the 

will of James Wilkin of Millzes in 

Matterdale woodwarden 

deceased, beneficiaries; brother 

Thomas Wilkin pawnbroker 

Liverpool, brother in law William 

Hogarth of Deepdale Hall 

Patterdale appointed guardians, 

children Mary Jane, 

DVAN/2/14/5/5 
Purchase of the Howson Estate, 

Lambsceugh by Sir H. R. Vane 

a) 29 Sep 1871 Manor Plumpton 

admittanceof Thomas Johnston of 

5 Raymond Buildings Grays Inn 

gent upon the devise of Mary 

Johnston of Penrith deceased for 

two properties rent 8s and 3s 4d   

b) 8 Nov 1871 transfer of 

mortgage from the devisees in 

trust of Mary Johnston to Miss 

Ann Alloway and the relevant 

admittances to the above 

properties   c) 9 Dec 1874 transfer 

of mortgage and further charge 

between Thomas Howson of 

Lambsceugh and William Noble 

of Little Water Bampton 

Westmorland with associated 

admittance also earlier admittance 

for William Hogarth of Deepdale 

Hall deceased   d) 5 Sep 

1877declaration of title Thomas 

Howson of Church House Skelton 

1871-1877 



(now 83 years) along with a 

schedule of the Howson estate 

including freeholds with abstract 

of the will of Ann Howson   e) 5 

Sep 1877 conveyance of an estate 

of 56 acres 2 roods12 perches 

between Thomas Howson and his 

mortgagees to Sir H. R. Vane, 

consideration £3070 (colour plan 

and schedule) and associated 

admittances of Vane to property 

in the Manor of Plumpton 

DX 200/5 
Silver-plated plate of The 

Tobaccionist Society, Carlisle 
 

undated 

[circa 

nineteenth 

century] 

DX 774/1/1 
Messuage and tenement at 

Sunderland 

1589 Dispute over inheritance 

Thomas White of Sunderland and 

Richard White of Uldaill and 

Barnabe Emetwell[?] of Caldbeck 

messuage relating to a tenement 

customary rent 20s   15 Oct 1663 

conveyance between Thomas 

Scott and John Twentyman, 

consideration £67 m & t rent 8s 

4d at Sunderland   17 Oct 1663 

admittance of John Twentyman 

after the surrender of Thomas 

Scott of Sunderland to a 

messuage and tenement rent 8s 4d   

1717 admittance of Thomas 

Greenop rent 8s 4d   1741 

conveyance between Jonathan 

Greenup of Emeth in Norfolk and 

Joseph Greenup of Kirkhouse 

Cumberland, consideration £120 

for the tenement at Sunderland 

rent 8s 4d   1753 abstract of title 

records 1744 that Joseph Greenup 

sold his close named Croft to 

Joseph Hunter the younger rent 1s 

4d, subsequently the tenement at 

Sunderland was sold to Joseph 

Hunter rent 8s 4d, his son Joseph 

was admitted tenant in 1753 upon 

the death of his father 

1589-1753 

DX 774/1/2 
Moorhouse Tenement, Grisdale's 

Tenement 

1762 admittance of Thomas 

Greenup heir of Joseph deceased 

to a messuage and tenement rent 

4s 2d   1763 conveyance between 

Jacob Ritson senior blacksmith & 

Esther his wife and Jacob Ritson 

junior butcher (second son) to a 

messuage and tenement at 

1762-1769 



Sunderland consideration £120 

for Moorhouse Tenement at 

Sunderland rent 4s 4d which 

Christopher Moorhouse 

surrendered to Peter Ritson in 

1665 an ancestor of Jacob and a 

third part of a tenement rent 2s 

10d purchased in 1672 from 

Thomas Furnace, Jacob senior 

makes certain reservations   1768 

conveyance Jacob Ritson senior 

to Thomas Ritsonof Workington 

(third son) consideration £79 for 

messuage and a quarter of the 

tenement called Grisdale's 

Tenement   1769 notice of a 

general fine on the death of the 

Lady of the Manor addressed to 

Thomas Greenup, rent 4s 2d and 

John Fisher rent 8s 4d & 4s 6d   

n.d. admittance of John Fisher 

eldest son and heir of Joseph rent 

8s 4d & 4s 6d 

DX 774/1/3 Fisher and Cape families 

1774 admittance of Ann Fisher 

spinster eldest sister of John 

Fisher rent 7s 10d & 4s 3d   1776 

conveyance Ann Fisher spinster 

and John Hudson the younger of 

Cragg upon their marriage of The 

Old House, the New House rents 

4s 3d & Is 9d and also to 

complete the new house John 

Fisher was building when he died 

rent 6s and a halfpenny   1779 

conveyance between John 

Furnass of Sunderland yeo. and 

Joseph Furnass of the same and 

Mary his wife to Jacob Ritson of 

the same Butcher, consideration 

£30 10s for Farr Close and the 

Bank House part of the yearly 

rent of 8s 4d creation of a trust   

1781 general fine admittance of 

Thomas Greenup to a half 

tenement rent 4s 2d another 

admitting John Hudson for a 

messuage called Old House and 

closes called Hollarains and 

Blenkhouse Close rent 4s 3d and 

further closes called Bracken 

Slack or Backheads, Hall Steads, 

East Croft and East Croft End and 

a dale in the Westfield rent 1s 9d 

halfpenny   A further admittance 

of Ann Hudson wife of John for a 

1774-1788 



messuage and parcel of ground of 

the 

DX 774/1/4 
Hunter and Moorehouse 

famillies 

1791 customary conveyance John 

Hunter of Sunderland and John 

Moorhouse the younger of 

Bothell Torpenhow grandson of 

the said John Hunter all his 

customary messuages and 

tenements, rents 8s 4d, 4s 2d and 

7d   1793 customary conveyance 

John Hudson of Cragg in 

Setmurthy yeo and Ann his wife 

to Joseph Thirlwall of Stanley 

consideration £580 10s rent 6s 

and a halfpenny held by Ann and 

other customary lands   1793 

admittance of Joseph Thirwall 

upon the surrender of Ann 

Hudson rent 6s and a halfpenny 

and another upon the surrender to 

John Hudson for Old House, 

Hollerains and Blinkhouse Glose 

rent 4s 3d and closes called 

Brackenslack, High Hostead or 

Hall Steads, East Croft and East 

Croft End rent 1s 3d and a 

halfpenny   1794 admittance to 

Thomas Greenup to a messuage 

and tenement 3s 8d and another 

for Joseph Thirlwall rents 4s 3d, 

1s 3d halfpenny and 6s and a 

halfpenny, another for Jacob 

Ritson rents 4s, 2s 5d, 1s and 2s 

6d   1799 mortgage between John 

Moorehouse of Bothel gent. late a 

lieutenant in the militia and 

1791-1799 

DX 774/1/5 
Thirlwall, Moorhouse and 

Williamson families 

1802 admittance of John 

Thirlwall brother and heir of 

Joseph Thirlwall deceased to 

properties rents 4s 3d, 1s 3d 

halfpenny and 6s and a halfpenny   

1803 Mortgage John Moorehouse 

of Chelsea Middlesex wine 

merchant and Joseph Nicholson 

of Keswick gent to secure £400   

1805 assignment of a bond by 

lease and release between Hannah 

Routledge of Lowhouse Mill 

Cleator widow and Sir Wilfrid 

Lawson of Brayton Bart. Recites 

John Moorhouse the younger of 

Bothel and John Moorhouse the 

elder but since of Westfield near 

Harrington and now of 

Sunderland came into the hands 

1802-1806 



of Hannah in the penal som of 

£800 with the proviso if the 

original £400 was paid by a 

certain date consideration £422 

14s 9d   1806 release of a 

messuage and tenement at 

Sunderland, Moorhouse assignees 

to Joseph Williamson of Parton 

merchant   1806 conditions of 

sale for a messuage and tenement 

and land called Greens, East 

Gailes, East Croft, West Gails, 

West Croft, Broad Roods, Low 

Garth, Hutchin Close, Notherend, 

Dalts Dales, 3 dales in the Far 

West Fiel 

DX 774/1/6 

Various mortgages and 

administration of John 

Moorhouse the younger a 

bankrupt 

1807 assignment of a mortgage 

Joseph Nicholson of Keswick to 

Joseph Williamson of Parton 

merchant   1807 admittance of 

John Thirlwall to the Old Hose 

and lands rent 4s 3d and 1s 3d 

and a halfpenny   1807 abstract of 

title John Allnutt and Randle 

Hopley assessors of John 

Moorhouse the younger, a 

bankrupt to a freehold estate 

(lately enfranchised) at 

Sundererland   1808 feoffment of 

parcels of ground at Sunderland 

John Moorhouse to Joseph 

Williamson consideration£180 

and another   1809 conveyance by 

lease and release the devisees and 

heir of Sir Wilfrid Lawson to 

Joseph Williamson   1809 lease 

between Elizabeth Mawson of 

Goat Bridekirk widow and 

William Nicholson of Sunderland   

1809 conveyance between Robert 

Cragg of Harrington and Ruth his 

wife and Samuel Stockdale son of 

John Stockdale of Sunderland 

consideration £21 for a messuage 

customary rent 4d at Sunderland   

1810 mortgage by lease and 

release between John Thirlwall of 

Staley Northumberland and Paul 

Vaillant of Hexham Esq. to 

secure £500 

1807-1810 

DX 774/1/7 
Vaillant, Thirlwall and 

Wilkinson families 

1815 lease of farm for 7 years 

rent £36 Elizabeth Mawson of 

Goat Bridekirk widow to John 

Mitchell the elder and John 

Mitchell the younger   1818 

1815-1821 



mortgage by lease & release 1) 

Miss Catherine Vaillant of 

Bracknell Berks spinster, William 

Leake surgeon and Harriet his 

wife to John Wilkinson to secure 

£900 (both females nieces and 

coheiresses of Paul Vaillant of 

Hexham 2) Thomas Dodd of 

Crainshaugh Northumberland and 

Mabel his wife (widow of Paul 

Vaillant), 3) John Thirlwall of 

Sunderland brother of Joseph 

Thirlwall late of Stanley Hall 

Embelton, 4) John Wilkinson the 

younger of Arkleby Mill 

Plumbland miller   1821 lease and 

release conveyance between John 

Wilkinson of Southwaite Mill 

Brigham miller and John 

Thirlwall of Sunderland and 

Elizabeth his wife to John Ritson 

of Tallantire Bridekirk for the 

New House and the Old House 

and 4 acres of land considertion 

£500   1821 conveyance by lease 

and release of a close at 

Sunderland between John 

Wilkinson of Southwaite Mill 

miller and John Thirlwall to 

Elizabeth Maw 

DX 774/1/8 Stockdale and Benson families 

1822 mortgage between Samuel 

Stockdale of Sunderland and 

Tyson Thompson of 

Cockermouth shoemaker 

consideration £40   1823 

mortgage extension between 

Samuel Stockdale of Sunderland 

and Tyson Thompson of 

Cockermouth shoemaker for £40   

1823 7 year lease of farm, rent 

£30 Elizabeth Mawson to John 

and Robert Mitchell of Old Park 

Isell   1825 assignment of a 

mortgage Samuel Stockdale of 

Sunderland with Tyson 

Thompson and Jane Satterthwaite 

of Cockermouth spinster for £80   

1847 sale agreement Henry 

Ritson of Whitehaven wine 

merchant and Thomas Mawson of 

Workington Hall Mills miller for 

the freehold messuage and 

tenement at Sunderland now in 

the occupation of Joseph 

Robinson as tenant containing 50 

1822-1869 



acres or thereabouts consideration 

£1500, memorandum 1848 from 

Thomas Mawson that he has 

agreed with his brother to transfer 

the contract to him   1848 extract 

from Isell award of allotments set 

unto Jacob Ritson   1858 

arbitrator's award as to 

differences in respect of premises 

in Sunderland between Isaac 

Mawson and Samuel 

DX 774/2/1 
Deeds relating to the manor of 

Botchardgate 

3 Feb 1667 conveyance between 

John Bacon of Briscoe and Henry 

Lister of Damside [Carlisle] 

consideration £22 for his 

tenantright in the Manor of 

Botchergate 2 acres called Roud 

Crofts [gives abutments annual 

rent 2s   1853-4 Admittances to 

the Manor of Botchergate came 

James Losh devisee under the 

will of Sarah Losh of a messuage 

and tenement at Brisco rent 6d, 

another for two closes called 

Brisco Closes and another near 

Petteril commonly called Old 

Town 4 acres, rent 4s 9d, another 

for a dwelling house and shop 

known as Maltcroft House, rent 

2d, another for several messuages 

and tenements at Brisco formerly 

Thomas Nicholsons, apportioned 

rent 4s, another for several 

parcels of land at Brisco rent 7s 

4d surrended by James Losh to 

the use of Robert Richardson 

Dees and another surrender by 

James Losh to Richardson Dee of 

a messuage and tenement at 

Brisco rent 15s 4d, another for 

half an acre rent 3d 

1667 1853-

1854 

DX 774/4/1 Receipts and eviction notices 

1695 receipt Thomas Greenop 

half of his fine £5 10s due to Sir 

Wilfrid Lawson and another for 

the other part of the fine   1763 

receipt Thomas Greenup £11 for 

his fine upon the death of his 

father due to Miss Lawson   1770 

receipt, received of Isaac 

Whitelock and Thomas Greenup 

to Thomas Downs for interest of 

late wife's money from 1769   

1779 received of Thomas 

Greenup for his house at 

Sunderland £2 4s   1792 notice to 

1695-1803 



quit to John Moorhouse tenant 

from Thomas Greenup to his 

messuage and closes at 

Sunderland   1793 Mr Thomas 

Greenup to John Furnass overseer 

for the poor of Sunderland 

Quarter   1800 notice to quit to 

William Nicholson tenant from 

Thomas Greenup to property at 

Sunderland. Reverse accounts for 

wheat and barley   1800 as above 

notice to quite to William 

Sanderson for property at 

Sunderland   1803 notice of date 

of manor court of Isel sent to 

Thomas Greenup at Cockermouth   

1801 draft agreement between 

Thomas Greenup of Cockermouth 

weaver and Jacob Ritson of 

Sunderland husbandman to rent a 

messuage and 

DX 774/4/2 Elizabeth Mawson's Estate 

1808 To the Commissioners 

appointed for the division of the 

common, Elizabeth Mawson of 

Goat claims a share of 

Sunderland Common for 16 acres 

or thereabouts of infield land   

1816-1820 rent accounts paid by 

John Michael for land in 

Sunderland   1823 inventory of 

goods seized by Robert Jackson 

bailiff of Elizabeth Mawson for 

£91 8s 9d arrears for a property at 

Sunderland held by John Mitchell 

the elder & younger and Peter 

Head as tenants. List of goods 

taken from the kitchen, parlour, 

upstairs, barn, stable, dairy and 

about the premises also cattle, a 

horse husbandry gear and 

household furniture, copy of letter 

sent to Peter Head at Carlisle, an 

account of what each item made 

and to whom sold   Feb 1823 

lease for 7 years Robert Mitchell 

and John Mitchell tenants also 

agreement that they will find ten 

new gates and posts for Elizabeth 

Mawson's farm at Sunderland   

Apr 1823 accounts of repairs at 

Sunderland naming workmen and 

suppliers, agreement for building 

a wall   Boundaries of Sunderland 

Heads belonging to E 

1808-1823 



DX 774/4/3 
Sale posters and particulars for 

various farms 

1840 sale poster tenement at 

Sunderland Isel house and 50 

acres now in the occupation of 

Robert Coates as farmer   circa 

1840 sales particulars, Nether 

Raw in the Parish of Caldbeck, 

farm at Blennerhassett 

Torpenhow 100+ acres, a 

messuage and tenement near 

Bothel Torpenhow, another at 

Westnewton Bromfield Parish, 

anther at Sunderland, another 

called Moorgill at Allerby 

(customary land in Manor of 

Oughterside) all part of the 

property of the late Thomas 

Benson Esq. of Cockermouth 

who died in 1807   1854 sale 

poster for three closes of land 

called Bruntriggs in excess of 33 

acres in the Townshop of 

Threapland now in the occupation 

of Robert Mitchell as tenant   

1865 sale of estate at Sunderland 

above 89 acres now in the 

occupation of Robert Coats 

1840-1865 

DX 774/4/4 

Miscellaneous items relating to 

Sunderland and St Cuthbert 

Carisle 

1823 fields with abutments 

named Heads, Doats, Far Nether 

Ends, Near Nether Ends, 

Paddock, Croft End, Garth, 

Greens, Mawson's Common 

Fields and Thirwalls Common 

Field   1827 request for lime Isaac 

Asbridge to Robert Mitchell   

1841 notice to quit William 

Mawson to Robert Mitchell   

1850 survey of the different Dalts 

in the hedge adjoining 

Brackenslack belonging to 

different individuals   1865 estate 

sold for £2105, gives names of 

buyers but does not name estate   

1848 succession duty of Elizabeth 

the wife of James Atkinson 

draper of Carlisle on the death of 

Sarah Moore an annuity and a 

customary farm called Blackhall 

Park St Cuthbert Carlisle   1872 

as above upon the death of Ann 

Pearson for a freehold messuage 

and tenement at Burthwaite St 

Cuthbert   small diagram of hedge 

at East Croft Sunderland   n.d. 

18th century plan of a farm with 

small sketch of farmhouse and 

1799-1872 



schedule of field acreages, 

property unnamed [fragile   1799 

land tax John Scott of Woodside 

for his messuage and tenement at 

Brisco St Cuthbert Carlis 

DX 774/5/1 
Lightfoot, Nicholson, Brown, 

Henderson and Losh 

1705 memorandum of agreement 

Thomas Lightfoot of Carlisle 

merchant consideration £140 

besides the £600 mortgage or 

purchase money paid by John 

Nicholson of Hawkesdale for his 

property at Brisco   1749 a further 

memorandum between Joseph 

Nicholson of Hawkesdale and 

John Brown of Melgards [Hesket] 

for the sale of the property at 

Brisco   1778 customary 

conveyance between Robert 

Henderson of Rickergate and 

John Losh of Woodside 

consideration £35 of his dwelling 

house and shop at Brisco 

1705-1778 

DX 774/8/1 
Strong Estate and Burthwaite 

Hill Estate 

1773 mortgage between Jacob 

Strong of Burthwaite carpenter 

and Mary his wife and Robert 

Strong of Threapland Torpenhow 

carpenter, consideration £200 for 

two freehold closes at Burthwaite 

called Far and Near Croft 6 acres 

now in the occupation of Isaac 

Simpson and also two freehold 

closes called Pasture Close and 

Near Pasture Close 5 acres   1777 

reconveyance between Robert 

Strong of Plumbland carpenter 

and Jacob Strong of Blackhall 

Park carpenter having paid off the 

mortgage   1811 conveyance of a 

house and close at Burthwaite 

reserving occupation for life 

between 1) Thomas Hodgson of 

Kirkbampton gent. eldest son of 

Joseph Hodgson deceased who 

was mortgagee of the premises, 2) 

Jacob Strong of Burthwaite and 

3) Isaac Strong his youngest son 

for a house and land by 

estimation 2 acres now in the 

occupation of Jacob rent 2s 8d, 

Manor of Blackhall admittances 

attached   1829 conveyance 

between Isaac Strong of 

Cumwhinton Wetheral and David 

Reed of Burthwaite consideration 

1773-1908 



£120 for the above property, 

admittances att 

DX 774/9/1 
Three cottages, gardens etc. in 

Wigton 

1784 customary conveyance 

between 1) John Jefferson of Mill 

Beck Westward gent. 2) John 

Reed of Knowhill Holme Cultram 

gent. 3) John Reed of Wiggonby 

Aikton 4) Joseph Barwise of 

Wigton bricklayer consideration 

£334 and the mortgage of £401 

paid for 3 customary messuages 

with appurtenances (7 acres) at 

Wigton on the east side of Wigton 

Street bounded by Kings Street 

on the west and the churchyard in 

part in the north and the vicarage 

ground on the south, apportioned 

rent of 7s 5d   28 Nov 1792 

declaration of trust as to certain 

customary promises between 

Joseph Jackson of Longthwaite 

yeoman and Isaac Barwise mason 

consideration £400 [to secure a 

mortage]   28 Nov 1792 

conveyance between Isaac 

Barwise of Longthwaite Wigton 

mason and Robert Wilkinson of 

Longthwaite for the above 

property consideration 10s and a 

further declaration of trust 

between Robert Wilkinson and 

Isaac Barwise   1802 between 

Joseph Barwise of Wigton mason 

only son and heir of Isaac 

Barwise deceased and Jane 

Barwise spinster daughter of the 

1784-1802 

DX 774/9/2 
Bundle of deeds relating to 

Wigton 

1808 Indenture between Isaac 

Barwise of Liverpool currier and 

John Hodgson of Wigton gent. 

consideration 10s   1808 

Indenture between Robert 

Wilkinson of Longthwaite 

Wigton gent. and John Hodgson 

of Wigton gent. consideration 10s   

1808 Indenture between the 

above Robert and Mary his elder 

daugther of Joseph Jackson 

formerly of Longthwaite but late 

of Moss deceased and John 

Hodgson consideration 10s and 

admittance of John Hodgson upon 

the surrender of Robert and Mary 

Wilkinson for the three cottages   

Schedule of deeds 1784-1808 

1808- 



DX 807/1 
Customary bargain and sale for 

£34 

Peter Backhouse, of Whitrigg, 

yeoman to John Wilson, of 

[Langcroftes], yeoman of half his 

messuage [house], tenement and 

farmhold called Beckbrowe 

[Farm], in Whitrigg, on the west 

side of the West Dyke, now in 

vendor's occupation. Yearly rent 

4s. Sold by licence of the 

Reverend William Orbell, of 

Bowness-on-Solway, Lord of the 

Manor. Parchment with damaged 

seal tag. Mark of vendor. 

Endorsed note of livery of seisin 

(i.e. putting the purchaser into 

possession by the manor 

steward). Signed by the 9 people 

present, including: Rowland 

Glaisters, John Lawson, William 

Donalt [Donald], Thomas 

Huddart, John Jackson, Robert 

Jackson, Robert Huddart. Also 

endorsed (in 18th century hand) 

"Peter field deed." 16 November 

17 James I (1619). List retained 

for information. Original 

document withdrawn 

16 Nov 

[1619] 

DX 807/2 
Customary bargain and sale for 

£45 

Reverend Henry Fearon, of St 

Patrick's Close, Dublin to Thomas 

Carter, of Langthwaite, in the 

parish of Embleton, yeoman of 

his messuage, tenement or 

farmhold at Langthwaite. Rent 2s 

1d per year, now in vendor's 

occupation. To be held of the Earl 

of Northumberland according to 

the custom of tenant right used 

within the Honour of 

Cockermouth by paying 3s rent 

(part of the said 2s 1d rent) at the 

usual farm days (i.e. rent days), 

and to be held of George 

Braithwaite, esquire, according to 

the custom of tenant right used in 

the Manor of Embleton by paying 

22d (the remainder of the said 2s 

1d rent) at the usual farm days. 

Parchement with 2 holes which 

were there at time of writing and 

seal tag.Signature of Henry 

Fearon. 6 April 7 Chas [I] [1631]. 

List retained for information. 

Original document withdrawn 

6 Apr 

[1631] 



DX 807/3 Bargain and sale for £40 

John Backhouse, the elder, of 

Hillhouse, in the parish of 

Holm[e] Cultram and John 

Backhouse, the younder, of 

Hillhouse, in the parish of 

Holm[e] Cultram, yeoman to 

Robert Lawson, of Bowness-on-

Solway, yeoman, of their freehold 

messuage and 6 acres of arable 

land and meadow at Long Crofts, 

parish of Bowness-on-Solway. 

Yearly free rent 4d to the Lord of 

the Manor. Parchment. Two seal 

tags. Signatures of the 2 vendors.   

10 February 3 William and Mary 

[1691/2]. List retained for 

information. Original document 

withdrawn 

10 Feb 

[1691-

1692] 

DX 807/4 
Customary bargain and sale for 

5s 0d 

Thomas Wilson, of Long Crofts, 

parish of Bowness-on-Solway, 

yeoman to Robert Wilson, of 

Long Crofts, parish of Bowness-

on-Solway, yeoman   with 

consent of the Reverend Gerrard 

Lowther, rector of Bowness-on-

Solway, as Lord of the Manor, his 

messuages and tenements in the 

townfields of Whitrigg and 

Cardurnock; yearly rent to the 

rector of 8s 0d. Provision for 

Thom,as to occupy half the 

premises during his lifetime, he 

paying all rents due for it; 

provision that Janet, the said 

Thomas' wife, shall occupy a 

third part of the premises if she 

outlive her husband. Paper Non-

heraldic seal (black shellac) and 

signature of Thomas Wilson. 9 

April 13 Anne, 1714. List 

retained for information. Original 

document withdrawn 

9 Apr 1714 

DX 807/5 Lease 

From Robert Wilson, of Long 

Crofts, parish of Bowness-on-

Solway, yeoman to Thomas 

Wilson, of Long Crofts, parish of 

Bowness-on-Solway, yeoman, for 

the lifetime of the latter. In 

consideration of all custimary 

messuages, lands and tenements 

now or late in the said Thomas' 

occupation, of one half-part of his 

"messuage and tenement of 

freehold" in Longcrofts, and also 

of one half-part of all lands 

17 Apr 

1714 



conveyed by the said Thomas to 

the said Robert by the deed 

indented 9 April 1714, and of its 

outbuildings, orcahrds, common 

of pasture and tarbary. Also of 

one half part of his half-share in 

the water and corn mill called 

Anthorn Mill, parish of Bowness-

on-Solway; said Thomas to pay 

half the rents and taxes for the 

lands; provision that if nay of the 

above mentioned customary or 

tenantright lands be evicted (no 

mention of these in DX 807/4) or 

if Thomas disturb Robert's use of 

them, then the said Robert may 

re-enter. Provision that if Thomas 

die before May 1st in any year, 

then the year's "rents, profits and 

produce" 

DX 807/6 Bargain and sale for £80 10s 0d 

Robert Lawson, "of the town and 

parish of Bowness-on-Solway," 

yeoman to Thomas Wilson, son 

and heir of Robert Wilson, of 

Longcrofts, parish of Bowness-

on-Solway, yeoman, of his 

freehold messuage and tenement 

in the township of Longcrofts, og 

4d yearly free rent, lately 

occupied bY Thomas Donald. 

Parchment, non-heraldic seal (red 

shellac). Mark of Robert Lawson. 

11 February 21 Geo II 1747. List 

retained for information. Original 

document withdrawn 

11 Feb 

[1724-

1725] 

DX 807/7 
Customary bargain and sale for 

£243 

John Farlam, of Whitrigg, in the 

parish of Bowness-on-Solway, 

yeoman with his mother, Mary 

Farlam, widow to John Wilson, of 

Longcrofts, parish of Bowness-

on-Solway, yeoman, for 

customary messuage and 

tenement in Longcrofts, 

townfields in the Manor of 

Drumburgh and Barony of Burgh 

(Lord Lonsdale, lord thereof). 

Annual rent 13s 8d; quitclaim by 

Mary Farlam for 10s 0d of her 

rights of dower in the property. 

Parchment, heraldic seal (red 

shellas) applied twice. Signed by 

John Farlam, see drawing, * 

(=arms of (John) Pearson). 

Endorsed with note that "this 

deed was presented at the court 

9 Jul 1747 



holden at Burgh on ninth of 

October 1747. W Armitage, 

steward of said court. Barony of 

Burgh." With recipts for the 

purchase and dower-right money, 

paid in full 9 July 1747. Source: 

Cumberland Families and their 

Heraldry by C R Hudleston and R 

S Boumphrey, 1978. John 

Pearson was town clerk of 

Carlisle from 1740-1743 and died 

in 1774. He lived in Castle Street 

and was an attorney. After the 

city fell to the Jacobites in 1745 

and 

DX 807/8 
Admittance of John Wilson, of 

Longcrofts 

To parcel of ground in The Dam 

in Longcrofts, ancient yearly 

customary rent 4d, part of the 

lands in the sale of 9 July. Fine 

paid for admission 10s 10d. 

Manor of Drumburgh in the 

Barony of Burgh. Signed by W 

Armitage, gentleman steward and 

by Lord Lonsdale. Endorsed with 

note of costs of this: "fine 10s.0d. 

[for] admittance and jury, 2s. 

10d." [The jury had to present 

their verdict that the land had 

changed hands since the manor 

court had last met.] Printed form, 

paper. List retained for 

information. Original document 

withdrawn 

9 Oct 1747 

DX 807/9 Admittance of John Wilson 

To a messuage and tenement at 

Long Crofts with severl closes of 

ground thereto belonging, of the 

yearly customary rent of 13s. 4d. 

upon the death of Henry, Lord 

Viscount Lonsdale, Lord of the 

Manor of Drumburgh in the 

Barony of Burgh; fine paid for his 

re-admittance on the death of the 

said Henry and succession of Sir 

James Lowther, baronet, £10. 10s. 

0d., Friday 7 September 1759. 

Signed by John Robinson and W 

Armitage, the gentlemn stewards 

and commissioners for assessing 

the general fines payable on the 

death of the late Lord Lonsdale. 

[Note, in many manors, when the 

Lord of the Manor died, his 

customary tenants had to pay 

their new Lord of the Manor a 

"fine" for their readmittance to 

7 Sep 1759 



their tenancies, which had died 

with their Lord and had to be 

renewed]. Printed form, paper. 

Endorsed "fine £10. 10s. 0. 

admittance, 0. 2. 6. Inrollment, 0. 

1. 0." "Long Crofts 30" List 

retained for information. Original 

documents withdrawn 

DX 807/10 
Articles of agreement by three 

co-heiresses 

Co-heiresses: 1. Martha Wilson, 

of the city of Carlisle, spinster. 2. 

Mary, wife of George Jeffry 

(party hereto), of Workington, 

glover. 3. Ann, wife of Edward 

Railton (party hereto), of Steel 

Yeat, Cumberland. Of their late 

father Daniel Wilson, deceased to 

John Willson, of Long Crofts, 

yeoman, for £90 for several 

parcels of land (total about 5 

acres) in the townfields of 

Longcrofts. The price to be paid 

to Martha, George and Edward on 

or before 1 July 1762. Signed by 

Martha Wilson (her mark), 

George Jeffry and Edward 

Railton. Witnessed by John 

Pearson, Edward Knubley.   List 

retained for information. Original 

documents withdrawn 

13 Jun 1761 

DX 807/11 Conveyance 

Of £90 for several parcels of land 

(total about 5 acres) in the 

townfields of Longcrofts 

(mentined in DX 807/10), by the 

three parties to John Wilson for 

the £90, viz £30 each, with 

covenant to levy fine on same. 

The conveyance was done by 

lease and release, comprising two 

documents, the lease being (in 

theory) one day before the 

release. Note, that George's 

surname is here spelt "Jefferson." 

Signatures of all aprties (marks of 

Martha Wilson and Mary 

Jefferson). List retained for 

information. Original documents 

withdrawn 

2/3 Oct 

1761 

DX 807/12 Admittance 

Of John Wilson, eldest son and 

heir at law of Robert Wilson, 

deceased, to a customary cottage 

at Long Croft, in the Manor of 

Drumburgh amd Barony of 

Burgh, of the yearly customary 

rnt of 1s. 0d. (fine paid for 

30 Apr 

1767 



admission, £1 2s. 0d. assessed on 

"the improved value" of the 

premises). Signed by John 

Wordsworth, steward; the Court 

was held that day in Drumburgh 

Castle. Countersigned by [Sir] 

James Lowther. Endorsed "fine, 

£1. 2s. 0d. Admittance and jury, 

£0. 2s. 10d." List retained for 

information. Original documents 

withdrawn 

DX 807/13 Admittance 

Of John Wilson, eldest son and 

heir at law of Robert Wilson, 

deceased, to a parcel of land at 

Long Croft, in the manor of 

Drumburgh and Barony of Burgh, 

of the yearly customary rent of 

4d. (fine paid, 15s. 0d. assessed as 

in DX 807/12). List retained for 

information. Original documents 

withdrawn 

30 Apr 

1767 

DX 807/14 Admittance 

Of John Wilson, on the death of 

James, Earl of Lonsdale, to the 

"customary cottage at Langcrofts 

[Long Crofts], of the yearly 

customary rent of 1s. 0d. (fine 

paid for readmittance, 3s. 0d.). 

Signed by John Richardson, 

steward of the Manor of 

Drumburgh. Court held that day 

at John Blaylock's house, Burgh[-

by-Sands]. Endorsed "fine, £0. 3s. 

0d." List retained for information. 

Original documents withdrawn 

23 Mar 

1803 

DX 807/15 Left-hand indenture of fine 

Plaintiff: John Wilson. 

Deforciants: 1/2. John Sloan and 

Mary his wife. 3/4. Thomas 

Robinson and Sarah, his wife. For 

2 messuages, 1 barn, 1 cowhouse, 

2 gardens and orchards, 2 acres of 

[arable] land, meadow and 

pasture, common of pasture and 

turbary, all in Bowness[-on-

Solway] parish. Note, this was a 

legal device to clear the title. The 

"plaintiff" is the buyer, the 

"deforciant" is the seller of 

property on which the fine is 

being levied. The wording was 

written out twice and the single 

sheet cut into two down the 

middle as far as the top third, 

horizontal, writing-out. Then the 

cutting continued along the top of 

2-10 Feb 

1818 



this third writing-out, to give 

three wavy-lines (=indented) 

copies, which, if challenged as 

forgery, could be fitted together 

to prove their genuine-ness. The 

London court kept the third, 

horizontal "foot." giving the "left" 

and "right" handed indentures to 

each of the two parties. List 

retained for information. Original 

documents withdrawn 

DX 807/16 Deed of enfranchisement 

From William, Earl of Lonsdale 

to John Wilson, of Long Croft, 

gentleman. For £165. 8s. 1d. of a 

messuage and tenement at Long 

Croft, namely a dwelling house 

with outhouses and garden and 

the several closes of land "called 

The Croft or Ings now in two 

closes Hill Close and Dam Ends," 

of the yearly customary rent of 

13s. 4d.; Also of one customary 

cottage at Long Croft of the 

yearly rent of 1s. 0d.; Also a 

parcel of land at Anthorn of the 

yearly rent of 4d.; Also of the 

annual rent of 1s 7d. payable to 

the said Earl for several closes 

and parcels of "land and 

premises" at "Whitriggs and Long 

Crofts or in the townfields or 

territories of some or one of 

them," all part of the manor of 

Drumburgh in the Barony of 

Burgh.   Minerals and the mining 

thereof, sporting and fishing 

rights are reserved to the Lord of 

the Manor. This deed converted 

the property into freehold. List 

retained for information. Original 

documents withdrawn 

28 Sep 

1807 

DX 807/17 Deed of enfranchisement 

From William, Earl of Lonsdale 

to William Donald, of Aspatria, 

gentleman. For £9, 3s. 2d., of 

customary cottage house and 

garth at Long Croft of the yearly 

customary rent of 8d., part of the 

Manor of Drumburgh. Minerals 

and the mining thereof, sporting 

and fishing rights are reserved to 

the Lord of the Manor. Signatures 

of both parties. List retained for 

information. Original documents 

withdrawn 

28 Sep 

1807 



DX 1276/1 
Steel's Guide to the Lancaster 

and Carlisle Railway 

Containing a description of the 

remarkable places and objects 

along the line, with timetables for 

railways and coaches. An 

itinerary of the Lakes and other 

information to the travelle. 

Illustrated by wood engravings, 

edited by John Steel. Prnted and 

published by James Steel, The 

Journal Office, 3 English Street, 

Carlisle. The timetables contains 

advertisements for Marindale and 

Son, chemist, Market Place, 

Carlisle for people and horse and 

cattle medicines. T Holstead, 

manufacturer of and wholesale 

dealer in confectionary, 69 

English Street, Carlisle. The 

Crown and Mitre Hotel and 

Coffee House, William Jarman. 

Joseph Hope and Son, importers 

of foreign wines, spirits, liqueurs 

and C, 12 St Alban's Row, 

Carlisle. Thomas Blacklock, 

tobacco and snuff manufacturer, 

Market Place, Carlisle. James 

Rutherford, grocer, tea dealer, 

cheesemonger and italian 

warehouseman, 94 Main Guard, 

Carlisle. John Carrick, china and 

glass warehouse, 40 Castle Street, 

Carlisle. James Gilkerson, wine 

and spirit merchant, formerly of 

Sc 

1846 

DX 1839/2 
Black and white photograph of 

Carlisle City Police Force 

Photograph of 41 Carlisle City 

Police officers outside the 

Bowling Green Hotel, Lowther 

Street, Carlisle 

undated 

[circa 

1890s] 

DX 1839/3 
Black and white photograph of 

Carlisle City Police Force 

Black and white photograph of 57 

Carlisle City Police officers 

outside the Old Hall, Carlisle 

(now Trinity School) 

1904 

DX 1839/4 
Black and white photograph of 

Carlisle City Police Force 

Photograph of Carlisle City 

Police sergeants and inspectors. 

Officers named are G T McKend, 

O Fox, W Dickson, D H Seaton, J 

G Mattocks, W P Watson, R 

Percival, W Oliver, W Davidson, 

W Johnstone, W Lynn, T Bone 

1919 

DX 1839/5 
Black and white photograph of 

Carlisle City Fire Brigade 
 undated 

DX 1864/12/Accn 

H16260 
Unlisted records 

Maryport and Carlisle Railway: 

parcel ways bills, 1896-1904; 

Cleator and Workington Junction 

1880s-

1940s 



Railway, flier for Dumfries Band 

Contest cheap day excursion, 

1899; London Midland and 

Scottish Railway Company, 

consignments notes for the 

carriage of goods, mainly 

addressed to R Robinson and Son, 

19 Tangier Street, Whitehaven, 

1940s; London and North Eastern 

Railway Company, papers 

regarding the purchase of stock 

and dividend payments, 1887-

1924; certificates for the purchase 

of shares in foreign railways 

including Canadian National 

Railways, Buenos Ayres Western 

Railway, and Cordoba Central 

Railway, 1905-1938; Glasgow 

and South Western Railway 

Company, dividend statements to 

the executors of Richard B 

Brockbank of Crosby, Maryport, 

1913-1915; Maryport Mutual 

Marine and Freight and Outfit 

Insurance Associations, memo 

regarding James Irving deceased 

and 2 indemnity agreements from 

his executors including Richard B 

Brockbank, 1877-1880; a 

valuation of stocks and ahres by 

James Pearson sent to Messrs 

Clutterbuck Tre 

DX 2572/1/Accn: 

H16351 [UNLISTED] 

Auction particulars and 

conditions of sale 

The Gill and Greensyke Esates, 

Dalston, 1882; Green Lane, 

Dalston, 1975; agricultural and 

residential property in Caldbeck 

and Aikton, 1949; Spring Bank, 

Braithwaite, 1926; acommodation 

properties in Braithwaite and 

Keswick, 1926; furniture sale at 

Burbank House, Blencowe, 1936; 

7 farms, a small holding and a 

fully licensed inn, Wigton, 

Bowness and Mealsgate, 1914; 

Cockley Moor, High Row, 

Dockray, [1960s]; The Old 

Vicarage, Rothery Villa, Croft 

House, Currie Lodge, Moot Hall, 

10 cottages and several 

accommodation fields and 

plantations, 1920; Knotts Farm, 

Watermillock, 2006; Park 

Temperence Hotel, Queen of the 

Lakes Pavillion, restuarant, shop 

and 3 dwelling houses, Keswick, 

1882-2002 



1914; estate at Matterdale End, 

Greystoke, 1907; 2 agricultural 

estates and cottage at Low Beck 

Side in Mungrisdale and at Great 

Strickland, 1912; Haskew Rigg, 

Mungrisdale, 1898; estates called 

Lane Head, Gill Head and Bog 

Hill, situate in Mungrisdale, 

Hutton Soil, and Matterdale, 

1898; Ashley House, Alexandra 

Road, Penrith, 1923; hdwel 

DX 2618 
Affidavit of Joseph Biglands of 

Wigton 

Affidavit releasing Joseph Hayton 

of Wigton, shoemaker, from 

words he said in prejudice to 

Joseph Bigland's trade. Bearing 2 

embossed revenue stamps, 

another crown stamp, witness 

signature, and remnants of a wax 

seal. 

Oct 1706 

DX 2619 
Award for the division of 

Grinsdale Common 

Robert Lumb and John Norman 

of Kirkandrews, Eden, Enclosure 

Commissioners recite the terms of 

the enclosure of the common 

made in 1806 and give details of 

a carriage road to be made across 

the common and a public 

watering place for cattle to be 

provided. Also includes a 

schedule of allotment holders 

giving names, acreages and 

abutments. Comprises 4 large 

pages on parchment signed and 

sealed by the commissioners, 17 

December 1808, together with a 

large map of Grinsdale Common 

also signed by the commissioners. 

1808 

DX 2620 Maryport Blast Furnace 

Blue print of Solway Iron Works, 

correspondence regarding the 

demolition of the mill and the 

source of the water supply, notes 

regarding the weight of scrap 

metal, timber and bricks if the site 

is dismantled, analysis of the 

content of 3 pigs mined in 1973, 

black and white and colour 

photographs. 

1928-1987 

DX 2621 
Black and white print of 

Thirlwall Castle, Cumberland 
 [20th 

century] 

DX 2622 Ian Reed photograph collection 

Black and white photograph of 

Carlisle Cathedral, black and 

white photograph of Scotch 

Street, colour photographs (2) of 

the Old Town Hall. 

[1970s-

1980s] 



DX 2623 Articles, library and publications 

This collections contains articles, 

books, publications and doctoral 

theses directly relating to archive 

content held at Carlisle Archive 

Centre. Please note, the archives 

service is reliant on authors 

depositing a physical or digital 

copy of their work, therefore this 

collection is not comprehensive. 

20th-21st 

century 

DX 2624 

A Photographic Journey 

Through Scaleby Past and 

Present 

Exhibition including 

photographic display boards 

(outsize); information folders; 

visitors' book; video footage; and 

negatives. 

Sep 2000 

DX 2625 
The Brown Family of 

Cockermouth and Kirkoswald 

Collection of papers relating to 

the history of the Brown family 

including a pedigree starting with 

William Brown of Scales, 

Kirkoswald, soldier in the service 

of Oliver Cromwell; portrait of 

Joseph Brown, 1817; 2 letters (1 

with transcript) written by Joseph 

Brown to his parents after 

travelling to London to enter the 

firm of Yeats, Brown and 

Company, Wine Merchants, May 

1799 and 1803; invoices (3) 

including John Jones, Grocer and 

Tea Dealer and J A Kerman, 

Tailor, 1804-1819; wedding 

invitations to various family 

members, 1929-1937 and 1803; 

letters to Joseph Brown from his 

younger brother Timothy who 

was residing in Brooklyn, New 

York, 1850s; letter from Reginald 

Brown to his auntie; 1855; letter 

from Joseph Brown to his son 

Reginald, 1896; letter from 

Joseph Brown to his sister Sarah 

while she was attending school at 

Stainford Hill, Middlesex, 1833; 

family announcements of birth 

and death including the death of 

Mr Joseph Brown; pledge by 

Reginald Brown to serve as 

Queen's Counsel [undated]; bond 

to secur 

1799-1934 

DX 2627 
Receipts, invoices and other 

miscellany 

Invoices and receipts (8) for 

businesses in Mealsgate, 

Aspatria, Maryport, and 

Netherton, a funeral hymn for 

Mrs Head of Rickerby; advert for 

1876-1926 



the Grammar School at 

Blencowe. 

PR 102/248 Parish magazines Parish magazines. 2020-2022 

PR 102/249 

Order of Service for the 

Institution and Induction of 

Godfrey Hibbert Marshall MA 

 4 May 1965 

PR 118/48 
Ecclesiastical fire insurance 

policy documents 
 1920s-

1950s 

PR 118/49 
Valuation of land retained by 

Wreay vicarage 
 1917 

PR 126/97/Accn: H16315 

[UNLISTED] 
Scotby, All Saints Parish 

Papers regarding treatment to 

woodwork, 1977; building work 

by George Stubbs and Sons, 

1980; proposed plans for re-

wiring, May 1985; letter from F J 

Elliott regarding work needed to 

remedy dry rot in the north east 

corner of the nave, November 

2015; 10 year guarantee from Ian 

Gibson Associates Building 

Preservation Limited, December 

2015; papers relating to building 

work completed post 

Quinquennial inspection of 2017, 

including minutes of site 

meetings, construction phase plan 

by Heritage Consolidation, quotes 

by R M and R Clark to replace 

and fit bird screens in the tower 

and the wooden gate to the main 

entrance, quote from W M Turk 

and Son for relating the south side 

of the church roof, other quotes 

for work (not accepted) and other 

contractual documents; 2017-

2018; guarantee for damp proof 

works on the parish centre by 

Richard Starling (Northern) 

Limited, 2021; Quinquennial 

Inspection by F J Elliott, ARIBA, 

July 2007; Quinquennial 

Inspection by F J Elliott, ARIBA, 

May 2012; Quinquennial 

Inspection by J 

1977-2021 

PR 128/36 
Minutes of the Parochial Church 

Council 
 1998-2019 

PR 167/1/5/9 Register of services  2012-2017 

PR 167/3/4/5 
Plans and sketches of the 

extension to the churchyard 

Including the layout and grave 

spaces drawn by Joseph Peascod, 

Architect, May 1944. 

20th 

century 

PR 167/4/8/1 Visitors' book  2003-2007 

PR 167/4/8/2 Visitors' book  2007-2013 

PR 167/4/8/3 Visitors' book  2013-2019 



PR 167/4/9/1 Condolence book  Sep 2022 

PROB/1605/INVX79 

Inventory of Isabel Waller, of the 

parish of Brough Sowerby, 

Westmorland 

Diocese of Carlisle probate 

records. Digital copies of wills, 

administrations and other probate 

records can be obtained from the 

Cumbria Archive Centre, 

Carlisle. Please contact the 

Archive Centre for more 

information. 

1605 

PROB/1713/WX22 

Will of Sarah Fothergill, widow, 

of Lockholm, Ravenstonedale, 

Westmorland 

Diocese of Carlisle probate 

records. Digital copies of wills, 

administrations and other probate 

records can be obtained from the 

Cumbria Archive Centre, 

Carlisle. Please contact the 

Archive Centre for more 

information. 

1713 

Q/11/1/323/A/1 

Bill for printing 1000 forms 

concerning the Militia Mr J 

Wennington 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/2 
Bill for printing 1000 blanks, Mr 

Wennington 
 1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/3 
Bill for printing and advertising 

services 1765 - 1767 

John Wennington clerk of 

Cumberland Battalion of Militia. 

Order Book 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/4 

Petition of John Cowper, 

surveyor of highways of 

Thwaites, in parish of Millom 

For raising an assessment for 

repair of roads. Ordered 6d in the 

pound common order 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/5 

Petition of surveyors of 

highways and inhabitants of 

Aspatria for an assessment to be 

raised for repair of highways. 

No order. 1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/6 

Copy inquest report on death of 

John Scott who died while 

digging a well for John Wise at 

Tarns in Abbey Holm. 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/7 

Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, coroner for fees and 

expenses for inquests held. 

Ordered £2 2s 6d 1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/8 

Certificate of good repair of road 

from Distington by Castlerigg 

Gate towards Egremont which 

had been presented 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/9 

Petition of inhabitants of 

Cockermouth for an order to 

appoint scavengers to clean the 

street 

Ordered John Bell and John 

Taylor to be scavengers for one 

year from meeting? last, vid. 

minute book 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/A/10 

Petition of Anthony Moore of 

Whitehaven who with his wife 

has looked after a child for 

Egremont parish officers for over 

(Top left hand corner missing) 1768 



6 years and has not received any 

payment. 

Q/11/1/323/B/1 

Petition of Ann Stewart, widow 

of Hesket-in-the-Forest for relief 

and arrears owed on order made 

in 1766 

Read nil (Top left hand corner 

missing) 
1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/1A 

Petition of John Meals [Master 

of House of Correction, 

Cockermouth] 

For expenses associated with 

caring and transporting Grace 

Wane otherwise Ann Mackay. 

Eventually found to be from 

Inverness and needed to be 

removed. Detailed. 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/2 
Petition of Mary Dodgson, wife 

of William. 

Husband deserted her when with 

child two years ago. Parish had 

order to receive £9 from his 

property in Wigton to pay for 

expenses in maintaining Mary 

and child. William has sold estate 

and parish have withdrawn 

allowance.   An order to be made, 

his lands and tenements for £6 per 

annum till further order of this 

court. (half yearly) 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/3 

Certificate to say stretch of 

highway in front of Ann Steele's 

house in Workington previously 

indicted now in good repair 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/4 

Certificate to say 1and a quarter 

miles of highway, from 

Lanehead or Lonninghead to 

Troutbeck in Wetheral has been 

repaired 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/5 

Certificate to say that bridge at 

north end of Allonby indicted at 

last Quarter Session has now 

been rebuilt 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/6 

John Benson's return of the state 

of bridges in Allerdale above 

Derwent ward. 

Page 2 - contract with John 

Turner of Santon Bridge for work 

on bridge 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/7 
Receipt for payment of cullery 

rent of Gaol Green 
 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/8 
Receipt for straw provided to 

gaol 
 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/9 

Quarterly disbursements of 

Keeper of County Gaol, 

Braithwaite Atkinson 

(torn) 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/10 
Petition of William Scott debtor 

in County Gaol for allowance 

Parish certificate of Hesket-in-

the-Forest on same sheet 
1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/11 

Account of bridges in need of 

repair in Allerdale below 

Derwent 

 1768 



Q/11/1/323/B/12 

Return of bridges out of repair 

by Robert Raven, High 

Constable of Cumberland Ward. 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/13 

Proposal to repair Irt or Ewart 

bridge. William Brocklebank, 

mason 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/14 
Petition of Thomas Dixon 

coroner for fees and expenses 
 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/15 
Copy inquest report on death of 

Elizabeth Sadler 

Threw herself down well on 

waste ground in front of John 

Graham's house at Rowcliff, 

while insane 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/15/A 

Copy inquest report on death of 

James Keith who was found 

dead in barn at Walby, Crosby-

on-Eden 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/15/B 

Copy inquest report on death of 

Joseph Elliott, mason who was 

killed by fall on stones while 

collecting stones at quarry at 

Wellgillsyke near Nenthead 

 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/16 
Copy inquest report on death of 

Thomas Percival 

Who hanged himself at Winshill, 

parish Addingham, while insane 
1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/17 
Receipt for repair of Irthenwood 

bridge by Robert Graham 
 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/18 
Receipt for repairing Abbey 

bridge and Quarry Beck bridge 
 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/19 
Petition of John Skelton, coroner 

of Rowrah for fees and expenses 
 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/20 
Copy inquest report on death of 

Daniel Walker at Gosforth 

As result of assault by Abraham 

Gaitskill, schoolmaster 
1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/21 

Bastardy order for female child 

of Mary Dixon of Gilcrux by 

William Jefferson of Rosley, 

Westward 

Security given for 1s 6d per week 

for 13 [ord?] 
1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/22 

Petition of Ann Johnson of 

Westward and child for relief 

and arrears on order from last 

Easter 

Nil 1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/23 

Petition of inhabitants and 

surveyors of highways of Bolton 

Lowside, parish of Bolton 

For an assessment for repair of 

roads. Ordered 6d in the pound, 

common order. 

1768 

Q/11/1/323/B/24 

Petition of William Christian 

(70) and wife of Dovenby for 

relief 

Offered 1s 6d per week added to 

the former order of 2s 6d till 

further order 5s. is made 

1768 

Q/11/1/324/1 
Removal order for Ann, wife of 

Daniel Harrison and her children 

Elizabeth (14), Joseph (12), Mary 

(10), Edward (8), Sarah (6) and 

John (4) from Holme St Cuthberts 

to Abbey Quarter, Holme 

Cultram. Ordered that this appeal 

stand over till next Sessions. V. 

Minute Book. Quashed upon the 

1768-1769 



merits. 20 October 1768 served 

copy of this order - John Barwise 

Q/11/1/324/2 
Petition of Ann Bell is confined 

to gaol and needs allowance 

Parish certificate for Aldstone 

[Alston] [Debtor?] Ordered 1s per 

week till further order. Bottom 

right missing - fragile 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/3 
Petition of John Hayton, debtor 

in county gaol for allowance 

Parish certificate from Wigton. 

Ordered 12d. per week till further 

notice. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/4 
Petition of Abel Bodle, debtor in 

county gaol for allowance 

Parish certificate from Cleator. 

Allowed 1s per week till further 

order. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/5 

Petition of Anthony Atkinson for 

increase in 12d. per week 

allowance from Brigham 

[Endorsed Greysouthen] 

Nil. Left hand corner missing. 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/6 
Petition of Overseers of Parton 

[parish of Moresby] 

For permission to receive annual 

rent from estate of Rigggatefoot, 

Arlecdon, property of John 

Bushby tailor who has abandoned 

his wife and family, so parish can 

provide for them. Ordered to be 

confirmed. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/7 
Certificate of militia strength and 

dates of exercise and training 
 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/8 
Inquest of death of Thomas Bell 

of ship "Allonby" 

Fell from a plank while boarding 

ship at Elanfoot harbour and 

drowned 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/9 

Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, coroner, for expenses 

and fees for inquest of Thomas 

Bell (see Q/11/1/324/8) 

 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/10 
Inquest report on death of 

Thomas Iredale late of Keswick 

Fell into Borrowdale Beck and 

drowned. 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/10A 

Inquest report on death of Joseph 

Fearon of Stainburn ( in the 

manor of 5Towns) 

Died as the result of gun going 

off accidentally while crossing a 

river. He was on his way to 

frighten crows. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/11 
Inquest report on death of Jacob 

Moor, yeoman 

Late of the lordship of Egremont, 

who hanged himself in the barn of 

his father, John Moor. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/12 
Inquest report on death of Ann 

Holmes aged 53 of Haile 

Fell down a well and was 

drowned 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/13 
Inquest report on death of 

Francis Castlehow, yeoman 

Taken at Lorton, who died on the 

turnpike from Keswick to 

Cockermouth near Armathwaite. 

Natural causes. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/14 
Inquest report on death of 

William Hodgson 

Taken at Cockermouth, who died 

because of excessive eating. 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/15 
Petition of Robert Baynes, 

coroner of Earl of Egremont 

For fees and expenses for 

inquests (see Q/11/1/324/10-14) 
1768-1769 



Q/11/1/324/16 Bill of John Dixon 

For transporting Margaret 

Davidson, Hannah Mason, 

Christian Dobie, Margaret 

Goulding, John Foster, Thomas 

Fawcett and Richard Palmer. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/17 

Confirmation from Port of South 

Potomack, Virginia that John 

Smith, master of "Hicks" of 

Whitehaven, landed the convicts. 

Convicts James Reed, Andrew 

Heslop, Robert Telford, William 

Whitman, John Nicholson, Mary 

Kirkpatrick and Elizabeth 

Patterson. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/18 
Inquest report on death of Mary, 

wife of Daniel Tiffin 

Of Plymland [Plumbland] Mill 

who hanged herself in the barn. 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/19 
Petition of Thomas Dixon 

coroner for fees and expenses 

For inquest (see Q/11/1/324/18) 

Received - Minute Book 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/20 

Notice of pay that Janet Bell of 

Dacre is owed, £3 0s 0d from 

County stock. 

[Endorsed Newbiggin, pauper] 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/21 

Report of Cumberland ward 

bridges by Robert Raven, 

surveyor 

Waverbridge, taken down by 

floods and Warwick Bridge out of 

repair. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/22 

Quarterly disbursements of 

keeper of county gaol, 

Braithwaite Atkinson 

Damaged on right hand side.   

22a. Receipt for emptying 

boghouse, Jospeh Robinson   22b. 

Recipt for glazier work, Robert 

Underwood   22c. Receipt for 

repairing locks and other 

ironwork, Thomas Foster 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/23 

Agreement for repair of Santon 

bridge between John Benson of 

Egremont and John Turner of 

Santon Bridge 

 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/24 

Agreement and payment for 

work done by William 

Brockbank at Irt Bridge 

 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/25 

John Benson's return on 

condition of bridges in Allerdale, 

Above Derwent ward 

 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/26 

Petition of Jane Nichol of Farlam 

who received and order 

Midsummer 1767 for 6d. per 

week and house, parish refuse to 

pay rent 

Ordered 1s per week until further 

order and that her parish order be 

discharged. Made out. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/26A 
Petition of William Plasket of 

Wigton 

Has an order for 1s 3d per week 

to maintain Hannah Plasket "a 

poor girl." Has received for some 

years but have refused to pay for 

last year.   Ordered that the parish 

officers do pay up the arrears till 

Midsummer sessions last being 

£1 15s 0d. and she immediately 

deliver the child to parish officers 

to be by them provided for or 

1768-1769 



maintain it at her own expenses. 

Made out. 

Q/11/1/324/27 

Petition of Mary Routledge of 

Brampton but a parishioner of 

Bewcastle for relief for self and 

two children 

Read - ordered that the parish 

officers pay her 7s. being arrears 

due upon her former order, that 

the same order be confirmed and 

that they pay her immediately 

10s. for her expenses of this 

application. Made out. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/28 
Petition of Bridget Birkett, 

widow and prisoner in gaol 

She was apprehended 12 days ago 

for picking wad or black lead out 

of the rubbish thrown out of black 

lead mines in Borrowdale for 

release as did not know rubbish 

heap belonged to mine. Ordered 

that J.P. admit her to bail. 

Entered. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/28A 
Petition of William Ward and his 

wife Ann of Harrington for relief 
Agreed with parish. 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/29 

Removal order from Dearham to 

Workington for Mary Gardner 

singlewoman 

Ordered to be confirmed. Webster 

received 5s. Made out. 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/30 

Bastardy order for male child of 

Ruth Nicholson of Dearham Hill, 

widow, by John Wheelwright of 

Dearham, butcher 

Filiation order made out, child 

boarded out to John Ostell of 

Dearham but removed by father. 

Has stopped payments. Read, nil. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/31 
Bastardy order for female child 

of Grace Westra of Edenhall 

Father David Johnson, hawker 

and pedlar. Top right missing - in 

2 parts. (UNFIT FOR 

PRODUCTION) 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/32 

Certification that section of road 

between Bridgefoot and 

Hundyfoot in parish of 

Workington on Cockernouth to 

Whitehaven road has been 

repaired 

 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/33 

Certification that section of 

highway between Scraggs Brow 

and Bridgefoot in parish of 

Brigham on road from 

Cockermouth to Whitehaven has 

been repaired 

 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/34 

Petition of Mary Mitchinson for 

arrears in relief owed by 

Workington 

Read - Ordered - Nil - That she 

go to the poorhouse at 

Whitehaven, and that the order 

she had for 2s. per week be 

discharged. Entered. (see 

Q/11/1/324/36) 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/35 

Petition of John Skelton, 

Coroner of Rowrah, for 

expenses. 

Called to hold inquest on death of 

Mary Tiffin of Torpenhow but 

when arrived Mr Dixon Coroner 

of Carlisle already there. Minute 

Book. 

1768-1769 



Q/11/1/324/36 
Petition of Jonathan Mitchinson 

of Lowthwaite 

To discharge order made out to 

his wife Mary and make out order 

for her to enter poorhouse. 

Workington overseers note to say 

will maintain in poorhouse. Very 

detailed account of breakdown of 

marriage, desertion of wife, and 

eventual return and unreasonable 

demands since made. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/37 
Petition of Mary Hunter of Great 

Broughton for relief. 
Nil. 1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/38 
Petition of Thomas Dixon of 

Maryport 

Has been a hired servant for three 

years to Jonathan Thompson for 

whom he was working when he 

was thrown out of a wagon. Now 

unable to work and needs relief. 

Ordered Nil. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/39 

Petition of surveyors of 

highways and inhabitants of 

Cockermouth to raise rate to 

repair highways 

No order made. notice not having 

been given. 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/40 

Notice to constables of Hayton 

and Little Corby not to molest or 

apprehend John Key 

Sheriff's bailiff, over complaint 

made against him by Overseers of 

Hayton, as he has given security 

to appear at next Sessions. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/41 

Petition of surveyors of 

highways and inhabitants of 

Bewaldeth to be able to raise 

assessment for repair of roads 

Ordered 6d. in pound common 

order. (Made out.) 
1768-1769 

Q/11/1/324/50 Petition of Jane Crookshanks 

Has settlement in Camerton who 

had promised to pay house rent 

but now will only offer 10d. a 

week or to go in the poorhouse. 

Nil - referred to J.P. 

1768-1769 

Q/11/1/325/1 

Petition of the surveyors of the 

highways and inhabitants of 

Cockermouth for a rate to repair 

highways 

Ordered 6d. in the pound, 

common order. Entered. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/2 

Removal order from Greystoke 

to Shap, Westmorland of 

Dorothy Hayton, widow of 

Richard 

Ordered to be confirmed. Entered. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/3 
Petition of Ann Jonstone of 

Westward for relief 

Ordered that the parish officers of 

Westward parish pay her order of 

10s on Sunday next and the sum 

of 2s. a week until further notice. 

Entered. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/4 

Bastardy order for the male child 

of Margaret Kirkpatrick of Little 

Corby, Hayton by John Keay of 

Carlisle 

Appeal adjourned, costs 

apportioned. Quashed upon the 

merits at Midsummer Sessions 

1769. (see Q/11/1/325/6 and 

Q/11/1/325/21A) 

1769 



Q/11/1/325/5 

Petition of Margaret Ritson for 

release of son from Whitehaven 

poor house 

Read Nil. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/6 

Appeal - John Keay appellant 

and parish of Hayton against 

bastardy order for male child of 

Margaret Kirkpatrick 

That Margaret Kirkpatrick has 

absconded and left the area. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/7 

Examination of Daniel Casey 

vagrant born in Glasgow, sailor, 

who "owns that he beg'd charity" 

in the streets of Workington 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/8 

Examination of James Stevens, 

vagrant born Ireland, sailor, who 

"acknowledges to have beg'd" in 

the streets of Workington 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/9 

Order of filiation against Thomas 

Bulman of Burgh-by-Sands of 

female child of Jane Steel of 

Burgh-by-Sands. 

Incomplete. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/10 

Petition of surveyors of 

highways and inhabitants of 

Caldewgate quarter, St Mary's 

[Carlisle] for an assessment for 

repair of highways 

Ordered 6d. in the pound. 

Entered. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/11 

King vs. Christopher Hudson for 

an assault upon Joseph 

Wilkinson 

Christopher Hudson of Caldbeck, 

gentleman, says Martin Bell, late 

of Caldbeck witness has sailed on 

ship from Liverpool to America 

and will not return until May/June 

next. Defer trial to next sessions. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/12 

Removal order from Penrith to 

Eaglesfield, parish of Brigham, 

of Anthony Chisim and Julian 

his wife 

Ordered to be confirmed upon the 

merits. Entered. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/13 

Bastardy order for male child of 

Elizabeth Moor of Bolton Wood 

Lane, parish Bolton by Robert 

Wood, miller of Islekirk 

Ordered to be confirmed. Entered. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/14 

Bastardy order for male child of 

Ruth Nicholson, widow of 

Dearham Hall, by John 

Wheelwright of Dearham, 

butcher 

Damaged at bottom. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/15 

Certificate that Market Place, 

Cockermouth, between dwelling 

house of James Walker and east 

end of Cockerbridge, is now 

repaired 

Ordered to be discharged. 

Entered. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/16 

Petition of Mary Martin, widow 

of Castle Sowerby, parishioner 

of Caldbeck, for relief 

Son is an apprentice and has 

another sick child. Read nil. 
1769 



Q/11/1/325/17 

Petition of John Clarke and Jane 

Bell of Rickergate quarter St 

Mary's Without, Carlisle, for 

relief 

Read nil 1769 

Q/11/1/325/18 

Petition of Jane Nichol of Farlam 

for arrears owed from order 

granted Midsummer 1769 for 6d. 

per week and house 

Never paid rent and allowance 

stopped at Christmas. Ordered 

that the parish officers pay her 

arrears of 12s. and 8s for her 

trouble [and] obey the former 

order. Ordered. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/19 
Petition of Mary Cowley, has an 

order which is not being paid. 
Read nil. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/20 

Petition of Jane wife of Thomas 

Routledge of Bewcastle, who left 

her in March 1768 

Has had to go to live with sister 

Mary Jackson at Newtown, 

Rowcliffe [Rockcliffe] Husband 

arranged for rents to be paid to 

eldest son and brother but made 

no allowance for her. Ordered 

that the parish officers do pay her 

5s. a week until furhter order. O. 

G. Entered. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/21 

Removal order from Caldewgate 

quarter St Mary's Carlisle to 

Brampton of Ann Byers the wife 

of Thomas and sons George (10), 

Thomas (5) and John (1) 

Ordered that this appeal stand 

adjourned till Midsummer and 

that the costs of this application 

attend the event and both parties 

are biddened to take notice to try 

the appeal then.   Midsummer 

1769. Ordered that this order be 

quashed and that the sum of 8s. 

8d. be paid by the parish officers 

of Caldewgate to the parish 

officers of Brampton for the costs 

and maintenance of the poor. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/21A 

Bastardy Order for the male 

child of Margaret Kirkpatrick of 

Little Corby, parish Hayton, by 

John Keay of Carlisle, bailiff 

See Q/11/1/325/4 and 

Q/11/1/325/6 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/22 

Petition of parish of Burgh-by-

Sands who have provided a 

workhouse or poorhouse and 

would like all allowances 

withdrawn for those that shall 

refuse to enter 

The prayer of the petition is 

granted. O. G. Entered 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/23 

Petition of Thomas Dixon of 

Carlisle, coroner, for fees and 

expenses for holding inquests 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/24 

Copy inquest report on death of 

Edward Robinson of 

Mortonhead, Carlisle St Mary's, 

who died "by visitation of God." 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/25 
Copy inquest report on death of 

William Sanderson 

Drowned when crossing the river 

Wampool from Kirkbride to 

Whitrigg 

1769 



Q/11/1/325/26 

Copy inquest report on death of 

Rachel Elliot, widow, who was 

found dead at Low Hesket 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/27 
Legal bill of John Wordsworth 

for work carried out for county 
Entered into public order book. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/28 
Petition for costs incurred by 

John Dixon 

For taking Christopher Armstrong 

and Jonathan Abbot, convicts 

sentenced to transportation for 14 

years and 7 years respectively, to 

Whitehaven. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/29 
Bill for straw provided to gaol by 

John Mattinson 
 1769 

Q/11/1/325/30 

Quarterly disbursements of 

Braithwaite Atkinson, keeper of 

the county gaol 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/31 

Petition of Jane Graham (65) of 

Low Quarter Kirklinton for 

parish to pay house rent 

Read nil. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/32 

Abusive letter to Mrs Elizabeth 

Edwards living at Annetwell 

Street, Carlisle 

see Q/11/1/325/39 1769 

Q/11/1/325/33 

Petition of Sarah Scott of 

Cummersdale, St Mary's 

Carlisle, who is over 60, for 

relief 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/34 

Petition of Elizabeth Brown of 

Cummersdale, St Mary's 

Carlisle, for relief 

Read nil. 1769 

Q/11/1/325/35 

Petition of John Graham and 

Bridget Graham of Brampton 

who are confined to county gaol 

for debt, for allowance 

Brampton parish certificate on 

same sheet. Ordered 1s. per week 

each. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/36 
Petitions of Margery Biggett and 

child of Wigton 

Is in poorhouse in Whitehaven 

without assistance or clothing. 

Wants weekly allowance and 

house rent. Child by Solomon 

Asky of Wigton. See also 

Q/11/1/325/38 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/38 
Petitions of Margery Biggett and 

child of Wigton 

See also Q/11/1/325/36 Is in 

Poorhouse in Whitehaven without 

assistance or clothing. Wants 

weekly allowance and house rent. 

Child by Solomon Asky of 

Wigton. Read nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/39 

Petition of Elizabeth Edwards for 

assistance for self and two 

children 

No order. See Q/11/1/325/32 1769 

Q/11/1/325/40 

Petition of John Weal for 

allowance as in county gaol for 

debt 

Ordered 1s. per week 1769 

Q/11/1/325/41 
Petition of Isabella Foster for 

Forrest Quarter of Kirkandrews-

Husband at Infirmary in Whitby, 

Yorkshire. Ordered that the parish 
1769 



on-Esk for relief for self and 

child 

officers of Nicolforest quarter, in 

the parish of Kirkandrews-on-Esk 

pay her 1s 6d per week until they 

setel [settle] her and provide for 

her. Entered. 

Q/11/1/325/42 

Petition of surveyors and 

inhabitants of Westnewton, 

Bromfield for a rate for repair of 

highways 

Common order 6d in the pound. 

Entered. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/43 

Petition of John Hume of Abby 

Lanerdcoast [Lanercost] for 

relief 

Served as soldier for 25 years and 

on "Man of War" for 3 and half 

years, married widow with two 

children who is pregnant. Needs 

house or weekly allowance. Read 

nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/44 

Petition of Mary Verner of 

Brampton but belonging to 

Bewcastle 

Has an order of August 1768 for 

house rent that the parish refuse 

to pay. Ordered that parish 

officers of Bewcastle do pay her 

1s. per week until the parish 

officers of Bewcastle settle her 

and provide for her. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/45 

Petition of Elinor Reay of 

Flimby for weekly allowance for 

self and four children or entry to 

poorhouse 

Ordered that the parish officers of 

Flimby pay 2s 6d per week from 

this time till they receive and 

provide for her in the poorhouse 

and pay her immediately 3s. O.G. 

entered. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/46 

Petition of Joseph Henderson of 

Wigton, lately a staymaker until 

his sight became too bad 

Had an allowance for 12 weeks 

but now stopped. Called. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/47 
Petition of Margaret Baxby, 

widow of Cockermouth 

Husband an out pensioner of 

Chelsea College died 

Cockermouth February leaving 

her with a young child. Request 

to be removed to Ripon, being 

husband's place of settlement. 

Read nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/48 

Certificate from Gretna as to 

poverty of John Wells who is 

currently confined in Carlisle 

[gaol]: [for allowance] 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/49 
Petition of Mary Wells of 

Penrith, widow 

Had an order for 3s 6d per week 

from Newton Reigny (Catterlen), 

who are refusing to pay. Son-in-

law John Ebson of Penrith. Read 

nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/325/50 
Petition of Jane Brown, widow, 

parishioner of Whitehaven 

Has recently had allowance of 

1s.week but now stopped. Called. 

Ordered that her arrears of 19s be 

paid her up and pay her 1s. 

weekly till further order. O.G. 

Entered. 

1769 



Q/11/1/325/51 

Petition of Ann Little, widow of 

Unthank, Dalston for weekly 

allowance 

In dispute over property her 

husband sold. Read no order. 
1769 

Q/11/1/325/52 

Petition of surveyors and 

inhabitants of Carleton, Penrith, 

for assessment to repair roads. 

Common order for 6d. in the 

pound. Entered. 

 1769 

Q/11/1/325/53 
Oath as Returning Officer of 

John Wordsworth 
 1769 

Q/11/1/326/1 

Petition of Catharine Long of 

Kirklinton who had a bastard 

child with Adam Routledge of 

Kirkstown parish of Bewcastle 

Had a bastardy order but never in 

five years received maintenance, 

therefore is requesting weekly 

allowance from Kirklinton parish. 

Ordered: Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/2 

Joseph Hodgson of Craggs in 

Rosley division, surveyor of 

highways, parish of Westward 

Petition as to the poor conditions 

of highways in said divisions of 

Westward. Common Order 6d in 

the pound 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/3 

Petition of Thomas Carlyle, 78 

years old, infirm and unable to 

support himself and wife in 

Caldewgate 

Application for relief. No order. 1769 

Q/11/1/326/4 

Petition of Eleanor Watt, servant, 

employed by William 

Hetherington of Corry Lees and 

had female child by him 

She applied to her master for 

relief unsuccessfully. Application 

for relief - Nil 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/5 

Petition of Ann Hames of 

Westward parish, married 

Thomas Hames about 5 years 

ago, now in Westmorland militia 

Application for continued weekly 

allowance for her and two 

children. By agreement lived in 

Wigton but now refusing relief. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/6 

Thomas Pickering of Farlam 

suffered assault by John Pickren 

and his wife and a travelling 

woman 

Also stole handkerchief worth 2s 

8d. Nil. 
1769 

Q/11/1/326/7 
Petition of inhabitants of Aikton 

parish 

Application for 2 guineas 15 

shillings that they paid to get a 

midwife and maintenance for 

delivery and upkeep for three 

weeks of a child of Jane Young 

who came into parish when 

pregnant and taken in by William 

Tinnion, farmer. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/8 

Petition of Jane Birket, widow, 

of St John's in the parish of 

Crosthwaite 

Application for rent of 20s. for a 

house for her and three children 

aged 6, 4, and 2, having settled 

here from Newton nr Cartmel, 

Lancashire. Ordered 20s and 10s 

towards here expenses of coming 

to the sessions. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/9 
Petition of Mary McCollof of 

Wigton, widow 

Her rent was stopped. Application 

for rent to be paid and arrears 

after being threatened by 

1769 



landlord. Ordered arrears to be 

paid to landlord and fined 5s for 

her expense of application. 

Q/11/1/326/10 

Petition of Hannah Storey, parish 

of Stapleton, separated from 

husband John Storey, a taylor, 

who cannot keep his wife and 

children 

Application for weekly 

allowance. Ordered 1s. 6d a week 

until further order regarding 

proper habitation of her. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/11 

Petition of Ann Relf, widow of 

Caldewgate, over 72 years of age 

and not able to work 

Application for a weekly 

allowance. Nil. 
1769 

Q/11/1/326/12 
Petition of Ann Cockton, Wigton 

for relief 

Ordered 1d a week until further 

order 
1769 

Q/11/1/326/13 

Petition of Mary Barne of 

Longnewton, parish of Holme 

Cultram, singlewoman 

Had bastard male child with 

William Armstrong but he will 

only pay 7 pounds for 

maintenance. Application for 

relief. Ordered that parish pays 

her arrears of 30s and 1s 6d per 

week till further order. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/14 

Two justices of the peace (Hasell 

and Richards) appealing to the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor in Lazonby 

To seize the goods of a Thomas 

Harrison and to receive the rents 

and profits of his land after he left 

the parish and left behind his 

daughter to provide for her. 

Ordered that the parish officers 

take, seize and receive £4 a year 

and apply the same toward 

maintenance of the daughter out 

of the rents and profits of 

Harrison's estate till further order. 

Ordered that the above be 

confirmed. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/15 

Application from overseers of 

Whicham for more time to be 

granted to complete the road 

leading towards Broughton 

Tower, signed by Henry Ellison 

 1769 

Q/11/1/326/16 
Quarterly disbursements from 

the County Gaol from 5 April 

Braithwaite Atkinson, Keeper, 

some prisoners named. Damaged 

at edge. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/17 

Inquest report of death of Joseph 

Twentyman of Wigton, with a 

list of jurors 

Accidentally drowned in River 

Wisa. See Q/11/1/326/18. John 

Skelton, coroner. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/18 
Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, coroner 

He rode to Wigton for an 

inquisition into the death of 

Joseph Twentyman of Wigton. 

Application for fees for taking 

inquisition and riding 30 miles to 

Wigton (£2 2s 6d total) See 

Q/11/1/326/17 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/19 
A list of bridges in Leath Ward 

repaired by the County in 1769 
 1769 



Q/11/1/326/20 

Application for maintenance of 

James Bell, a poor man of Dacre, 

money due 3 pounds 

Ordered payment. 1769 

Q/11/1/326/21 
Report on Warwick Bridge in 

bad repair 

Note: all other bridges in good 

repair except Warwick Bridge not 

finished. Order - Robert Raven, 

surveyor of the bridges for 

Cumberland ward. Ordered to be 

repaired under direction of Robert 

Raven. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/22 

Inquest report of death of John 

Little of Dubwath, parish of 

Kirklinton, drowned in river 

while of unsound mind. Thomas 

Dixon, coroner 

 1769 

Q/11/1/326/23 

Inquest report of death of 

Thomas Watson, miner, 

Renwick 

Thomas Dixon, coroner. 

Drowned in coal pit. 
1769 

Q/11/1/326/24 

Inquest report of death of 

William Cockburn, Armathwaite 

Bridge, Ainstable parish 

Thomas Dixon, coroner. 

Returning from collecting rents 

for master Henry Eglionby of the 

Nunnery, shot by person in 

disguise and died from wounds at 

inn of Bridget Wilson. Verdict: 

Murdered by person unknown. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/25 

Inquest report of death of Joseph 

Graves, son of William, aged 3, 

Redmain 

Thomas Dixon, coroner. 

Smothered by sack of barley. 
1769 

Q/11/1/326/26 
Inquest report of death of 

William Sewell, Brampton 

Thomas Dixon, coroner. 

Accidental death while racing 

horse. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/27 
Inquest report of death of 

William Peat, Bowness 

Thomas Dixon, coroner. William 

Sewell and brother John carrying 

timber by boat from Bowness 

across Solway to Scotch side. On 

return hit by squall and boat 

overturned, drowning William. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/28 

Petition of Thomas Dixon, 

coroner of Carlisle, for expenses 

incurred for riding to and taking 

inquisitions, amounting to £9 3s 

9d. 

 1769 

Q/11/1/326/29 

Letter to Mr Meals of 

Cockermouth from Mr Peele of 

Winscales regarding care of a 

Betty Hope who was in a weak 

condition and cannot be removed 

that fortnight 

Q/11/1/326/29-33 all relate to 

Elizabeth, aka Eliza, aka Betty 

Hope of Whitehaven 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/30 

Elizabeth, wife of James Hope of 

Whitehaven, parish of St Bees, 

convicted of petty larceny 

Ordered by the court that she be 

committed to the House of 

Correction at Cockermouth for 1 

month hard labour. 

Q/11/1/326/29-33 all relate to 
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Elizabeth, aka Eliza, aka Betty 

Hope of Whitehaven 

Q/11/1/326/31 
John Meals, master of House of 

Correction, Cockermouth 

Debt to John Smith for keeping 

Eliza Hope and child for 4 weeks 

- one pound eight shillings paid to 

John Smith. Q/11/1/326/29-33 all 

relate to Elizabeth, aka Eliza, aka 

Betty Hope of Whitehaven 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/32 

Mr Meals claim of 10s 10d for 

attendance and medicines for 

Elizabeth Hope 

Order to pay the 10s 10d and 

former disbursements £1 8s 0d. 

Q/11/1/326/29-33 all relate to 

Elizabeth, aka Eliza, aka Betty 

Hope of Whitehaven 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/33 

Petition of John Meals, on 

conveying Elizabeth Hope from 

Whitehaven to Cockermouth for 

her sentence of 1 month in 

House of Correction 

She was taken ill on the road and 

taken to the house of John Smith 

who took care of her till she could 

be removed. Expense claim for 

debt to Smith, debt to doctor and 

the journeys made and also futher 

allowances for maintenance and 

care of George Dobson, an insane 

person from Penrith and for 

guarding and maintaining vagrant 

prisoners on the road from 

Cockermouth to Carlisle and in 

the gaol during the sessions. 

Ordered £2 8s 10d. 

Q/11/1/326/29-33 all relate to 

Elizabeth, aka Eliza, aka Betty 

Hope of Whitehaven 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/34 Bill to John Wordsworth 

Paid Isaac Thompson for adverts 

in Newcastle Journal, repairs of 

Waver Bridge and other county 

bridges and paid John Dunn for 

printing 100 orders of the court, 

total 12s. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/35 

Petition of Mary Blacklock of 

Beaumont, widow, 63 years old 

and infirm 

Had to sit up day and night since 

some thatch of the roof of her 

house was pulled off. Request for 

relief. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/36 

Petition of the surveyor and 

inhabitants of Stoneraise and 

Brocklebank quarter, parish of 

Westward 

The highways, pavements, 

bridges and streets are in bad 

repair and the six days labour 

performed is not sufficient to 

repair them. Request for six pence 

in the pound to every inhabitant. 

Common Order 6d in £ 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/37 

Petition of Surveyor of 

Highways and other inhabitants 

of parish of Castle Sowerby 

The highways, bridges, 

pavements and streets are still out 

of repair after the six days labour. 

Request for six pence out of the 

pound for each inhabitant to be 

employed toward repair and 

support of highways, bridges, 
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pavements and streets. Common 

Order 6d in £ 

Q/11/1/326/38 

Petition of surveyors of the 

highways and inhabitants and 

parishioners of parish of 

Egremont 

The statute labour on the 

highways is far from being 

sufficient. Request for six pence 

out of the pound for each 

inhabitant to enable them to 

complete the work. Common 

Order 6d in £. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/39 

Petition of John Rooke and 

William Parkin, Wigton quarter, 

Wigton 

Protesting against indictment that 

Wigton Quarter should pay for 

repairs to "Jackson's Bridge" (or 

Bank Bridge) It should be the 

whole parish to pay rather than 

just the Wigton qu.arter 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/40 
Petition of Jane Scott, widow of 

Brampton 

Out of health and not able to 

work, her rent has been stopped, 

therefore request for relief of six 

pence a week or continue paying 

rent. Ordered that rent be paid 

and a house be provided for her. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/41 
Petition of Elizabeth Clark, 

widow, of Wigton 

Over 70 years of age and not able 

to work, confined to bed due to ill 

health. Request for a weekly 

allowance. Ordered that 2s a 

week be paid her by the parish 

until further order. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/42 

Petition of Martha Drape, she 

was hired as a servant to Thomas 

Wood of Wheyrigg in parish of 

Brumfield [Bromfield] 

He removed from there to 

Scotland [Morphet] and after her 

faithful service he then refused to 

pay. She cannot sue him under 

Scottish law therefore requests a 

warrant to apprehend him when 

he comes back into Cumberland. 

Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/43 

Petition of Jane Tinling of 

Stanwix parish, old and infirm, 

has had eighteen pence a week 

and has received notice by the 

parish officer that the allowance 

is to stop 

Request for a continuation of 

allowance. Referred to Mr 

Jackson and in the meantime 

ordered weekly allowance to be 

continued. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/44 

Relief Order: Wetherald parish 

to pay Mary Hare, a poor person, 

the sum of one shilling weekly 

For support and maintenance and 

that the churchwardens and 

overseers provide a house for her 

to live in. Torn - fragile. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/45 

Petition of Mary Hare, near the 

City of Carlisle, in the Parish of 

St Maries, who is a parishoner of 

Wetheral 

She has a son that is to be an 

apprentice for 5 years to a weaver 

Robert Husk of Kirkandrews-

upon-Eden. She is not able to 

provide apparel during his 

apprenticeship as was agreed 

upon. Therefore is requesting 
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clothing during his apprenticeship 

or a weekly allowance. Nil. 

Q/11/1/326/46 

Petition of Jane Irving, who 

claims she has been threatened 

and accused by a Mary Willson 

of Wetheral, wife of Andrew and 

Jefrey Irving her brother 

She has been accused of stealing 

but has evidence she was not 

there at the time. Requesting an 

order for witnesses to be 

summoned as further evidence 

against the accusations. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/47 
Petition of John McLean of 

Nether Stone, Garth-side 

Entered into a bond to indemnify 

the parish of Stanwix against the 

maintenance of a male bastard 

child, born of Elizabeth Pickering 

of Stanwix. He was left to pay for 

the child but is proposing he take 

the child home to raise and 

educate as his own family, 

therefore requesting Stanwix 

parish officer deliver the child to 

him. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/48 

Letter from Peter Stuart to the 

Court showing regret and 

explaining the reasons for his 

crime 

Crime was theft of a man's 

clothes. Begging their pity and 

compassion. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/49 

A petition between John Keay 

appealant and the churchwardens 

and overseers of the parish of 

Hayton 

To not try Keay's appeal (against 

the bastardy order for a male 

bastard child, born of Margaret 

Kirkpatrick and filiated upon the 

said John Keay) without the 

evidence of Margaret Kirkpatrick 

(whom they are trying to find) 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/50 

Petition of Jane Bell and Anne, 

her daughter, of Rickergate 

Quarter 

They were put to Thomas Taylor 

of Carleton by contract and were 

treated ill, therefore and 

appealing for either support in 

their own Quarter or to be put to 

the overseers of another parish. 

Vivid descriptions. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/51 
Petition of Ann Johnson of 

Westward Parish 

Not able to support herself, being 

naked with scarce clothes to 

cover herself, requests an order 

for relief. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/52 
Petition of John Skelton, 

coroner, of Rowrah 

States that he rode to Whitcham 

[Whicham] and was informed that 

the body of William Miers had 

been buried without an 

inquisition. A person called 

Singleton of Gosforth then 

summoned a pretended 

inquisition which the petitioner is 

claiming he had no right to do so 

and issued a warrant for the body 

to be taken up, but this was 

disregarded. Therefore requesting 

an order to be granted for an 
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inquisition and allow him the 

usual and accustomed fees. Nil. 

Q/11/1/326/53 
Petition of inhabitants of Cargo, 

parish of Stanwix 

They labour under great hardship 

in repairing the King's Highway 

having no assistance from the 

township of Stenton in the same 

quarter, who claim they are 

excusable as their lands do not 

adjoin the King's road. Request 

assistance in the affair by having 

the help of the inhabitants of 

Stenton. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/54 Petition of Ann Johnson 

Claims the parish officer told her 

not to come into the parish and 

she has been begging, she claims 

to have been treated badly by 

them and requests a small matter 

of money to clothe herself, that 

she may go to service and trouble 

them no more. Ordered that 

parish officer pay her 20s towards 

clothing and 1s a week unless 

they provide her provender, 

clothing and take and maintain 

her in the parish. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/55 
Petition of George Dobson, late 

of Penrith, mason 

Is in Carlisle Gaol for an assault 

on Joseph Rowland, but is poor 

and unable to support himself in 

confinement, therefore requesting 

weekly allowance. Ordered 1s a 

week. 

1769 

Q/11/1/326/56 

Removal order for Mary Ion 

wife of Thomas from Graystock 

[Greystoke] to Westward 

Ordered to be adjourned to next 

Sessions. Quashed upon the 

merits. In 2 pieces. UNFIT FOR 

PRODUCTION. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/1 Notice to Treasurer of County 

A sufficient part of the repair of 

Croglin Bridge has already been 

performed by Joseph Robinson, 

therefore he should receive half 

the sum that has been contracted 

for, namely £10 4s 0d 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/2 
Three statements from Richard 

Lee, naval officer 

1st - Isaac Walby, master of the 

ship "Hero" of Whitehaven 

landed the following 6 convicts at 

Virginia: Margarett Davidson, 

John Foster, Margarett Gowling 

(aka Golding), Christian Dobbie, 

convicted at Carlisle, and Thomas 

Fawcett and Hannah Mason, 

convicted at Cockermouth. 2nd - 

John Thompson, master of 

Brigantine "William" of 

Whitehaven landed Christopher 

Armstrong at Virginia, convicted 
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at Carlisle. 3rd - John Thompson, 

master of Brigantine "William" of 

Whitehaven, landed Jonathan 

Abbott, convicted at 

Cockermouth, at Virginia.   1st 

particularly detailed, all give 

dates of conviction and arrival in 

Virginia. 

Q/11/1/327/3 

An expenses claim for the 

repairing of Warwick Bridge by 

William Milburn, including 

carting of stones, lime and labour 

of men 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/4 

An expenses claim to the 

representatives of Mr Thomas 

Simpson, deceased, for £15 13s 

4d for legal work 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/6 

Inquest report taken at Cleator 

by John Skelton, coroner, on 

death of William Tyson, 

accidentally fell into river and 

drowned 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/7 
Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, coroner 

Expenses claim for riding to 

Cleator, attending and taking the 

inquisition. Ordered £1 3s 0d 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/8 

Inquest report held in Rickerby 

in parish of Stanwix, as to the 

death of Ann, daughter of James 

Linnox, accidentally suffocated 

and drowned in river Eden. 

Thomas Dixon coroner. 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/9 

Inquest report taken in 

Lanwathby [Langwathby] in 

parish of Langanby, as to the 

death of person unknown, 

drowned and suffocated in river. 

Thomas Dixon, coroner 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/10 
Petition of Thomas Dixon of 

Carlisle, coroner [FRAGILE] 

An expenses claim for riding, 

attending and taking 2 

inquisitions; 1 at Langwathby and 

1 at Rickerby. Ordered £2 15s 9d. 

Damaged. Fragile. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/11 4 expense claims 

1st - for the repairing of Warwick 

Bridge, Robert Raven for men, 

horses and carts £1 13s 6d. 2nd - 

A bill for Isaac Robinson for 

work done on Warwick Bridge £6 

16s 3d. 3rd - Stone from J Brown 

for £2 17s 8d for Warwick 

Bridge. 4th - Iron from Keswick 

forge £8 15s 3 and 3/4d 
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Q/11/1/327/12 

Expense claim for mason's work 

done at Warwick Bridge by 

William Milburn. 

In all 124 days at 1s 8d equals 

£10 6s 8d 
1769 

Q/11/1/327/14 

Statement - Warwick Bridge 

sufficiently repaired, agreeable 

to the order of last sessions 

Details all the expenses incurred 

(to William Milbourn, Keswick 

Forge, Isaac Robinson, John 

Brown, Robert Raven) total £34 

9s 2 and 3/4 d plus £1 1s 0d for 

horse hire 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/15 

A schedule for between June 7th 

and August 21st for horse hire 

for Ware Bridge and Warwick 

Bridge 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/16 
Quarterly disbursements for the 

County Gaol 

From the 12th (June or July -

paper has worn away rest of 

word) Total of £3 13s 5d. 

Braithwaite Atkinson. Damaged. 

some prisoners' names recorded. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/17 
A report of the bridges in 

Cumberland Ward, Oct 3rd 

Details the damage of Botcherby 

Bridge, Poumaugham Bridge, 

Sebergham Bridge and Waver 

Bridge. By Robert Raven, 

surveyor of the bridge. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/18 
A report of the bridges in 

Eskdale Ward, Oct 2nd 

Including Prestbeck Bridge, 

Abbay Bridge, Quarybeck 

Bridge, Middle Gelt and Low 

Gelt Bridge, Newby Bridge and 

Warwick Bridge, all in good 

repair, by Thomas Gibson, 

surveyor. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/19 
Petition of Mary Routledge of 

the parish of Bewcastle 

Her husband left her six years ago 

with three children to care for. 

The parish officers of Bewcastle 

granted her relief and paid rent on 

a house for her, with expenses as 

well. They then stopped the 

weekly allowance and put her in 

the poor house. But she would not 

leave the children and they were 

becoming ill of health. Therefore 

requests the arrears to be paid, 

expenses of going to the sessions 

at different times and a weekly 

allowance. Petition is further 

signed by several neighbours on 2 

Oct testifying that the petitioner's 

state is correct and recommending 

charity. Ordered that the former 

order be confirmed and that 

parish officers pay her the arrears 

of 20s and 6s for her expenses of 

this application. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/20 
Order that John Forster the 

younger of Flowryhurst to be 

For the offence of cutting down 

and carrying away four oak trees 
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fined twenty pounds to be paid 

immediately 

on complaint of John Calvert, 

wood warden of Earl of Carlisle. 

Q/11/1/327/21 

Order that William and George 

Routledge of Daplymoor, 

convicted by Joseph Dacre, be 

fined 10 pounds to be paid 

immediately 

For the offence of cutting down 

and carrying away eight sawn ash 

posts, four foot long each and 

three ash posts six foot long each 

and one cut of oak six foot long, 

to the Rev. Graham on complaint 

of John Moscrop his wood 

warden. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/22 Petition of Thomas Bulman 

He currently pays 1s 6d a week to 

Jane Steel of the parish of Brough 

for maintenance of a female 

bastard child whom he fathered. 

The child is now three years of 

age and the petitioner is of an 

unhealthy constitution and is not 

able to support himself. He has 

applied to the parish officers to 

deliver the child to him to bring 

her up with his own but he was 

refused. Therefore a request to 

either take the child home or for 

abatement of the said 1s 6d a 

week, and also for the repayment 

of 20s which the parish have 

charged him for the months 

laying in of Jane Steel, he having 

beofre paid that expense. Nil. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/23 

Examination of Daniel Gordon, a 

vagrant, taken on oath before 

four of His Majesty's Justices of 

the Peace 

He was born in Perth, North 

Britain and was apprenticed as a 

bricklayer, then enlisted as a 

soldier in the 2nd Battalion of the 

42nd Regiment of Foot until the 

regiment was broken, then 

continued business as a 

bricklayer, but lost an arm. He 

was on his way to Newcastle 

from Newport, Glasgow, to visit 

his brother, along with his wife 

Ruth when his child fell ill in 

Brampton where he had to ask for 

support and relief even though he 

never gained settlement in 

England, 30th Sept. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/24 

An order signed by Thomas 

Wilson, Doctor of Divinity, 

Joseph Dacre Esq, William 

Nicholson Jackson, clerk, His 

Majesty's Justices of the Peace 

For the vagrant Daniel Gordon 

and his wife, Ruth, to be 

conveyed back to Scotland, 

following their examination (see 

Q/11/1/327/23) Order addressed 

to the constables of the parish of 

Brampton and to all other 

constables and officers whom it 

may concern to receive and 
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convey, and the constables and 

officers whom it may concern in 

Scotland, 30th Sept. 

Q/11/1/327/25 

Examination of John Atkinson, a 

vagrant, taken on oath before 

four of His Majesty's Justices of 

the Peace, 30th September 

He is 61 years of age and born in 

Warrington, Lancaster. He served 

an apprenticeship at 24 to John 

Green, a plasterer and slater in 

Lancaster. He then continued in 

that trade but is now incapable 

due to his age. He apprehends he 

is legally settled at Lancaster in 

right of his serving an 

apprenticeship there, having 

never since done any other act to 

gain him a subsequent settlement. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/26 

Order signed by Thomas Wilson, 

Joseph Dacre and William 

Nicholson Jackson regarding 

John Atkinson 

That the vagabond John 

Atkinson, who was apprehended 

in the parish of St Mary Carlisle, 

be conveyed by the constables of 

the parish to Emont [Eamont] 

Bridge in the parish of Barton, 

Westmorland, this being the first 

place he should pass in the direct 

way to Lancaster based on the 

examination (Q11/1/327/25) 

Order addressed to the constables 

of the parish of St Mary's and 

other constables/officers to 

receive and convey to the 

churchwardens, overseers of the 

parish of Lancaster. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/27 

Examination of John Salmon, a 

vagrant, taken on oath before 

four Justices of the Peace, 30th 

September 

He was born at Bristol in 

Somersetshire and enlisted as a 

soldier into General Braggs's 

Regiment until the reduction of 

the Regiment after the Battle of 

Culloden, then joined the First 

Division of Marines until he was 

incapable of service but received 

a pension. On journeying from 

Edinburgh to Bristol with wife 

Jane and child he sold buttons, 

garters and laces and lodged in a 

house of Matthews in 

Caldewgate, Carlisle. He has 

done no act since his birth in the 

parish of Moorfields, Bristol to 

gain him any other settlement. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/28 

Order signed by Thomas Wilson, 

Joseph Dacre and William 

Nicholson Jackson regarding 

John Salmon 

To convey John Salmon and wife 

Jane and child Hannah back to 

Moorfields parish, Bristol as it 

was decided that they were 

legally settled there after 

examination (Q/11/1/327/27) 
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after being apprehended in parish 

of St Mary's, Carlisle, via Emont 

Bridge, in parish of Barton. 

Addressed to contsables of parish 

of St Mary's and other 

constables/officers to receive and 

convey and churchwardens, 

overseers in parish of Moorfields, 

Bristol, Somerset, 30th 

September. 

Q/11/1/327/29 

Examination of Ann Waller of 

Low End in parish of Graystock 

[Greysroke] widow and vagrant, 

taken on oath 30th September 

before four Justices of the Peace 

She married Michael Waller, 13 

years ago whose settlement was 

in Burgh-under-Stainmoor in 

county of Westmorland and since 

his death three years ago she has 

been begging with her son 

William, aged 9, and she has no 

other settlement than her 

husbands. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/30 

Order signed by Thomas Wilson, 

Joseph Dacre and William 

Nicholson Jackson concerning 

Ann Waller 

To convey Ann Waller and her 

son back to Burgh under 

Stainmoor, Westmorland as it 

was decided that they were 

legally settled there after 

examination (Q/11/1/327/29) via 

Emont [Eamont] Bridge in parish 

of Barton, after she was 

apprehended in parish of St 

Mary's, Carlisle. Addresses to 

constables of parish of St Mary's 

and other constables/officers to 

receive and convey and 

churchwardens, overseers in 

parish of Burgh under Stainmore, 

Westmorland, 30th September. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/31 

Petition of Dulsible Graham of 

Moorhouses in parish of 

Kirklinton 

At the end of April her servant 

Thomas Kirk fell from the house 

and broke his leg. She employed 

a surgeon, Mr Losh, to see to the 

leg and applied to the parish 

officers for them to take care of 

him, which they agreed to but not 

for 20 weeks, when he was 

carried to the poor house, they 

also refused to pay the ten pounds 

charged by the surgeon. 

Therefore request for the ten 

pounds charged by the surgeon.   

Ordered that the parish officers 

pay her seven pounds: in full for 

her bill of expenses in keeping 

Thomas Kirk, poor person. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/32 
Petition of Thomas Wright, 

constable of Culgaith 

Claim for expenses for conveying 

several vagrants to Grateney 
1769 



[Gretna] and other places since 

Michaelmas 1768, amounting to 

the sum of £22 16s 1 and-a-half d. 

Ordered £8 0s 0d, see minute 

book. 

Q/11/1/327/33 

Petition of Joseph Railton of 

Caldbeck, mason and Edward 

Mandell of Bolton, mason 

They had contracted with Rev Dr 

Wilton, Dean of Carlisle and The 

Rev William Nicholson Jackson, 

clerk, two of the Justices of the 

Peace, for the rebuilding of 

Waver Bridge, for the sum of £94 

- one half to be paid upon striking 

the arch of the bridge and the rest 

upon completion. The arch was 

struck five weeks ago, therefore 

requesting one half of the contract 

money. Ordered £47 - see minute 

book. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/34 

To the constable of Culgaith - an 

order from Richard Hassell 

junior, one of His Majesty's 

Justices of the Peace for the 

borough of St Albans 

To convey Mary Monro and her 

child to the parish of Borg in 

Galloway, the place of her legal 

settlement. The constable of 

Culgaith must convey the 

vagabonds in a cart to the parish 

of Grateney [Gretna] Being the 

first place in the next precinct and 

on the direct road to Borg. The 

constable is allowed the sum of 

13s 6d for conveyance and 2 

shillings for diet. (Note on back 

says 10th January 1769 Reced of 

Culgaith Constable the within 

vagrants and pass Henery Lang 

Gretney Grene) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/35 

Order signed by John Osborn to 

convey the vagabonds James 

Munnroe with his wife Margaret, 

and daughters Ann (8) and 

Margaret (2) 

Convey from the borough of St 

Alban, where they were 

apprehended, to Newport Glassgo 

in county of Gallway, via 

Studham in the county of 

Bedford, being the first place 

through which they ought to pass. 

Addresses to constables and 

officers in St Alban, all other 

constables and officers and the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of Newport Glassgo. 

(Notes on back detailing their 

handing over from county to 

county. Includes a loose 

unnumbered examination 

certificate of James Munnroe and 

family. Fragile - torn) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/36 
To the constable of Culgaith - an 

order from John Meacham Esq, 

To convey Jane Archer and 

Margaret her daughter to Wigdon 
1769 



mayor, one of His Majesty's 

Justices of the Peace for the 

borough of Stratford - upon-

Avon in the county of Warwick 

in county of Galloway, the place 

of their legal settlement. William 

Dalston order to constable to 

convey vagrants to Grateney, the 

first place they should pass. 

Constable allowed sum of 13 

shillings and six pence for 

conveyance plus 2 shillings for 

diet. (Notes on back detail 

handing over from constable to 

constable.) 

Q/11/1/327/37 
Examination certificate of Jane 

Archer, wife of Charles Archer 

Now a private soldier in His 

Majesty's 12th regiment of foot. 

A rogue and vagabond in borough 

of Stratford-upon-Avon. She was 

born at Dumfries and married 

Charles Archer of Wigdon, where 

he had lived all his life until he 

enlisted as a soldier. She has one 

child, Margaret, aged about 11 

months. Sworn and signed before 

John Meacham, mayor. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/38 

Order from John Meacham, 

mayor, to the Constable, 

Headborough, Tythingman and 

other officer of the peace in the 

borough of Stratford-upon-Avon, 

county of Warwick 

To convey the rogues and 

vagabonds Jane Archer, wife of 

Charles Archer, now in the 12th 

regiment of foot, and Margaret 

her daughter, to the place of their 

legal settlement Wigdon, 

Galloway, via the parish of 

Yardley, being the first parish on 

which they should pass. (Notes on 

back detailing handing over from 

county to county) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/39 

A breakdown of the common 

market prices for middling 

English corn and grain 

Presented before Andrew 

Hudleston and John Richardson at 

the quarter sessions held at 

Penrith 4th October, certificatin 

to His Majesty's Collector of 

Customs of the port of 

Whitehaven. FRAGILE 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/40 

Petition of John Wilson of 

Watermelock [Watermillock], 

county yeoman and constable of 

Watermelock 

Has conveyed vagrants back to 

Andrew Hudleston Esq and upon 

their examination could not give 

their place of lawful settlement 

and were committed to the house 

of correction. Therefore 

requesting his bill of expenses to 

be paid for conveying vagrants, 

sum of £1 7s 8d. Nil. (See 

Q/11/1/327/41) Damaged. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/41 

Expenses for going from 

Watermelock [Watermillock] to 

Cockermouth with the vagrants 

Sum of £1 7s 8d (See 

Q/11/1/327/40) 
1769 



Winder and Fox, including meals 

and horses 

Q/11/1/327/42 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from John Osborn, one of 

His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for the county of Hertford, 

concerning Jane Friezer 

An order given to convey Jane 

Friezer with her child to 

Inverness, Scotland, the place of 

their legal settlement. William 

Dalston therefore ordering the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

and the constable is allowed 9 

shillings for conveyance and 2 

shillings for diet. (Notes on back 

detailing handing over) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/43 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from John Osborn, one of 

His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for the county of Hertford, 

concerning Catherine Marshall 

An order given to convey 

Catherine Marshall and 3 children 

to Truffney, Scotland, the place 

of their legal settlement. William 

Dalston orders the constable to 

convey the vagabonds to 

Grateney [Gretna], the first place 

through which they should pass. 

The constable is allowed sum of 

18 shillings for conveyance and 4 

shillings for diet. (Notes on back 

detailing handing over) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/44 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from Richard Hassell, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for St Alban concerning 

Catherine Orle 

Order was given to convey 

Catherine Orle to Glascow 

[Glasgow], Scotland, the place of 

her legal settlement. Order from 

William Dalston for the constable 

to convey the vagabond to 

Grateney [Gretna], the first place 

through which they should pass, 

the constable allowed sum of four 

shillings and sixpence for 

conveyance and one shilling for 

diet. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/45 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from John Boyes, one of 

His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for the county of Hertford, 

concerning Elizabeth Tale 

Order was given to convey 

Elizabeth Tale and her 3 children 

to Kircudbright, Scotland, the 

place of their legal settlement. 

Wm Dalston orders the constable 

to convey the vagabonds to 

Grateney [Gretna], the first place 

through which they should pass, 

the constable allowed 18 shillings 

for conveyance, and 4 shillings 

for diet. (Notes on back detailing 

handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/46 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from Richard Hassell, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Order given to convey Mary 

Alexander with her child to 

Naskel Patrick, Scotland, the 

place of her legal settlement. Wm 
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Peace for St Alban, concerning 

Mary Alexander 

Dalston therefore orders the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna] 

the first place they should pass 

through, the constable allowed 

sum of 9 shillings for conveyance 

and 2 shillings for diet. 

Q/11/1/327/47 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from John Boyes, one of 

His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for the county of Hertford, 

concerning Barbary Crockell 

Order given to convey Barbary 

Crockell and her 2 children to 

Faukland, Scotland, the place of 

their legal settlement. William 

Dalston therefore orders the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place through which they 

should pass, the constable 

allowed sum of 18 shillings for 

conveyance and 3 shillings for 

diet. (Notes on back detailing 

handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/48 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from John Boyes, one of 

His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for the county of Hertford, 

concerning John Allon 

Order given to convey John Allon 

to Keath, Scotland, the place of 

his legal settlement. William 

Dalston therefore orders the 

constable to convey the vagabond 

to Grateney [Gretna], the first 

place through which he should 

pass, the constable allowed sum 

of 4 shillings and 50 pence for 

conveyance and one shilling for 

diet. (Notes on back detailing 

handing over) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/49 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from Joseph Churchill, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for county of 

Northampton, converning 

Eleanor Shuller 

Order given to convey Eleanor 

Shuller, wife of John Shuller, to 

Dumfries, Scotland, the place of 

her legal settlement. William 

Dalston therefore orders the 

constable to convey the vagabond 

to Grateney [Gretna], the first 

place through which she should 

pass, the constable allowed 4 

shillings and sixpence for 

conveyance and one shilling for 

diet. (Notes on back detailing 

handing over) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/50 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from Richard Hassell, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for St Alban, concerning 

Elizabeth Laird 

Order given to convey Elizabeth 

Laird to Kelmackomby, Scotland, 

the place of her legal settlement. 

William Dalston therefore orders 

the constable to convey the 

vagabond to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place through which she 

should pass, the constable 

allowed the sum of 9 shillings for 
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conveyance and one shilling for 

diet. (Notes on back detailing 

handing over.) 

Q/11/1/327/51 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from Edward Garlick Esq, 

one of His Majesty's Justices of 

the Peace for county of 

Gloucester, concerning Ann 

Nixon 

Order given to convey Ann Nixon 

and her daughter Mary, age 17 to 

St Mary in city of Carlisle, the 

place of their legal settlement. 

The constable ordered to convey 

vagabonds to St Mary, Carlisle 

and allowed sum of six shillings 

and 3 pence for conveyance and 

one shilling for diet. (Note on 

back detailing handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/52 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from John Osborn Esq, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for borough of St Albans, 

concerning William Hunt 

Order given to convey William 

Hunt to Dumfries, Annandale, the 

place of his legal settlement. The 

constable ordered to convey the 

vagabond to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place he should pass 

through, the constable allowed 10 

shillings for conveyance and one 

shilling for diet. (Note on back 

detailing handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/53 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from John Osborn Esq, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for borough of St Albans, 

Hertford, concerning William 

Hunt 

Order given to convey William 

Hunt to Morphet, Lidsdale, the 

place of his legal settlement. The 

constable therefore ordered to 

convey the vagabond to Grateney 

[Gretna], the first place through 

which he should pass, the 

constable allowed sum of 4 

shillings and six pence for 

conveyance and one shilling for 

diet. (Note on back detailing 

handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/54 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from William Bilbie Esq, 

one of His Majesty's Justices of 

the Peace for the county of 

Nottingham concerning James 

Mundall 

Order given to convey James 

Mundall, William his son age 9 

and Mary his daughter age 7 to 

Dumfries, Annandale, the place 

of their legal settlement. The 

constable therefore ordered to 

convey the vagabonds to 

Grateney [Gretna], the first place 

through which they should pass, 

the constable allowed sum of 13 

shillings and sixpence for 

conveyance and 3 shillings for 

diet. (Notes on back detailing 

handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/55 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from George Wright Esq, 

one of His Majesty's Justices of 

the Peace for the city of 

Order given to convey James 

MacFarly to Dumfries, the place 

of his legal settlement. The 

constable therefore ordered to 

convey the vagabond to Gratney 
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Westminster, concerning James 

MacFarly 

[Gretna], the first place through 

which he should pass, the 

constable allowed sum of 9 

shillings for conveyance and one 

shilling for diet. (Note on back 

detailing handing over.) 

Q/11/1/327/56 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from Richard Thompson 

Esq, one of his Majesty's Justices 

of the Peace for county of York 

concerning Jane Smith 

Order given to convey Jane 

Smith, age 47 and her son and 

daughter to the parish of Cooper, 

Fife, the place of their legal 

settlement. The constable 

therefore ordered to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place through which they 

should pass, the constable 

allowed sum of 18 shillings for 

conveyance and 3 shillings for 

diet. (Note on back detailing 

handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/57 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order from Richard Hassell 

junior, one of His Majesty's 

Justices of the Peace for St 

Alban concerning Mary Monro 

Order given to convey Mary 

Monro to Borg, Galloway, the 

place of her legal settlement. The 

constable therefore ordered to 

convey the vagabond to Grateney 

[Gretna], the first place through 

which she should pass, the 

constable allowed sum of 10 

shillings for conveyance and one 

shilling for diet. (Note on back 

detailing handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/58 

Statement of Mary Monro, a 

vagrant apprehended at Chipping 

Barnet 

She is the wife of Duncan Monro, 

a soldier gone to Minorca whose 

legal settlement she does not 

know. She was born in parish of 

Borg in Galloway and never 

gained any other lawful 

settlement. (Statement on back 

signed by Mr Richardson for 

vagrant and child to be conveyed 

from Cumberland to Scotland, 2 

Jan 1769.) In 2 pieces, [UNFIT 

FOR PRODUCTION] 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/59 

To all constables concerned and 

overseers of the poor of the 

parish of Borg, Galloway 

concerning Mary Monro 

The place of her legal settlement 

via the borough of St Alban, as 

she was apprehended in Chipping 

Barnet, wandering and begging. 

In 2 pieces. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/60 

To all constables concerned and 

overseers of the poor of the 

parish of Borg, Galloway 

concerning Mary Monro 

The place of her legal settlement 

via the borough of St Alban, as 

she was apprehended in Chipping 

Barnet, wandering and begging. 

In 2 pieces. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/61 
To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Margaret 

Was given by George Hassell, 

one of His Majesty's Justices of 
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Chambers and Mark her son to 

parish of St Mary, Carlisle 

the Peace for the liberty of Ripon. 

Order for the constable to convey 

the said vagabond to St Mary, 

with an allowance of ten shillings 

and fourpence half penny for 

conveyance and one shilling for 

diet. 25 April 1769 (detail on 

back of handing over.) 

Q/11/1/327/61A 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey William Palmer 

to parish of Workington, 

Cumberland, the place of his 

legal settlement 

Was given by Henry Dampesil, 

one of His Majesty's Justices of 

the Peace for the county of Bristol 

on 11 May. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabond to Workington with an 

allowance of 11 shillings for 

conveyance and 1 shilling for 

diet. 20 June. (Detail on back of 

handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/62 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Mary Furnass 

and Alexander her son to 

Morthruns, Scotland, the place of 

her legal settlement 

Was given by John Osborn, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 10th 

October. Therefore an order for 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of nine shillings 

for conveyance and two shillings 

for diet, 22 November 1768. 

(Detail on back of handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/63 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey John Sharp to 

Wigton, Scotland, the place of 

his legal settlement 

Was given by William Graves, 

one of His Majesty's Justices of 

the Peace for Lincolnshire, 7th 

October. Therefore an order to the 

constable to convey the vagabond 

to Grateney [Gretna], the first 

place he should pass, with 

allowance of nine shillings for 

conveyance and one shilling for 

diet, 22 November 1768 (detail 

on back for handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/64 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Jane Muffet to 

Dumfriece, Scotland, the place 

of her legal settlement 

Was given by John Baile, one of 

His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Doncaster on 1 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabond to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place she should pass, 

with allowance of nine shillings 

for conveyance and one shilling 

for diet, 30 November 1768 

(Detail on back for handing over.) 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/65 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey James Munroe 

and his wife and two children to 

Was given by John Osborn, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford, on 10th 
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Newport Glasgow, the place of 

their legal settlement 

October. Therefore an order to the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass 

with allowance of 18 shillings for 

conveyance and 4 shillings for 

diet, 22 November 1768, (detail 

on back of handing over.)    

Q/11/1/327/66 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Margaret 

Fittsgarrald and here daughter to 

Banef, Scotland, the place of her 

legal settlement 

Was given by John Osborn, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 11 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of nine shillings 

for conveyance and two shillings 

for diet, 4 December 1768 (detail 

on back of handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/67 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Sarah Ross and 

her child to Fane, Scotland, the 

place of their legal settlement 

Was given by John Boyes, one of 

His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford, 12 November. 

Therefore an order to the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of nine shillings 

for conveyance and two shillings 

for diet, 9 December 1768 (detail 

on back of handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/68 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Mary Funston 

and her two children to 

Abberdeen, Scotland, the place 

of their legal settlement 

Given by John Osborn, one of His 

Majesty's Justices of the Peace for 

Hertford, 18 November. 

Therefore an order to the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 13 shillings 

and sixpence for conveyance and 

three shillings for diet, 9 

December 1768 (detail on back of 

handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/69 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Jannett 

McCoppey and two children to 

Tonge, Scotland, the place of 

their legal settlement 

Given by John Boyes, one of His 

Majesty's Justices of the Peace for 

Hertford on 12 November. 

Therefore, an order to the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 13 shillings 

and sixpence for conveyance and 

3 shillings for diet, 9 December 

1768 (detail on back of handing 

over). 

1769 



Q/11/1/327/70A 

To the constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Sarah McDougle 

and her 2 children to 

Boxborough, Scotland, the place 

of their legal settlement 

Given by John Boyes, one of His 

Majesty's Justices of the Peace for 

Hertford on 12 November. 

Therefore, an order to the 

constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 13 shillings 

and sixpence for conveyance and 

3 shillings for diet, (detail on 

back of handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/70B 

Examination of Thomas 

Yarronton, a vagrant, 30 

September 1769 

He was born at Cambridge and at 

14 did a 7 year apprenticeship as 

a brushmaker for Isaac Mead in 

St Peters, Mancroft, Norwich. He 

then travelled round and made his 

livelihood by mending brushes, 

gathering rags and singing 

ballads, he says his legal 

settlement is in parish of St 

Peters, Mancroft. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/71A 

To constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Eliz[abeth] 

Mitchel and her daughter to 

March, Scotland, the place of 

their legal settlement 

Order given by John Osborn, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 14 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 13 shillings 

and sixpence for conveyance and 

2 shillings for diet on 9 December 

1768 (detail on back of handing 

over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/71B 

Removal Order: To the constable 

of parish of Penrith, and all other 

constables it concerns and 

church wardens, overseers of the 

poor of the parish of St Peters, 

Mancroft, Norwich in county of 

Norfolk 

Thomas Yarronton was 

apprehended in Brampton, 

begging and upon examination he 

is legally settled in St Peters, 

Mancroft. Therefore an order, 

signed Tho Wilson and W N 

Jackson, to convey him to St 

Peters, via Emont Bridge, the first 

place he ought to pass, 6 October 

1769. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/72A 

To constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Eleanor Hunter 

and her 2 children to Glasgow, 

Scotland, the place of their legal 

settlement 

Order given by John Osborn, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 11 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 13 shillings 

and sixpence for conveyance and 

3 shillings for diet on 9 December 

1769 



1768 (detail on back of handing 

over). 

Q/11/1/327/72B 

Examination of John Thompson, 

of the parish of All Saints in 

Newcastle upon Tyne, ballad 

singer, a vagrant. 

Says he was born at 

Newmundale, in shire of 

Clydesdale, he left Scotland 10 

years ago and went to live in All 

Saints, Newcastle and has been 

selling historys, sermon books 

and singing ballads, as he was 

doing at Carlisle Cross and 

Rickargate, signed before Tho 

Wilson, Jo Dacre, W N Jackson 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/73A 

To constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Jane Brankin 

and her 2 children to Cold 

Stream, Scotland, the place of 

their legal settlement 

Order given by John Boyes, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 12 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 13 shillings 

and sixpence for conveyance and 

3 shillings for diet on 9 December 

1768 (detail on back of handing 

over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/73B 

Removal Order: To the constable 

of parish of Penrith and all other 

constables it concerns, John 

Thompson was apprehended at 

Carlisle as a vagabond 

From his examination it seems his 

legal place of settlement is 

Scotland. Therefore an order, 

signed by Tho Wilson and W N 

Jackson, to convey him to 

Grateney [Gretna], the first place 

he should pass through, 6 October 

1769. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/74 

To constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Margaret Flend 

and her child, to Surnton, 

Scotland, the place of their legal 

settlement 

Order given by John Osborn, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 14 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 9 shillings for 

conveyance and 2 shillings for 

diet on 9 December 1768 (detail 

on back of handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/75 

To constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Jane Hamilton 

and her child to Westport, 

Scotland, the place of their legal 

settlement 

Order given by John Boyes, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 25 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of nine shillings 

for conveyance and 2 shillings for 

diet on 19 December 1768 (detail 

on back of handing over). 

1769 



Q/11/1/327/76 

To constable of Culgaith, an 

order to convey Barbara 

Robinson and her child to 

Sterling, Scotland, the place of 

their legal settlement 

Order given by John Boyes, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace for Hertford on 25 

November. Therefore an order to 

the constable to convey the 

vagabonds to Grateney [Gretna], 

the first place they should pass, 

with allowance of 9 shillings for 

conveyance and 2 shillings for 

diet, 19 December 1768 (detail on 

back of handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/77 

Removal order: To constable of 

St Alban, all other constables 

and officers it concerns and 

churchwardens, overseers of the 

poor of Stirling 

Barbery Robinson and child were 

apprehended as vagabonds in St 

Alban. Her examination found 

their legal settlement was Stirling, 

therefore an order to convey them 

to Stirling, via Studham in the 

county of Bedford, the first place 

they should pass through, signed 

John Boys, 25 November 1768 

(detail on back of handing over). 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/78 

Examination of Barbery 

Robinson, 25 November 1768, 

she is of age 22 years and John 

her son aged about 2 months 

She is the wife of John Robinson 

who was born in Stirling and she 

has not obtained any other legal 

settlement. Signed before John 

Boys 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/79 
Expenses claim to Andrew 

Whelpdale Easter sessions 1769 

Including production of 

advertisements for the rebuilding 

of several bridges and drawing up 

agreements and bonds between 

parties involved in rebuilding 

bridges. Sum of £5 9s 4d - 

ordered. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/79A 

Receipt for straw provided to 

County Gaol and payment of 

rent to city 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/79B 

Receipt for straw provided to 

County Gaol and payment of 

rent to city 

 1769 

Q/11/1/327/79C 

Bedfordshire receipt for 

conveying vagrant to Waverdon 

then Northampton 

18 November 1768, signed H 

Johnson and J Pellingae. Reverse 

received Gretna. No name, may 

be part of other item. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/80 
Examination of James Mitchell, 

a vagrant, 7 October 1769 

Bundle 2. Signed before Joshua 

Lucock, Wm Hicks, 2 of His 

Majesty's Justices of the Peace for 

Cumberland. He is 31 years, born 

at Dumbarton, Scotland and never 

gained lawful settlement 

anywhere else and he begged 

from door to door in 

Cockermouth. 

1769 



Q/11/1/327/81 

Removal Order: To John Meal, 

master of the house of 

Correction, Cockermouth and to 

all other officers/constables it 

concerns 

James Mitchell was apprehended 

in Cockermouth as a vagabond 

and from this examination it 

seems his legal settlement is in 

Scotland. Therefore an order 

signed by Joshua Lucock and 

Wm Hicks that he be conveyed to 

Scotland via Dornock, Scotland, 

the first place he should pass 

through, 7 October 1769. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/82 

Examination of Elizabeth 

Bowes, a vagrant, taken up at 

Dearham, Cumberland by John 

Harrison, constable of Dearham 

She is 66 years and was born in 

parish of Claypath, Durham and 

has married twice. She married 

her last husband, Isaac Bowes in 

Workington 5 years ago and he 

had legal settlement in Woodside 

quarter, Wigton and from her 

being his widow her settlement is 

there also. She begs door to door, 

signed before Joshua Lucock and 

Wm Hicks, 7 October 1769 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/83 

Removal Order: To the constable 

of the parish of Cockermouth 

and other constables/officers it 

concerns and churchwardens, 

overseers of the poor of the 

parish of Woodside quarter, 

Wigton 

Elizabeth Bowes, widow, was 

apprehended in Dearham as a 

vagabond, and upon examination 

it appears her legal settlement is 

Woodside Quarter, Wigton. 

Therefore an order to convey her 

to Woodside Quarter, Wigton, 

signed by Joshua Lucock and 

Wm Hicks, 7 October 1769 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/84 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways of Moresby and the 

inhabitants of Moresby 

The highways, bridges, streets 

and pavements are out of repair 

and cannot be maintained by the 

ordinary course of the statute 

labour. Therefore request for an 

assessment, not exceeding 

sixpence in the pound to be made 

upon all the occupiers of land etc 

in Moresby, to be levied and 

collected to be employed and 

accounted for. Common order 6d 

in the pound. 

1769 

Q/11/1/327/85 

Expense claim for Mr Richard 

Walton, expense for boxes to 

Whitehaven totalling £1 8s 9d 

Further statement below reads 

that 18 October 1767 received of 

Mr Andrew Whelpdale the 

contents of above bill signed by 

Henry Beck, for Mr Richard 

Walton. 

1769 

Q/11/1/328/1 

Petition of William Davis and 

Joseph Wycliff, surveyors of the 

Highways and the other 

inhabitants of the township of 

Sandwith, parish of St Bees 

For an assessment to be used on 

the repair of the road. Common 

Order 6d in the pound 

1769-1770 



Q/11/1/328/1B 

Petition of John Smith aged 80, 

of the parish of Distington, for 

relief 

Has applied to the overseers of 

the poor and been refused. Read 

nil. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/1C 

Petition of Anthony Peet of 

Eaglesfield in the parish of 

Brigham, for relief 

Has aaplied to parish but been 

refused. Ordered 1d a week till 

further order. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/2 

Petition of Mary Jackson of 

Turpenhoe, parish of Turpenhoe 

[Torpenhow] due to insufficient 

poor relief 

Was boarded out with Luke 

Robinson of Kirkland but left 

because of ill-treatment. Ordered 

1s 6d a week till further order. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/2B 

Petition of Edward Androbus of 

Cockermouth, weaver, 74 years 

of age for relief 

Parish refused to pay. Read nil. 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/3 
Petition of Joseph and Jane 

Hudson his wife of Distington 

For payment of £3 5s 0d owed to 

her by the parish from bastardy 

order for care of her child born in 

Eaglesfield before her marriage. 

Ordered that £1 2s 6d arrears be 

paid for her child to this day 

according to the agreement and 

that all further payments be end 

when she refuses to let her child 

go out apprenticed. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/4 

Removal order of Mary 

Wilkinson, wife of Thomas of 

Sunderland, county Durham 

from the parish of Brampton to 

the parish of Sunderland, county 

of Durham 

Order confirmed. No appeal. 

Removal executed on 10 

November 1769 by John Scot, 

churchwarden. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/5 

An estimate of building a new 

stone bridge over the River Ellen 

at the West Mill, High Arkleby 

Hall (£255 10s 6d ) by Jonas 

Potts 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/6 

Coroner's inquest report on John 

Taylor late of Whitehaven, 

mariner 

Fell off a ship, Bella, and 

drowned in the River Derwent, 

Workington Harbour. 21 October 

1769 (date of inquest). Coroner: 

Robert Baynes of the Liberty of 

the Lordship of Egremont. 

Verdict: accidental death. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/7 
Coroner's inquest report, 4 April 

1769 on John Hudson 

Robert Baynes, coroner of the 

Liberty of the Lordship of 

Egremont, on John Hudson an 

infant aged 12 years, trailer of 

coals at one of Henry Curwen's 

coal pits at Workington. Fell to 

the bottom of the pit and died 

instantly on 3 April 1769. 

Verdict: accidental death. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/8 
Coroner's inquest report, 23 

January 1769 on James Jackson 

Robert Baynes, coroner of the 

Liberty of the Lordship of 

Egremont, on James Jackson, 

1769-1770 



aged twelve, of Netherwasdale, 

who drowned whilst attempting to 

assist his brother, Joseph Jackson 

aged 8, who fell into water, when 

the ice on the tarn at 

Netherwasdale broke. Verdict: 

accidental death. (See 

Q/11/1/328/9) 

Q/11/1/328/9 
Coroner's inquest report 23 

January 1769 on Joseph Jackson 

Robert Baynes, coroner of the 

Liberty of the Lordship of 

Egremont, on Joseph Jackson, 

aged eight of Netherwasdale, who 

drowned after falling into water 

of tarn at Netherwasdale when the 

ice he was sliding on broke. 

Verdict: accidental death. (See 

Q/11/1/328/8) 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/10 

Petition of Robert Baynes of 

Egremont, coroner, for fees and 

expenses for holding inquests, £5 

14s 6d, 10 January 1770 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/11 
Coroner's inquest report, 22 

January 1770 on Mercy France 

John Skelton, coroner, on Mercy 

France, who hanged herself in her 

cellar while of unsound mind. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/11B 

Coroner's inquest report 6 

December 1769 on Thomas 

Henderson 

John Skelton, coroner, on Thomas 

Henderson, who on 5 December 

1769 fell from the quays at the 

Harbour of Whitehaven upon the 

rocks in the tideway and died 

from mortal bruise and contusion. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/12 

Coroner's inquest report 7 

December 1770 on Thomas 

Pattison 

John Skelton, coroner, on Thomas 

Pattison, who on 6 December 

1770 fell into the River Derwent, 

Workington Harbour and 

drowned when boarding the 

"Lawrell." Verdict: accidental 

death. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/13 

Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, coroner, for fees and 

expenses for holding inquests £3 

14s 3d, 31 January 1770 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/14 

Certificate that John Dacre of 

Kirklinton viewed the bridge 

over the River Irthing at 

Brampton currently under 

construction by Mr Kipling. 

Dated January 1770 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/15 

Petition of John Addison, one of 

the contractors, for rebuilding 

Irthing Bridge and Camock 

Bridge, on behalf of himself and 

a partner 

For an order that Rev Robert 

Graham and William Nicholson 

Jackson, clerke, pay one third of 

the whole money agreed for this 

building 

1769-1770 



Q/11/1/328/16 

Quarterly disbursements of the 

county gaol submitted by 

Braithwaite Atkinson, keeper. 

January 1770. Some prisoners 

named. 
1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/17 

Receipt for emptying boghouse 

at gaol. Joseph Robinson 1 

January 1770 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/18 

Receipt for repairing the 

windows at the county gaol, 

Robert Underwood. 30 May 

1769 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/19 

Receipt for meding locks and 

keys for the Carlisle gaol and 

ironing prisoners, Samuel 

Rickerby 8 January 1770 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/20 

Receipt issued in Whitehaven for 

arrival of Peter Stuart and Ann 

Murthwaite, two convicts, 

sentenced for transportation. 

October 1769, John Dixon 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/21 

Report on the bridges in 

Cumberland Ward by Robert 

Raven, surveyor. January 1770 

 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/22 

Certificate from Abr[aham] 

Monkhouse that James Bell, a 

pensioner is living and his 

pension is demaned from the 

County 

Adjourned till the next session. 1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/23 

Removal order for Isabella 

Barwise and Ann, her daughter 

(11) from the parish of Wetheral 

to Oulton Quater, parish of 

Wigton 

Ordered to be adjourned till 

Easter session of which all parties 

are to take notice. Ordered to be 

confirmed upon the merits. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/24 
Petition of Janet Longcake of 

Flimbie for relief 

Ordered 1s a week until further 

order and find her a room to live 

in. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/25 

Petition of Mary Storey, widow 

of the late Francis Storey whose 

settlement was in the parish of 

Kirklinton 

The petitioner is now in the town 

of Cockermouth and has lost the 

use of her limbs and therefore 

cannot travel, and is therefore 

requesting to be removed to 

Kirklinton. Ordered to be 

removed by Joshua Lucock to 

Kirklinton as a vagrant. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/26 

Bastardy Order of John Spedding 

and Joshua Lucock, justices of 

the peace, concerning a male 

bastard child born in the parish 

of Cockermouth by Frances 

Huntington 

Frances Huntington, single 

woman, who is now chargeable to 

the parish of Cockermouth. Order 

for the father Richard Bendall of 

Brampton, flax dresser, to pay 

twenty shillings to the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor for maintenance, and a 

further one shilling and sixpence 

1769-1770 



weekly until she shall care for the 

child herself. 

Q/11/1/328/27 

A list of men being skilfull in the 

price of corn and grain 31 

January 

Also a list of prices to certify to 

His Majesty's collectors of the 

Customs in Whitehaven, signed 

by Joshua Lucock 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/28 

Petition of Edward Walker, 

surveyor of the Highways of the 

township of High Ireby 

The six days labour has been 

performed on the highways, 

pavements, causeways, bridges 

and streets within the township 

and several of them were too out 

of order for the ordinary course of 

the statute labour. Therefore 

requesting an assessment not 

exceeding sixpence in the pound 

of the yearly value of the lands, 

tenements, hereditaments to be 

made upon every occupier. NIL. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/29 

Removal order to churchwardens 

and overseers of the poor of 

Morrisby [Moresby] 

Requesting that they receive and 

provide for Bridget Hill who is 

currently in parish of 

Cockermouth but has legal 

settlement in morrisby - ordered 

to be confirmed. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/30 

Statement by Joshua Lucock that 

the highway in the parish of 

Cockermouth which was 

indicted at Christmas sessions 

1769 for being out of repair, is 

now sufficiently repaired 

31st January statement, the 

higway leading from the west end 

of William Harrison's garden and 

another place called Sinder Hill, 

being four hundred yards in 

length and seven yards in breadth, 

part of the highway between 

Cockermouth and Hesket 

Newmarket, is now sufficiently 

repaired. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/31 

Petition of Mary, the wife of 

Francis Little, late of Allonby in 

the parish of Bromfield, formerly 

Mary Dodgson 

Had a former order for one 

shilling weekly for maintenance 

of a bastard child, is now 

requesting a house to live in. 

Ordered that the arrears be paid 

up and that the former order be 

obeyed until further order. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/32 
Petition of Sarah Noble, single 

woman 

Sheweth that she is very poor 

impotent woman, with legal 

settlement in Lorton, request for 

relief. Referred to Mr Lucock. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/328/33 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

Highways of the township of 

Papcastle 

Sheweth that the highways, 

bridges, causeways, streets and 

pavements are so far out of order 

that they cannot be repaired by 

the ordinary course of the statute 

labour. Therefore requesting an 

assessment not exceeding 

sixpence in the pound of the 

yearly value of the lands, 

1769-1770 



tenements and hereditaments to 

be made upon all occupiers. NIL. 

Q/11/1/328/34 

Petitions of John Bell, surveyor 

of the Highways of the township 

of Cockermouth 

Sheweth that highways, 

pavements, causeways and streets 

are so ruinous and in decay that 

the six days labour will not be 

sufficient to repair them. 

Therefore requesting an 

assessments not exceeding 

sixpence in the pound of the 

yearly value of the lands, 

tenements and hereditaments to 

be made upon every occupier. 

Common Order 6d in £. 

1769-1770 

Q/11/1/329/1 
Petition of Jane Glendenian of 

Newtown, near Carlisle 

Had a bastard child to John 

Carruthers of Brisco Hill in the 

parish of St Cuthberts without, 

has demanded several times the 

payment of twenty shillings 

agreed from John Carruthers who 

refuses to pay, therefore 

requesting an order for it to be 

paid. Read. Nil. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/2 
Petition of Elizabeth Turner of 

the parish of Castle Carrick 

Has been a servant at several 

places but due to rumatick pains 

has had to decline service. 

Therefore requesting relief. Read. 

Nil. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/3 
Petition of Mary Lockert, widow 

of the parish of Brampton 

Much troubled with shortness of 

breath and is in great want and 

poverty, therefore requesting a 

weekly allowance for provisions, 

firing and house rent until she is 

back to former health. NIL 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/4 

Petition of Elizabeth 

Splendorleath of the parish of 

Bewcastle 

Is above eighty years of age and 

has had the fever four different 

times and is too weak and feeble 

to work and was previously 

housekeeper to her father. 

Therefore requests relief - NIL. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/5 
Petition of Ann Pool of the 

parish of Stanwix 

Has had a bastard child 14 

months ago to Gilbert Atkinson 

of the Buss [Bush] in Esk. Gilbert 

Atkinson agreed to pay 2 shillings 

weekly for bringing up the child, 

but is now requesting an order for 

arrears to be paid £2 15s 6d. 

Ordered that the parish officials 

pay 15s, the arrears of £2 0s 6d 

and 1s 6d weekly till futher order. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/6 

Petition of Elizabeth Raven, 

widow, who is old and infirm 

and cannot even wait on herself 

She receives five pounds a year 

from her son to support herself 

but he is able to allow more but 

refuses to do so. Therefore 

1770 



requests an order to oblige her 

son, Robert James of Carlisle, to 

pay her more weekly. NIL. 

Q/11/1/329/7 

Petition of Alexander Jones of 

Woodside Quarter in the parish 

of Wigton 

Has convulsion fits aand is not 

able to work and who applied to 

the parish officers of Woodside 

Quarter for relief but they would 

not grant him any. Therefore 

requests an allowance. Ordered 1s 

a week until they remove him to 

Whitehaven poorhouse. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/8 
Petition of Mary Dockery of the 

parish of Brampton 

Had a male bastard child to a 

Thomas Robson of the parish of 

Abbeyleanord Coast. She filiated 

the child before Justice Graham 

of Netherby who granted a 

warrant to take him but they 

never did. Before the child was 

born the father fled to his brother 

Edward Robson to Longholm 

who came and gave bond to the 

parish of Brampton to keep them 

indemnified from the charge of 

the child, they allowed her 8 

shillings a month and then 15 

pence a week of which they took 

3 pence a week. Therefore 

requests arrears of 12d a week for 

support of the child off the parish 

officers and also a doctors bill to 

be paid for the child's sore throat. 

NIL. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/9 
Petition of Robert Little of the 

parish of Arthuret 

Is 88 years old and not able to 

work and also has a wife of 65 

years who is in poor condition 

and are living in poverty. He has 

applied severla times to the parish 

officers for relief which they 

refuse to grant. Therefore 

requesting a weekly allowance - 

NIL. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/10 
Petition of Barbara, the wife of 

Thomas Hodgson 

Married at the parish church of 

Dalston on 12 July 1750 and the 

husband soon after the marriage 

left her to live with Mr Crozier at 

Gatesgill and has now lived 

upwards of 15 years with the 

Reverend Mr Graham of 

Netherby as his principal 

husbandman. About 3 years ago 

she became afflicted with 

rheumatism and unable to 

maintain herself, applied to 

Joseph Dacre Esq who ordered 

1770 



her to go to Netherby and the 

husband agreed to allow her 3 

pounds a year but only received 

£1 10s for first half year aand he 

refuses to pay for the other two 

years. Therefore requests her case 

to be considered and relief 

granted. The matter of this 

petition to be referred to Mr 

Graham and Mr Dacre. 

Q/11/1/329/11 

Petition of William Cook of the 

parish of Chollinford in the 

County of Northumberland 

Is confined in gaol at Carlisle and 

has nothing to support himself, 

therefore requests an allowance. 

A further statement from Cha. 

Stoddart, vicar of Chollerton and 

J Coulson churchwarden 

confirming that William Cook 

was an inhabitant of Chollerton. 

Ordered 1s a week. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/12 

Certificate signed by minister 

and churchwardens regarding 

William Cook (see 

Q/11/1/329/11) 

He is a prisoner in gaol at Carlisle 

and has a wife and five children, 

had lived at Warwick for several 

years past. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/13 
Petition of Agnes Longcake of 

the township of Flimby 

Has a child of 7 and being a very 

poor women applied to the parish 

officers for relief at the sessions 

at Cockermouth in January who 

granted an order for the parish 

officers to pay 12d a week and 

also to find a room. Requests 

arrears to be paid and to continue 

the weekly payment and also to 

get a room, as was ordered. 

Ordered that the arrears of 12d a 

week be paid and 10s for her 

trouble and the order to be 

continued until further order. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/14 
Petition of Archabald Parker of 

the parish of Brampton 

Is over 80 years of age and has a 

lame wife and neither are in 

health to work, applied to the 

parish officers for relief and they 

agreed to pay 9d a week but there 

is now a years rent owing. 

Therefore request for a better 

weekly allowance. The matter of 

this relief is referred to Mr Dacre. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/15 
Petition of David Mcgaa of the 

parish of St Bees 

Is in confinement in gaol at 

Carlisle and has nothing to 

support himself, therefore 

requests an order for the usual 

allowance out of the county stock 

paid to poor prisoners, further 

signed by the minister and 

churchwardens to certify the 

1770 



prisoner is a poor man without 

estate or effects to support 

himself. Ordered 1s per week. 

Q/11/1/329/16 

Petition of Thomas Little of 

Scotby in the parish of 

Wetherall, blacksmith 

Is an old infirm man and unable 

to live by his business without 

assistance, he has applied to the 

parish officers to pay the house 

and shop rent, £1 7s in the year, 

or that they would grant him aid 

of 6d a week but they refused. 

Therefore requesting an order for 

relief. NIL 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/16B 

Petition of Ann, the wife of 

William Richardson of Denton 

Hall in the parish of Denton 

Were married at Gratnea [Gretna] 

Green, Scotland on 25 August last 

and her husband soon after left 

her without any support, and with 

child. She has had difficulty 

maintaining her and child without 

assistance and has applied to the 

parish officers and justices of the 

peace without effect and therefore 

requests relief. Ordered 1s 6d a 

week until further order. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/17 
Petition of George Routledge of 

the parish of Stapleton 

Is confined in gaol in Carlisle and 

has nothing to support himself, 

therefore requesting an order for 

the usual allowance out of the 

county stock paid to poor 

prisoners. Also signed by the 

minister and churchwardens of 

Stapleton to state that he has no 

estate or effects to support 

himself. Ordered 1s a week. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/18 
Petition of Reginal Armstrong of 

the parish of St Maryes 

Is confined in gaol at Carlisle and 

has nothing to support himself, 

therefore requesting an order for 

the usual allowance out of the 

county stock paid to poor 

prisoners. Also signed by the 

minister and churchwardens of St 

Maryes to certifiy that the 

prisoner has no estate or effects to 

support himself. Ordered 1s a 

week. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/19 
Petition of Clement Robson of 

the parish of Stanwix 

Is now confined in gaol at 

Carlisle and has nothing to 

support himself and therefore 

requests an order for the usual 

allowance out of the county stock 

paid to poor prisoners. Also 

signed by the minister and 

churchwardens of Stanwix to 

certify that the prisoner has no 
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estate or effects to support 

himself. Ordered 1s a week. 

Q/11/1/329/20 

Petition of Barberry Fletcher 

who is now confined in gaol at 

Carlisle and has no effects to 

support herself and therefore 

requests an allowance paid out of 

the county stock 

Further signed by H Senhouse of 

Netherhall to the keeper of the 

gaol, saying that on receipt of his 

to pay Barberry Fletcher the sum 

of ninepence a week till the next 

Quarter Sessions. Ordered 1s a 

week. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/21 

Petition signed by the minister 

and churchwardens of 

Whitehaven in the parish of St 

Bees regarding John Benson 

To certify that John Benson, a 

prisoner in gaol at Carlisle for 

debt, is an inhabitant in 

Whitehaven and has no estate or 

effects to support himself. To the 

keeper of the gaol saying pay to 

John Benson the allowance of 

ninepence a week till further 

orders. Sessions ordered 1s a 

week. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/22 
Petition of John Dixon of Kelton 

in the parish of Lamplugh 

Is confined in gaol at Carlisle and 

has nothing to support himself, 

therefore requests an order for the 

usual allowance out of the county 

stock paid to poor prisoners. Also 

signed by the minister and 

churchwardens of Lamplugh that 

the prisoner has no estate or 

effects to support himself. 

Ordered 1s a week. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/23 
Removal order for Jane Story, 

widow, and her children 

To the churchwardens and 

overseers of the poor of 

Woodside Quarter, Wigton and 

the churchwardens and overseers 

of the poor of the parish of 

Westward - Jane Story, widow, 

and her children Elizabeth, 12, 

Jane aged upwards of 9 years, 

Mary aged near seven and Fanny, 

four, have come to inhabit 

Woodside Quarter not having 

gained legal settlement here, and 

without certificate of settlement 

elsewhere. After examination, the 

legal settlement was adjudged to 

be Westward, therefore the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of Woodside Quarter are 

required to convey them to 

Westward, and the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of Westward required to 

receive and provide for them. 

Ordered to be confirmed upon the 

merits. 

1770 



Q/11/1/329/23B Removal order of Esther Parsley 

Esther Parsley has come to 

inhabit East Waver Quarter, in the 

parish of Abbey Holme, 

otherwise Holme Cultram, 

otherwise Newton Arlosh, having 

not gained legal settlement there 

and without certificate of 

settlement elsewhere. After 

examination, the legal settlement 

was adjudged to be St Cuthberts 

quarter, in the parish of Abbey 

Holme, otherwise Holm Cultram, 

otherwise Newton Arlosh. 

Therefore the churchwardens and 

overseers of the poor of East 

Waver Quarter required to convey 

Easther Parsley to St Cuthberts 

quarter, and the churchwardens 

and overseers of the poor of St 

Cuthbert's quarter required to 

receive her and provide for her. 

Ordered to be confirmed, no 

appeal being made. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/24 
Removal order of Joseph Sisson 

and his 3 children 

JosephSisson and his three 

children, Joseph, 8, Mary, 4, and 

Elizabeth, 2, have come to inhabit 

the parish of Penrith not having 

gained legal settlement there and 

without certificate of settlement 

elsewhere. After examination, the 

legal settlement was adjudged to 

be in the Division of Yanwith and 

Bridge in the parish of Barton in 

the County of Westmorland. 

Therefore the churchwardens and 

overseers of the poor of the parish 

of Penrith are required to convey 

them to the Division of Yanwith 

and Bridge, Barton, 

Westmorland, and the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the Division of 

Yanwith and Bridge are required 

to receive and provide for them. 

Ordered to be confirmed. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/24B 
Removal order of Elizabeth 

Hetherington 

Has come to inhabit the parish of 

Brampton without having gained 

legal settlement there and without 

a certificate of settlement 

elsewhere. After examination, the 

legal settlement was adjudged to 

be the parish of Irthington. 

Therefore the churchwardens and 

overseers of the poor of the parish 

of Brampton are required to 
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convey her to the parish of 

Irthington and the churchwardens 

and overseers of the poor of the 

parish of Irthington are required 

to receive and provide for her - 

ordered to be confirmed, no 

appeal. 

Q/11/1/329/25 
Removal order of William 

Carrick 

Also Mary his wife and 3 children 

- John, 9, George, 7, and Mary, 5, 

have come to inhabit the parish of 

Brampton without having gained 

legal settlement there and without 

a certificate of settlement 

elsewhere. After examination, the 

legal settlement was adjudged to 

be the parish of Farlam. Therefore 

the churchwardens and overseers 

of the poor of the parish of 

Brampton are required to convey 

them to Farlam and the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the parish of Farlam 

are required to receive and 

provide for them - ordered to be 

confirmed upon the merit. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/26 
Petition of Sarah Robinson of 

Plumptonhead, widow. 

On 19th November 1765 justices 

of the peace ordered that the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the parish of Alston 

should pay her 2 shilling and 

sixpence weekly towards the 

support of her and her 4 children 

until further order. No further 

order has been made but the 

churchwardens and overseers 

now refuse to obey and there is 

now arrears of 2 pounds and 3 

shillings. Therefore requesting an 

order for the sum to be paid and 

also the said weekly payment of 2 

shillings and sixpence. Ordered 

that the arrears of £2 3s 0d be 

paid and the sum of 10s for her 

trouble and that they pay her the 

2s 6d weekly until further order. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/27 
Petition of Jane Scott, widow, of 

the parish of Brampton 

Is afflicted with Rumatick pain in 

her head, and can do nothing for 

bread but spin, and is in arrears of 

17 shillings for house rent, which 

the parish officers refuse to pay, 

they have instead taken a high 

upper room of 12 shillings a year 

but she is unable to go up so high 

due to the head pain.Therefore 
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requesting the arrears be paid and 

a small weekly allowance. 

Referred to Mr Dacre. 

Q/11/1/329/28 

Petition of Mary Anderson, 

widow, of the Quarter of 

Westlinton in the parish of 

Kirklinton 

After the death of her husband, 

was left in a very poor condition, 

suffering from several afflictions, 

age 71, and has received for 2 

years one shilling a week from 

the parish and has applied several 

times for a better allowance 

which they refuse. Therefore 

requests a better weekly 

allowance. NIL. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/29 
Petition of Peter Powell of the 

parish of Aikton 

Has a wife and 3 children and is a 

taylor by trade but has poor 

eyesight and therefore cannot get 

constant work to support the 

family. He applied to the parish 

officers for relief and to pay 

house rent which they refused to 

grant. Therefore requests an order 

for the parish officers to pay the 

rent and a weekly allowance. 

NIL. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/30 

Certificate signed by the minister 

and churchwardens of the parish 

of Crosby regarding Fletcher 

Edmondson 

To certifiy that Fletcher 

Edmondson, a prisoner in gaol at 

Carlisle for debt, is a poor man 

and has no estate or effects to 

support hmself. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/31 Petition of Agnes Wear 

Had a bastard child to John 

Hetherington of the parish of 

Stanwix. The child was born 14 

months ago and has been nursed 

and supported by the petitioner. 

The father gave bond to 

indemnify the said parish 18 

pence weekly but has refused to 

pay her. Therefore requesting an 

order for him to pay arrears of 

one pound one shilling and 

sixpence and for the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the parish of Stanwix 

to pay her a weekly allowance of 

one shilling and sixpence. 

Ordered that the arrears of £1 1s 

6d bbe paid to her by the parish 

officers and allowance of 1s 6d 

weekly till further order. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/32 
Petition of Alice Murray of the 

parish of Brampton 

Has 3 children and her husband is 

a prisoner in the county gaol for 

27 weeks and she applied to 

parish officers for relief who 

allowed 18 pence for their relief 
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but say that he is no parishioner, 

and she can no longer support the 

family if they take away the 

allowance. Therefore requests an 

order that the gaoler bring her 

husband out of gaol so that he 

may swear to his parish in court. 

Q/11/1/329/33 

Petition of Mary Sewell, widow, 

of Durdar of Blackwell Quarter 

in the parish of St Cuthberts 

without 

Has rumatick pains and other 

disorders and is not able to work, 

and applied to the parish officers 

for relief which they refused to 

grant. Therefore requesting a 

weekly allowance - NIL. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/34 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways and other inhabitants 

of the township of Unthank, in 

the parish of Skelton 

The highways and bridges within 

the said township are so ruinous 

and out of repair that the six days 

labour will not be suffiicent for 

repair. Therefore requesting an 

order for an assessment not 

exceeding sixpence in the pound 

to be made upon all inhabitants, 

owners and occupiers of land, 

tenements and hereditaments. 

Common Order of 6d in the 

pound. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/35 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways and other inhabitants 

of the township of Skelton 

The highways and bridges within 

the said township are so ruinous 

and out of repair that the six days 

labour will not be sufficient for 

repair. Therefore requesting an 

order for an assessment not 

exceeding sixpence in the pound 

to be made upon all inhabitants, 

owners and occupiers of land, 

tenements and hereditaments. 

Common Order of 6d in the 

pound. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/36 

Petition of Jannet Gardener, 

widow, of Catcoats in the parish 

of St Maries 

Is 78 and afflicted with Rumatick 

pains and other disorders and 

unable to work for bread, her 

husband died in Arthurer parish 

about 16 years ago and was a 

Scotchman, she is an Irish woman 

and lived in the parish of Arthuret 

for five years, was a cowper by 

trade and had an apprentice, 

requires a weekly allowance, 

being reduced to want and 

poverty. NIL. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/37 

Copy of John Routledge's 

settlement certificate of legal 

settlement 

Signed by the churchwardens and 

overseers of the poor of the parish 

of Bewcastle, and statement that 

they are prepared to receive him 
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and family back again and 

provide for them. [in two pieces] 

Q/11/1/329/38 

Copy of an order signed (1766) 

by the court regarding Mary 

Routledge 

Order signed by the court for the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the parish of 

Bewcastle to immediately pay 

Mary Routledge the sum of 20 

shillings to provide clothes for 

herself and her 3 children and 

also the sum of 12 shillings yearly 

for house rent and also the sum of 

2 shilling and sixpence weekly 

for support until further order. 

(See Q/11/1/329/39) 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/39 
Petition of Mary Routledge of 

Brampton 

Was sent to the poorhouse with 

her 3 children and was treated 

badly, the food made her sick, 

who had a previous bench order 

of 2 shillings 6 pence per week 

(see Q/11/1/329/38) but is owed 

26 shillings in arrear from the 

parish of Bewcastle, where she 

now resides, they are unwilling to 

support her as she has to have 

maids to look after her.   Very 

detailed but damaged. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/40 

Copy of an order made by 

Joseph Dacre Esq to the 

overseers of the poor of the 

parish of Brampton 

Bridget Graham of Brampton has 

made a complaint that Mary 

Routledge and her 3 children hae 

come into the parish of Brampton 

and she is in a dying condition, 

therefore the overseers are 

required to go and see how she is 

and give her such support as she 

shall want till she can be sent to 

her parish. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/41 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways of the township of 

Turpenhow who stands indicted 

for not repairing four thousand 

yards in length and seven yards 

in breadth of the highways 

within the said township 

After the six days of labour 

performed, the highways, bridges, 

causeways, streets and pavements 

are so far out of order that they 

cannot be repaired without the aid 

of a statute. Therefore requesting 

an assessment not exceeding 

sixpence in the pound of the 

yearly value of lands, tenements 

and hereditaments to be assessed, 

to be made upon all the occupiers 

of land tenements and 

hereditaments. Common Order of 

6d in the pound. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/42 

Bastardy order from Joshua 

Lucock and Miles Tarn, justices 

of the peace for Cockermouth, 

order for John Calvert 

Ordering John Calvert, a servant 

and father of a female bastard 

child to pay 21 shillings to the 

overseers of the poor of 
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Cockermouth, to whom the child 

has become chargeable, and a 

further 1 shilling and sixpence a 

week for maintenance, and for the 

mother, Mary Scurr of 

Cockermouth, to pay sixpence a 

week until she looks after the 

child herself. Ordered to be 

confirmed. 

Q/11/1/329/43 

A return by Robert Raven, 

surveyor regarding Bridges in 

Cumberland ward 

Specifically Waver Bridge, under 

contract of being repaired, and 

remains only with the arch 

turned(?). 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/44 

Bastardy order from Thomas 

Wilson and George Dalton, 

justices of the peace for 

Stapleton, order for Francis 

Little 

Ordering Francis Little, a yeoman 

and father of a male bastard child, 

born in Solport, Stapleton, to pay 

twenty shillings to the overseers 

of the poor of Solport Quarter, to 

whom the child has become 

chargeable, and a further 1 

shilling and sixpence weekly for 

maintenance, and for the mother, 

Barbary MackCorkindale of 

Hurst hill Back in Solport, to pay 

sixpence a week until she may 

care for the child herself. Ordered 

to be confirmed on the merits. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/45 

Petition from the overseers of 

Dacre to the bench of justices 

regarding James Bell 

Requesting an order for payment 

of 3 pounds due the 24th 

December last and also one 

pound and ten shillings due the 

25th March to James Bell, a 

pauper here resident. Ordered £4 

10s. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/46 

Petition of Thomas Dixon, 

coroner, Carlisle, who conducted 

10 inquisitions in total and rode 

105 miles in total 

Requests payment of £13 18s 9d 

(£10 for 10 inquisitions and £3 

18s 9d for riding fees). 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/47 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner and Tho. 

Hoodless on the body of Isabell 

Mayson 

Taken at Newlands in the parish 

of Castle Sowerby on 15th 

October 1769 on the body of 

Isabell Mayson, widow, in view 

of 12 witnesses, who was 

unloading a cart of corn when she 

fell accidentally onto the barn 

floor. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/48 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner, and Wm 

Brown, on the body of Rebecca 

Palmer 

Taken at Floristown in the parish 

of Rockcliff on 29th October 

1769 on the body of Rebecca 

Palmer, in view of twelve 

witnesses, who was found lying 

dead on the highway between 

Justicetown and Floristown with 

no marks of violence. 
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Q/11/1/329/49 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner and James 

Nicholson on the body of a 

person unknown 

Taken at Linstock Castle in the 

parish of Stanwix on 3rd 

November 1769 on the body of a 

person unknown, before 12 

witnesses, whose body had been 

cast out by the waters of the River 

Eden and was found upon a 

willow bush on the bank, and 

appeared to have laid many 

weeks in the river and therefore 

cause of death unknown. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/50 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner and Wm. 

Robinson on the body of 

William Wender 

Taken at Water Mellock in the 

parish of Graystock on 25th 

November 1769, on the body of 

William Wender, before 12 

witnesses, who, being a servant of 

Thomas Castlehow, and in 

friendship with a Jonathan 

Wilkinson who accidentally shot 

William Winder in the head with 

a gun he did not know was 

loaded. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/51 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner and James 

Wasdale, on the body of John 

Lynn 

Taken at Nunnery Newhouses in 

parish of Ainstable on 28 

December 1769, on the body of 

John Lynn, before 12 witnesses, 

who drowned in the river 

Lowther, having been drunk and 

missed his road home to Askham, 

Westmorland. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/51B 

Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, a coroner, who carried 

out 2 inquisitions, one in 

Whitehaven, one in Ulpha, 

Millom 

Is requesting fees for 2 

inquisitions and riding fees (£2 

and £1 2s 6d being £3 2s 6d in 

total). 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/52 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner, and 

Richard Mulcaster on the body 

of Edward Bowman 

Taken at Cammock Hill in the 

parish of Irthington on 2nd 

January, on the body of Edward 

Bowman, an infant, before 12 

witnesses, who fell into the cellar 

of the house of William Bowman 

the father, which was overflowed 

with water, and the child aged 1 

and a quarter years drowned. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/52B 

An inquisition report by John 

Skelton and 12 witnesses on the 

body of Sarah Stephenson 

Taken at Faulds in Ulpha, Millom 

on 23rd April, on the body of 

Sarah Stephenson, who was 

found in a field called Faulds 

Banscald with no marks of 

violence, and therefore cause of 

death unknown. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/53 
An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner, and 

Taken at Cumwhinton in the 

parish of Wetherall on 28th 

January, on the body of Joseph 

1770 



Thomas Holmes, on the body of 

Joseph Robinson 

Robinson, before 12 witnesses, 

who, along with his son John, 

aged about 5, was killed by a wall 

falling on them as they were 

sheltering from a storm at 

Carletonthwaite near 

Cumwhinton. (see 

Q/11/1/329/54) 

Q/11/1/329/53B 

An inquisition report of John 

Skelton, coroner, and 12 

witnesses, on the body of Jane 

Thompson 

Taken at Whitehaven in the 

parish of St Bees on 12th April, 

on the body of Jane Thompson, 

an old and weak person, who had 

a fall and complained of back and 

breast pain before dying in a 

natural way without hurt or injury 

from any persons. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/54 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner and Tho. 

Holmes, on the body of John 

Robinson 

Taken at Cumwhinton in the 

parish of Wetherall on 28th 

January, before 12 witnesses, on 

the body of John Robinson, who, 

along with his father Joseph, (see 

Q/11/1/329/53) was killed by a 

wall falling on them whilst 

sheltering from a storm at 

Carelton pasture. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/54B 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner, and 

Edward Coulthard, on the body 

of John Lancaster 

Taken at Wigton on 16th 

February, before witnesses, on the 

body of John Lancaster, who was 

not of sound mind, and left his 

lodgings at his master's house in 

Wigton and went into an empty 

stable where he hung himself 

with cord. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/54C 

Disembursement for the County 

Gaol from 21st January 1770 

signed by Braithwaite Atkinson, 

keeper of the Gaol 

Names prisoners receiving 

allowances. 
1770 

Q/11/1/329/55 

An inquisition report signed by 

Tho. Dixon, coroner, and 

Richard Hobson, on the body of 

Elizabeth Browrigg 

Taken at Scugh on 12th February, 

before witnesses, on the body of 

Elizabeth Browrigg, who left her 

lodgings at Penrith in a 

disordered state of mind, and after 

a search, was found drowned in a 

lake, with no external marks and 

therefore cause of death 

unknown. 

1770 

Q/11/1/329/55A 

Petition of Isabella Sinclair, 

widow, of the parish of 

Kirkbampton 

Is out fo health and the parish 

officers already pay her house 

rent, but her daughter of 13 

yearsm had to give up service to 

come and look after her but now 

desires togo back into service but 

is destitute of all manner of 
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clothing, therefore requesting 

some clothing. 

Q/11/1/333/1 
Petition [for a Carlisle Gaol's 

prisoner's allowance] 

Damaged. Right hand side 

missing. Fragile. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/2 

Letter to certify that John Hahton 

is a poor man and has no estates 

or effects 

From the Churchwardens in the 

parish of Wigton. On reverse - 

ordered 9d per week granted. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/3 

Petition of the surveyors of the 

Highways of the Township of 

Turpenhow 

For assessment to be used on the 

repair of the roads. Common 

order 6d in £1 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/4 

Petition of Thomas Chamley, 

prisoner in the County Gaol for 

Debt, for an allowance 

Parish certificate from the parish 

of Morland on bottom. Read. Nil. 

Damaged, right hand edge 

missing. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/5 
Petition of Henry Robson of 

Stanwix 

For payment of arrears of 

allowance for his deceased 

daughter Elizabeth's bastard child 

by William Boustead of London. 

Ordered 1s a week from 27th 

September till this time. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/6 
Petition of Mary Davison of 

Whitehaven 

For payment of arrears of 

allowance for her bastard child by 

George Gardner. Read. Nil. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/7 
Petition of William Robinson of 

Rockcliff 

Poor relief, he has a wife and four 

small children. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/8 
Petition of Elizabeth Robert, 

widow of Wetheral 
Old, infirm woman for relief. Nil. 1771 

Q/11/1/333/9 
Petition of Mary Story of the 

parish of Kirklinton for relief 
 1771 

Q/11/1/333/10 

Removal order for Ann Pattison 

from St Cuthbert's Quarter in the 

parish of Abbyholme to the 

township of Glasson, parish of 

Bowness 

Ordered to be confirmed. No 

appeal. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/11 
Removal Order for Alice, the 

wife of William Murray 

Also Andrew their son (4), Mary 

their daughter (2) and Thomas 

their son (7 weeks) from the 

parish of Brampton to the parish 

of St Cuthbert's, Carlisle. 

Quashed upon the Merits. On 

reverse Executed on 26 January 

1771 by William Hope, 

churchwarden. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/12 

Petition of the surveyors of the 

Highways and Inhabitants of 

Caldewgate Quarter in the parish 

of St Mary 

For assessment to be used on the 

repairs of the roads. Ordered 6d 

in a pound. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/13 
Removal order for Thomas 

Vicars and Rachael his wife 

Also their four children John (6), 

Mary (5), William (4) and Isaac 

(6 months) from the parish of 

Penrith to Wasdale Head, parish 

of St Bees. Ordered to be 
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confirmed. No appeal.   

"D'livered the above mentioned 

Thoms Vickes and famley to 

Danel Vickes 28 March 1771 by 

me Thos Braithwaite." 

Q/11/1/333/14 

Removal order for Margaret 

Kirkbride from the parish of 

Penrith to the parish of Shap, 

Westmorland 

Ordered to be confirmed. No 

appeal. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/15 

Petition of Thomas Bulman 

married man with two children, 

of Burgh-upon-Sands 

To allow his bastard child aged 5 

years by Jane Steel to come and 

live at his house or for relief as he 

cannot afford to pay child 

support. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/16 
Petition of Elizabeth Agnew, 

widow of Rockcliffe 

For relief and payment of arrears 

of 8s for self and daughters 

Elizabeth aged 9 and Mary aged 

5. Order 8s arrears and 1s a week 

until the parish officer takes the 

two children into the poor house. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/17 

Petition of Andrew Gibbons of 

the parish of Kirklinton for 

payment of arrears of 3d a week 

Read. Nil. 1771 

Q/11/1/333/18 Petition of John Irving for relief 

Order 3s a week until further 

order and 5s for the expenses of 

Application 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/19 

Petition of Richard Graham aged 

80, of the parish of Kirkandrews 

upon Esk 

For payment of arrears and 

continued weekly payment of 

relief for self and 60 year old 

wife. Read. Nil. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/20 

Petition of Mary Bell, wife of 

Thomas Bell of Hillhouse, but 

belonging to the parish of Nichol 

Forest 

For arrears and to free her from 

going to Longtown poorhouse. 

Ordered arrears of £1 10s 0d. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/21 

Bastardy order regarding 

William Irwing of 

Micklethwaite, yeoman 

Is father of the male bastard child 

of Elizabeth Agnew, widow of 

Rockcliffe. He is bound to pay 20 

towards the lying-in of Elizabeth 

Agnew and provide 1s 6d weekly 

allowance for the maintenance of 

the child. Order to be confirmed. 

No appeal. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/22 
Petition of Thomas Routledge of 

Newcastle-upon-Tyne 

Previously left his wife Jane and 

family and was ordered to pay 

allowance of £10 per year. 

Having settled in Newcastle-

upon-Tyne he has now taken his 

three children to live with him 

and wants his wife to come and 

live with him again which she 

refuses to do. Therefore he 

petitions for her allowance to be 
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stopped. Read. Nil. (see 

Q/11/1/333/22-24) 

Q/11/1/333/23 

Notice from Thomas Routledge 

to the churchwardens and 

overseers of the parish of 

Bewcastle to appear at the next 

Quarter Sessions 

He intends to move that the order 

upon them for the maintenance of 

his wife may be discharged. (See 

Q/11/1/333/22-24) 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/24 

Notice given by Thomas 

Routledge to his wife Jane 

Routledge 

That he would stop the payment 

of her allowance unless she 

comes and cohabits with him in 

Newcastle-upon-Tyne. (see 

Q/11/1/333/22-24) 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/25 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways and other inhabitants 

of the Township of Tallentire, 

parish of Bridekirk 

For assessment to be used for the 

repairs of roads. Common Order 

6d in a pound 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/26 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways and principal 

inhabitants of the township or 

division of Mungrisdale 

For assessment to be used for the 

repairs of roads. Common order 

6d [in the pound] 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/27 
Bastardy order regarding James 

Hodgson of Penrith, wheelwright 

That he is the father of the male 

bastard child of Frances Kidd. He 

is bound 20s for the lying-in of 

Frances Kidd of Penrith and 

provide 1s 6d weekly allowance 

for the maintenance of the child. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/28 
Petition of Mary Cowley for 

payment of relief 

Churchwardens refuse to pay 

unless she goes into a poorhouse 

in Carlton. Read. Nil. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/29 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways and principal 

inhabitants of the township of 

Skelton 

For assessment to be used for the 

repairs of roads. Common Order 

6d [in £1] 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/30 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

highways and other inhabitants 

of the Division of Unthank 

For assessment to be used for the 

repair of roads. Common Order 

6d. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/31 

Petition of James Hodgson of 

Castle Carwick, a prisoner in the 

County Gaol for allowance 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/32 
Letter from John Pearson, Rector 

of Castlecarwick 

To certify that James Hodgson a 

prisoner in the County Gaol is a 

poor man and has no effects or 

estate to supply himself. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/33 

Receipt of Richard Jackson 

Chamberlain for 2s 2d cullary 

rent for gaol garth 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/34 

Quarterly Disbursements of the 

County Gaol giving prisoners' 

names 

Braithwaite Atkinson, keeper of 

County Gaol. Damaged on right 

hand side. Part missing. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/35 

Surveyor's report on the 

condition of bridges by Robert 

Raven 

Waver bridge work has been 

completed but need to remove 

trees and dunghill on road 
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approaching bridge. Botcherby 

bridge in same condition. 

Q/11/1/333/36 

Thomas Dixon, coroner, inquest 

report on John the infant son of 

John Hartness of Beaumont 

Four years old, who died 

suddenly in a fit. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/37 
Coroner's report on Joseph Tiffin 

of Crosshill by Thomas Dixon 

Drowned after falling off his 

horse into a pool whilst drunk. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/38 

Coroner's report on Robert 

Lettemer of Askerton, by 

Thomas Dixon 

Died after falling off his horse 

whilst drunk. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/39 

Coroner's report on Thomas 

Blackburn of Wigton, by 

Thomas Dixon 

Hanged himself while of unsound 

mind. 
1771 

Q/11/1/333/40 

Coroner's report on John Ward, a 

stone quarry worker employed 

by Charles Sanderson at a stone 

quarry in Chalk 

Was killed when a large quantity 

of gravel, earth and stone fell 

down upon him. Thomas Dixon 

coroner. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/41 

Coroner's report on Simon 

Wilkinson, a quarry worker at 

Chalk quarry 

Was killed when a large quantity 

of stone and rubbish fell down 

upon him. Thomas Dixon 

coroner. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/42 
Petition of Thomas Dixon of the 

City of Carlisle, a Coroner 

Asking for payment for attending 

6 inquisitions and riding 66 miles 

to do so. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/43 
Removal order for John Carrick 

and his wife Mary 

From the parish of Aldston, to the 

parish of Whitfield, 

Northumberland. Ordered to be 

confirmed. No appeal. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/44 Removal order for Mary Cowdy 

From Seaton in parish of 

Camerton to the township of 

Flimby. Ordered to be confirmed. 

no appeal. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/45 

Petition of the surveyors of the 

Highways and principal 

inhabitants of Westlinton, parish 

of Kirklinton 

For assessment to be used on the 

repair of the roads. Common 

Order 6d [in the £] 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/46 

Petition of the surveyors of the 

Highways and principal 

inhabitants of the township of 

Dovenby 

For assessment to be used on the 

repair of the roads. Common 

Order 6d [in £1] 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/47 

Petition of the surveyors of the 

Highways and principal 

inhabitants of the township of 

Catterlen in parish of Newton 

For assessment to be used on the 

repair of the roads. Common 

order 6d [in the £] 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/48 
Removal order of George 

Robinson from Eamont Bridge 

Also Elizabeth his wife and six 

children ( William, Alice, James, 

George, Elizabeth and Mary) (as 

Rogues and Vagabonds) from 

Eamont Bridge, Westmorland to 

the parish of Rodwell in the 

county of York. Apprehended in 

Cockermouth. On reverse - 
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Examination George aged 46 

born in Lancashire went into 

service in Yorkshire at 16 no 

other place of legal settlement 

since. 

Q/11/1/333/49 

Removal order of Bridget 

Blowman, wife of James, and 

her son John 

As Rogues and Vagabods from 

Grasmere, Westmorland to St 

Peters in Liverpool in the county 

of Lancashire. Apprehended in 

Aspatria. On reverse - 

Examination with details. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/50 

Confirmation of George Dalton, 

JP, that the highway repairs ar 

Howrigg Lane in parish of 

Wigton have been completed 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/51 

Confirmation of John Jefferson 

of road repairs in Comersdale in 

the parish of St Maries (Mary's) 

on the Carlisle to Wigton road 

have been completed 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/52 
Petition of the Surveyors of the 

Highways in Caldewgate 

For assessment to be done on the 

repair of the roads at Long Lane. 

Followed by a note saying that 

the above notice was publicly 

read in the parish church in time 

of Divine Service. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/53 

Receipt of payment for services 

provided by William Hodgson 

such as printing and paper 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/54 

Returns of the prices of corn 

from Christmas 1770 to Lady 

Day 1771, Robert Raven, 

Carlisle 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/55 

Returns of the prices of corn 

from Christmas 1770 to Lady 

Day 1771, John Meals, 

Cockermouth 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/56 
Receipt of payment for transport 

costs paid to George Craven 
 1771 

Q/11/1/333/57 

Returns for the prices of corn 

from Christmas 1770 to Lady 

Day 1771, Thomas Stevenson, 

Penrith 

 1771 

Q/11/1/333/58 
Returns for the prices of corn. 

[Whitehaven] 
Damaged right edge. 1771 

Q/11/1/333/59 

Petition of Edw[ard] Fitzgerald 

of St Bees, farmer under Sir 

James Lowther of small tythes 

Large number of parishioners 

refusing to pay Easter dues, 

warrants have been issued but 

Churchwardens are not collecting. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/60 

Petition of the Surveyors of the 

Highways of the township of 

Cockermouth 

For assessment to be done on the 

repairs of the roads. Common 

Order 6d. 

1771 



Q/11/1/333/61 

Petition of Evander Mackenzie 

from Rosshire, Highlands of 

Scotland 

A mariner asking to be 

transferred to another ship or 

released from his indenture due to 

severe mistreatment by his 

Captain and fellow crew 

members. Detailed. Read Nil. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/62 

Petition of Jane Parsley, parish 

of Dean, who worked for 

Mistress and William Spence 

She had a female child by a John 

Armstrong, a sailor, and was 

promised continued payment by 

her mistress. She asks the JP's to 

give such directions and make 

such order concerning this 

payment. Detailed. Ordered £2. 

1771 

Q/11/1/333/63 
Coroner's report on John 

Younghusband 

Fell off the side of a Skidda 

mountain and hit his head in very 

windy weather and when the 

mountain was covered in snow. 

John Skelton, coroner, with his 

claim for expenses of £1 15s. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/1 
Removal order for Elizabeth 

Price, spinster 

Has come to inhabit the parish of 

Wigton, Wigton Quarter, without 

having gained legal settlement 

there and without a certificate of 

settlement elsewhere. After 

examination, the legal settlement 

was judged to be the parish of 

Rockcliff. Therefore the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the parish of Wigton 

are required to convey her to 

Rockcliff and the churchwardens 

and overseers of the parish of 

Rockcliff are required to receive 

and provide for them - ordered to 

be confirmed no appeal. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/2 

Petition of Hannah Robinson, 

widow of Castle Street in the 

parish of St Marie's 

Is 64 years, applied several times 

to the parish officers of Castle 

Sowerby who promised several 

times to grant relief but she has 

not received anything. They 

offered her five shillings if she 

would demand no more for that 

year but she refused, therefore 

requests a weekly allowance. 

NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/3 
Petition of Mary, the wife of 

William Blain 

Were married in 1746 in 

Donnegall, Ireland, happily, until 

5 years ago he came over to 

England with another woman. 

After some coming and going 

between Ireland and England, he 

now resides in Carlisle and has 

sufficient ability to support the 
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petitioner. Therefore requesting 

maintenance from him. NIL. 

Q/11/1/334/4 

Petition of Robert Carruthers of 

Cragg Nook in the parish of 

Bewcastle 

Is upwards of 80 years and feeble 

and infirm, who owns a cottage 

and some land worth about 40s a 

year yet receives no benefit from 

it as his son has come into 

possession of it and refuses to pay 

rent. He is willing to rent or sell 

his estaste on the condition the 

money goes toward his 

maintenance and the remainder to 

his representatives after his death, 

therefore requesting relief - 

ordered 2s a week until further 

order - subject to the control of 

Mr Dacre 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/5 
Petition of James Harden of the 

parish of Irthington 

Is a parishioner of Holm Cultram 

and of 77 years of age is not able 

to work for bread. The parish 

officers allowed him 40 shillings 

a year for the last 5 years and £3 

for the last two years, which they 

stopped on last May Day. He was 

to become chargeable to 

Irthington so he was removed to 

Holm Cultram 3 weeks ago. 

Therefore requesting a weekly 

allowance. NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/6 
Petition of Margaret Best of the 

parish of St Cuthbert's 

Had a bastard child, the father of 

which died before the birth. The 

overseers of the parish allowed 

her 3 pounds 15 shillings a year, 

but now the child is 1 and a half 

years of age they have stopped 

the allowance and want to out the 

child in the poor house but the 

petitioner wants the child to stay 

with her and go into service to 

help with the maintenance. NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/7 
Petition of John Wilson of the 

parish of Brampton aged 70 

With his wife, 72, have a 

daughter who married Robert 

Miller about 17 years ago but has 

left their 2 children, one aged 3, 

one aged 8, with the petitioner 

who cannot work for bread. 

Robert Miller has been away 

from them for over 2 years and 

they have not received any 

support from him. The parish 

officers agreed to pay 2 shillings 

a week but they are now 18 

shillings in arrears, therefore 

requesting payment of arrears and 
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to continue the weekly payment. 

NIL. 

Q/11/1/334/10 
Petition of Charles Reay of the 

parish of Alston 

Is confined in His Majesty's Gaol 

at Carlisle and has nothing to 

support himself. Therefore 

requesting an order for the usual 

allowance paid by the county to 

poor prisoners - Common Order 

(see Q/11/1/334/11) 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/11 

Certificate signed by the minister 

and churchwardens in the parish 

of Alston regarding Charles 

Reay 

Certifying that Charles Reay, now 

a prisoner in the Carlisle Gaol, 

has no goods or effects to support 

himself. (seeQ/11/1/334/10) 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/12 

Petition of Mary Robinson of 

Botchergate in the parish of St 

Cuthbert's 

A single woman, who, 15 months 

ago had a bastard child to John 

Backhouse, a servant to Isaac 

Holme of Botchergate, who 

agreed to pay 1 shilling and 

sixpence a week in the presence 

of the parish officers, which he 

paid until 10 weeks ago when he 

withdrew the allowance, and she 

is now in arrears. Therefore 

requesting an order for payment 

of the arrears and a weekly 

allowance be made upon the 

parish officers. Ordered to pay 

16s 6d arrears and 1s 6d a week 

until further order. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/13 
Petition of Mary Gash of the 

parish of St Cuthbert's 

Has a male bastard child who is 3 

years old and afflicted with a 

rupture down the left side and 

wears a Truss. The parish officers 

will not grant relief but want to 

take the child to the poor house, 

having already bought a Truss 

and paid house rent. The 

petitioner cannot work due to 

caring for the child and does not 

want him to go into a poor house, 

therefore requesting arrears to be 

paid and weekly allowance. NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/14 

Petition of Jane Bell, a poor 

parishioner of Irishgate Quarter 

in parish of St Mary's 

Is not able to support herself and 

her daughter, both having 

disorders. She was legally 

married to Gabriel Bell who left 

her 11 years ago and he has since 

married twice more (names 

given) and has forced open her 

door several times and took 

things out of the house and she is 

drove to distress by his ways. 

Therefore requesting support. 

NIL. 
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Q/11/1/334/15 
Petition of Jane Shortrigg of the 

parish of St Cuthbert's, widow 

Is aged 78 years, and had one 

shilling per week paid by the 

parish officers during four years 

but they have now stopped the 

allowance and refuse to pay 

further. Therefore requesting 

relief. NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/16 
Petition of Mary Young, wife of 

Robert Young 

He is a poor labouring man and 

was born in North Britain and has 

no parish in England. Before 

marriage her legal settlement was 

in Dalston and she has received 

five shillings since her marriage 

and with 2 small children and her 

husband not receiving a lot of 

work over the winter they cannot 

pay house rent and afford other 

necessities. NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/17 
Removal Order for Bridget 

Tealfor 

Has come to inhabit the parish of 

Brampton, without having gained 

legal settlement there and without 

a certificate of settlement 

elsewhere. After examination the 

legal settlement was adjudged to 

be the parish of Bewcastle. 

Therefore the churchwardens and 

overseers of the poor of the parish 

of Brampton are required to 

convey her to Bewcastle, and the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the Bewcastle are 

required to receive and provide 

for her. Ordered to be confirmed 

on the merits. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/18 

Petition of the surveyor of the 

Highways of the parish of 

Allhallows 

After the six days labour has been 

performed, the highways, bridges, 

causeways and pavements are so 

far out of order that they cannot 

be repaired without the aid of a 

statute. Therefore requesting an 

assessment to be made, not 

exceeding sixpence in the pound 

of the yearly value of the lands, 

tenements and hereditaments to 

be made upon all occupiers. 

Common order 6d in the £. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/19 

Petition of the surveyors of the 

highways and other principle 

inhabitants of the parish of 

Castle Sowerby. 

After the six days labour 

performed, the highways, bridges 

and causeways are so far out of 

order that they cannot be repaired 

without the aid of a statute. 

Therefore requesting an 

assessment of sixpence in the 

pound to be made upon the 
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occupiers of lands, tenements and 

hereditiaments. Common order 6d 

in the £. 

Q/11/1/334/20 
Petition of Ann Mitchinson, 

widow, of the parish of Stanwix 

Her husband was killed and she 

was left with a young child who 

is not in good health. Her 

husband was a hired servant in 

Bagero [Baggrow] before 

marriage, and therefore she 

applied to the parish officers of 

Bagero for relief for the child, 

they agreed to pay 9d a week but 

have stopped it. Therefore 

requesting a weekly allowance. 

NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/21 

Petition of Ellioner Roe of 

Cockermouth belonging to the 

parish of Harrington 

Is very poor and impotent and 

incapable of supporting herself 

and 2 small children, and receives 

1 shilling per week which is too 

little to support 3 people, 

therefore requesting more 

support. NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/22 

Report of inquest taken at 

Wigton on 15th April on the 

body of Joseph Irwen 

Was drowned in a pool near 

Wigton as he went there to bathe 

to soothe his Rhumatick pains, 

accidental death, signed by Tho. 

Dixon, Coroner and John Plasket, 

foreman. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/23 

Report of inquest taken at 

Rockcliffe on 28th June on the 

body of a new born bastard 

child, female, child of Ann 

Wilkin 

A single woman, of Rockcliffe, 

who gave birth at her mother's 

house and then wrapped the child 

in an apron and put it in a box, 

upon evidence the coroner, Tho. 

Dixon, and witnesses have reason 

to suspect that Ann Wilkin killed 

the child, signed by Tho. Dixon 

and John Graham, foreman. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/24 
Petition of Thomas Dixon, 

coroner, of the City of Carlisle 

An expenses claim for riding to 

inquests at Wigton and Rockcliff 

(see Q/11/1/334/22 and 

Q/11/1/334/23) to the sum of £2 

12s 0d (£2 for the Inquests and 

12s for 6 miles riding). 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/25 

Report of inquest taken at Ulpha 

in the parish of Millom on the 

body of Christopher Phillipson 

on 29th April 

Was found dead at Birkermoor, 

on his return home from 

Whitehaven. There were no 

marks of violence on his body, 

therefore the cause of death 

unknown, John Skelton, coroner. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/26 

Report of inquest taken at 

Gillcrux in the presence of John 

Skelton, coroner, on the body of 

Margaret Mordin, on 19th May 

She was found upon the bank of a 

coal pit, and supposed by the said 

jurors to have accidentally fallen 

in and instantly died. 
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Q/11/1/334/27 

Report of inquest taken at 

Brayton Hall, in the parish of 

Espetria [Aspatria] on 9th July, 

before John Skelton, coroner and 

12 witnesses, on the body of 

Nancy Harrison 

She was found hanging with rope 

round her neck in the feather 

house near Brayton Hall, and was 

therefore deemed to have killed 

herself while of unsound mind. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/28 
Petition of John Skelton, 

coroner, of Rowrah 

Expenses claim for Inquests at 

Millom, Gillcrux and Espetria 

(see Q/11/1/334/25, 

Q/11/1/334/26 and 

Q/11/1/334/27) claiming £3 for 

Inquests and £2 13s 3d for 71 

miles riding, total sum £5 13s 3d. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/29 

A technical drawing titled "A 

Plan and Elevation for Waver 

Bridge." 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/30 

An estimate, signed by Joseph 

Railton and Edward Mandle, for 

the building of Waver Bridge for 

the sum of £94 0s 0d 

(see Q/11/1/334/29) 1771 

Q/11/1/334/31 
A certificate signed by Gilfrid 

Lawson and Joshua Lucock 

To certify that the New Stone 

Bridge over the river Ellen at the 

West Mill near Arkleby in the 

High Road to Aspatria has been 

viewed and has been done to the 

satisfaction of the Letting 

Justices. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/32 

Quarterly disbursements for the 

County Gaol, signed by 

Brathwaite Atkinson, keeper of 

the Carlisle Gaol 

Some prisoners named. Damaged 

on right hand side. 
1771 

Q/11/1/334/33 
A certificate signed by John 

Dixon, 20th June, Whitehaven 

He has received from Brathwaite 

Atkinson the bodies of Richard 

Hall and Daniel Birkett, 2 

convicts, for transportation for the 

term of fourteen years. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/34 
A certificate signed by John 

Dixon, 14th April, Whitehaven 

Received from Brathwaite 

Atkinson, the body of Margaret 

Dobson convicted last sessions at 

Carlisle. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/35 
Petition of Sarah James of the 

City of Carlisle, midwife 

Was sent for on 13 May to the 

Gaol for Margaret Taylor, a 

prisoner, who was in labour and 

subsequently delivered a male 

child, and has received no 

satisfaction for it. Therefore 

requesting an order for payment. 

Order 10s - to be put amongst the 

public orders. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/36 

Examination of Ann Finley, Jane 

Foot and Mary Maxwell, 

belonging to the poor house at 

They claim that Ann Finley was 

starved and abused by the master 

and mistress of the poor house. 

Ordered that the examinants be 
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Carleton in the parish of St 

Cuthbert's 

allowed 1/6 a week until further 

order or until a proper poor house 

be provided and certified for by 

some of the Justices of the ward 

and the paupers to be removed 

into it at the expense of the 

overseer. 

Q/11/1/334/37 

Certificate for the common 

market price of middling English 

Corn and Grain 

Signed before Andrew Hudleston 

and John Richard, for customs of 

the port of Whitehaven. 

Damaged. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/38 

An Expenses claim form 

[claimant unknown, Clerk of 

Peace] amounting to £25 5s 0d 

Bottom left part of page missing. 1771 

Q/11/1/334/39 

Bastardy order of William 

Nicholson Jackson and George 

Dalton, Justices of the Peace 

regarding Jane Nixon 

Order concerning a female 

bastard child brn in the parish of 

Irthington from the body of Jane 

Nixon, singlewoman, who upon 

complaint of the churchwardens 

and overseers of the poor, has 

become chargeable to the said 

parish and upon examination a 

Joseph Pearson of Carleton Mills, 

miller, is the reputed father of the 

child and is ordered to pay the 

sum of twenty shillings for the 

maintenance and also one shilling 

and sixpence a week. Jane Nixon 

is also ordered to pay sixpence 

per week to the churchwardens 

and overseers whilst the child is 

chargeable to the parish. Ordered 

to be confirmed, no appeal. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/40 

An estimate, signed by William 

Blennerhassett, for the repair of 

Doust Bridge over Dovenby 

Beck in the parish of Bridekirk 

With a report to its condition and 

an estimate of Ten or Twelve 

pounds thereabout. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/41 

A certificate signed by Thomas 

Stephenson, surveyor of the 

bridges of Leath Ward 

Was ordered to contract for the 

repair of Garrigill bridge at any 

sum not exceeding six pounds, 

stating that he gave notice for 

lettings and others appearing to 

contract would not do so for the 

above sum 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/42 

A list of Bridges in Repair in 

Eskdale Ward, surveyed by 

Thomas Gibson, high constable 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/43 

Petition of John Meals, keeper of 

the house of correction, 

Cockermouth 

Had a vagrant prisoner, 

committed to his care by Rev 

John Cowper, justice of the 

peace, who had several cuts to the 

head, the petitioner paid for a 

surgeon, a sum of five shillings, 
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therefore requesting payment of 

these expenses. Ordered. 

Q/11/1/334/44 

Removal Order of Elizabeth 

Nicholson, widow of Isaac 

Nicholson and her children, 

Mary aged 5 and Isaac aged 2 

Have come to inhabit the parish 

of St Mary, Carlisle, without 

having gained legal settlement 

there and without a certificate of 

settlement elsewhere. After 

examination the legal settlement 

was adjudged to be the parish of 

Ainstable. Therefore the 

churchwardens and overseers of 

the poor of the parish of St Mary's 

are required to convey them to 

Ainstable and the churchwardens 

and overseers of the parish of 

Ainstable are required to receive 

and provide for them. Quashed 

for want of form. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/45 
Petition of Richard Harden 

Taylor of the City of Carlisle 

Has a wife and five children, 

requesting an allowance, as he is 

struggling to maintain his large 

family and pay the rent. NIL. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/46 

A fine of twenty pounds given to 

Thomas Thompson for cutting 

and carrying away an oak tree 

belonging to the Earl of Carlisle 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/47 

A fine of five pounds given to 

George Blair for cutting an oak 

tree belonging to the Earl of 

Carlisle 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/48 

Receipt of the payment of five 

shillings paid by John Meals so 

that Barnard O'Neal's head could 

be treated 

(see Q/11/1/334/43) 1771 

Q/11/1/334/49 

Certificate by John Cooper, one 

of His Majesty's Justices of the 

Peace 

He has viewed the road from 

Hellpool Bridge to Drincalls in 

the Division of Chapel Sucken in 

the Parish of Millom, and that this 

road has been sufficiently 

widened except one hundred 

yards which still needs to be 

repaired. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/50 

Certificate by Gilfred Lawson 

saying that the King's highway, 

indicted April 1771 in Aspatria, 

leading from the village of 

Hayton to the market town of 

Maryport, is now well and 

sufficiently repaired 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/51 
Certificate by Anthony Benn and 

Jos Dacre 

They viewed the road leading 

from Wedicar Road in the parish 

of Arlecdon to Dubbeck, and it is 

in good repair 

1771 



Q/11/1/334/52 

Reverse of certificate confirming 

repair of road (see 

Q/11/1/334/51) 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/53 
Certificate by Anthony Benn and 

Jos Dacre 

They viewed the road leading 

from Dubbeck to Foulsikehead in 

the parish of Arlecdon, and it is in 

good repair. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/54 Certificate by Anthony Benn 

He viewed the highroad from 

Hailgreen to Hallgarth Hall in the 

parish of Haile, and that it is in 

good repair. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/55 
Certificate regarding highway in 

Township of Dovenby 

Two items on this document, 

possible half of it missing;   1. 

Certificate that the highway lying 

in the Township of Dovenby in 

the parish of Bridekirk leading 

from seaport town of Maryport to 

the market town of Cockermouth 

has been viewed   2. Overleaf is 

an appointment certificate that 

Thomas Wallis and John Cherry 

are Bailiffs. Sheriff, John 

Spedding.   Unfit for Production 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/56 
Certificate signed by John 

Spedding, Sheriff of Cumberland 

Two items on this document;   1. 

Certificate appointing John 

Cherry and John Wilkinson as 

bailiffs for the quarter sessions on 

17th July to bring John Railton of 

the parish of Bridekirk to court.   

2. Overleaf - statement signed by 

William Hicks to certifiy that the 

highway between Maryport and 

Great Broughton in the parish of 

Bridekirk is sufficiently repaired. 

Copy of indictment. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/57 

Certificate signed by John 

Christopherson, John Hayton and 

John Falkin 

Stating that the road towards 

Woodside between Maryport and 

Great Broughton and also a gate 

of a field leading from Unerigg to 

Cockermouth are sufficiently 

repaired. 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/58 
Certificate signed by Charles 

Uldale of Maryport 

Stating that the road towards 

Woodside between Maryport and 

Great Broughton in the parish of 

Bridekirk and also a gate of a 

field leading from Unerigg to 

Cockermouth are sufficiently 

repaired and that the relevant 

certificates have been delivered to 

each of the prosecuters. (see 

Q/11/1/334/56 and 

Q/11/1/334/57) 

1771 

Q/11/1/334/59 
Certificate signed by Joseph 

Dacre 

To certify that the 400 yards of 

highway in Fenton quarter, in the 
1771 



parish of Hayton leading from 

Troutbeck to the East end of the 

field of Edmund Wills, clerk, 

sufficiently repaired. 

Q/11/1/334/60 

Certificate stating that Henry 

Blacklock was convicted before 

several justices of the peace for 

swearing five profane oaths 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/61 

A copy of Q/11/1/334/60 

certifying that Henry Blacklock 

was convicted for swearing five 

profane oaths 

 1771 

Q/11/1/334/62 

Conviction of Robert Aken of 

Crosthwaite, weaver, for having 

fishing rod and 17 young salmon 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/1 

Petition of the Surveyor of the 

Highways for Stonerays and 

Brocklebank Quarter in the 

Parish of Westward 

For assessment to be used on the 

repairs of the highways. Common 

Order 6d [in a pound] 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/2 

Petition of the Surveyor of the 

Highways for Bailey Quarter in 

the parish of Bewcastle 

For assessment to be used on the 

repairs of the highways. Common 

Order 6d [in the pound] 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/3 

Removal order for Mary Dawson 

from the parish of Greystock to 

the parish of Saint Martin's, 

London 

Order to be confirmed. No 

appeal. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/4 

Petition of Elizabeth Jackson late 

of St John's, parish of 

Crosthwaite, singlewoman 

For the payment of arrears and 

the continuation of a maintenance 

allowance for her bastard child by 

Joseph Crosthwaite of Keswick, 

miller, born 9 years ago. Order 

that the arrears of £2 4s be paid 

and 1s 6d a week until the parish 

officers find a proper Md 

[memoranda] and that they pay 

the sum of 5s towards the 

expenses of this application. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/5 
Petition of Elizabeth Falder of 

Uldale 

A poor impotent widow aged 52 

left with five small children for 

relief. Read. NIL 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/6 

Petition of the Surveyor of the 

Highways and principal 

inhabitants of the Division of 

Plumpton Street in the parish of 

Hesket 

For assessment to be used for the 

repairs of the highways. Common 

Order 6d [in a pound] 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/7 

Petition of the Surveyor of the 

Highways of the parish of Nether 

Denton 

For assessment to be used on the 

repairs of the highways. Common 

Order 6d [in a pound] 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/8 

John Cowper, clerk of one of His 

Majesty's Justices of the Peace, 

certifying that he insepcted part 

of the highway in Mungrisdale 

and found it in good repair 

Ordered to discharge. 1771 



Q/11/1/335/9 

Quarterly disbursements for the 

County Gaol from 17 July 1771 

to 9 October 1771 

Braithwaite Atkinson, keeper. 

Some prisoners named. Damaged. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/10 

Receipt for 2s 2d for cullery rent 

for the Gaol garden and ground 

adjoining 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/11 

Receipt from John Dixon for the 

body of Eleanor Renwick a 

convict under sentence of 

transportation 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/12 
Coroner's report for John Alcock 

of Murrah, parish of Greystoke 

Died in a storm whilst on his way 

home from Greystoke. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/13 

Petition of Thomas Dixon of 

Carlisle, coroner, for fees for 

attending an inquest 

(see Q/11/1/335/12) 1771 

Q/11/1/335/14 

Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, coroner, for a fee for 

attending an inquest 

Inquest on female child found in 

River Derwent at Seaton and 

capture of mother who confessed 

to throwing her in. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/15 

Coroner, John Skelton's report 

for Barbry Bushby of Boal, 

parish of Turpenna 

Hanged herself while of unsound 

mind. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/16 
Coroner, John Skelton's report 

for Jane Wilson of Whitehaven 

Was killed when a mast fell down 

upon her. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/17 

Coroner, John Skelton's report 

for Samuel Louthen of 

Kirkoswald 

Died suddenly whilst taking a rest 

on Potter Bank Brow on his way 

from Kirkoswald to Hatfield 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/18 
Coroner, John Skelton's report 

for Joseph Carrick of Maryport 

Died after falling off the Main 

Top Sail Yard on board of the 

merchant ship "Maryport." 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/19 

Coroner, John Skelton's report 

for Jonathan Dodgson of Birkby, 

parish of Crosscanonbie 

Had a convultion fit, fell into the 

river Ellon and drowned. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/20 

Coroner, John Skelton's report 

for a female child of Seaton, 

parish of Camerton 

Body was found in the River 

Derwent (see Q/11/1/335/14) 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/21 

Petition of John Skelton of 

Rowrah, coroner, for fees for 

attending six inquests. 

(see Q/11/1/335/15-20) 1771 

Q/11/1/335/22 

Certificate from W N Jackson to 

say that Waver Bridge is finished 

according to contract 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/23 

A return of the bridges in 

Cumberland Ward by Robert 

Raven, surveyor 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/24 

Petition of the Minister, 

churchwardens and principal 

inhabitants of the parish of 

Westward 

For a certificate to the Lord High 

Chancellor of Great Britain 

whereupon an application may be 

made for obtaining a Letter Patent 

to empower the parishioners to 

collect and receive charitable 

contributions for the taking down 

1771 



of the parish church and 

rebuilding cost of £1,068 7s 2d 

Q/11/1/335/25 

Removal order for Elizabeth 

Pattinson from the parish of St 

Cuthbert's to the parish of Hesket 

Adjourned to next Sessions of 

which both parties take notice. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/26 

Bastardy order confirming that 

Richard Hymer or Armers of 

Stone Garthside, Kirkandrews 

upon Esk is the father of a 

bastard female child 

Child of Jane Tealfer and 

charging him with its 

maintenance. Adjourned until 

next Sessions. Order to be 

confirmed Christmas 1772. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/27 

Bastardy order confirming that 

Joseph Graham of Nook, parish 

of Kirkandrews upon Esk is the 

father of a female bastard child 

Child of Margaret Fole and 

charging him with her 

maintenance. Order to be 

confirmed. No appeal. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/28 

Certificate from Joseph Dacre, 

JP, to say that he viewed a 

certain part od the road from 

Newcastle-upon-Tyne to 

Longtown and found it in good 

repair. 

Order to be discharged. 1771 

Q/11/1/335/28A 

Petition of George Dalton of the 

parish of Hesket, prisoner in the 

County Gaol for allowance. 

Ordered 1s a week. 1771 

Q/11/1/335/29 

Petition of Robert Hartley of the 

parish of Cockermouth, prisoner 

in the County Gaol for 

allowance. 

Ordered 1s per week. 1771 

Q/11/1/335/29A 

Certificate to say that George 

Dalton is a prisoner in the 

County Gaol and has nothing to 

support himself with 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/30 

Certificate to say that Robert 

Hartley is now confined in His 

Majesty's Gaol for debt 

Has no personal estate and 

deserving of the allowance. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/31 

Petition of Philip Heartly of the 

parish of Millham, prisoner in 

the County Gaol for allowance 

Ordered 1s a week. 1771 

Q/11/1/335/32 

Certificate to say that Philip 

Heartlay is now a prisoner in the 

County Gaol 

Has no estate or effects 

wherewith to support himself. 
1771 

Q/11/1/335/33 

Petition of Thomas Briggs of the 

parish of Millam, prisoner in the 

County Gaol for allowance 

Ordered 1s a week. 1771 

Q/11/1/335/34 

Certificate to say that Thomas 

Briggs is a prisoner in the 

County Gaol and has no estate 

wherewith to support himself 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/35 
Removal order for Esther Perrie 

and William her son, aged 10 

From Caldewgate Quarter in the 

parish of St Mary to the parish of 

St Cuthbert. Ordered to be 

confirmed. No appeal. 

1771 



Q/11/1/335/36 

Petition of William Kipling, 

builder, on behalf of himself and 

John Addison, his partner 

Were contracted to build two 

bridges but suffered a loss of £88 

16s 0d when the flood swept 

away two piers and an arch of one 

of the bridges and large quantities 

of iron, wood, stone and 

workmanship. Petitions for relief. 

Ordered, Minute Book. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/37 

Certificate from J Cowper JP to 

say that a part of the Highway is 

now in sufficient repair 

The Highway between the 

Bounder Stone on Carleton Fell, 

parish of Penrith and the north-

west end of the road made by the 

inhabitants of the parish of 

Edenhall is now in sufficient 

repair. Ordered to be discharged. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/38 

Presentment of the Common 

Market Price of Middling 

English Corn and Grain 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/39 

A duplicate of the Returns of the 

Prices of Corn from Carlisle 

Market 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/40 

Duplicate of the Returns of the 

Prices of Corn from Penrith 

Market 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/41 

Duplicate of the Returns of the 

Prices of Corn from 

Cockermouth Market 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/42 

Note by William Raincock JP 

saying that George Cockerton 

was convicted of swearing 

twenty profane oaths and curses 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/43 
Petition of Isaac Dobinson for 

damages 

Claims to have sustained loss of 

£1 10s when a bridge situated on 

his land in Aspatria was rebuilt 

and enlarged. Also claims 8s a 

year for loss of ground. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/44 

Surveyor's opinion on the loss 

sustained by Isaac Dobinson and 

his tenant due to the rebuilding 

and enlargement of Arkelby 

bridge 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/45 

Coroner, Robert Baynes' report 

on death of Richard Grayson, an 

infant of the age of eleven years 

Son of John Grayson of 

Workington, he was killed when 

he got "pressed between the two 

coal wagons". 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/46 

Coroner, Robert Baynes' report 

on death of Richard Crowdson, 

labourer 

Was killed in a limestone quarry 

accident at Distington 

churchfield. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/46A 
Quarterly disbursements for the 

County Gaol 

Signed Braithwaite Atkinson. 

Some prisoners named. 
1771 



Q/11/1/335/47 

Petition of the Surveyor of the 

Highways of the East Division of 

the parish of Allhallows, 

Cumberland 

For assessment to be used on the 

repairs of the highways. Common 

order 6d [in a pound] 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/47A 
Receipts from John Pringle for 

straw for the County Gaol 
 1771 

Q/11/1/335/47B 

Coroner, Robert Baynes' report 

taken at the house of Joseph 

Robinson of Distington on 23 

December on the body of Joseph 

Robinson 

Death came by being covered in 

earth and soil at Distington 

Churchfield quarry and is 

therefore accidental. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/48 
An account of workmen, a 

damaged Bridge 
 1771 

Q/11/1/335/48A 

Receipt from Sam [Smith] for 

receiving £2 2s from Braithwaite 

Atkinson for ironing the 

prisoners and rivets and mending 

and oyling the locks in Carlisle 

Gaol 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/48B 

Coroner, Robert Baynes' report 

taken at the house of John 

Kirkmichael in the parish of 

Workington 

On 12 May on the body of James 

Gamwell, collier, whose death 

came by falling down a shaft at 

the pit. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/49 

Receipt from Joseph Robinson 

for receipt of £3 5s 0d from 

Braithwaite Atkinson for 

emptying the boghouse of 

County Gaol 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/49A 

Coroner, Robert Baynes' report 

taken at Cockermouth on 20 

March on the body of Joseph 

Monkhouse of Cockermouth 

Was walking down a close called 

Sands which adjoins to the River 

Derwent and being weak and 

infirm fell in the river and 

drowned accidentally. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/50 

Receipt from Robert Underwood 

for receipt of 19s 6d from Mr 

Atkinson for glazing the 

windows of the Gaol 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/50A 

Petition of Robert Baynes, 

coroner, an expenses claim for 

six inquests amounting to £6 and 

a total of twenty four miles 

riding anount to 18s 0d, grand 

total of £6 18s 0d 

 1771 

Q/11/1/335/51 

Coroner, Robert Baynes' report 

taken at Cockermouth on 19th 

February on the body of a 

newborn male child 

Was found lodged in the mill of 

Fitts Mill, having only been there 

a short time. It was supposed that 

a person or persons have 

committed a murder. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/52 

A certificate signed by Richard 

Lee, naval officer from Port of 

South Potomack in Virginia, 

confirmed arrival of Eleanor 

Renwick 

To certify that John Jackson, 

master of the Brigantine "Juno" of 

Whitehaven, arrived here from 

Whitehaven on 8 October 1771 

and has delivered Eleanor 

1771 



Renwick who was convicted in 

Carlisle on 17 July 1771. 

Q/11/1/335/53 

Certificate signed by Richard 

Lee, naval officer from Port of 

South Potomack in Virginia, 

confirmed arrival of Richard 

Hull and Daniel Birkett 

Certified that Matthew 

Williamson, master of the 

Brigantine "Lowther and 

Senhouse" of Whitehaven, arrived 

here from Whitehaven on 14 

September 1771 and delivered 

Richard Hull and Daniel Birkett, 

who were convicted at Carlisle on 

24 August 1770. 

1771 

Q/11/1/335/54 

Petition of Thomas Stephenson, 

surveyor of bridges in Leath 

Ward 

Who it was ordered should 

contract for the repair of Garrigill 

Bridge at a sum not exceeding six 

pounds, which was inadequate 

and therefore got a further order 

for the sum to not exceed 15 

pounds and overall has had to 

make several journies to Garrigill 

and has been to great trouble and 

expenses and therefore requests a 

sum of money - ordered £3 8s 

1771 

Q/11/1/336/1 

Petition of John Skelton, 

Cockermouth, a coroner asking 

for his fee to be paid for 

attending inquests 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/2 

Coroner's report for Mathew 

Fagan of Whitehaven in the 

parish of St Bees 

Died when he slipped and fell on 

board a merchant ship. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/3 

Coroner's report for Charles 

Hannah, of Ennerdale Bridge in 

the parish of St Bees 

Died when he fell into a pool of 

water and drowned. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/4 

Coroner's report for Jonathan 

Brocklebank of Long Garth in 

the parish of Millom 

Died of natural causes. 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/5 

Coroner's report for Daniel 

McAbuy of Whitehaven in the 

parish of St Bees 

Died when he fell into the water 

at the Port of Whitehaven and 

drowned. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/6 

Coroner's report for Mary Eving 

of Whitehaven, in the parish of 

St Bees 

Died when she hung herself. 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/7 

Petition of the Surveyors of the 

Highways for the township of 

Winscales 

For assessment to be done on the 

repairs to the highways 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/8 

Petition of the Surveyors of the 

Highways and inhabitants of the 

township of Tallentire 

For an assessment to be done on 

the repairs of the highways. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/9 

Petition of Cuthbert Fisher of 

Cockermouth, the present 

Surveyor of the Highways in the 

parish of Hayton 

Asking for an order which will 

allow him to collect arrears. 
1771-1772 



Q/11/1/336/10 

Petition of the people called 

Quakers, of Maryport, certifying 

that they wish to build a place of 

Public Religious Worship 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/11 

Removal order for Mary Todd 

from the township of 

Greysouthen in the parish of 

Brigham, to the township of 

Brigham in the parish of 

Brigham 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/12 

Bastardy order confirming that 

Jeremiah otherwise Jeremy 

Jackson of Gamblesby in the 

parish of Addingham, is the 

father of female bastard child 

He is father of the female bastard 

child of Elizabeth Hutchinson and 

is charged with the child's 

maintenance. Order to be 

confirmed. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/13 
Removal order for William 

Buck, a rogue and vagabond 

Removed from Whitehaven to the 

parish of Mary le bone in the 

County of Middlesex 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/14 

Examination of John Lowrey 

stating that he believes that 

William Buck is not an 

inhabitant legally settled in 

Whitehaven 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/15 

Examination of Joseph Heslop 

stating that he believes that 

William Buck is not an 

inhabitant legally settled in 

Whitehaven 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/16 

Petition of [Eliza]beth Christian 

of Cockermouth, an aged and 

otherwise infirm widow, asking 

for relief 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/17 
Petition of John Studholm of the 

parish of Aikton 

Has a wife and six children, 

asking for relief or a better 

allowance 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/18 
Petition of Elizabeth Owen of 

Cockermouth 
 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/19 
Petition of Sarah Harrison of 

Cockermouth 

A widow with three children, 

asking for relief. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/20 
Petition of Jane Jackson of 

Cockermouth 

A widow asking that her poor 

relief continue. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/21 

Removal order for William 

Douglass, Sarah his wife and 

sons 

Sons Jonathan aged 12, Thomas 

aged 8 and Joseph aged 2, from 

the township of Greysouthen in 

the parish of Brigham, to the 

township of Crookdale in the 

parish of Bromfield. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/22 
Removal order for Jane Millar 

and her daughter Martha aged 4 

From the township of Wigton in 

the parish of Wigton, to the parish 

of Kirkandrews upon Esk 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/23 
Removal order for Ann Coates 

from the parish of Gosforth to 
 1771-1772 



the parish of Hawkshead in the 

county of Lancaster 

Q/11/1/336/24 Removal order for Mary Little 

From the township of Allonby in 

the parish of Bromfield to the 

township of Little Broughton in 

the parish of Bridekirk 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/25 
Removal order for Thomas 

Harding and his five children 

Children Ann aged 9, Jane aged 

7, Elizabeth and Agnes aged 3 

and Thomas aged 2, from the 

parish of Brampton to the parish 

of Irthington 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/26 

Petition of John Bell of 

Westlinton in the parish of 

Thirklinton, [Kirklinton] a 

prisoner at the Gaol in Carlisle, 

asking for an allowance 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/27 

Certificate of Charles Innis' 

poverty by Reverend Andrew 

Adair 

Is a prisoner at Carlisle Gaol. 

Also signed and certified by the 

magistrates of the Burgh of 

Whithern. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/27A 

Certificate of John Bell's 

poverty, by the minister 

churchwarden of Westlinton in 

the parish of Kirklinton 

Is a prisoner at the County Gaol 

in Carlisle for debt. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/28 

Petition of Charles Innes, a 

mariner of the parish of 

Whithern 

Now a prisoner at the Gaol in 

Carlisle, asking for an allowance. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/29 

Certificate of Mary Cowx's 

poverty, by the minister and 

churchwardens in the parish of 

Wigton 

Is now a prisoner at the County 

Gaol in Carlisle for debt. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/30 

Petition of Mary Cowx of the 

parish of Wigton, a prisoner at 

the Gaol at Carlisle, asking for 

an allowance 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/31 

Certificate of Thomas 

Thompson's poverty by the 

minister and churchwarden in the 

parish of Cumwhitton 

Is a prisoner of at the Gaol in 

Carlisle for debt. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/32 
Petition of Thomas Thompson of 

the parish of Cumwhitton 

A prisoner at the Gaol at Carlisle, 

asking for an allowance. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/33 
Petition of Mary Greenhow of 

the parish of Innerdale 

Asking for an order upon the 

parish of Innerdale for the money 

due to her for maintaining her 

female bastard child. She hasn't 

received any money for fourteen 

months. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/34 
Petition of Ruth Bell, a widow 

from Greysouthen 

Is weak and infirm, asking the 

Honourable Bench for poor relief 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/36 

Petition of Mary Eliot of the 

parish of Eakton, aged eighteen 

and not able to work 

Asking the Honourable Bench for 

relief, after being refused relief by 

the parish officers of Eakton 

1771-1772 



Q/11/1/336/37 
Petition of John Wilson of 

Kirkandrews 

Has a wife and three children, 

aking the Honourable Bench for 

relief. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/38 

Certificate that John Wilson 

from the parish of Kirkandrews, 

resided in the parish of Glencairn 

due to employment 

Was then hit by sickness. He was 

then recommended as "a real 

object of charity given under" the 

hands of Glencairn. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/39 

Petition of Mary McCullup of 

Wigton, a poor and old widow, 

asking the Honourable Bench for 

relief 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/40 
Petition of [Mrs] Ray of Flimby 

in the parish of Flimby 

A poor woman with four small 

children, asking the Honourable 

Bench that her relief be continued 

to be paid. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/41 
Petition of Phillip White of 

Cockermouth 

He completed some of his 

apprenticeship in Cockermouth 

and the remainder in Papcastle in 

the parish of Bridekirk when his 

employer moved, asking the 

Honourable Bench to make good 

his settlement. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/42 

Petition of Jane Story of the 

parish of Westward, a widow 

with four children 

Asking for her allowance to be 

increased. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/43 

Petition of Margaret McHale of 

Wigton, a widow, asking for 

poor relief 

 1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/44 
Fine of fifty pounds given to 

William Buck 

For acting in a play called "The 

Recruiting Officer" without a 

proper licence, in Albion Street, 

Whitehaven. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/45 
Fine of fifty pounds given to 

John Mills 

For acting in a play called "The 

Recruiting Officer" without a 

proper licence, in Albion Street, 

Whitehaven. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/46 
Fine of fifty pounds given to 

Charles Standon 

For acting in a play called "The 

Recruiting Officer" without a 

proper licence, in Albion Street, 

Whitehaven. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/47 

Petition of the Churchwarden 

and Overseer of the Poor of the 

township of Bridekirk in the 

parish of Bridekirk 

Asking for Thomas Rudd (son) to 

be made to pay for the 

maintenance and relief of his 

father , Thomas Rudd, who is old 

and impotent. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/48 

Petition of the Surveyors of the 

Highways of the parish of 

Bassenthwaite 

Requesting an assessment to be 

done, not exceeding six pence in 

the pound of the yearly value of 

the lands, tenements and 

hereditaments. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/49 
Bastardy order confirming that 

John Shaw of Allerby in the 

Is charged with the child's 

maintenance. 
1771-1772 



parish of Aspatria is the father of 

the female bastard child of Jane 

Tinnen of Allerby 

Q/11/1/336/50 

Petition of Susanna Cowx of 

Longlands in the parish of 

Uldale 

Asking for an order upon her 

parish officers for the money due 

to her for maintaining her female 

bastard child. She hasn;t received 

any money for three years and 

two months. 

1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/51 

Returns of the Prices of Corn 

from Carlisle market, from 

Michaelmas to Christmas 1771 

Certifying that Robert Raven 

made 12 returns. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/52 

Returns of the Prices of Corn 

from Penrith market, from 

Michaelmas to Christmas 1771 

Certifying that Thomas Stevenson 

made 13 returns. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/336/53 

Returns of the Prices of Corn 

from Cockermouth market, from 

Michaelmas to Christmas 1771 

Certifying that John Meals made 

13 returns. 
1771-1772 

Q/11/1/337/1 

Removal order for William 

Nicholson, his wife Sarah, son 

Willaim (aged 9) and son John 

(14 months) from Egremont to St 

Bees. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/2 

Removal order for Mabel 

Monkhouse from Allhallows to 

Blennerhasset in Torpenhow 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/3 

Bastardy order declaring that 

Thomas Dalton of Hall flat in the 

parish of Scaleby is the father of 

Mary Colthard's (of Bolton 

lowside in the parish of Bolton) 

female bastard chid. Ordered to 

pay weekly maintenance of six 

pence. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/4 

Removal order for Jacob Wilson 

from Low Holme in the parish of 

Holme Cultram to the parish of 

Burgh by Sands. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/5 

Removal order for Olive 

Monkhouse, also known as Olive 

Barnes from the parish of 

Wigton to the parish of Barton. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/6 

Bastardy order declaring that 

John Dalston, a lieutenant of 

Marines from the parish of Great 

Salkeld, is the father of Jane 

Stoddart's male bastard child, 

also from Great Salkeld. Ordered 

to pay 1 shilling six pence 

weekly for maintenance. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/7 

Removal order for Jane Millar, 

wife of Jacob millar from the 

middle quarter of Kirkandrews 

 1772 



upon Esk to the Nichoforest 

quarter in the parish of 

Kirkandrews upon Esk. 

Q/11/1/337/8 

Petition of Jane Gibson of 

Sebergham requesting an 

increase in bastard child 

maintenance allowance stating 

that the exisiting allowance of 12 

pence weekly is not sufficient. 

James Davidson is stated as the 

bastard child's father. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/9 

Petition of Margaret Frazier of 

the middle quarter of 

Kirkandrews upon Esk, to 

receive an allowance for her 

bastard child. Allowance request 

had been previously refused. 

William Wreight stated as the 

child's father. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/10 

Petition of William Wright of the 

middle quarter of Kirkandrews 

upon Esk parish, whom has a 

wife and two children but infirm 

and unable to work. Previous 

petition awarded an allowance of 

12 pence per week however Mr 

Wright has only received 20 

shillings since 12th March 1771 

so payment is in arrears of £1 

and 19 shillings. Ordered that the 

overseers pay the arrears of £1 

19 pence and 1 pence a week 

until further order. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/11 

Petition of John Batey, yeoman 

of Alston parish who had a child 

by Deborah Williamson whom 

he has paid maintenance for the 

the past 4 years. Mr Batey is now 

married and a poor man and asks 

that he can cease payments or 

that the child be taken from its 

mother and placed in his care. 

Read - nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/12 

Petition of Alexander Wilson of 

the upper quarter of Kirklinton 

parish for an allowance for a 

child left in his care or that the 

child be taken into care by the 

overseers. Said child was left by 

Jane Davison of Carlisle who 

then fled to Ireland. Ordered that 

the overseers pay 13 shillings 4 

pence for his trouble and 2 

 1772 



shillings weekly until further 

order. 

Q/11/1/337/13 

Petition of Mary Baine of 

Carlisle for relief from Arthuret 

overseers for her 3 children and 

husband who is out of work. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/14 

Petition of Mary Storey, widow, 

of Carlisle and parishioner of 

Kirklinton requesting an increase 

of her 6d weekly allowance due 

to being infirm and suffering 

rhumatic pains. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/15 

Petition of Mary Mackcullif of 

Wigton that an order made ten 

years previously for 1s 6d 

weekly andhouse rent to be paid 

be reinstaed as this has not 

ceased. Ordered 1s weekly and 

house rent to be paid until further 

order. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/16 

Petition of James Reay of 

Flimby for an allowance arrears 

of a previous alloance to be paid 

and reinstated as he is lame, 

unable to work and has a wife 

and 4 children. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/17 

Petition of Mary Bell, wife of 

Thomas Bell of Nicholforest for 

allowance after being refused re-

admission to the poor house. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/18 

Petition of James and Ann 

Lawrance of Warwick 

recompense for expenses 

incurred in prosecuting Thomas 

McCristie and William Hall. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/19 

Petition of Andrew Bell, 78 and 

infirm of Caldewgate for relief 

having been asked to leave the 

poorhouse when he injured his 

foot. Ordered to pay the pauper 1 

shilling. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/20 

Petition of Jane Little, 83 and 

infirm of Lannercost for relief. 

Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/21 

Petition of Marey Cowley for 

payment from a previous order 

made in 1763 which is not being 

paid. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/22 

Petition of John McLane for 

permision to cease payments of a 

bastard child (of Elizabeth 

pickering of Stanwix) or that the 

 1772 



child be taken into his family. 

Nil 

Q/11/1/337/23 

Petition of Sarah Sinclair, 90 

year old widow, of Rockcliffe 

for relief due to being blind and 

requiring constant care. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/24 

Petition of Walter Smith of 

Culgaith in the parish of 

Kirkland for arrears to be paid 

from a previous order. Previous 

order granted 2s weekly but 

payments made were only 1s 

weekly. Ordered for arrears of £5 

4 s be paid. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/25 

Complaint to the constable of 

Aketon parish by Mary Hodgson 

against Joseph Jeffrey for not 

believing her poor circumstance 

and a request that Jospeh be 

summoned before Gilford 

Lawson, barrister. Ordered that 

Joseph Jeffrey appear before 

Gilford Lawson. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/26 

Petition of Jane Scott, old and 

infim, for relief, after having 

been refused in the past. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/27 

Petition of Sybil Forrester for 

payment of arrears granted for 

maintenance of a bastard child 3 

years ago. Father named as John 

Jordan. Ordered that arrears be 

paid and that 1s 6d paid weekly 

until further order. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/28 

Petition of the Thomas Gill, the 

surveyors and inhabitants of the 

division of Skelton in the parish 

of Skelton for an assessment and 

renovations of the highways and 

streets in the said division due to 

them being in an irreparable 

state. Common order granted, 

one sixpence in the pound. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/29 

Petition of Joseph Boak on 

behalf of his son Thomas Boak 

to cease payments for 

maintenance of a male bastard 

child (mother named as [Becca] 

Thelthwaite) in the parish of 

Bewcastle as the child is now 9 

years old. Nil. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/30 

Petition of Elizabeth Johnston of 

Kirkbride, for an increase in 

allowance, currently 3s weekly, 

 1772 



to maintain her 4 children after 

desertion by her husband. Nil. 

Q/11/1/337/31 

A returns form signed by 

W.Cooke to ceritfy that Thomas 

Stevenson has made 14 returns 

of corn (wheat, rye, barley oats 

and beans) at Cockermouth 

market, with prices recorded on 

the form and that he is entitled to 

receive a sum not exceeding two 

shillings per return. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/32 

A returns form signed by 

W.Cooke to ceritfy that Robert 

Raven has made 13 returns of 

corn (wheat, rye, barley oats and 

beans) at Carlisle market, with 

prices recorded on the form and 

that he is entitled to receive a 

sum not exceeding two shillings 

per return. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/33 

A returns form signed by 

W.Cooke to ceritfy that John 

Meals has made 14 returns of 

corn (wheat, rye, barley oats and 

beans) at Cockermouth market, 

with prices recorded on the form 

and that he is entitled to receive 

a sum not exceeding two 

shillings per return. 

 1772 

Q/11/1/337/34 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/35 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/36 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/37 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/38 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/39 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/40 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/41 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/42 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/43 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/44 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/45 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/46 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/47 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/48 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/49 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/50 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/51 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/52 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/53 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/54 Petition of  1772 



Q/11/1/337/55 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/56 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/57 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/58 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/59 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/60 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/61 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/62 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/63 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/64 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/65 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/66 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/67 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/68 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/69 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/70 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/71 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/72 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/73 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/74 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/75 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/76 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/77 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/78 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/79 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/80 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/81 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/82 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/83 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/84 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/85 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/86 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/87 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/1/337/88 Petition of  1772 

Q/11/3/457/1 Jury Lists 

Lists of Jurors, Coroners, Chief 

Stewards of Leets and Liberties, 

Chief Constables and Bailiffs, as 

of the 1 April 1800 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/2 

Short form indictment: 

Inhabitants of Allerby, in the 

parish of Aspatria 

Accused: Inhabitants of Allerby, 

in the parish of Aspatria. For not 

repairing the road between the 

highway between the Lowmire 

and the bottom of a field called 

Swartha, the property of John 

Allonby, of Crosscanonby in the 

road leading from Allonby to 

Mayport. True Bill. Witness 

18 Apr 

1800 



William Welsh (sworn in court). 

Verdict in the abstract book: "not 

guilty by verdict" 

Q/11/3/457/3 

Short form indictment: 

Inhabitants of Allerby, in the 

parish of Aspatria 

Accused: inhabitants of Allerby, 

in the parish of Aspatria. For not 

repairing the road between a 

rivulet called [Fruslinet] Beck and 

the bottom of a clover or 

inclosure ground called 

Longriggs or Longlands, the 

property of William Sibson in the 

road leading from Gilcrux to 

Maryport. True bill. Witness: 

Thomas Jackson (sworn in court). 

Verdict in the abstract book: "to 

be discharged on the certificate of 

J B Senhouse, esquire" 

15 Apr 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/4 

Short form indictment: 

Inhabitants of the quarters of 

Stoneraise and Brocklebank, in 

the parish of Westward 

Accused: Inhabitants of the 

quarters of Stoneraise and 

Brocklebank, in the parish of 

Westward. For not repairing the 

road between the top of a brow 

called Lodge Brow extending 

through Stoneraise eastwards 

leading from Cockermouth to 

Penrith. No bill. Witness John 

Taylor, clerk 

19 Apr 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/5 

Short form indictment: 

Inhabitants of county of 

Cumberland 

Accused: Inhabitants of county of 

Cumberland. For not repairing 

repairing Harraby Bridge across 

the River Petteril leading from 

Carlisle to Penrith. True Bill. 

Witnesses: James Favisham, 

George Hardesty. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "withdrew their 

plea of not guilty and pleaded 

guilty" 

1 Apr 1800 

Q/11/3/457/6 
Long form indictment: George 

Fleming 

Accused: George Fleming, late of 

the parish of Cumrew, late 

constable for Cumrew. For a 

contempt of "not paying £1 and 

ten shillings to Robert Nichole," 

given to him at "the house of John 

Carruthers, in Stanwix." True bill. 

Witness Robert Nichole, High 

Constable . Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendant appears and 

pleads guilty, court imposes a fine 

of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/7 
Short form and long form 

indictment: Thomas Hudson 

Accused: Thomas Hudson, late of 

the parish of Castle Carrock, 

yeoman, for a contempt and 

trepass. True bill. Witness: Robert 

Nichole, now High Consable, 

14 Jul 1800 



sworn in court. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendent appears 

and pleas guilty, court imposes a 

fine of 6d" 

Q/11/3/457/8 Indictment: John Farrer 

Accused: John Farrer, late of 

Fingland, yeoman, for a 

contempt. True Bill. Witness 

Robert Nichole. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendent appears 

and pleas guilty, court imposes a 

fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/9 Indictment: Jane Crawford 

Accused: Jane Crawford, wife of 

John Crawford, late of the parish 

of Carlisle, St Mary, callico 

printer for a contempt. True Bill. 

Witness John Holstead. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendent appears and pleas 

guilty, court imposes a fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/10 
Long form indictment: John 

Little 

Relates to accused: John Little, 

late of Brackenhill, in the parish 

of Arthuret, labourer, for a 

contempt and non payment for 

maintenance for a female bastard 

child of Ann Graham, at Broomy 

Know in Westlinton, parish of 

Kirklinton. True bill. Witness 

statement: Andrew Latimer 

[Lattimer]. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendent appears and 

pleas guilty, court imposes a fine 

of 6d" 

23 Mar 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/11 
Long form indictment: Isaac 

Robinson 

Accused: Isaac Robinson, late of 

the parish of Westward, 

husbandman, For non-payments 

for bastard child of Lucy White. 

Overseers order that Jane 

Hamilton "owed one guinea..and 

also five shillings for supporting 

Lucy White." True bill. Witness 

statement: Jane Hamilton, sworn 

in court. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendent appears and 

pleas guilty, court imposes a fine 

of 6d" 

13 Jan 1800 

Q/11/3/457/12 
Long form indictment: John 

Graham 

Accused: John Graham, late of 

Mossside, in the parish of 

Stapleton, yeoman. Accused: 

John Graham, late of Parkrigg, in 

the parish of Stapleton, yeoman 

26 May 

1799-1800 



for a contempt and neglect to pay 

Agnes Little. Overseees ordered 

accused "to pay Agnes 17 

shillings and sixpence one half 

year's rent of her house at 

Whitsuntide last." True bill. 

Witness statement: Agnes Little, 

Thomas Nixon, sworn in court. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendent appears and pleas 

guilty, court imposes a fine of 6d" 

Q/11/3/457/13 
Long form indictment: Henry 

Ashburner 

Relates to accused: Henry 

Ashburner, late of Seascales, in 

the parish of Gosforth, miller. For 

non-payments for bastard male 

child of Sarah Walls, of Drigg, 

single woman. True bill. 

Overseers order that "nine pence 

a week be payable", after 

previous payments not made. 

Witness statement: William 

Shenan. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendent appears and 

pleas guilty, court imposes a fine 

of 6d" 

20 Jan 1800 

Q/11/3/457/14 
Long form indictment: Samuel 

Boustead 

Accused: Samuel Boustead, late 

of the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour of "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season. After 

the 19 September 1799-1 April, 

he did try and sell 20 kipper fish 

and 20 shedder fish in the parish 

of St Cuthbert." No Bill. Witness: 

John Gaddes, sworn in court. 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/15 
Long form indictment: John 

Blaylock 

Accused: John Blaylock, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanourof "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season." 

Witnesses: Rosalind Boustead, 

Samuel Boustead, sworn in court. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendent appears and pleas 

guilty, court imposes a fine of 6d" 

1800 



Q/11/3/457/16 

Long form indictment: Joseph 

Ewart and Richard Tinling. 

Witness statement: Joseph Ewart 

Accused: Joseph Ewart, late of 

Rickerby, in the parish of 

Stanwix, labourer, lived as a 

servant in husbandry with Kames 

Forrester and John Bowman, both 

of Rickerby, in the parish of 

Stanwix, farmers. Accused: 

Richard Tinling, late of the parish 

of Stanwix, labourer for a 

misdemeanour of "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season." True 

bill. Witnesses: "John Gaddes, 

Samuel Boustead, sworn in 

court." Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendants appear and 

plead guilty. Joseph Ewart to be 

imprisoned one month in Carlisle 

Gaol " 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/17 
Long form indictment: George 

Bell 

Accused: George Bell, late of the 

parish of Stanwix, labourer. For a 

misdemeanor of "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season. True 

bill. Witness: Samuel Boustead, 

sworn in court. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendent appears 

and pleas guilty, court imposes a 

fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/18 
Long forn indictment: John 

Gilkerson 

Accused: John Gilkerson, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour of "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season. 

Witnesses: Rosalind Boustead, 

Samuel Boustead, sworn in court. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendent appears and pleas 

guilty, court imposes a fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/19 
Long form indictment: Edward 

Forster 

Accused: Edward Forster, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour of "unlawful 

1800 



fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season. After 

the 19 September 1799-1 April, 

he did try and sell 20 kipper fish 

and 20 shedder fish in the parish 

of St Cuthbert." True Bill. 

Witnesses: John Gaddes, Samuel 

Boustead, George Bell, John 

Watson, William Wilson, Joseph 

Ewart, sworn in court. Verdict in 

the abstract book: "defendant 

appears and pleas guilty. Ordered 

to be fined £10 and be committed 

to Carlisle Gaol for one month 

and be imprisoned till paid" 

Q/11/3/457/20 
Long form indictment: Robert 

Forster 

Accused: Robert Forster, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour of "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season. After 

the 19 September 1799-1 April, 

he did try and sell 20 kipper fish 

and 20 shedder fish in the parish 

of St Cuthbert." True bill. 

Witnesses: John Gaddes, Samuel 

Boustead, George Bell, John 

Watson, William Wilson, Joseph 

Ewart, sworn in court. Verdict in 

the abstract book: "defendant 

appears and pleas guilty. Ordered 

to be fined £10 and be committed 

to Carlisle Gaol for one month 

and be imprisoned till paid" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/21 
Long form indictment: Robert 

Graham 

Accused: Robert Graham, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour of "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season. After 

the 19 September 1799-1 April, 

he did try and sell 20 kipper fish 

and 20 shedder fish in the parish 

of St Cuthbert." True bill. 

Witnesses: John Gaddes, Samuel 

1800 



Boustead, George Bell, John 

Watson, William Wilson, Joseph 

Ewart. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendant appears and 

pleas guilty. Ordered to be fined 

£10 and be confined to His 

Majesty's Gaol at Carlisle" 

Q/11/3/457/22 
Long form indictment: John 

Bowman 

Accused: John Bowman, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour of "unlawful 

fishing, using divers with fishing 

nets, fishing boats and draught 

nets on the River Eden to destroy 

20 kepper [kipper] salmon 

between the 8 September 1799-1 

April 1800, out of season. After 

the 19 September 1799-1 April, 

he did try and sell 20 kipper fish 

and 20 shedder fish in the parish 

of St Cuthbert." True bill. 

Witnesses: John Gaddes, Samuel 

Boustead, George Bell, John 

Watson, William Wilson, Joseph 

Ewart, sworn in court. Verdict in 

the abstract book: "defendant 

appears and pleas guilty. Ordered 

to be fined £10 and be committed 

to Carlisle Gaol for one month 

and be imprisoned till paid" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/23 
Long form indictment: Bridget 

McMullen 

Accused: Bridget McMullen, late 

of the parish of [Carlisle], St 

Mary, widow. For harbouring 

inmates "at a dwelling house in 

the parish of Carlisle, St Mary". 

True bill. Witness: William 

Nicholson, sworn in court. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendant appears, pleads guilty. 

Ordered to be imprisoned in 

Carlisle Gaol one month" 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/24 

Long form indictment: William 

Roome otherwise William 

Blythe 

Accused: William Roome 

otherwise William Blythe, late of 

Kingmoor hamlet, horsedealer. 

Accused: James Robinson the 

younger, late of the parish of 

Stanwix, horsedealer. For a 

defraud "with £5 of money did 

unlawfully, fraudently and 

deceitfully exchange a bay 

gelding". Witness statement: 

Robert Cartner and Robert 

Sewell, sworn in court. Verdict in 

the abstract book: "defendants 

5 Apr 1800 



appears, plead guilty, court 

imposes a fine of 6d each" 

Q/11/3/457/25 

Short form indictment: Elizabeth 

Irwin, Ann Thrubley, Ann Wood 

and others 

Accused: Elizabeth Irwin, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, widow. 

Accused: Ann Thrubley, wife of 

William Thrubley, late of the 

parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

Accused: Ann Wood, wife of 

Joseph Wood, late of the parish of 

Stanwix, labourer. Accused: 

William Thrubley the younger, 

late of the parish of Stanwix, 

labourer. Accused: Margaret 

Lancaster the younger, late of the 

parish of Stanwix, spinster. For a 

riot and assault upon Dinah 

Hetherington. True bill. 

Witnesses: Dinah Hetherington, 

Jos. Hetherington. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendents 

withdraw their not guilty plea and 

plea guilty. Court imposes a fine 

of 6d" 

16 Jan 1800 

Q/11/3/457/26 

Short form indictment: John 

March, William Sinclair 

[Sinkler] and others 

Accused: John March, late of the 

parish of Sebergham, yeoman. 

Accused: William Sinclair 

[Sinkler], late of the parish of 

Sebergham, yeoman. Accused: 

Peter Wear, late of the parish of 

Sebergham, yeoman. Accused: 

William Hodgson, late of the 

parish of Caldbeck, miller. 

Accused: George Slack, late of 

the parish of Caldbeck, carrier. 

Accused: John Saul, late of the 

parish of Caldbeck, woollen 

manufaturer. For a riot and 

assault upon Isabella Scott. No 

bill. Witnesses: Isabella Scott, 

Jane Scott, Thomas Sheffield, 

John Bowness, Abraham Railton, 

Andrew Blake, Francis Baty 

19 Oct 1799 

Q/11/3/457/27 
Long form indictment: William 

Carr 

Accused: William Carr, late of 

the parish of Alston, miller. 

Accused: Sarah Carr, wife of the 

said William Carr. Accused: Ann 

Carr, late of the parish of Alston, 

spinster. For an assault upon 

William Hetherington,"then being 

bailiff of the manor of Alston, 

otherwise Alston Moor, in the 

execution of his office." True bill. 

Witnesses: Wiliam Hetherington 

and Henry Dixon, sworn in court 

8 Nov 1800 



Q/11/3/457/28 

Short form indictment: Joseph 

Hetherington and Dinah 

[Hetherington], his wife 

Accused: Joseph Hetherington, 

late of the parish of Stanwix, 

yeoman. Accused: Dinah 

[Hetherington], wife of the said 

Joseph Hetherington. For an 

assault upon Elizabeth Irwin. 

True Bill. Witnesses: Elizabeth 

Irwin, Agnes Thrubley, Margaret 

Lancaster, Ann Wood. Verdict in 

the abstract book: "Appeared and 

pleaded not guilty" Next session 

(Midsummer) "changes Joseph 

his plea to guilty. Court imposes a 

fine of 6d" 

1 Mar 1800 

Q/11/3/457/29 
Short form indictment: William 

Hodgson and Robert Irwin 

Accused: William Hodgson, late 

of the parish of Torpenhow, 

yeoman. Accused: Robert Irwin, 

late of the parish of Torpenhow, 

yeoman. For an assault upon 

Greenup Hodgson. True bill. 

Witness: Greenup Hodgson 

(sworn in court). Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendant appears 

and pleas not guilty." Next 

session (Midsummer) "guilty by 

verdict. Court imposes a fine of 

£5 each" 

5 Apr 1800 

Q/11/3/457/30 

Short form and long form 

indictments: John Metcalfe, the 

elder and John Metcalfe, the 

younger 

Accused: John Metcafe, the elder, 

late of the parish of Dalston, 

yeoman. Accused: John Metcalfe, 

the younger, late of the parish of 

Dalston, yeoman. For an asault 

upon William Roper, trepass and 

other offences. True bill. 

Witnesses: William Roper, John 

Mars. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "same session: defendant 

appears, pleads not guilty, to be 

carried over to next session". 

Next session (Midsummer): 

"confined to the next session 

without further notice". Next 

session (Michaelmas): "this 

matter being referred to the 

deputy Clerk of the Peace. 

Ordered that Nolle Prosequi be 

entered upon the record". 

2 Feb 1800 

Q/11/3/457/31 
Short form indictment: Robert 

Bethwaite 

Accused: Robert Bethwaite, late 

of the parish of Carlisle, St Mary, 

dyer. For an assault upon 

Christopher Maughan. No bill. 

Witnesses: Christopher Maughan, 

John Maughan 

1800 



Q/11/3/457/32 
Short form indictment: 

Christopher Maughan 

Accused: Christopher Maughan, 

late of the parish of Carlisle, St 

Mary, officer in the house. For an 

assault upon Robert Bethwaite. 

No bill. Witnesses: Robert 

Bethwaite, William Harding, 

John Studholme 

1 Feb 1800 

Q/11/3/457/33 
Short form indictment: William 

Atkinson 

Accused: William Atkinson, late 

of the parish of Scaleby, yeoman. 

For an assault James Cowen the 

younger. True bill. Witnesses: 

James Cowen junior, William 

Johnstone. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendant appears and 

pleads not guilty. Entered into 

recognizance to try and traverse 

at next session". Next session 

(Midsummer): "defendant 

withdraws his not guilty plea and 

pleads guilty. Court imposes fine 

of 6d" 

5 Mar 1800 

Q/11/3/457/34 
Short form indictment: Edward 

Mulcaster 

Accused: Edward Mulcaster, late 

of the parish of Irthington, 

yeoman. For an assault Peter Bell. 

No bill. Witnesss: Peter Bull, 

John Miller 

19 Apr 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/35 
Short form indictment: James 

Cowan, the younger 

Accused: James Cowan, the 

younger, late of the parish of 

Scaleby, yeoman. For an assaut 

upon William Atkinson. No bill. 

Witnesses: William Atkinson, 

Richard Graham 

1 Apr 1800 

Q/11/3/457/36 
Short form indictment: Walter 

Scott 

Accused: Walter Scott, late of the 

parish of Kirklinton, yeoman. For 

petit larceny in stealing one game 

cock of red colour, the property 

of Edward Mulcaster. No bill. 

Witness: Edward Mulcaster 

1 Mar 1800 

Q/11/3/457/37 
Short form indictment: Margaret 

Addison 

Accused: Margaret Addison, wife 

of William Addison, late of the 

parish of Wigton, labourer. For 

petit larceny in stealing one blue 

white stamped cotton gown, the 

goods and chattels of Margaret 

Dognair. No bill. Witness: 

Margaret Dognair, Margaret 

Waller 

18 Apr 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/38 
Short form indictment: William 

Carr 

Accused: William Carr, late of 

the parish of Wigton, dyer. For 

petit larceny in stealing six 

pounds in weight of county ashes, 

the goods and chattels of Thomas 

Brushley, Daniel Heron and 

William Parklin. True bill. 

2 Apr 1800 



Witnesses: Thomas Brushley, 

Thomas Armstrong, Jas Moffat 

Q/11/3/457/39 
Short form indictment: Nicholas 

Richardson and Robert Nixon 

Accused: Nicholas Richardson, 

late of the parish of Alston, 

miner. Accused: Robert Nixon, 

late of the parish of Aston, miner. 

For petit larceny in stealing one 

pound in weight of mutton, one 

pound in weight of beef, one 

pound in weight of cheese, four 

ounces of butter and three pounds 

in weight of oatmeal, the goods 

and chattels of Ralph Morton. No 

bill. Witnesses: Ralph Morton, 

Christopher Stone, William 

Waugh 

10 Feb 

1800 

Q/11/3/457/40 Short form indictment: Peter Bell 

Accused: Peter Bell, late of the 

parish of Kirklinton, labourer, for 

petit larceny for stealing one 

game cock of red colour, the 

goods ad chattels of Edward 

Mulcaster. No bill. Witness: 

Edward Mulcster 

1 Mar 1800 

Q/11/3/457/41 
Short form indictment: Joseph 

Casson 

Accused: Joseph Casson, late of 

the parish of Brigham, smith. For 

petit larceny for stealing one pair 

of iron screw compressors, one 

iron drill press, two iron and steel 

hammers, one steel screwdriver, 

the goods and chattels of John 

Ritson. True bill. Witnesses: John 

Ritson, Jos. Hodgson, John Grigg, 

William Denvers. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendant guilty 

by verdict. Ordered to be 

transported to His Majesties 

Colonies abroad for the term of 

seven years" 

8 Apr 1800 

Q/11/3/458/1 Lists 

Of Coroners, Chief Stewards, 

Bailiffs, Chief Constables and 

Jury for the Midsummer Quarter 

Session. Execution of the 

peaceful offices of "Brown 

Grisdale, clerk, doctor of divinity. 

William Potts, esquire, Justices of 

the Peace.. to hear and deliver 

felonies, amd other 

misdeameanors committed" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/2 

Short form indictment: 

Inhabitants of How Bound, in the 

parish of Castle Sowerby 

Accused: Inhabitants of How 

Bound, in the parish of Castle 

Sowerby. For not repairing the 

road beginning opposite the south 

corner on the south west side of a 

stable in the possession of Robert 

1800 



Clark, in the parish of Castle 

Sowerby, called Clark's Stable or 

Folly's Gap extending northwards 

to the north west side of Salter 

Lane Beck leading from 

Millhouse. True bill. Witnesses: 

William Jack, John Relph, 

Jeremiah Wood. Verdict in the 

abstract book: Next session 

(Michaelmas): "George 

Burnthwaite, surveyor, appears 

and pleads guilty. Court imposes 

a fine of £20 and respites the 

leasing till Easter." Next Session 

(Easter, 1801): "to be discharged 

on the certificate of Mr de 

Whelpdale" 

Q/11/3/458/3 
Short form Indictment: Joseph 

Wait 

Accused: Joseph Wait, of the 

parish of Castle Sowerby, 

yeoman. For not repairing the 

highway beginning opposite the 

south end of of his land, called 

Waits Acre, extending west to the 

west corner of Waits Acre. Also 

passes through the south end of 

Mencelesses Closes, being twenty 

yards in length and seven yards in 

breadth. True bill. Witneses: 

"William Jack, John Relph, 

Jeremiah Wood, sworn in court." 

Verdict in the abstract book: Next 

session (Michaelmas): "defendant 

appears and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of £10 and respites 

the leasing til Easter session 

next." Next session (Easter, 

1801): "to be discharged on the 

certificate of John de Whelpdale, 

esquire" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/4 
Short form indictment: Robert 

Clark 

Accused: Robert Clark, of the 

parish of Castle Sowerby, miller. 

For not repairing a highway 

beginning opposite Folley Gap 

(Robert Clark's close of land) 

extending westwards to the south 

west corner of Folley Gap. True 

bill. Witneses: "William Jack, 

John Relph, Jeremiah Wood, 

sworn in court." No entry in the 

abstract book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/5 
Long form indictment: John 

Reed 

Accused: John Reed, late of the 

parish of Holme Cultram, 

yeoman. For obstructing a 

footpath in the parish of Holme 

1800 



Cultram. True bill. Witnesses: 

Richard Jackson, Jas. Brough, 

Edward Brown, Joseph Taylor, 

John Biglands. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: next session 

(Michaelmas): "dest." Next 

session (Easter, 1801): "dest." 

Next session (Michaelmas, 1801): 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty and entered into a 

recognizance to try and traverse 

at next session". Next session 

(Christmas, 1802): "indictment 

squashed at the insistance of 

prosceutor" 

Q/11/3/458/6 Indictment: Thomas McMinn[s] 

Accused: Thomas McMinn[s], 

late of the parish of St Bees. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: 

Hannah Brown. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict from the 

abstract book: next session 

(Michaelmas): "defendant appears 

and pleads guilty. Court imposes 

a fine of 6d." 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/7 
Long forn indictment: Thomas 

Halliburton 

Accused: Thomas Halliburton, 

late of the parish of Stapleton, 

husbandman. For a contempt: 

"that Ann Armstrong, single 

woman on the 25 October last 

past was delivered a male bastard 

child at Mire Gate, in the parish 

of Bewcastle." True bill. 

Witnesses: Gideon Miller. 

Verdict from the abstract book: 

next session (Michaelmas): 

"defendant appears and pleads 

guilty. Court imposes a fine of 

6d." 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/8 
Short form indictment: John 

Heslop [Hyslop] 

Accused: John Heslop [Hyslop], 

late of the parish of Stanwix, 

butcher. For a defraud of £40 "did 

obtain from Elizabeth Holliday a 

promissory note with the proper 

handwriting of John 

Nichiolson...cheat and defraud 

Elizabeth Holliday." True bill. 

Witnesses: Thomas Lowthian, 

Jane Wallace, John Nicholson. 

Verdict from the abstract book: 

"defendant appears and pleads 

guilty. Entered into recognizance 

1800 



to try and traverse at next 

session". Next session 

(Michaelmas): "not guilty by 

verdict" 

Q/11/3/458/9 

Long form indictment: Joseph 

Bewley, Jas Mitchell, David Saul 

and others 

Accused: Joseph Bewley, late of 

the parish of Crosscanonby, 

mariner. Accused: Jas Mitchell, 

late of the parish of 

Crosscanonby, mariner. Accused: 

David Saul, late of the parish of 

Crosscanonby, joiner. Accused: 

William Cook, late of the parish 

of Crosscanonby, mariner. 

Accused: Hugh McKenzie, late of 

the parish of Crosscanonby, 

mariner. Accused: William 

[Hellons], late of the parish of 

Crosscanonby, mariner. Accused: 

Barbara Haughan, wife of John 

Haughan, late of the parish of 

Crosscanonby, taylor. Accused: 

Margaret Biglands, wife of 

Robert Biglands, late of the parish 

of Crosscanonby, mariner. 

Accused: Margaret Donaldson, 

wife of George Donaldson, late of 

the parish of Crosscanonby, 

mariner. Accused: Mary 

Wedgewood, late of the parish of 

Crosscanonby, single woman. 

Accused: Sarah Biglands, late of 

the parish of Crosscanobym 

widow. For a misdemeanour in 

breaking the glass windows of the 

house of Richard Latimer. True 

bill. Witnesses: Richard Latimer, 

Thomas Latimer. Verdict from 

the abstract book; next ses 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/10 
Short form indictment: John 

Matthews 

Accused: John Matthews, late of 

the parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

grocer. For an assault upon 

Rowland Boustead. No bill. 

Witness: Rowland Boustead. No 

verdict recorded in abstract book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/11 
Short form indictments: 

Rowland Boustead 

Accused: Rowland Boustead, late 

of the parish of St Cuthbert, 

butcher. For an assault upon John 

Armstrong. No bill. Witnesses: 

John Armstrong, John Matthews, 

Joseph Topping. For an assault 

upon John Armstrong. True bill. 

Witnesses: John Armstrong, John 

Matthews, Joseph Topping. 

Verdict in the abstract book: next 

1800 



session (Michaemas): "defendant 

appears and pleads not guilty. 

Entered into recognizance to try 

and traverse at next session". 

Next session (Christmas, 1801): 

"not guilty by verdict" 

Q/11/3/458/12 

Long form and short form 

indictment: John Armstrong, 

Ann Armstrong and Hannah 

Armstrong 

Accused: John Armstrong, late of 

Sandshouse, in the parish of St 

Mary, breeches maker.Accused: 

Ann Armstrong, late of 

Sandshouse, in the parish of St 

Mary, widow. Accused: Hannah 

Armstrong, late of Sandshouse, in 

the parish of St Mary, single 

woman. For a rescue and an 

assault upon Rowland Boustead. 

True bill. Witnesses: "Rowland 

Boustead, Joseph Hodgson, 

sworn in court." Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendant appears 

and pleads not guilty. Entered 

into recognizance to try and 

traverse at next session". Next 

session (Michaelmas): "the 

defendants Ann Armstrong and 

Hannah Armstrong not guilty and 

the defendant John Armstrong 

guilty by verdict. Ordered by the 

Court that the defendant be 

committed to Carlisle Gaol for 

the space of one month and pay a 

fine of 40s and to be committed 

till paid." Also includes jury list 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/13 

Short form indictment: William 

Carruthers and Martha 

Carruthers 

Accused: William Carruthers, late 

of the parish of Bewcastle, horse 

dealer. Accused: Martha 

Carruthers, late of the parish of 

Bewcastle, single woman. For an 

assault upon Jos Armstrong. True 

bill. Witness: Jos Armstrong. 

Verdict in the abstract book: next 

session (Michaelmas) "defendant 

appears and pleads not guilty. 

Entered into recognizance to try 

and traverse at next session". 

Same session (Michaelmas): 

"defendant withdraws his plea of 

not guilty and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/14 

Short form and long form 

indictments: Joseph Bird, James 

Grace, William Armstrong and 

others 

Accused: Joseph Bird, late of the 

parish of Crosthwaite, dyer. 

Accused: James Grace, late of the 

parish of Crosthwaite, shoemaker. 

Accused: William Armstrong, 

1800 



late of the parish of Crosthwaite, 

nailer and divers. Accused: Other 

persons (as yet unknown). For a 

riot and assaul upon John Irwin. 

True bill. Witnesses: John Irwin, 

Ruth Smith, Thos Preston. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendants appear and pleads not 

guilty. Entered into recognizance 

to try and traverse at next 

session". Next session 

(Michaelmas): "defendants 

Joseph Bird and William 

Armstrong appear and withdraw 

their plea of not guilty and plead 

guilty. Court imposes a fine of 6d 

each" 

Q/11/3/458/15 Long form indictment: John Lee 

Accused: John Lee, late of the 

parish of Penrith, labourer. For a 

defraud or "obtain the value of £5 

from James Corry..one of the 

constables of the county of 

Cumberland." True bill. 

Witnesses: James Corry, James 

Dixon. Verdict from abstract 

book: "defendant appears and 

pleads not guilty. Entered into 

recognizance to try and traverse 

at next session". Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "not guilty by 

verdict" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/16 

Short form indictment: John 

[Milbourn], Joseph Parkin and 

John Routledge 

One indictment names John 

Milbourn only, the other names 

all accused. Accused: John 

[Milbourn], late of the parish of 

Dalston, husbandman. Accused: 

Joseph Parkin, late of the parish 

of Bolton, husbandman. Accused: 

John Routledge, late of the parish 

of Bolton, husbandman. For a riot 

and assault upon George Penny. 

No bill. Witnesses: "George 

Perry, Joseph Wilson, Catherine 

Penny, Benjamin Bell, sworn in 

court" (John Milbourn 

indictment). Witnesses: "John 

Milbourn, James Pattrickson, 

Thomas Willson, Joseph Barnes, 

Joseph Parkin, sworn in court" 

(all accused indictment) 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/17 Indictment: George Perry 

Accused: George Perry, late of 

the parish of Wigton, miller. For 

an assault upon John Milbourn. 

No bill. Witnesses: John 

1800 



Nicholson, Jas. Pattrickson, 

Thomas Dixon, Jos. Barnes, Jos. 

Parkinson. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book 

Q/11/3/458/18 
Short form and long form 

indictments: Mary Brown 

Accused: Mary Brown, wife of 

William Brown, late of the parish 

of St Bees, collier. For a violent 

assault upon Hannah Brown. True 

bill. Witnesses: "Hannah Brown, 

Matthew Newland, sworn in 

court." Verdict in the abstract 

book: "certificate" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/19 
Long form and short form 

indictments: Clement Mossop 

Accused: Clement Mossop, late 

of the parish of St Bees, yeoman. 

For an assault upon George 

Johnston. True bill. Witnesses: 

"George Johnston, David Long, 

Joseph Steel, sworn in court." 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty. Entered into recognizance 

to try and traverse at next 

session". Next session 

(Michaelmas): "guilty by verdict. 

Ordered to pay a fine of £5" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/20 
Short form indictment: George 

Johnston 

Accused: George Johnston, late 

of the parish of St Bees, 

husbandman. For an assault upon 

Clement Mossop. No bill. 

Witnesses: "Clement Mossop, 

Dacre Stowbridge, James 

Musgrave, sworn in court" No 

entry in the abstract book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/21 
Indictment: Margaret Frances 

Graham 

Accused: Margaret Frances 

Graham, late of the parish of 

Kirklinton, labourer. For forcible 

entry into the house of Robert 

Juoni[?]. True bill. Witnesses: 

Robert Juoni[?], Thomas 

Juoni[?]. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict from 

abstract book: "defendant appears 

and pleads not guilty. Entered 

into recognizance to try and 

traverse at next session". Next 

session (Michaelmas): "defendant 

withdraws ..plea of not guilty and 

pleads guilty. Court imposes a 

fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/22 

Short form indictment: James 

Kettlewell, otherwise James 

Keay 

Accused: James Kettlewell, 

otherwise James Keay, late of the 

parish of St Mary, labourer. For 

1800 



an assault upon Ann Lawrie. True 

bill. Witness: "Ann Lawrie, 

sworn in court." Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendant appears 

and pleads not guilty. Entered 

into recognizance to try and 

traverse at next session". Next 

session (Michaelmas): "defendant 

appears and withdrwas his plea of 

not guilty and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of 6d" 

Q/11/3/458/23 
Short form indictment: Jane 

Wallis 

Accused: Jane Wallis, late of the 

parish of St Mary, widow. For an 

assault upon John Heslop. No 

bill. Witnesses: "John Heslop, 

William Graham, William Haugh, 

Joseph Hetherington, sworn in 

court" No entry in the abstract 

book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/24 
Short form indictment: Matthew 

Wilson 

Accused: Matthew Wilson, late of 

the parish Hesket[-in-the-Forest], 

labourer. For an assault upon 

Joshua Bird. No bill. Witnesses: 

"Joshua Bird, John Holmes, 

sworn in court". No entry in the 

abstract book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/25 
Short form indictment: Joshua 

Bird 

Accused: Joshua Bird, late of the 

parish Hesket[-in-the-Forest], 

labourer. For an assault upon 

Matthew Wilson. No bill. 

Witnesses: Matthew Wilson, 

Thomas Coulthard, Thomas 

Moor, John Little. No entry in the 

abstract book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/26 
Short form indictment: Ann 

Lawrie 

Accused: Ann Lawrie, wife of 

John Lawrie, late of the parish of 

St Mary, tinman. For an assault 

upon James Keay. No bill. 

Witnesses: "James Keay, Mary 

Atkinson, sworn in court." No 

entry in the abstract book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/27 
Short form indictment: Robert 

Darwood 

Accused: Robert Darwood, late of 

the parish of Workington, mason. 

For petit larceny in tealing two 

pieces of cast iron, the property of 

John Christian Curwen. True bill. 

Witnesses: "William Tait, 

William Sewell, Daniel 

Robinson, Alexander Ross, sworn 

in court." Verdict in the abstract 

book: "defendant appears and 

pleads guilty. To be transported 

for the term of seven years" 

1800 



Q/11/3/458/28 

Short form indictment: Joseph 

Sowerby, Mary Sowerby and 

Margaret Sowerby 

Accused: Joseph Sowerby, late of 

the parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

weaver. Accused: Mary Sowerby, 

wife of the said Joseph Sowerby, 

late of the parish of [Carlisle], St 

Mary. Accused: Margaret 

Sowerby, late of the parish of 

[Carlisle], St Mary, single 

woman. For petit larceny in 

stealing one man's coat, the 

property of John Webster on 27 

June 1800. True bill. Witnesses: 

John Webster, Thomas Forster. 

Verdict in the abstract book: John 

Webster, guilty by verdict and 

ordered to be transported for the 

term of seven years. Mary 

Sowerby pleaded guilty and 

ordered to be confined one month 

in Carlisle Gaol. Margaret 

Sowerby not guilty by verdict 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/29 
Short form indictment: Robert 

Piel 

Accused: Robrt Piel, late of the 

parish of Crosscanonby, collier. 

For petit larceny in stealing three 

quarts of metal, the property of 

John Gilesley. True bill. Witness: 

Benjamin Brown. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendant 

appears, pleads guilty. Ordered to 

be publicly whipped at a carts tail 

from the gaol to Dam Bridge 

between 11 and 12 on Saturday 

19th instance and be confined one 

month" 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/30 
Short form indictment: James 

Corry 

Accused: James Corry, late of the 

parish of Threlkeld, labourer. For 

petit larceny in steaing one cart, 

the property of John Lee. 

Witness: "John Lee, sworn in 

court." No entry in the abstract 

book 

1800 

Q/11/3/458/31 
Short form and long form 

indictments: Francis Graham 

Accused: Francis Graham, late of 

the parish of Kirklinton, labourer. 

For forcibly entering the house of 

Robert Irwin and an assault. 

"That the said Francis Graham to 

come and answer at the Quarter 

Sessions holden at the city of 

Carlisle on Monday 14 July 

[1800]... Francis Graham says he 

is not guilty." Witnesses: Robert 

Irwin, Thomas Irwin. Indictment 

does not appear in abstract or 

verdict book 

1800 



Q/11/3/459/1 Jury list  1800 

Q/11/3/459/2 

Short form indictment: 

Inhabitants of the division of 

Hunsonby and Winskell 

Accused: Inhabitants of the 

division of Hunsonby and 

Winskell. For not repairing a road 

between a gate in Langwathby 

adjoining the messuage of Wlliam 

Fleming, called Langrigg Syke 

and Briggle Beck, on the road 

between Penrith and Alston, one 

mile in length and seven yards in 

breadth." True bill. Witness: 

Thomas Pattinson, esquire. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"Summoned." Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "Joseph 

Benson, surveyor, appears and 

pleads guilty. Court imposes a 

fine of £50 anad respites the 

levying till next session." Next 

session (Easter, 1801): "to be 

discharged on the certificate of 

Mr Laws" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/3 
Indictment: Inhabitants of the 

parish of Langwathby 

Accused: Inhabitants of the parish 

of Langwathby. for not repiaring 

one mile in length the highway 

between Briggle Bridge and a 

gate in the village of Langwathby 

adjoining the property of William 

Fleming. True bill. Witness: 

Thomas Pattinson, esquire. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "Summoned." Next 

session (Christmas, 1801): "Divt." 

Next session (Easter, 1801): 

"John Williamson, surveyor, 

appears and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of £50 and respites 

the levying till Michaelmas 

session next." Next session 

(Michaelmas, 1801): "To be 

discharged on the certificate of 

William Wilson, esquire" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/4 

Long form and short form 

indictments: Richard Birrell, 

Matthew Neilson, Herbert 

Wilkin and Thomas Wylie 

Accused: Richard Birrell, late of 

the parish of Rockcliffe, labourer. 

Accused: Matthew Neilson, late 

of the parish of Rockcliffe, 

labourer. Accused: Herbert 

Wilkin, late of the parish of 

Rockcliffe, labourer. Accused: 

Thomas Wylie, late of the parish 

of Rockcliffe, labourer. For a 

misdemeanour "caught fishing in 

1800 



the Solway." True bill. Witness: 

Robert Hardey. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "Certified." Next 

session (Christmas, 1801): 

defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty and entered into 

recognizance to try and traverse 

at next session". Next session 

(Easter, 1801): "acquitted by 

verdict." Also included a jury list 

for the trial 

Q/11/3/459/5 

Long form and short form 

indictments: William Tate, Peter 

Edgar and others 

Accsued: William Tate, Peter 

Edgar, John Edgar, Richard 

Graham, Jannet Wilkin, John 

Herald, William Irwin, John 

Barnes, Richard Bell, Robert 

Nixon, George Brown, Robert 

Edgar, William Edgar, Henry 

Railton, Robert Irwin, Joseph 

Skelton, William Steel and 

William Clementson, all late of 

the parish of Rockcliffe, 

labourers. For a misdemeanour of 

illegal fishing in the Solway Firth. 

True bill. Witness: Robert 

Hardey. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "Certified." Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads not guilty. 

Entered into recognizance to try 

and traverse at next session". 

Next session (Easter, 1801): 

"defendant not guilty by verdict". 

Also included a jury list for the 

trail. One short form indicts 

"William Hodgson and Robert 

Irwin." One short form indicts 

"William Tate, Peter Edgar, John 

Roger, Richard Graham, Janet 

Wilkin, John Hurst, William 

Irwin, John Barnes, Richard Bell, 

Robert Nixon, George Brown, 

Robert Edgar, William Edgar, 

Henry Skelton, Robert Irwin, 

Joseph Skelton, William Ste 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/6 Indictment: John Rayson 

Accused: John Rayson, late of the 

parish of Wetheral, yeoman. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: Jos. 

Porter. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "Summoned." Next 

session (Easter, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of 6d" 

1800 



Q/11/3/459/7 Indictment: John Gracie 

Accused: John Gracie, late of the 

parish of Torpenhow, yeoman. 

For a contempt. True bill. 

Witness: William Blennerhasset. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "Summoned" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/8 Indictment: Isaac Bird 

Accused: Isaac Bird, late of the 

parish of Lanercost, yeoman. For 

a contempt. True bill. Witness: 

Robert Nichole. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "summoned." Next 

session (Easter, 1801): "dis." 

Next session (Midsummer, 1801): 

"defendant appears and pleads 

guilty. Court imposes a fine of 

6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/9 Indictment: William Barnfather 

Accused: William Barnfather, late 

of the parish of Stanwix, yeoman. 

For a contempt. True bill. 

Witness: Jos. Porter. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"Summoned." Next session 

(Easter, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/10 Indictment: John Nixon 

Accused: John Nixon, late of 

Grinsdale, yeoman. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: Jos. 

Porter. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "Summoned." Next 

session (Midsummer, 1803): 

"defendant appears and pleads 

guilty. Court imposes a fine of 6d 

paid under sherriff" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/11 
Indictment: John Farlam, 

otherwise John Farrer 

Accused: John Farlam, otherwise 

John Farrer, late of Fingland, 

yeoman. For a contempt. True 

bill. Witness: Jos. Porter. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"summoned." Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes fine of 6d" 

1800 



Q/11/3/459/12 Indictment: Simon Smith 

Accused: Simon Smith, late of 

Easton, yeoman. For a contempt. 

True bill. Witness: Jos Porter. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "summoned." Next 

session (Easter, 1801): "defendant 

appears, pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of £6 under 

sherriff" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/13 Indictment: George Bowness 

Accused: George Bowness, late 

of the parish of Bowness-on-

Solway, yeoman. For a contempt. 

True bill. Witness: Jos. Porter. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "summoned" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/14 Indictment: Thomas Bacon 

Accused: Thomas Bacon, late of 

the parsh of St Cuthbert, yeoman. 

For a contempt. True bill. 

Witness: Jos Porter. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. Verdict in 

the abstract book:  quashed at 

the insistence of the prosceution" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/15 Indictment: Thomas Warwick 

Accused: Thomas Warwick, late 

of Warwick, yeoman. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: Jos 

Porter. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book:  summoned." 

Next session (Christmas,1801): 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty. Court imposes a fine of 

6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/16 Indictment: Thomas Railton 

Accused: Thomas Railton, late of 

Carelton, yeoman. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: Jos 

Porter. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book:  summoned." 

Next session (Christmas,1801): 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty. Court imposes a fine of 

6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/17 Indictment: Samuel Nelson 

Accused: Samuel Nelson, late of 

Horse Close, yeoman. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: Jos 

Porter. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

180 



indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "certificate and 

warrant for arrest." Next session 

(Easter, 1801): ""defendant 

appears and pleads not guilty. 

Court imposes fine of 6d" 

Q/11/3/459/18 
Short form indictment: Robert 

Fisher 

Accused: Robert Fisher, late of 

the parish of Torpenhow, 

yeoman. For a 

misdemeanour/poor relief of 

"deceiving the inhabitants of the 

parish of Wigton for the 

maintenance of Mary Baty, the 

wife of James Baty and their four 

children, Elizabeth, James, David 

and George...then being poor and 

unable to maintain themselves for 

the sum of £2 10 shillings." True 

bill. Witness: John Rook, Mary 

Baty. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "certificate". Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads not guilty. 

Removed by certiorari" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/19 Indictment: Elizabeth Irving 

Accused: Elizabeth Irving, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, widow. For 

a misdemeanour. True bill. 

Witnesses: Jas. Hetherington, 

Dinah Hetherington. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"certified." Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "ordered that 

this recognizance be continued till 

the next session (Easter, 1801). 

Defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty. Entered into recognizance 

to try and traverse at next 

session". Next session (Easter 

1801): " defendant not guilty by 

verdict" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/20 Indictment: Thomas Buchanan 

Accused: Thomas Buchanan, late 

of the parish of Caldbeck, 

labourer. For a misdemeanour. 

True bill. Witnesses: Henry 

Frizzell, Elizabeth Frizzell, 

Edward Toppin. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "certified." Next 

session (Christmas, 1801): 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty. Entered into recognizance 

1800 



to try and traverse at next 

session". Next session (Easter, 

1801): "to be quashed" 

Q/11/3/459/21 
Long form and short form 

indictments: William Bulman 

Accused: William Bulman, late of 

the parish of Scaleby, yeoman. 

For an assault and beating upon 

the left eye of John Gill. True bill. 

Witness: John Gill, sworn in 

court. Verdict in the abstract 

book: "certified." Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads not guilty. 

Entered into recognizance to try 

and traverse at next session". 

Next session (Easter, 1801): 

"acquitted by verdict" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/22 
Short form indictment: Isaac 

Harper 

Accused: Isaac Harper, late of the 

parish of Caldbeck, yeoman. For 

an assault upon Thomas Harrison. 

No bill. Witneses: Thomas 

Harrison, Thomas Scott, Ann 

Harrison, Jas. Scott, John Knott 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/23 
Long form and short form 

indictments: John Hetherington 

Accused: John Hetherington, late 

of the parish of Kirkoswald, 

yeoman. For an assault upon 

James Hetherington. True bill. 

Witnesses: Jno. Hetherington, 

Elizabeth Hetherington, Frances 

Hetherington, William Walton. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty. Entered into recognizance 

to try and traverse at next 

session". Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "ordered that 

this traverse and recognizance be 

combined till next session." Next 

session (Easter, 1801): "defendant 

pleads guilty. Court imposes a 

fine of 6d" 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/24 
Short fom indictment: Joseph 

Thompson 

Accused: Joseph Hetherington, 

late of the parish of Skelton, 

yeoman. For an assault upon Ann 

Stubbs. No bill.. Witness: Ann 

Stubbs 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/25 Indictment: James Johnstone 

Accused: James Johnstone, late of 

the parish of Brampton, yeoman. 

For an assault upon Thomas 

Forster. No bill. Witness: Thomas 

Forster. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/26 
Short form indictment: George 

Johnston 

Accused: George Johnston, late 

of the parish of St Bees, 
1800 



husbandman. For an asault upon 

Clement Mossop. True bill. 

Witnesses: Clement Mossop, 

Dacre Stonebridge, Jane 

Bonnington. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendant appears 

and pleads not guilty and entered 

into recognizance to try and 

traverse at next session". Next 

session (Christmas, 1801): "not 

guilty by verdict" 

Q/11/3/459/27 Indictment: James Armstrong 

Accused: James Armstrong, late 

of the parish of Bewcastle, 

yeoman. For an assault upon 

Joseph Armstrong. No bill. 

Witness: Joseph Armstrong 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/28 
Indictment: Joseph Armstrong 

and Mary Armstrong 

Accused: Joseph Armstrong, late 

of the parish of Bewcastle, 

yeoman. Accsued: Mary 

Armstrong, wife of the said 

Joseph Armstrong, late of the 

parish of Bewcastle. For an 

assault upon William Carruthers. 

No bill. Witnesses: William 

Carrthuers, Jas. Armstrong, 

Martha Carruthers. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/29 
Short form indictment: Thomas 

Pattenson [Pattinson] 

Accused: Thomas Pattenson 

[Pattinson], late of parish of 

Harrington, boatman. For an 

assault upon Jane Townsend. 

True bill. Witnesses: Jane 

Townsend. Verdict in the abstract 

book: nothing entered 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/30 

Short form indictment: Thomas 

Forster, otherwise Thomas 

Forrester 

Accused: Thomas Forster, 

otherwise Thomas Forrester, late 

of the parish of Brampton, 

labourer. For an assault upon 

James Johnston. No bill. 

Witnesses: Jas. Johnston, Edward 

Pickering 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/31 
Short form indictment: John 

Fidler 

Accused: John Fidler, late of the 

parish of Egremont, labourer. For 

an assault upon Christopher 

Williamson, the younger. No bill. 

Witnesses: Christopher 

Williamson, the younger, 

Christopher Williamson, the elder 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/32 

Short form indictment: Lancelot 

Armstrong the younger,William 

Armstrong and James Sewell 

Accused: Lancelot Armstrong the 

younger, late of the parish of 

Kirkandrews-upon-Esk, yeoman. 

1800 



Accused: William Armstrong, 

late of the parish of Kirkandrews-

upon-Esk, yeoman. Accused: 

James Sewell, late of the parish of 

Kirkandrews-upon-Esk, yeoman. 

For a riot and assault upon 

William Little. No bill. Witneses: 

William Little, Richard Wright 

Q/11/3/459/33 Indictment: Ruth McCall 

Accused: Ruth McCall, wife of 

Samuel McCall, late of the paish 

of Wigton, labourer. For petit 

larceny for staeling 20 hankies of 

linen, the property of Isaac 

Pattinson, Jacob Pattinson, 

William Pattinson and Joseph 

Pattinson. True bill. Witnesses: 

Jos. Pattinson, Mary Herald, 

Thomas Bowman, Charles 

Martindale, Eizabeth Martindale. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: nothing entered 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/34 
Short form indictment: Ruth 

McCall and Maragaret Tolson 

Accused: Ruth McCall, wife of 

Samuel McCall, late of the paish 

of Wigton, labourer. Accused: 

Margaret Tolson, late of the paish 

of Wigton, widow. For petit 

larceny "for stealing 20 hankies 

of linen, the property of Daniel 

Hewson, Thomas Bushby and 

William Parkin." True bill. 

Witnesses: Thomas Bushby, 

Mary Herald, Thomas Branson, 

George Atkinson, Jno. Moffat, 

Jos. Pattinson, Elizabeth Tolson. 

Verdict in the abstract book: "the 

defendant Maragaret Tolson, not 

guilty by verdict and the 

defendant Ruth McCall pleads 

guilty. Ordered to be imprisoned 

in the gaol at Carlisle six 

months." One short form 

indictment only indicts Margaret 

Tolson; one short form indicts 

Ruth McCall, showing pleas 

guilty. 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/35 
Short form indictments: Thomas 

Harrison 

Accused: Thomas Harrison, late 

of the parish of Caldbeck, 

labourer. For petit larceny in 

stealing two geese and one 

gander, the property of Isaac 

Harper. No bill. Witnesses: Isaac 

1800 



Harper, Thomas Richardson, 

Richard Howe. 

Q/11/3/459/36 Indictment: Thomas Harrison 

Accused: Thomas Harrison, late 

of the parish of Caldbeck, 

labourer. For petit larceny in 

stealing two geese, the property 

of Richard Howe. No bill. 

Witnesses: Richard Howe, Isaac 

Harper, Thomas Richardson. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book 

1800 

Q/11/3/459/37 
Short form indictment: John 

King 

Accused: John King, late of the 

parish of St Bees, mariner. For 

petit larceny in stealing one piece 

of gold, the property of Mary 

Hughes. True bill. Witnesses: 

John Heard, Thomas Longhorn. 

Verdict in the abstact book: 

"ordered that the defendant be 

committed to Carlisle Gaol until 

next sessions." Next session 

(Christmas, 1801): "not guilty by 

verdict" 

1800 

Q/11/3/461/1 Indictment: Jury lists 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/2 

Indictment: Inhabitants of 

Kingwater quarter in the parish 

of Lanercost 

Accused: Inhabitants of 

Kingwater quarter in the parish of 

Lanercost. For "not repairing 300 

yards in length and 7 yards in 

breadth between a beck called 

Nawain and a gate called Nichells 

North Gate leading from the 

village of Kirkcambeck and the 

market town of Brampton." True 

bill. Witnesses: Ambrose Athey, 

Joseph Hetherington. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Verdict in abstract book recorded 

as "summoned." Next session 

(Midsummer, 1801): "Thomas 

Calvert, surveyor, appears and 

pleads guilty. Court imposes a 

fine of £30, respites the laying 

until Christmas sessions next." 

Next session (Christmas, 1802): 

"respite until Midsummer next." 

Next session (Midsummer 1802): 

"respite until Christmas next." 

Next session (Michaelmas, 1802): 

"respite until Christmas next." 

Next session (Christmas, 1802): 

1801 



"respite until Midsummer next." 

Next session (Midsummer, 1803): 

"dist." Next session (Michaelmas, 

1803): "that the fine till Christmas 

next." Next session (Christmas, 

1804): "ordered 

Q/11/3/461/3 

Indictment: Inhabitants of 

Askerton quarter, in the parish of 

Lanercost 

Accused: Inhabitants of Askerton 

quarter, in the parish of 

Lanercost. For "not repairing 

three quarters of a mile in length 

and seven yards in breadth of 

highway from opposite the house 

of James Brown extending to the 

market town of Brampton to a 

beck called Nawain leading from 

the village of Kirkcambeck and 

the market town of Brampton." 

True bill. Witnesses: Ambrose 

Athey, Joseph Hetherington. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in 

abstract book recorded as: Next 

session (Midsummer, 1801): " 

Robert Tweddle, surveyor, 

appears and pleads guilty. Court 

imposes a fine of £50 and respites 

the laying till Christmas sessions 

next." Next session (Christmas, 

1802): "respites until Midsummer 

next." Next session (Midsummer, 

1802): "respites until Christmas 

next." Next session (Christmas, 

1803): "respites until Midsummer 

next." Next session (Midsummer, 

1803): "divt."    Next session 

(Christmas, 1804): "Ordered to be 

discharged on the certificate of 

the [Revd] John Brown." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/4 

Indictment: Inhabitants of 

Howbound, in the parish of 

Castle Sowerby 

Accused: Inhabitants of 

Howbound, in the parish of Castle 

Sowerby. For "not repairing 285 

yards in length and 7 yards in 

breadth of highway between Nela 

Close in the possssion of Joseph 

Thwaite and the east corner of a 

field called Little Clegg also in 

the posession of Joseph Thwaite, 

on the road from Milhowe to the 

market town of Penrith." No bill. 

Witness: Robert Sewell. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

1801 



Q/11/3/461/5 Indictment: John Mitchinson 

Accused: John Mitchinson, late of 

Bassenthwaite Highside, 

husbandman. For a contempt. 

True bill. Witness: John 

Greenhow. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "certificate" Next 

sesion (Christmas, 

1802)"defendant appears and 

pleads guilty. Court imposes a 

fine of 6d." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/6 Indictment: Robert Carruthers 

Accused: Robert Carruthers, late 

of parish of Arthuret, tailor. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: 

John McDowell. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. Verdict in 

the abstract book: "certificate" 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/7 Indictment: James Murray 

Accused: James Murray, late of 

Hallees, in the parish of Arthuret, 

labourer. For a contempt. True 

bill. Witness: John McDowell. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "certificate" 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/8 Indictment: William Murray 

Accused: William Murray, late of 

Chapeltown, in the parish of 

Arthuret, blacsmith. For a 

contempt. True bill. Witness: 

John McDowell. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. Verdict in 

the abstract book: "certificate" 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/9 Indictment: Edmund James 

Accused: Edmund James, late of 

the parish of Warwick, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour. No bill. 

Witnesses: Robert Hardy, John 

Robinson. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/10 Indictment: Joseph Hind 

Accused: Joseph Hind, late of the 

parish of Stanwix, labourer. For a 

misdemeanour. No bill. Witness: 

John Gaddes. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/11 Indictment: James Boustead 

Accused: James Boustead, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour. No bill. 

Witness: John Gaddes. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

1801 



Q/11/3/461/12 Indictment: Thomas Warwick 

Accused: Thomas Warwick, late 

of the parish of Warwick, 

labourer. For a misdemeanour. 

No bill. Witnesses: John Gaddes, 

William Carruthers. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/13 Indictment: John Brown 

Accused: John Brown, late of the 

parish of Crosby, labourer. For a 

misdemeanour. No bill. 

Witnesses: John Gaddes, William 

Carruthers. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/14 Indictment: James Findlay 

Accused: James Findlay, late of 

the parish of Warwick, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour. True bill. 

Witness: James Anderson. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/15 
Indictment: Thomas Milbourn, 

John Room and John Taylor 

Accused: Thomas Milbourn, late 

of the parish of Hayton, labourer. 

John Room, late of the parish of 

[Carlisle], St Mary, butcher. 

Accused: John Taylor, late of the 

parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

innkeeper. For a defraud. True 

bill. Witness: James Anderson. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "defendants 

appears and plead not guilty and 

entered into a recognizance to try 

and traverse." Next session 

(Midsummer, 1801): "defendants 

guilty by verdict. Court imposes a 

fine of £5 each and to be 

imprisoned two months at His 

Majesties Gaol and to continue 

there til the fines paid" 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/16 
Indictment: John Dixon, John 

Bragg 

Accused: John Dixon, late of the 

parish of Egremot, husbandman. 

Accused: John Bragg, late of the 

parish of Egremont, butcher. 

Accused: William Slack, late of 

the parish of Egremont, mason. 

For a contempt. True bill. 

Witness: William Park. Entry is 

duplicated on page 60 and is 

crossed out. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

1801 



abstract book: "certificate. 

Removed by certiorari." 

Q/11/3/461/18 Indictment: Thomas Davison 

Accused: Thomas Davison, late 

of the parish of [Carlisle], St 

Cuthbert, labourer. For an assault 

upon Thomas Scarrow. No bill. 

Witnesses: Thomas Scarrow, 

James Little. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/19 
Indictment: Thomas Routledge 

and John Sargison 

Accused: Thomas Routledge, late 

of the parish of St Bees, labourer. 

Accused: John Sargison, late of 

the parish of St Bees, blacksmith. 

For an assaut upon Peter 

Fitzsimmonds. True bill. 

Witnesses: Peter Fitzsmmons, 

John Maving. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in 

abstract book recorded as: 

"Thomas Routledge appears and 

pleads not guilty. Certified into 

recognizance to try and traverse 

at next sessions." Next session 

(Midsummer, 1801): "defendant 

Thomas Routledge appears and 

withdraws his plea of not guilty 

and pleads guilty. Court imposes 

a fine of 6d." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/20 Indictment: John Room 

Accused: John Room, late of the 

parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

butcher. For an assault upon 

James Anderson. No bill. 

Witness: James Anderson. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/21 Indictment: Thomas Scarrow 

Accused: Thomas Scarrow, late 

of the parish of [Carlisle], St 

Cuthbert. For an assault upon 

Thomas Davison. No bill. 

Witnesses: Thomas Davison, 

Joseph Porter, Margaret Cooke. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/22 Indictment: Jane Elliott 

Accused: Jane Elliott, late of the 

parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

single woman. For an assault 

upon Sarah King. No bill. 

Witnesses: Sarah King, Joseph 

Blain, Sarah Anderson. Original 

1801 



does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Q/11/3/461/23 Indictment: Sarah King 

Accsued: Sarah King, wife of 

Charles King, late of the parish of 

[Carlisle], St Mary, innkeeper. 

For an assault upon Jane Elliott. 

No bill. Witnesses: Jane Elliott, 

Thomas Inglish [English], James 

Russell, Jane Penn. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/24 Indictment: Robert Haden 

Accsued: Robert Haden, late of 

the parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

innkeeper. For an assault upon 

Richard Thornhill. No bill. 

Witnesses: Richard Thornhill, 

William Lee. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/25 Indictment: Richard Thornhill 

Accsused: Richard Thornhill, late 

of the parish of [Carlisle], St 

Cuthbert, gentleman. For an 

assault upon Robert Haden. No 

bill. Witnesses: Robert Haden, 

Thomas Anderson. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/26 Indictment: Robert Noble 

Accused: Robert Noble, late of 

the parish of Kirklinton, labourer. 

For an assault upon Thomas 

Nichole. True bill. Witness: 

Thomas Nichole. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. Verdict in 

abstract book recorded as: 

"certficate." Next session 

(Midsummer, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads guilty." Next 

session (Michaelmas, 1801): 

"defendant appears and court 

imposes a fine of 6d." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/27 Indictment: Thomas Parker 

Accsued: Thomas Parker, late of 

the parish of Brampton, butcher. 

For an assault upon Thomas 

Barnes. True bill. Witnesses: 

Thomas Barnes, Joseph 

Henderson, John Pape. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Verdict in abstract book recorded 

as: " certificate." Next session 

(Midsummer, 1801): "defendant 

appears and pleads not guilty and 

entered into a recignizance to try 

1801 



and traverse next sessions." Next 

session: (Michaelmas, 1801): 

"guilty by vedict and ordered to 

pay a fine of sixpence." 

Q/11/3/461/28 
Indictment: Anthony Bern 

Church 

Accsued: Anthony Bern Church, 

late of the parish of St Bees, 

gentleman. For an assault upon 

Mary Martindale. True bill. 

Witnesses: Mary Martindale, 

Thomas Bell, Mary Brown, Mary 

Dohie. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in 

abstract book recorded as: 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty and entered into a 

recognizance to try and traverse 

next sessions." Next session 

(Midsummer, 1801): "defendant 

not guilty by verdict." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/29 Indictment: Mary Martindale 

Accused: Mary Martindale, wife 

of Robert Martindale, late of the 

parish of St Bees, labourer. For an 

assault upon Anthony Bern 

Church. No bill. Witnesses: 

Anthony Bern Church, John 

Brown. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/30 Indictment: Henry Sewell 

Accsued: Henry Sewell, late of 

the parish of Castle Sowerby, 

labourer. For an assault upon 

John [Cleach]. No bill. Witnesses: 

John [Cleack], John Frizzell, John 

Pix, Walter Wilson. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/31 Indictment: John Cleack 

Accused: John Cleack, late of the 

parish of Penrith, labourer. For an 

assault upon Henry Sewell. True 

bill. Witnesses: Henry Sewell, 

Abraham Young. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. Verdict in 

abstract book recorded as: 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty and entered into a 

recognizance to try and traverse 

at next sessions." Next session 

(Midsummer, 1801): "defendant 

not guilty by verdict" 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/32 Indictment: Hugh Garmin 

Accused: Hugh Garmin, late of 

the parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

[sewerman ?]. For an assault upon 

1801 



Elizabeth Elliott. No bill. 

Witnesses: Elizabeth Elliott. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. 

Q/11/3/461/33 
Indictment: Patrick Crone and 

William Wylie 

Accused: Patrick Crone, late of 

the parish of Workington, 

blacksmith. Accused: William 

Wyllie, late of the parish of 

Workington, blacksmith. For an 

assault upon Francis Scott. True 

bill. Witnesses: Francis Scott, 

Daniel, Mandell. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. Verdict in 

the abstract book:  certificate." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/34 Indictment: Elizabeth Elliott 

Accused: Elizabeth Elliott, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, single 

woman. For an assault upon Hugh 

Garmin. No bill. Witness: Hugh 

Garmin. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/35 Indictment: Sarah King 

Accused: Sarah King, wife of 

Charles King, late of the parish of 

[Carlisle], St Mary, innkeeper. 

For an assault upon Margaret 

Hill. No bill. Witness: Margaret 

Hill. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/36 Indictment: James Anderson 

Accused: James Anderson, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, butcher. 

For an assault upon John Taylor. 

No bill. Witness: John Taylor, 

Ann Riston. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/37 Indictment: James Anderson 

Accused: James Anderson, late of 

the parish of Stanwix, butcher. 

For an assault upon John Brown. 

No bill. Witness: John Room, 

James Nixon. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/38 Indictment: Hannah Blake 

Accused: Hannah Blake, late of 

the parish of Drigg, wife of Peter 

Blake. For an assault upon Isaac 

Middleton. True bill. Witnesses: 

Isaac Middleton. Original does 

not survive, information taken 

from indictment book. Verdict in 

the abstract book:  acquitted by 

verdict." 

1801 



Q/11/3/461/39 Indictment: John Pattinson 

Accsused: John Pattinson, late of 

the parish of Wigton, yeoman. 

For an assault upon Ann Brown. 

True bill. Witness: Ann Barnes. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book:  certificate." next 

session (Midsummer, 1801): 

"defendant appears and pleads 

guilty. Court imposes a fine of 

6d." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/40 Indictment: John Straughton 

Accused: John Straughton, late of 

the parish of Aspatria, labourer. 

For a misdemeanour. True bill. 

Witnesses: Peter Pattinson, Peter 

Pattinson. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: "certificate." Next 

session (Midsummer, 1801): 

"defendant appears and pleads not 

guilty and entered into a 

recognizance to try and traverse 

at next sessions." Next session 

(Michaelmas, 1801): "Ordered 

that this try and traverse and the 

recognizance be continued till the 

next session." Next session 

(Christmas, 1802): "Indictment 

quashed." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/41 

Indictment: John Littleton, 

Edward Gibson and Robert 

Carson otherwise Casson 

Accused: John Littleton, late of 

Egremont, labourer. Accused: 

Edward Gibson, late of 

Whitehaven, labourer. Accused: 

Robert Carson, otherwise Casson, 

late of Whitehaven, labourer. For 

grand larceny, riot and assault. 

True bill. Witnesses: Robert 

Blythe, William Holliday, Isaac 

Taylor. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in 

abstract book recorded as: 

"acquitted of the larceny and 

guilty of the riot. Ordered to be 

confined 6 months in Carlisle 

Gaol." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/42 Indictment: William Gash 

Accused: William Gash, late of 

the parish of [Carlisle], St Mary, 

cabinet maker. For petit larceny 

in stealng 6 foot of marquetery 

veneer, the property of John 

Moffat. Original does not survive, 

1801 



information taken from 

indictment book. No entry of 

verdict in the abstract book 

Q/11/3/461/43 
Indictment: Mary Thomas 

otherwise Mary Ray 

Accused: Mary Thomas 

otherwise Mary Ray, late of the 

parish St Bees. For petit larceny 

in stealing one piece of linen and 

cotton check cloth, the property 

of James Hetherington. Original 

does not survive, information 

taken from indictment book. 

Verdict in the abstract book: 

 guilty be verdict. Ordered to be 

transported for 7 years." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/44 
Indictment: John Thompson and 

Janet Gardiner 

Accused: John Thompson, late of 

the parish of St Bees, labourer. 

Accused: Janet Gardiner, late of 

the parish of St Bees, wife of 

William Gardiner. For petit 

larceny for stealing five silk 

hankerchief, the property of Peter 

Dixon. Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book:  defendant 

Thompson acquitted by verdict 

and defendant Gardiner guilty by 

verdict. Ordered that defendant 

Gardiner be transported for 7 

years." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/45 Indictment: George Wood 

Accused: George Wood, late of 

the parish of Hutton-in-the-

Forest, labourer. For petit larceny 

in stealing one sack of tow, the 

property of Robert Bell. True bill. 

Witnesses: Robert Bell, William 

Hetherington. Original does not 

survive, information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book:  guilty by verdict. 

Ordered to be transported for 7 

years." 

1801 

Q/11/3/461/46 Indictment: John Routledge 

Accused: John Routledge, late of 

the parish of Wigton, labourer. 

Accused: Elizabeth Routledge, 

late of the parish of Wigton, 

widow. For petit larceny in 

stealing two yards of white calico, 

the property of Richard Brommell 

and Joseph Irving.   Witnesses: 

Richard Brommell, John 

Lightfoot, Isaac Westmorland. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

1801 



indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book:  acquitted by 

verdict." 

Q/11/3/464/21 Indictment: Eleanor Bates 

Accused: Eleanor Bates, late of 

the parish of Crosscanonby, 

widow. "For petit larceny in 

stealing one woollen cloak, the 

goods and chattels of Sarah 

Barnes." True bill. No witnesses. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: Same session 

 defendant pleads guilty. 

Ordered to be transported for the 

term of seven years." 

1802 

Q/11/3/464/22 Indictment: William Sprawl 

Accsued: William Sprawl, late of 

the parish of [Carlisle], St 

Cuthbert, weaver. "For felony in 

delivering two sages ? to Walter 

Scott who was a person in His 

Majesties Gaol, Carlisle, to 

facilitate the escape of the said 

Walter Scott." True bill. 

Witnesses: Thos Bennett, Jos 

Mullender, Thos Boustead. 

Original does not survive, 

information taken from 

indictment book. Verdict in the 

abstract book: Same session 

 defendant guilty by verdict. 

Ordered to be transported for the 

term of seven years" 

1802 

Q/MISC/31 Strays found during stockcheck 

a) Undated jury list in indictment, 

King v the inhabitants of Dalston   

b) Undated jury list in indictment, 

King v the inhabitants of 

Crosthwaite   c)* 1797-9 Joseph 

Hodgson with Mrs Mary Mayson 

various accounts *may be linked 

to bankruptcy proccedings   d)* 

1799-1800 Joseph Hodgson with 

the Revd. Robert Watts including 

bill of costs and various receipts   

e)* 1799 sale of William Scaif's 

property   f) Letter from the 

magistrates to the Philanthropic 

Society of London regarding John 

Graham aged 10 years convicted 

of petty larceny, brought up by 

mother in the habits of stealing 

from earliest infancy, seems not 

chance of reclaiming him unless 

he can be entirely separated from 

1750-1814 



her. Reccomend him as a very 

proper object of your most 

excellent institution   g) 

Qualification for J.P. William 

Lowther rector of Aikton and 

Lowther [post 1764]   h) 4 Apr 

1807 Extract of a plan of 

Broughton Common shows road 

from Dearham to Workington, 

appears to show portion of roads 

to be repaired   i) Right hand 

portion of an indictment 

Q/RE/1/41b 
Enclosure award for Sowerby 

Pasture & other commons 

Parish: Castle sowerby P & M 

Location, Area: Sowerby Pasture 

& other commons (5,000a.) 

Act/P.A.: Act (59) Tithes: T 

Parish: Catterlen P, see Penrith 

U.D. Location, Area: (Inglewood 

Forest, no. 8) Inclosure 

25 Apr 

1769 

Q/RE/1/90b 
Enclosure award for Carlisle and 

Cummersdale Moor 

Parish: Cummersdale P, Low 

Dalston & John de Chapple Ms 

Location, Area: Carlisle & 

Cummersdale Moor (1,350a.) 

Act/P.A.: Act (68)   Digital copy 

available on CD (Inclosure) 

8 Jan 1770 

Q/RE/1/90c 
Enclosure award for Carlisle and 

Cummersdale Moor 

Parish: Cummersdale P, Low 

Dalston & John de Chapple Ms 

Location, Area: Carlisle & 

Cummersdale Moor (1,350a.) 

Act/P.A.: Act (68)   Digital copy 

available on CD (Inclosure) 

8 Jan 1770 

Q/RE/1/92b 

Enclosure map for 

Bassenthwaite commons and 

stinted pasture 

Parish: Bassenthwaite P & M 

Location, Area: Bassenthwaite 

commons and stinted pasture 

(3,630a.) Act/P.A.: Act (18) 

Tithes: T (Inclosure) 

14 Aug 

1771 

Q/RZ/1/398 
Cockermouth and Workington 

Railway 

Plan showing the River Derwent, 

soapery, Hognorn Brow, 

Workington Bridge and 

Workington Bridge Station. 

undated 

SCONS/1/147 

Correspondence and memoranda 

from the Chief Constable's 

Office, Carlisle 

Relating to leave of absence, 

promotion, transfers, duties, and 

inspections. 

1876-1879 

SCONS/5/C61/1/1 
Photographs: Funeral of PC G W 

McKinney Russell 1965 

22 prints. 12 large prints by Daily 

Mirror. six large and two smaller 

prints by Daily Express. One 

mounted print of police parade. 

One print of police parade 

entering church. 

1965 

SCONS/5/C61/2/1 

Official folder A of photographs: 

photographs of site shooting 

including bullets, waiting room, 

platform 

 1965 



SCONS/5/C61/2/2 
Official folder C of photographs 

[RESTRICTED] 

Showing wounds 2 and 4. Daily 

Express photographs of farmers 

assisting in hunt and police 

officer receiving firearms 

No.25/160. 

1965 

SCONS/5/C61/2/3 

Photographs: views marking 

points at which Middleton was 

shot and escaped 

 1965 

SCONS/5/C61/2/4 

Photographs: John Middleton, 

Lancashire Criminal Record 

Office 

Crime information sheet front and 

side views and negative 
1965 

SCONS/5/C61/2/5 Photographs: PC Russell 

2 portraits of PC Russell, one 

mounted. Bowling Club group 

photograph showing PC Russell, 

stamped Alec Fraser 

photographer on reverse 

Negatives 25/160. 17 of 'official 

photos' 168/97 PC A Archibald. 

169/98 PC G Russell. 167/99 

Presentation. 100 Presentation. 

165/101 Presentation. 164/102 PC 

T Wood. 171/103 2 of same view 

of group - four policemen. 

173/104 Group eight officers. 

1965 

SCONS/5/C61/2/6 

Photograph: mounted print of 

presentation of British Empire 

Medal to Inspector Harrison 

 [1965-

1966] 

SCONS/5/C61/2/7 Photographs: PC Archibald 

Mounted print of presentation of 

British Empire Medal to PC 

Archibald. Mounted portrait PC 

Archibald 3 Daily Mirror prints 

of PC Archibald in hospital 

shows wife by bedside; 4 group 

photos of medal recipients and 

presentation party. Small print 

Eric Davidson of Penrith, 

photographer 12.2.66 

1966 

SCONS/5/C61/2/8 

Photographs: PC Wood and PC 

Fell receiving British Empire 

Medalss and portrait of PC 

Wood 

4 photographs in total 
[1965-

1966] 

SCONS/5/C61/2/9 

Correspondence: presentation of 

PC Wood's British Empire 

Medal to Police Museum 

 1960s 

SH 2/3 
Harbour Trustees' minute book 

No. 3 
 1855-1866 

SH 2/4 
Harbour Trustees' minute book 

No. 4 
 1866-1874 

SH 2/MAPS/16 
Plan: Maryport District and 

Harbour Trust, 1 inch to foot 

Showing road with protected 

slope along front of gas works 
1869 

SPC 18/7/Accn: H16210 

(unlisted) 
Walton Parish Council 

Land title and asset transfers, 

2009-2016; registration of land as 

part of village green, 2009-2011; 

2006-2015 



parish council elections, code of 

conduct, register of interests and 

declarations of acceptance of 

office, 2015; local housing needs 

survey, 1999; village green 

drainage 2006-2007. 

SPC 38/102/Accn 

H16215 (unlisted) 
Scaleby Parish Council 

Parish Plan, 2023; drainage at 

Scaleby Hill, 1970s; receipts and 

payments book, 1979-2010; 

planning papers for extension to 

boiler shed, 2015; Hunley Moss 

Common Land, 2003-2004; 

Scaleby Community Led Plan, 

2013; grant applications, 2004-

2016; public rights of way and 

footpath diversion, 1984-2015; 

highway matters, 1998-2013; 

installation of flag pole, 2016; 

and Cumbria minerals and waste 

development framework. 

1979-2023 

SPC 53/Accn H16346 

(unlisted accession) 
Cummersdale Parish Council 

Declarations of Acceptance, 

2003-2022; and minutes of 

meetings, Apr 2013-Jan 2020. 

2003-2022 

SPC 59/2 

Accounts and financial 

statements, 2016-2022 and cash 

book, 1998-2017. 

 1998-2022 

SPC 69 Accn:H16274 
Kirklinton Middle Parish 

Council - unlisted 

Planning file including 

applications and regulations, 

2006-2014; map showing trees 

for preservation and protection, 

1975; map of electoral division 

boundaries, 1999; map of 

Smithfield Sewerage Scheme, 

1967; parish history; Smithfield 

Village Plan, 1975; Kirlinton 

Local Government Boundary 

Review, 2018; Cumbria 

Association of Local Councils 

including circulars, minutes of 

annual general meetings, and 

newsletters, 2011-2021; papers 

relating to the Millenium Project, 

1998-2002; and parish council 

elections, 1973-2021. 

1967-2021 

SPC 77/Accn H16204 
Holme Abbey Parish Council 

(unlisted accession) 

Minute books (3), June 1982-June 

2022, receipts and payments 

books (2), 1994-2022. 

1982-2022 

SPC 77/Accn H16345 
Holme Abbey Parish Council 

(unlisted accession) 

Receipts and payments book, 

1971-1994; Jubilee Committee 

minutes, 1977; papers relating to 

concessionary bus fares, Wigton 

RDC, 1973; title deeds and 

probate records, 1811-1877; 

expenses book, 1983-1995; 

1811-2010 



minute books (3), 1934-1982; 

attendance register, 1994-2004; 

clerk expenses books (3), 1981-

2002; Silloth and Solway Edge 

Neighbourhood Forum: minutes 

of meetings, newsletters and 

correspondence, 1992-1998; 

Allotments: receipt books (2), 

register and agreements, 1936-

2006; plans, information and 

costs relating to the recreational 

field hut, 1986; financial 

statements, 1963-2010; Carlisle 

Diocese Mothers' Union: 

correspondence, book of 

subscriptions and branch reports, 

1981-1993. 

SPC 97/30 
Accounts and financial 

statements 
 2013-2022 

SPC 104/Accn H16343 

(unlisted accession) 
Kingmoor Parish Council 

Minutes of meetings, 2002-2020; 

and papers regarding the 

playground at the plantations in 

Cargo, 2002-2004. 

2002-2020 

SPUCA/4/8 

Plan: Carlisle Rural Sanitary 

Authority, sewer above Etterby 

Bridge 

2 plans 1906 

SRDB/3/PLANSA/1 

Border Rural District Public 

Services, showing water supply 

area and water mains 

 1951 

SRDB/3/PLANSA/2 

Plans: Border Rural District 

Council, Proposed Private Open 

Spaces 

Warwick Park, Wetheral, Mire 

bank Wood, Grinsdale, Kingmoor 

Terrace Woods, Gosling syke, 

Parham Beck, Keld Houses, Great 

Corby x5. 20 plans. 

[c1935] 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/1 
Plan: Carlisle Rural District 

Council, Stanwix area 

annotated OS second edition 

possible drainage references 

(unknown key). 

[early 20th 

century] 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/2 

Plan: Carlisle Rural District 

Council, Stanwix Sewerage 

Scheme No.1 

scale 1/2500 1905 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/3 

Plan: Carlisle Rural District 

Council, Kingmoor, Stanwix 

Sewerage Scheme 

scale 1/2500 Aug 1906 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/4 
Plan: Carlisle Rural District 

Council, Stanwix area 

Annotated OS second edition 

possible drainage references. 

[early 20th 

century] 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/5 

Plan: Carlisle Rural District 

Council, Kingmoor, Stanwix 

Sewerage Scheme 

Joseph Graham civil engineer. 

scale 1/2500. 

[early 20th 

century] 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/9 

Plans: Sewers. First Contact and 

Second Contact beds, Detritus 

tank, storm filter, Attendants 

house 

Joseph Graham. Possibly Stanwix 

sewerage scheme. 
[c1910] 



SRDBB/3/PLANSA/12 

Plans: Warwick Sewer - Scotby, 

Cumwhinton, Garlands, 

Warwick 

20 plans. [c1905] 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/13 
Plans: Warwick Sewer - 

Upperby and Blackwell 

Surveyor Joseph Graham. 40 

plans. 
[c1900] 

SRDBB/3/PLANSA/14 Plans: Stanwix sewerage 
Indicating flood level height, 

effluent pipe and septic tank 
1904 

SRDW/1/3/957 Plan: Torpenhow Polling District 2 maps and associated papers 1946 

THOS 1/6/4/1/1 
Cumberland Infirmary Nurses 

League Journal 
 2022 

THOS 1/6/4/1/2 
Cumberland Infirmary Nurses 

League Journal 
 2023 

 

 

 

 

 


